

#### Evidence-Based Series #1-21

### A Quality Initiative of the Program in Evidence-Based Care (PEBC), Cancer Care Ontario (CCO)

### **Optimal Systemic Therapy for Early Female Breast Cancer**

Andrea Eisen, Glenn G. Fletcher, Sonal Gandhi, Mihaela Mates, Orit C. Freedman, Susan F. Dent, Maureen E. Trudeau, and members of the Early Breast Cancer Systemic Therapy Consensus Panel<sup>1</sup>

Report Date: September 30, 2014

An assessment conducted in January 2019 placed Evidence-based Series (EBS) 1-21 IN REVIEW. This means that it is undergoing a review for currency and relevance. It is still appropriate for this document to be available while this updating process unfolds. The PEBC has a formal and standardized process to ensure the currency of each document (<u>PEBC Assessment & Review Protocol</u>)

Evidence-Based Series #1-21 contains 3 sections:	
Section 1:	Guideline Recommendations
Section 2:	Evidentiary Base
Section 3:	EBS Development Methods and External Review Process

For information about this document, please contact Maureen Trudeau through the PEBC.
 For information about the PEBC and the most current version of all reports, please visit the CCO website at <a href="http://www.cancercare.on.ca/">http://www.cancercare.on.ca/</a> or contact the PEBC office at: Phone: 905-527-4322 ext. 42822 Fax: 905 526-6775 E-mail: <a href="http://ccopgi@mcmaster.ca">ccopgi@mcmaster.ca</a>

**PEBC Report Citation (Vancouver Style):** Eisen A, Fletcher GG, Gandhi S, Mates M, Freedman OC, Dent SF, et al. Optimal systematic therapy for early female breast cancer. Toronto (ON): Cancer Care

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> see Appendix A for a full list of participants

Ontario; 2014 Sep 30 [In Review 2019 Jan]. Program in Evidence-Based Care Evidence-Based Series No.: 1-21 IN REVIEW.

Journal Citations (Vancouver Style): Eisen A, Fletcher GG, Gandhi S, Mates M, Freedman OC, Dent SF, et al. Optimal systemic therapy for early breast cancer in women: a clinical practice guideline. Curr Oncol. 2015;22(Suppl 1):S67-81.

Gandhi S, Fletcher GG, Eisen A, Mates M, Freedman OC, Dent SF, et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy for early female breast cancer: a systematic review of the evidence for the 2014 Cancer Care Ontario systemic therapy guideline. Curr Oncol. 2015;22(Suppl 1):S82-94.

Freedman OC, Fletcher GG, Gandhi S, Mates M, Dent SF, Trudeau ME, et al. Adjuvant endocrine therapy for early breast cancer: A systematic review of the evidence for the 2014 Cancer Care Ontario systemic therapy guideline. Curr Oncol. 2015;22(Suppl 1):S95-113.

Mates M, Fletcher GG, Freedman OC, Eisen A, Gandhi S, Trudeau ME, et al. Systemic targeted therapy for HER2-positive early female breast cancer: a systematic review of the evidence for the 2014 Cancer Care Ontario systemic therapy guideline. Curr Oncol. 2015;22(Suppl 1):S114-122.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

The headings and page numbers are hyperlinks and can be selected to move directly to the relevant part of the document

TAB	LE OF CONTENTS	i
LISI	OF TABLES	/
		_
LIST	OF ABBREVIATIONS v	i
SEC	TION 1: GUIDELINE RECOMMENDATIONS	
1.		
2.	TARGET POPULATION	
3.	INTENDED USERS	
4.	BACKGROUND	
5.	SUMMARY OF METHODS (see Sections 2 and 3 for details)	
6.	RECOMMENDATIONS AND KEY EVIDENCE	
	RECOMMENDATIONS 1-7. PATIENT/DISEASE CHARACTERISTICS AND RECURRENCE RISK	3
	RECOMMENDATIONS 8-14. SELECTION OF OPTIMAL ADJUVANT CHEMOTHERAPY REGIMENS	
	RECOMMENDATIONS 15–25. ADJUVANT ENDOCRINE THERAPY	
	RECOMMENDATIONS 26-34. ADJUVANT TARGETED THERAPY (HER2+ CANCERS)1	
7.	IMPLEMENTATION	2
8.		
	nding	
	dating24	
-	pyright24	
	claimer24	
Сог	ntact Information24	4
		_
	TION 2: EVIDENTIARY BASE 25	
	QUESTION	
	INTRODUCTION	
3.	METHODS	
	3.1 LITERATURE SEARCH STRATEGY	
	3.2 STUDY SELECTION CRITERIA	
	3.3 ADDITIONAL STUDIES	
	3.4 SYNTHESIZING THE EVIDENCE	8

4.	RES	JLTS AND DISCUSSION
	4.1	LITERATURE SEARCH RESULTS
	4.2	CHEMOTHERAPY
		4.2.1 Antimetabolites (CMF) and Anthracyclines (Doxorubicin and Epirubicin)29
		4.2.2 Taxanes: Docetaxel and Paclitaxel45
		4.2.3 Other Systemic Therapy Agents
		a)Bevacizumab79
		b)Metformin
		c) Bisphosphonates
		d)Goserelin in Hormone Receptor-Negative Patients
		e)Vaccines
	4.3	HORMONAL THERAPY FOR HORMONE RECEPTOR-POSITIVE TUMOURS
		4.3.1 Tamoxifen
		a) Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group
		b)Duration of Tamoxifen >5 years
		c)Delayed Adjuvant Tamoxifen
		d)Tamoxifen plus Octreotide85
		e)Tamoxifen plus Radiotherapy85
		4.3.2 Aromatase Inhibitors
		a) Aromatase Inhibitors vs Tamoxifen
		Clinical Practice Guidelines
		Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Cancer Group Meta-Analysis
		Individual Studies and Comparison with Earlier Reviews/Meta- analyses
		b) Comparison of Aromatase Inhibitors
		c) Aromatase Inhibitors plus Chemotherapy
		4.3.3 Ovarian Ablation (Surgical or Radiation) and Ovarian Suppression
		a) Background
		b) Major Meta-analyses and Guidelines107
		d) LHRH-Agonists in Early Breast Cancer Overview
		e) PEBC Guideline #1-9: Adjuvant Ovarian Ablation in the Treatment of
		Premenopausal Women with Early-Stage Invasive Breast Cancer115
		f) Cochrane Collaboration (Goel et al), 2009. LHRH Agonists for Adjuvant Therapy of Early Breast Cancer in Premenopausal Women
		g) New Studies or Updates from the Current Literature Search116
		h) Summary of Conclusions for Each Class of Comparison from the Meta-
		analyses and Recent Data
		i) Conclusions from the ovarian ablation/suppression studies and meta-
		analyses
		4.3.4 Endocrine Therapy plus Chemotherapy129
		4.3.5 Endocrine Therapy plus Everolimus129

		4.3.6	Assessment of Hormone Receptor Status	129
	4.4	BIOLOG	IC/TARGETED THERAPY FOR HER2+ TUMOURS	130
		4.4.1	Search Results	130
			a) Guidelines	130
			b) Meta-analyses (mostly adjuvant trials)	132
			c) Neoadjuvant Trials, Systematic Reviews, and Meta-analyses	132
			d) Meta-analysis or Reviews of Cardiotoxic Effects	133
			e) Individual RCTs with trastuzumab	133
		4.4.2	Questions and Interpretation	141
			For which patients is the benefit in preventing recurrence greater the	
			the added risk of cardiotoxicity (risk-benefit profile)?	
			a) Is trastuzumab beneficial in small node negative tumours? (T <1 c	,
			<2 cm and node negative?)	
			b) What is the optimal duration of trastuzumab therapy?	
			c) Should trastuzumab be administered concurrently with or sequen after chemotherapy?	
			d) What is the most appropriate chemotherapy to be used in conjun	
			with trastuzumab?	
			e) HER2 status and taxane efficacy	142
5.	CON	IFLICT O	OF INTEREST	
6.	JOU	RNAL RE	EFERENCE	. 142
7.			DGEMENTS	
SEC	TIOI	N 3: D	DEVELOPMENT METHODS, RECOMMENDATIONS	
DEV	'ELO	PMEN <sup>-</sup>	T AND EXTERNAL REVIEW PROCESS	144
1.	THE	PROGR	AM IN EVIDENCE-BASED CARE	. 144
2.			OF GUIDELINE DEVELOPMENT/WORKING GROUP	
3.			QUESTION	
4.			REVIEW	
5.			Y BASE DEVELOPMENT	
6.			TEMENTS/RECOMMENDATIONS	
7.	CON	ISENSUS	PANEL PROCESS	. 147
	7.1	QUESTIC	ONNAIRE AND RESULTS	147
	7.2	THE DEI	LPHI TECHNIQUE	148
		7.3.1	Patient Stratification	149
		7.3.2	Adjuvant Chemotherapy	151
		7.3.3	Adjuvant Endocrine Therapy	151
	7.4		SUS ATTAINED, WITH SOME DISAGREEMENT	
	7.4	CONJEN	NSUS ATTAINED, WITH SOME DISAGREEMENT	IJZ
	7.4		Patient Stratification	
	7.4	7.4.1		152

		7.4.3 Adjuvant Endocrine Therapy	153
		7.4.4 Adjuvant Targeted Therapy (HER2+)	154
	7.5	SUMMARY	
8.	INTE	ERNAL REVIEW	155
	8.1	REPORT APPROVAL PANEL REVIEW AND APPROVAL	155
		8.1.1 Section 1 Comments and Responses	155
		8.1.2 Section 2 Comments and Responses	156
9.	EXT	ERNAL REVIEW BY ONTARIO CLINICIANS AND OTHER EXPERTS	157
	9.1	METHODS	157
		9.1.1 Targeted Peer Review	157
		9.1.2 Professional Consultation	
	9.2	RESULTS	
		9.2.1 Targeted Peer Review	158
		9.2.2 Professional Consultation	161
	9.3	CONSENSUS PANEL	165
	9.4	CONCLUSION	
10.	CON	NFLICT OF INTEREST	165
RFF	ERE	INCES	166
			100
			100
		lix A: Members of the Working Group and Early Bre	
Арр	end		east
Арр	end	lix A: Members of the Working Group and Early Bre	east
App Can	end cer	lix A: Members of the Working Group and Early Bre Systemic Therapy Consensus Panel	east 206
App Can App	end cer end	lix A: Members of the Working Group and Early Bre Systemic Therapy Consensus Panel lix B: Statements/recommendations voted on by t	east 206 he
App Can App	end cer end	lix A: Members of the Working Group and Early Bre Systemic Therapy Consensus Panel	east 206 he
App Can App Con	end cer end sens	lix A: Members of the Working Group and Early Bre Systemic Therapy Consensus Panel lix B: Statements/recommendations voted on by t sus Panel and results of the votes	east 206 he 208
App Can App Con	end cer end sens	lix A: Members of the Working Group and Early Bre Systemic Therapy Consensus Panel lix B: Statements/recommendations voted on by t	east 206 he 208
App Can App Con App	end cer end sens end	dix A: Members of the Working Group and Early Bre Systemic Therapy Consensus Panel dix B: Statements/recommendations voted on by t sus Panel and results of the votes dix C: Literature search strategy, March 6, 2012	east 206 he 208 217
App Can App Con App	end cer end sens end	lix A: Members of the Working Group and Early Bre Systemic Therapy Consensus Panel lix B: Statements/recommendations voted on by t sus Panel and results of the votes	east 206 he 208 217
App Can App Con App App	end cer end sens end end	Aix A: Members of the Working Group and Early Bre Systemic Therapy Consensus Panel Aix B: Statements/recommendations voted on by t sus Panel and results of the votes Aix C: Literature search strategy, March 6, 2012 Aix D: Bisphosphonates and other bone agents	east 206 he 208 217 218
App Can App Con App App	end cer end sens end end	dix A: Members of the Working Group and Early Bre Systemic Therapy Consensus Panel dix B: Statements/recommendations voted on by t sus Panel and results of the votes dix C: Literature search strategy, March 6, 2012	east 206 he 208 217 218
App Can App Con App App	end cer end sens end end	dix A: Members of the Working Group and Early Bre Systemic Therapy Consensus Panel dix B: Statements/recommendations voted on by t sus Panel and results of the votes dix C: Literature search strategy, March 6, 2012 dix D: Bisphosphonates and other bone agents dix E: Guidelines evaluated by AGREE II	east 206 he 208 217 218 222
App Can App Con App App	end cer end sens end end	Aix A: Members of the Working Group and Early Bre Systemic Therapy Consensus Panel Aix B: Statements/recommendations voted on by t sus Panel and results of the votes Aix C: Literature search strategy, March 6, 2012 Aix D: Bisphosphonates and other bone agents	east 206 he 208 217 218 222
App Can App App App App	end cer end sens end end end	dix A: Members of the Working Group and Early Bre Systemic Therapy Consensus Panel dix B: Statements/recommendations voted on by t sus Panel and results of the votes dix C: Literature search strategy, March 6, 2012 dix D: Bisphosphonates and other bone agents dix E: Guidelines evaluated by AGREE II dix F: Literature reviews evaluated by AMSTAR (12	east 206 he 208 217 218 222 0) 223
App Can App App App App App	end cer end sens end end end	dix A: Members of the Working Group and Early Bre Systemic Therapy Consensus Panel dix B: Statements/recommendations voted on by t sus Panel and results of the votes dix C: Literature search strategy, March 6, 2012 dix D: Bisphosphonates and other bone agents dix E: Guidelines evaluated by AGREE II	east 206 he 208 217 218 222 0) 223

### LIST OF TABLES

### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

CCO = Cancer Care Ontario PEBC = Program in Evidence-Based Care RAP = Report Approval Panel RCT = randomized controlled trial

#### **Disease Characteristics**

- DCIS = ductal carcinoma in situ ER = estrogen receptor ER- = ER negative ER+ = ER positive HER2 = human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 HER2- = HER2 negative HER2+ = HER2 positive HR- = hormone receptor negative HR+ = hormone receptor positive LABC = locally advanced breast cancer LCIS = lobular carcinoma in situ LVI = lymphovascular invasion N0 = node negative (no positive lymph nodes) N+ = node positive PR = progesterone receptor PR- = PR negative PR+ = PR positive
- TN = triple negative (PR-, ER-, HER2-)
- RS = recurrence score

#### **Treatments**

- ALND = axillary lymph node dissection
- BCS = breast-conserving surgery
- BCT = breast-conserving therapy (BCS + RT)
- OA = ovarian ablation
- OA/S = ovarian ablation and/or ovarian suppression
- PMRT = postmastectomy radiation therapy
- RT = radiation therapy
- SLND = sentinel lymph node dissection

#### **Outcomes**

- BCFI = breast cancer-free interval
- BCFS = breast cancer-free survival rate
- BMD = bone mineral density
- cCR = clinically complete response
- DDFS = distant disease-free survival rate
- DFS = disease-free survival rate
- DRFI = distant recurrence-free survival rate
- EFS = event-free survival rate
- HR = hazard ratio (95% confidence intervals may be in parentheses)
- IDFS = invasive disease-free survival rate

- LVEF = left ventricular ejection fraction
- NNT = number needed to treat
- OS = overall survival rate
- pCR = pathologically complete response
- QoL = quality of life
- RFS = recurrence-free survival rate
- RR = relative risk
- TDR = time to distant recurrence

#### Systemic Therapy: Chemotherapy or Hormonal Therapy

A = doxorubicin (Adriamycin) AC = doxorubicin (Adriamycin) + cyclophosphamide AI = aromatase inhibitor ANA = anastrozole (Arimidex) C = cyclophosphamideCAF = cyclophosphamide (oral) + doxorubicin (Adriamycin)(IV) + 5-fluorouracil (IV)CEF = cyclophosphamide (oral) + epirubicin (IV) + 5-fluorouracil (IV)CEX = cyclophosphamide + epirubicin + capecitabine CMF = cyclophosphamide + methotrexate + 5-fluorouracil ddAC = dose-dense AC E = epirubicin EC = epirubicin + cyclophosphamide EXE = exemestane (Aromasin) F = 5-fluoruracil FAC = 5-fluorouracil + doxorubicin (Adriamycin) + cyclophosphamide (all IV) FEC = 5-fluorouracil + epirubicin + cyclophosphamide (all IV) FSH = follicle-stimulating hormone G = gemcitabine GCSF = granulocyte-colony stimulating factor GnRH = gonadotropin-releasing hormone GOS = goserelin (Zoladex) H = trastuzumab (Herceptin) LET = letrozole (Femara) LHRH = luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone M = methotrexateOA = ovarian ablation OA/S = ovarian ablation and/or ovarian suppression P = paclitaxelSERM = selective estrogen-receptor modulator [less commonly abbreviated as D, with T referring to any taxane; T = docetaxel (Taxotere) this document generally uses "T" to refer to docetaxel] TC = docetaxel (Taxotere) + cyclophosphamideTAC = docetaxel (Taxotere) + doxorubicin (Adriamycin) + cyclophosphamide TAM = tamoxifen TCH = docetaxel (Taxotere) + carboplatin + trastuzumab (Herceptin) [Note that TCH has a special meaning and does not follow convention in the other abbreviations] TH = docetaxel (Taxotere) + trastuzumab (Herceptin) TX = docetaxel (Taxotere) + capecitabine UFT = oral uracil and tegafur X = capecitabine

#### Evidence-Based Series #1-21: Section 1

### A Quality Initiative of the Program in Evidence-Based Care (PEBC), Cancer Care Ontario (CCO)

### Optimal Systemic Therapy for Early Female Breast Cancer: Guideline Recommendations

Andrea Eisen, Glenn G Fletcher, Sonal Gandhi, Mihaela Mates, Orit Freedman, Susan Dent, Maureen Trudeau, and members of the Early Breast Cancer Systemic Therapy Consensus Panel

#### Report Date: September 30, 2014

#### 1. QUESTION

What is the optimal adjuvant<sup>1</sup> systemic therapy for female patients with early-stage operable breast cancer, when patient and disease factors are considered?

#### 2. TARGET POPULATION

This guideline deals with female patients who are being considered for or are receiving systemic therapy for early-stage invasive breast cancer. The preferred definition of early breast cancer in this guideline is invasive cancers Stage I–IIA (T1N0–1, T2N0). Studies with cancer described as operable (no other description of stage) and some studies with both Stage I–IIA and operable Stage IIB–IIIA (sometimes considered locally advanced) are included.

#### 3. INTENDED USERS

This guideline is directed toward clinicians (medical, radiation, and surgical oncologists and general practitioners) who participate in the care of patients with early breast cancer who are suitable for or receiving systemic therapy.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Several of the systemic therapies discussed in this guideline can be considered in the neoadjuvant setting. However, this guideline makes recommendations specifically for adjuvant therapy for the following reasons: a) there is significant variability within the patient population for whom neoadjuvant therapy may be considered (from early, operable breast cancer, to locally advanced breast cancer, which may have unique treatment needs) and b) our systematic review of the evidence focused on trials with disease-free survival (DFS) and overall survival (OS) as endpoints, and thus excluded several trials that used pathologically complete response (pCR) as a primary endpoint. Therefore, our recommendations represent only some of the data that may be relevant to neoadjuvant patients.

#### 4. BACKGROUND

The systemic treatment of early-stage breast cancer involves decisions based on the characteristics of the patient and the disease. There are several guidelines that address specific issues of systemic therapy either in early breast cancer or in breast cancer generally. Because of the overlapping nature of the guidelines and patient characteristics, it is difficult for the end-user to find the appropriate guideline and recommendations. The Breast Cancer Disease Site Group (DSG) determined it would be desirable to have one guideline covering all systemic treatments for early breast cancer, and to have an associated user-friendly chart, matrix, or decision tree based on disease and patient characteristics.

This led to the development of a consensus panel of Ontario breast cancer oncologists. Utilizing the expertise of these clinicians from throughout the province, the available evidence was evaluated to create guidelines to ensure standardization of best practices.

#### 5. SUMMARY OF METHODS (see Sections 2 and 3 for details)

A systematic review was conducted based on a literature search of MEDLINE and EMBASE for the period 2008 to March 2012. Guidelines were also identified from the SAGE Directory of Cancer Guidelines. Identified systematic reviews, meta-analyses, and practice guidelines were used to identify earlier studies or as the full evidence base when there were no more recent studies. Relevant abstracts presented at large academic meetings were used to update included trials or identify ongoing trials. The Working Group summarized the evidence and drafted recommendations that were then circulated to members of the consensus group. The consensus group (including the Working Group members) consisted of medical oncologists from Ontario who either were members of the Breast Cancer DSG or were invited to ensure representation from all regional cancer centres and programs in Ontario.

A consensus panel process among the participants was used as the method to review and provide feedback on the draft recommendations. In doing so, the large amount of evidence and wide scope of the document could be managed, the current use of several chemotherapy regimens that do not have direct randomized controlled trial (RCT) comparisons and that may have differential benefits in specific subpopulations of patients could be debated and judged, differences in practice patterns among different centres and regions of Ontario could be taken into account, and gaps in evidence for certain practices could be more easily identified. The consensus process was envisioned as a way to engage the larger clinical community, promote greater standardization of practice, raise awareness of some of the challenging issues surrounding treatment decisions, and reveal practices that are not according to best evidence.

The draft recommendations were circulated to all consensus group members and voted on prior to the consensus meeting of November 23, 2012 using a 5-point Likert scale (strongly disagree, disagree, undecided, agree, strongly agree). Consensus was defined as at least 80% agreement (agree or strongly agree) and no strong disagreement. Recommendations without consensus from the initial questionnaire were presented, discussed, revised, and voted on at the consensus meeting.

This section provides the final set of recommendations and key supporting evidence. Section 2 provides the evidence summary on which the recommendations were informed. Section 3 and Appendix B provide more detail about the consensus methods and the processes undertaken in this project, the original recommendations distributed to the consensus participants, the original feedback received from the survey, and the feedback received at the meeting. In the final recommendations, cross-referencing to tables in Section 2 or other evidence was removed from the recommendation boxes and placed with the qualifying statements and key evidence.

#### 6. RECOMMENDATIONS AND KEY EVIDENCE

The most recent Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group (EBCTCG) overview (1) confirms the benefit of adjuvant chemotherapy vs none in improving outcomes in early breast cancer. The EBCTCG found similar relative benefit for all subgroups, although the absolute magnitude of benefit depended on baseline risk.

In all recommendations it is assumed that patient preference is considered and that final treatment is determined in consultation between the patient and the doctor. This is mentioned more explicitly in a few recommendations in which the balance between risk and benefit is less clear overall or for certain patient groups.

#### **RECOMMENDATIONS 1-7. PATIENT/DISEASE CHARACTERISTICS AND RECURRENCE RISK**

Recommendations for adjuvant systemic therapy in breast cancer are mostly guided by patient and disease characteristics. In general, these factors help stratify patients into low-, intermediate-, and high-risk categories (2-4). The evidence review focused on guidelines, meta-analyses, and phase III clinical studies evaluating the impact of adjuvant systemic therapies on disease-free and/or overall survival rates; a systematic review specifically on patient and disease stratification factors was not performed. The recommendations for risk stratification were created by:

- Extraction of information from clinical practice guidelines found by our systematic review.
- Assessment of patient and disease factors evaluated or addressed in clinical trials included in our systematic review.
- Initial expert consensus on additional relevant factors that may not have been specifically addressed in the reviewed guidelines and clinical trials.
- R1. The following disease characteristics (histopathological parameters) are considered relevant (either prognostic or predictive) when making a decision regarding adjuvant systemic therapies for breast cancer:
  - Lymph node status
  - T stage
  - Estrogen receptor (ER) status
  - Progesterone receptor (PR) status
  - Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) status
  - Tumour grade
  - Presence of tumour lymphovascular invasion (LVI)

#### Qualifying Statements

• <u>Progesterone Receptor Status</u>. The EBCTCG meta-analysis (5) (see Table 4 in Section 2 of this guideline) found that PR status was not an important independent factor for

determining response to endocrine therapy with tamoxifen. The consensus panel members cautioned that PR status in the studies used for the EBCTCG meta-analysis may have been analyzed by older pathological methods and may not be as well-standardized as ER analysis. ER-PR+ is very rare, such that a pathological result with this profile usually requires re-testing and confirmation. The method used to ascertain ER and PR is important, and positivity should be determined according to CCO/ASCO/CAP guidelines (6-9). Disease response of patients with ER-PR+ cancer to other endocrine agents besides tamoxifen was not addressed in the EBCTCG meta-analysis. Nonetheless, PR status may still have prognostic value even if it is not deemed useful in determining tamoxifen response.

• <u>LVI.</u> LVI predicted worse outcome in some studies (10,11) and may therefore be useful as a prognostic factor. According to the St. Gallen Consensus Conference (4,12) it is not sufficient to decide chemotherapy. The panel wondered whether LVI results are reproducible among various laboratories.

#### Other Characteristics without Consensus

- <u>Ki-67</u>. Ki-67 is currently considered more clinically useful in other cancers, such as lymphoma. There is generally poor analytical reproducibility of Ki-67 in breast cancer between various centres because testing methods are not standardized and no clear cut-off values have been defined. Some studies show a prognostic role for Ki-67, and it is incorporated in some molecular gene signatures, such as Oncotype DX. Finally, it is not prospectively validated. It is premature to recommend its use as a standard parameter for patient risk stratification, although it may be evaluated in clinical trials.
- <u>Intrinsic Subtypes</u>. Intrinsic breast cancer subtypes (luminal A, luminal B, HER2 enriched, basal, and normal) have been established to correlate with prognosis. There exist several retrospective analyses describing the response to various systemic treatments by these subtypes. However, the utility of these subtypes beyond measurement of ER, PR, HER2, and grade is not clear. At this point, the use of these subtypes in clinical decision making outside of a clinical trial is not recommended.
- R2. The following risk stratification tools may be used in determining the utility of certain systemic therapies in patients with early-stage breast cancer:
  - Oncotype DX score (for HR+, N0 or N1<sub>mic</sub> or ITC, and HER2 negative cancers)
  - Adjuvant! Online (<u>www.adjuvantonline.com</u>)

#### **Qualifying Statements**

• The Oncotype DX assay analyzes expression of a panel of 21 genes using real time reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR). It has been compared with other molecular tests in the Molecular Oncology Advisory Committee (MOAC) report (13). Oncotype DX includes 5 reference genes and 16 genes found to correlate with distant relapse in hormone receptor positive (HR+) breast cancer. The test was initially validated in three independent patient trial cohorts. Tested tumours are stratified as low, intermediate, or high recurrence score (RS), and each individual score is associated with a distinct 10-year distant relapse rate, assuming five years of endocrine therapy with

tamoxifen. The additional benefit of chemotherapy varies by RS, whereby low scores have little to no benefit, and high scores have the most benefit (14). The utility of chemotherapy in the intermediate RS zone is less clear at this juncture, although a phase III clinical trial (TAILORx) may help address this once reported. The test is most useful in patients with estrogen/progesterone receptor positive, HER2 and lymph node negative cancer; studies have retrospectively evaluated the use of Oncotype DX in patients with lymph node positive cancer; however, they were not entirely robust from a statistical standpoint (15,16).

- Oncotype DX is not consistently funded by health authorities across Canada. The consensus panel agreed the test is useful in selecting patients with ER/PR positive, HER2 negative, lymph node negative cancer, or patients with lymph node micrometastasis in whom the additional benefit of chemotherapy over endocrine therapy alone is unclear.
- Prognostic information for Adjuvant! Online comes from the Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) cancer information database of the United States and was validated by Olivotto et al (17). There is good overall correlation with some exceptions. In the UK validation (18), patients did worse than predicted by Adjuvant! Online; this may relate to differences in the health system. There is good correlation between Adjuvant! Online and Oncotype DX in patients with mid-risk of recurrence, but poor correlation at the high and low ends.
- Several participants considered Adjuvant! Online a good tool to help explain risk and treatment options to patients but do not use it for decision making because it does not include other factors that need to be considered, such as HER2 status. Risks are dependent on the comorbidity the user enters.

R3.	The following patient factors should be considered in making adjuvant systemic
	therapy decisions:

- Age
- Menopausal status
- Medical comorbidities (including validated tools used to measure health status)

#### **Qualifying Statements**

• The consensus panel agreed that age should not be a sole factor in selecting patients for chemotherapy. Advanced age in the absence of other medical comorbidities should not be used as an independent criterion to not recommend chemotherapy. Younger age may be correlated more often with aggressive tumour biology or subtypes, and may also predict response to certain treatments, but should not be an independent factor in determining candidacy for chemotherapy. Desire to spare fertility in younger patients and desire to avoid certain adverse effects in older patients may impact selection of treatment. Age has been used as a surrogate for menopausal status in some clinical studies (see Recommendations 15–25 on Endocrine Therapy).

- R4. In those patients in whom chemotherapy would likely be tolerated and is acceptable to the patient, adjuvant chemotherapy should be considered for patients with the following tumour characteristics (in no particular order):
  - Lymph node positive: one or more lymph nodes with a macro-metastatic deposit (>2 mm)
  - ER- with T size >5mm
  - HER2+ tumours
  - High-risk lymph node negative tumours with T size >5 mm and another high-risk feature (see next recommendation, R5)
  - Adjuvant! Online 10-year risk of death from breast cancer >10%

#### Qualifying Statements

• The consideration of disease factors for selecting patients to receive chemotherapy was based on review of existing guidelines and models of risk stratification, as outlined in the introduction. The Adjuvant! Online 10-year risk of death was considered by the panel at two cut-offs: 10% and 15%. There was strong consensus for 15%, and less robust consensus for using a 10% cut-off. Therefore, either a 10% or 15% 10-year risk of death according to the Adjuvant! Online model is a reasonable threshold for considering chemotherapy.

R5. When considering lymph node negative tumours with T>5mm, the following should be considered <u>high-risk</u> features (thus considered candidates for chemotherapy):

- Grade 3
- Triple negative (ER-, PR-, and HER2-)
- LVI positive
- An Oncotype DX recurrence score (RS) that is associated with an estimated distant relapse risk of 15% or more at 10 years
- HER2+

#### Qualifying Statements

• The panel reached consensus for considering all these features as high risk; therefore, patients with tumours possessing these characteristics should be considered for adjuvant chemotherapy. As previously noted, these features were derived from review of existing guidelines and models of risk stratification.

R6.	Patients with the following disease characteristics may <u>not</u> benefit from adjuvant
	chemotherapy:
	<ul> <li>T &lt;5 mm, lymph node negative and <u>no</u> other high-risk features (see R5)</li> </ul>
R7.	Adjuvant chemotherapy may <u>not</u> be required in patients with HER2-, strongly ER+ and PR+ breast cancer with any of the following additional characteristics:
	<ul> <li>Lymph node positive with micrometastasis (&lt;2 mm) only, <u>or</u></li> </ul>
	• T <5mm, <u>or</u>
	<ul> <li>An Oncotype DX RS with an estimated distant relapse risk of less than 15% at 10 years</li> </ul>

#### Qualifying Statements (Recommendations 6 and 7)

- Cut-offs for degree of estrogen receptor expression do not formally exist. The generally accepted degree of strong estrogen receptor positivity is >90% and this was used for the consensus question. Refer to local pathology policy in regards to degree of estrogen expression.
- Few RCTs have addressed the role of systemic chemotherapy in female patients with good prognosis early-stage breast cancers. In addition, there is limited data available on the benefit of systemic therapy in patients with lymph node positive micrometastatic (≤2 mm) disease. The IBCSG 23-01 trial concluded that axillary dissection could be avoided in patients with early breast cancer and limited sentinel-node involvement (micrometastasis only), thus eliminating complications of axillary surgery with no adverse effect on survival rates (19). In this trial more than 60% of patients received adjuvant endocrine treatment alone with excellent five-year disease-free survival rate (DFS) and overall survival rate (OS).
- Sentinel node micrometastases has been associated with an adverse prognosis in some long-term follow-up studies. Retrospective data have shown some benefit of systemic therapy in patients with micrometastatic disease. Until the results of prospective RCTs are available, the potential role of systemic therapy should be discussed with each patient (20).
- Prognostic tools such as Adjuvant! Online and Oncotype DX may be used to assist healthcare providers in determining the potential benefit of chemotherapy.
- The potential benefit of adjuvant systemic therapy is modest for patients with small (<1 cm) node negative breast cancer that is endocrine sensitive and HER2 negative, and these patients may be considered for endocrine therapy alone [see NCCN Guideline (3)].
- Although the majority of the consensus group agreed that patients with lymph node positive breast cancer with micrometastasis only (<2 mm) and no other high-risk features may not need adjuvant chemotherapy, 25% disagreed or were undecided and consensus was not reached. However, consensus was reached about potentially omitting chemotherapy when patients were found to have lower-risk (see R7) strongly ER/PR positive disease. There was disagreement as to whether lymph node micrometastasis alone is a high- or low-risk factor. Lymph node positivity with micrometastasis alone is therefore not included in the recommendation.

#### **RECOMMENDATIONS 8–14. SELECTION OF OPTIMAL ADJUVANT CHEMOTHERAPY REGIMENS**

R8. In patients who can tolerate it, using an anthracycline-taxane containing regimen is considered the optimal strategy for adjuvant chemotherapy, particularly in those patients deemed to be high risk.

#### Key Evidence

- Aggregate data from several phase III clinical studies, as well as meta-analyses, have established the superiority of many anthracycline-taxane-based regimens compared with other chemotherapy (see Tables 2 and 3 in the Evidence Summary).
- The 2012 EBCTCG meta-analysis (1) highlights that anthracycline-taxane regimens that do

not alter the number of anthracycline cycles (e.g.,  $AC \times 4 \rightarrow T \times 4$ ) are superior to the anthracycline alone (e.g.,  $AC \times 4$ ). Although the EBCTCG found no significant differences in outcomes if the anthracycline treatments were truncated and a taxane was added instead (e.g.,  $FEC \times 3 \rightarrow T \times 3$ ), compared with simply increasing the number of anthracycline treatments ( $FEC \times 6$ ), longer-term follow-up of the included studies (see Table 3) suggests benefit for taxanes exists. The PACS 01 trial of  $FEC \times 3 \rightarrow T \times 3$  vs  $FEC \times 6$  found improved survival rates at eight years for the anthracycline-taxane combination (21).

Truncating the number of anthracycline cycles when adding a taxane can mitigate certain important adverse effects such as cardiotoxicity and leukemia, which occur more frequently with more cycles of anthracyclines [e.g., PACS 01 (22), review by Trudeau et al (23), and recent meta-analysis (24)]. Individual trial data supports the following regimens: FEC×3→T×3 (superior to FEC×6) [PACS 01 (21,22,25-27)], AC×4→T×4 (superior to AC×4) [NSABP B27 (28) ], TAC×6 (superior to FAC×6) [BCIRG 001 (29-31)]. AC×4→P×4 administered every three weeks is an option in selected cases but was found to be inferior to AC×4→P administered weekly [ECOG 1199 (32)], CEF, and dose-intense EC→P [MA.21 (33)].

## **R9.** For patients in whom a taxane is contraindicated, an optimal-dose anthracycline regimen (doxorubicin $\ge 240 \text{ mg/m}^2$ or epirubicin $\ge 360 \text{ mg/m}^2$ ) is recommended.

#### Key Evidence

- Anthracyclines have been established to be superior to some non-anthracycline chemotherapy regimens (Table 2 in Evidence Summary).
- Studies included in the EBCTCG 2012 meta-analysis (1) indicate that in general, anthracycline-based regimens are superior to non-anthracycline non-taxane regimens, provided that an optimal anthracycline cumulative dosage is achieved (defined as total epirubicin dosage of >360 mg/m<sup>2</sup> or doxorubicin dosage of >240 mg/m<sup>2</sup>). These studies provide evidence for use of the following regimens:
  - CEF×6, or CAF×6, are superior to CMF×6 (with oral cyclophosphamide)
  - AC×4 is superior to CMF×6 (with IV cyclophosphamide), but equivalent to CMF×6 (with oral cyclophosphamide) (34,35).
  - CEF×6 resulted in improved survival rates compared with CMF×6 in a trial by Kimura et al (not included in the 2012 meta-analysis), although the difference was not statistically significant (36).
  - The utility of FEC<sub>100</sub>×6 is evidenced by the FASG 05 trial in mostly patients with locally advanced breast cancer (LABC) (37) illustrating its superiority to FEC<sub>50</sub>×6. However, it is unclear if the FEC<sub>100</sub> regimen is comparable to CEF×6 or CAF×6. Although the total cumulative dosage of epirubicin in this regimen is >360 mg/m<sup>2</sup>, the 2012 meta-analysis suggests that it may be equivalent to AC×4.

R10. The addition of gemcitabine or capecitabine to an anthracycline-taxane regimen is <u>not</u> recommended for adjuvant chemotherapy.

#### Key Evidence

• The addition of gemcitabine or capecitabine to an anthracycline-taxane regimen does not improve rates of DFS or OS and is more toxic (38,39) (see Table 3 in Section 2).

R11. In patients older than 65 years, capecitabine is <u>not</u> recommended as an adjuvant chemotherapy option in lieu of adjuvant AC or CMF (oral cyclophosphamide).

#### Key Evidence

• In patients older than 65 years, adjuvant capecitabine was found to be inferior to CMF (oral cyclophosphamide)×6 and AC×4 (40) (see Table 1 in Section 2).

R12. CMF (with oral cyclophosphamide) is an acceptable chemotherapy regimen for patients in whom an anthracycline and taxane is contraindicated.

#### Key Evidence

• CMF chemotherapy has been found to be better than no chemotherapy in the adjuvant setting (41) (see Table 1 in Section 2: Evidentiary Base). CMF×6 (with oral cyclophosphamide) has been found to be no worse than AC×4 in the adjuvant setting (40).

R13. The following adjuvant chemotherapy regimens can be used for patients with early-stage breast cancer (also see R14 for non-anthracycline regimens):

- FEC $\times$ 3 $\rightarrow$ T $\times$ 3 (superior to FEC $\times$ 6)
- AC×4 $\rightarrow$ T×4 (superior to AC×4)
- TAC×6 (superior to FAC×6)
- AC×4 $\rightarrow$ P administered weekly
- Dose-dense, dose-intense  $EC \rightarrow P$
- Dose-dense AC $\rightarrow$ P (every 2 weeks)

- Phase III clinical studies have shown improved outcomes from the adjuvant anthracycline and the anthracycline-taxane-based regimens listed in R13 (see Tables 2 and 3 in the Evidence Summary).
- FEC followed by weekly paclitaxel was not included in the initial questionnaire. It was discussed at the meeting and participants were asked to add it to the answer sheet for the second round of voting. Four of sixteen participants did not answer this question at that round; therefore, consensus was not reached. Of those who voted, 11 agreed and 1 was undecided.
- Exploratory subgroup analysis suggests that the superiority of FEC $\rightarrow$ T over FEC<sub>100</sub> may be restricted to subgroups such as postmenopausal patients or those aged >50 years (27). Some anthracycline-taxane regimens have been compared (AC $\rightarrow$ T, TAC, ddAC $\rightarrow$ P), showing comparable efficacy; FEC $\rightarrow$ T has not been directly compared with any other such regimen. Nonetheless, there is no clear data to show the superiority of any of these

anthracycline-taxane regimens over another, and a recent analysis found no difference in patient outcomes when evaluated by these regimens, including FEC $\rightarrow$ T (42). As such, they all remain reasonable options for adjuvant treatment in the absence of any prospective, randomized studies showing otherwise.

• Consensus was not reached on the use of CEF (5 of 16 disagreed or were undecided). This regimen may have a role in a subgroup of patients with very high risk of recurrence and good health who can tolerate it, although there are regimens with likely similar efficacy and lower risk of adverse effects.

#### Anthracycline vs Anthracycline-Taxane-Based Regimens

- The 2012 EBCTCG meta-analysis (1) highlights that anthracycline-taxane regimens that do not alter the number of anthracycline cycles (e.g., AC×4→T×4), are superior to the anthracycline alone (e.g., AC×4). Although the EBCTCG found no significant differences in outcomes if the anthracycline treatments were truncated and a taxane was added instead (e.g., FEC×3→T×3), compared to simply increasing the number of anthracycline treatments (FEC×6), longer-term follow-up of the included studies (see Table 3) suggests benefit for taxanes exists. The PACS 01 trial of FEC×3→T×3 vs FEC×6 found improved survival rate at eight years for the anthracycline-taxane combination (21).
- Truncating the number of anthracycline cycles when adding a taxane can mitigate certain important adverse effects, which are increased with more cycles of anthracyclines, including cardiotoxicity and leukemia [e.g., PACS 01 (22), review by Trudeau et al (23), and the recent meta-analysis by Petrelli (24)]. In addition, individual trial data supports the following regimens: FEC×3→T×3 (superior to FEC×6) [PACS 01 (21,25-27)], AC×4→T×4 (superior to AC×4) [NSABP B27 (28)], and TAC×6 (superior to FAC×6) [BCIRG 001 (29-31)].

#### Taxane-Based Regimens Compared With One Another

- The 2012 EBCTCG meta-analysis (1) did not include several studies evaluating particular taxane-based regimens to others. Individual RCTs support the use of the following: AC→P weekly [ECOG1199 (32)], dd AC→P [CALGB 9741 (43)], AC×4→T×4 [NSABP B30 (44-46) and BCIRG 005 (47)], TAC×6 [BCIRG 005 (47) and NSABP B-38 (38,48)], dd AC→P [NSABP B-38 (38,48)]. TAC×4 was found to be inferior in NSABP B30 (44-46).
- AC×4→P×4 administered every three weeks is an option in selected cases but was found to be inferior to AC×4→P administered weekly [ECOG 1199 (32)], CEF, and dose-intense EC→P [MA.21 (33)].
- Although there has been no direct comparison of FEC×3→T×3 vs optimal doxorubicintaxane based regimens, a recent retrospective "real-world" analysis of patient outcomes in Ontario using propensity matching found equivalent rate outcomes for FEC×3→T×3 vs dd AC→P (42).

## R14. TC (docetaxel/cyclophosphamide) is an adjuvant regimen that can be used when an anthracycline is <u>not</u> preferred.

#### Key Evidence and Qualifying Statements

- The US Oncology 9735 study found superiority of TC×4 over AC×4 (49) (see Table 3 in Section 2: Evidentiary Base). How a taxane regimen such as TC compares to an anthracycline-taxane regimen is unclear. TC vs TAC is being compared in the ongoing and interrelated NSABP B46, USOR (USON) 06–090, and NSABP B49 trials (see clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01547741, clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00887536).
- Patients who may have contraindications to anthracycline therapy (such as risk factors for cardiac disease) may be good candidates for a regimen such as TC. In recommending chemotherapy to patients who have moderate or intermediate risk disease, the omission of an anthracycline (such as by using TC) may also be reasonable to spare these patients the risk of cardiotoxicity.

#### RECOMMENDATIONS 15–25. ADJUVANT ENDOCRINE THERAPY

- R15. For the purpose of selecting adjuvant endocrine therapy, the most reliable definitions of menopause are:
  - Bilateral oophorectomy
  - At least 12 months of amenorrhea prior to initiation of chemotherapy or tamoxifen
  - In female patients age ≤60 years who experience amenorrhea secondary to chemotherapy or tamoxifen, defining menopause is difficult and care must be taken when initiating an aromatase inhibitor (AI)

#### Key Evidence and Qualifying Statements

- Caution must be employed in defining menopause in patients who have had a previous hysterectomy with ovaries left in place. In these patients, levels of luteinizing hormone (LH) and follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) measured prior to receiving chemotherapy/tamoxifen may be useful in determining menopausal status.
- The definition of menopause varied across studies, with most studies using a cut-off of age 50 or 60 years.
- Accurate identification of postmenopausal status is crucial if AI therapy is used because AIs cause a reflex increase in gonadotropin secretion in premenopausal patients (50).
- The incidence of chemotherapy-induced amenorrhea is dependent on the regimen used and the age of the patient (51,52).
- Cessation of menses does not necessarily denote the absence of ovarian function, and premenopausal estradiol levels can be found in patients with chemotherapy-induced amenorrhea (53). In addition, hormone levels and the absence of menses are unreliable indicators of menopause during treatment with tamoxifen (54).

R16. Adjuvant endocrine therapy should be considered in all patients with ER+ cancer, defined by the ASCO/CAP guidelines as ER immunohistochemistry (IHC) staining ≥1%, taking into consideration overall disease risk, patient preference, and potential adverse effects.

#### Key Evidence and Qualifying Statements

- Evidence is summarized in Section 2 of this guideline (see Subsection 4.3)
- This recommendation follows the ASCO/CAP guidelines (6-9).
- Discussion at the consensus meeting acknowledged that the benefit of hormone-targeted therapy was greater in patients with higher ER levels.

R17. Consensus was not reached on whether to administer adjuvant endocrine therapy in patients with ER- but PR+ tumours. See Section 3 for details.

# R18. Tamoxifen for five years has been the standard of care, but tamoxifen for up to ten years is a reasonable option for premenopausal patients with ER+ tumours, regardless of chemotherapy use.

- Evidence on tamoxifen use is summarized in Section 2 of this guideline (see Subsection 4.3.1).
- Tamoxifen for five years improves DFS and OS rates in the adjuvant setting, in both pre and postmenopausal patients. Five years of tamoxifen monotherapy is superior to two to three years.
- The ATLAS trial (55) included 12,894 female patients and found that extending tamoxifen duration in ER+ patients to 10 years further reduced the risk of breast cancer recurrence (617 vs 711 cases, -2.80% difference, p=0.002), breast cancer mortality (p=0.01), and overall mortality (639 vs 722 deaths, -2.48% difference, p=0.01). For all ER groups combined (ER+, ER-, or unknown) there was an increased incidence of pulmonary embolus (41 vs 21 cases, difference of 0.31%, p=0.01) and endometrial cancer (116 vs 63 cases, difference of 0.82%, p=0.002), although this did not result in a significant difference in mortality from these causes (10 vs 8 deaths, p=0.69 and 17 vs 11, p=0.29, respectively). There was an decrease in ischemic heart disease (127 vs 163 cases, -0.56% difference, p=0.02,) and lower rate of death due to myocardial infarction or other vascular causes (178 vs 205 deaths, difference -0.43%, p=0.10).
- The aTTOM trial (56) also found that extending tamoxifen to ten years compared with five years reduced recurrence (p=0.003) and breast cancer mortality rates (p=0.05), with little effect on non-breast cancer mortality rates(457 vs 467 deaths, RR=0.94). There was an increase in endometrial cancer occurrence (102 vs 45 cases, RR=2.2, p<0.0001) and death (37 vs 20 deaths, 1.1% vs 0.6%, p=0.02). Combined results with the ATLAS trial gave enhanced statistical significance for extended tamoxifen benefit for recurrence (p<0.0001), breast cancer mortality (p=0.002), and OS (p=0.005). The proportional reduction in recurrence rates was unaffected by age or nodal status.
- The benefit of tamoxifen in improving DFS and OS rates remained even when initiated more than two years after definitive surgery or adjuvant chemotherapy (57,58); therefore, patients should be offered tamoxifen even when a delay occurred after surgery or adjuvant chemotherapy.

• Identifying menopause by amenorrhea or hormone levels post-chemotherapy and/or while on tamoxifen is unreliable (see Recommendation 15).

R19. Ovarian ablation or suppression is a reasonable treatment option for premenopausal patients with ER+ tumours who refuse or are <u>not</u> candidates for any other systemic therapy.

#### Key Evidence and Qualifying Statements

- Refer to Table 12 in the Evidentiary Base (Section 2).
- Ovarian ablation (OA) can be achieved through surgery or radiation, and ovarian suppression can be achieved with luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone (LHRH) agonists.

# R20. In premenopausal patients with ER+ tumours (treated with or without chemotherapy) the addition of ovarian ablation or suppression to tamoxifen is not the standard of care.

Some consensus panel participants disagreed with the recommendation because it did not make allowance for subgroups and could be misinterpreted to mean that ovarian ablation and/or suppression (OA/S) plus tamoxifen should not be used. Because they did not vote "strongly disagree" the recommendation passed the consensus rules and rewording was not considered.

Subsequent to completion of this guideline, additional results for the SOFT trial became available which indicate that for women who remain premenopausal after chemotherapy (as demonstrated by estradiol levels), ovarian function suppression in addition to tamoxifen reduces risk of breast cancer recurrence, which can be further reduced by the use of exemestane rather than tamoxifen (59).

- In early breast cancer, OA/S plus tamoxifen is not currently the standard of care for all premenopausal patients with ER+ cancer. Some of the authors consider this combination appropriate in certain subgroups such patients who are younger or at higher risk of recurrence. Use of an AI is addressed in R21. OA/S plus tamoxifen (60) or OA/S plus endocrine therapy (3) is the standard of care for metastatic breast cancer (both pre- and postmenopausal).
- In the LHRH-agonists meta-analysis (61) (see Table 12 in Section 2), comparisons of recurrence rates with and without LHRH subdivided by age (≤40 and >40 years) suggested a stronger (and beneficial) effect of LHRH in younger patients. LHRH + tamoxifen compared with tamoxifen alone improved the hazard ratio for recurrence by 32% in the ≤40 years subgroup (p=0.12) compared with an improvement of 2% (p=0.91) in the >40 years subgroup.
- The benefit for LHRH added to chemotherapy or any systemic therapy was statistically significant (p=0.01 and p=0.002 respectively) for the ≤40 years group (61). In younger female patients, chemotherapy is less likely to induce permanent amenorrhea, and this may explain the greater benefit of OA/S in younger patients. In addition, permanent

amenorrhea after treatment using modern non-CMF-based chemotherapy is less common than with older chemotherapy regimens. It is unclear whether benefit persists when tamoxifen is also used.

- Results from the SOFT and TEXT trials (see R21 and Table 8 of Section 2) suggest that OA/S + exemestane is better than OA/S + tamoxifen.
- The SOFT and TEXT found that patients deemed by their physicians as not requiring chemotherapy had a DFS rate of 96% with exemestane + OA/S and 93% with tamoxifen + OA/S, and suggested there may be patients at low risk of recurrence who do not require chemotherapy if they receive appropriate endocrine therapy.
- Additional results from the SOFT trial comparing tamoxifen plus ovarian suppression to tamoxifen alone were reported subsequent to this guideline completion (59,62). There was a benefit for the addition of ovarian suppression to tamoxifen (86.6% vs 84.7% DFS, p=0.10; p=0.03 after adjustment for prognostic factors). Most recurrences and thus greater benefit was found in those who received chemotherapy; there was no difference in DFS (93.4% vs. 93.3%) or OS (99.2% vs. 99.8%) in the subgroup of patients who had no prior chemotherapy. The benefit of ovarian function suppression plus exemestane was especially seen in the patient group under 35 years old. Ovarian function suppression plus exemestane or tamoxifen, compared to tamoxifen alone, was associated with more toxicity and adverse effect on QoL and these effects need to be considered when choosing between tamoxifen, tamoxifen plus ovarian suppression, and exemestane plus ovarian suppression (59,62-65).

# R21. In premenopausal patients with ER+ tumours, treated with or without chemotherapy, ovarian ablation or suppression plus five years of an AI is <u>not</u> the standard of care.

Subsequent to completion of this guideline, additional results for the SOFT trial became available which indicate that for women who remain premenopausal after chemotherapy (as demonstrated by estradiol levels), ovarian function suppression in addition to tamoxifen reduces risk of breast cancer recurrence which can be further reduced by the use of exemestane rather than tamoxifen (59).

- Standard practice in Canada and the United States is to use tamoxifen in premenopausal patients, although European clinicians tend to favour an AI + ovarian suppression (66).
   OA/S + tamoxifen (60) or OA/S + endocrine therapy (3) is the standard of care for metastatic breast cancer (both pre- and postmenopausal).
- In postmenopausal patients, Als have been found superior to tamoxifen (see R22, R24). It has been proposed that Als would be better than tamoxifen in premenopausal patients, but this would require OA/S to reduce estrogen levels to postmenopausal levels.
- The SOFT and TEXT Trials (see Table 8 in Section 2) found that exemestane + OA/S to resulted in improved survival rates compared with tamoxifen + OA/S (DFS 91.1% vs 87.3%, HR=0.72, p=0.0002).
- The SOFT and TEXT also found that patients deemed by their physicians not to require chemotherapy experienced survival rates of 96% with exemestane plus OA/S and 93% with

tamoxifen plus OA/S, suggesting that some patients who are at low risk of recurrence might not require chemotherapy if they receive appropriate endocrine therapy.

Additional results from the SOFT trial comparing tamoxifen plus ovarian suppression to tamoxifen alone were reported subsequent to this guideline completion (59,62). There was a benefit for the addition of ovarian suppression to tamoxifen (86.6% vs 84.7% DFS, p=0.10; p=0.03 after adjustment for prognostic factors). Most recurrences and thus greater benefit was found in those who received chemotherapy; there was no difference in DFS (93.4% vs. 93.3%) or OS (99.2% vs. 99.8%) in the subgroup of patients who had no prior chemotherapy. The benefit of ovarian function suppression plus exemestane was especially seen in the patient group under 35 years old. Ovarian function suppression plus exemestane or tamoxifen, compared to tamoxifen alone, was associated with more toxicity and adverse effect on QoL and these effects need to be considered when choosing between tamoxifen, tamoxifen plus ovarian suppression, and exemestane plus ovarian suppression (59,62-65).

# R22. The optimal<sup>\*</sup> adjuvant endocrine therapy for postmenopausal patients with ER+ tumours should include an AI.

#### Key Evidence and Qualifying Statements

- Evidence is summarized in Tables 6–9 of Section 2 (Evidence Summary).
- Studies consistently demonstrate that the use of an AI either alone or sequentially after tamoxifen therapy, compared with tamoxifen alone, reduces the risk of recurrence and improves DFS rate (67).
- The absolute gain in breast cancer endpoints is greater for patients with a poorer prognosis.
- EBCTCG 2010 did not report mortality rates so the survival rate data from the aggregated trials is not yet known.
- Some studies suggest that the relative benefit of tamoxifen or various Als may depend on patient characteristics (e.g., nodal status, hormone receptor status), although this needs to be verified in future studies.

\*Some consensus panel participants felt that the word "optimal" may not apply to all patients. The risk to benefit ratio of using tamoxifen vs Als must be taken into account, recognizing the different side-effect profile of these medications.

## R23. Tamoxifen for up to ten years is an acceptable treatment for postmenopausal patients with ER+ tumours treated with or without chemotherapy.

- Evidence on tamoxifen use is summarized in Section 2 of this guideline (see Subsection 4.3.1).
- Substantial and highly significant recurrence rate reduction and survival rate benefit were found in all subgroups of patients with ER+ cancer treated with tamoxifen: entry age, tumour grade and size, chemotherapy use and sequence with tamoxifen, and nodal status.

1-21 Optimal Systemic Therapy for Early Female Breast Cancer

- The absolute risk reduction from tamoxifen depends on the absolute breast cancer risk.
- Although incorporating an AI into treatment improves DFS rate and reduces recurrence, tamoxifen alone may be appropriate in some patients. The risk-to-benefit ratio of using tamoxifen and AIs must be taken into account, recognizing the different adverse-effect profiles of these medications.
- Extended tamoxifen beyond 5 years is supported by the ATLAS (55) and aTTOM trials (56) (see Recommendation 18).

R24. For postmenopausal patients with ER+ breast cancer (treated with or without chemotherapy) the following are acceptable strategies for use of Als:

- Upfront for five years (instead of tamoxifen)
- As a switch after two to three years of tamoxifen (for a total of five years of endocrine therapy)
- As extended adjuvant therapy for five years, after completing five years of tamoxifen

#### Key Evidence and Qualifying Statements

- Tables 6-8 in the Evidence Base (Section 2) summarize the phase III clinical studies that evaluated the role of AIs in postmenopausal patients with ER+ breast cancer. All the included studies detected a small benefit in absolute DFS rate and indicated that AIs can be administered in several strategies:
  - **Upfront** letrozole, anastrozole, or exemestane (68) for five years in lieu of tamoxifen therapy; BIG 1–98 found a small OS benefit as well.
  - Switch strategy (letrozole, exemestane, or anastrozole) after two to three years of tamoxifen therapy. The IES and ARNO trials found an OS benefit as well; however, these studies had a highly selected population. BIG 1–98 provided data for switching from letrozole to tamoxifen after two to three years or from tamoxifen to letrozole; both of these were found to be have similar outcomes as five years of letrozole.
  - **Extended adjuvant therapy** with three to five years of any AI after five years of tamoxifen therapy; this strategy had a small OS benefit in patients with lymph node positive cancer (MA.17).
  - **Delayed AI** with the initiation of letrozole at a median of 2.8 years after completing 5 years of tamoxifen.
- All consensus participants either disagreed (12 of 16) or were undecided (4 of 16) with giving Als as extended adjuvant therapy for longer than five years, after completing five years of tamoxifen.
- Some studies suggest that relative benefit of tamoxifen or various Als may depend on patient characteristics (e.g., nodal status, hormone receptor status) although this needs to be verified in future studies.

R25. In patients with ER+ tumours who do not receive adjuvant endocrine therapy immediately after surgery or chemotherapy, delayed endocrine therapy is still clinically beneficial.

#### Key Evidence and Qualifying Statements

- Evidence exists for the delayed initiation of both tamoxifen and Als, as indicated in the Evidentiary Base (Section 2, Subsection 4.3).
- The relevant trials initiated endocrine therapy at a mean of two years from diagnosis.

#### RECOMMENDATIONS 26-34. ADJUVANT TARGETED THERAPY (HER2+ CANCERS)

## R26. Only patients with HER2+ breast cancer (IHC 3+, ISH ratio ≥2, or 6+ HER2 gene copies per cell nucleus) should be offered adjuvant trastuzumab.

#### Key Evidence and Qualifying Statements

- Trastuzumab is the targeted therapy for HER2+ early-stage breast cancer that has been most fully evaluated in completed RCTs (69-73). The TEACH trial (see Table 15) compared lapatinib to placebo and found benefit in DFS but not OS rates. The effect was greater in patients with hormone receptor negative cancer, although adverse effects (diarrhea, rash, hepatobilliary effects) were also higher with lapatinib. The ALTTO trial compared lapatinib, trastuzumab, and their combinations but the lapatinib arm was discontinued for futility. The other arms detected no significant differences, although lapatinib had more adverse effects. Follow-up is ongoing. Although lapatinib and pertuzumab have been investigated in the setting of locally advanced and metastatic disease (74,75), no recommendation for these agents can be made at this time. The role of dual blockade with trastuzumab and pertuzumab is currently being evaluated in the ongoing APHINITY trial (http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01358877).
- The American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) and the College of American Pathologists (CAP) (76,77) define a positive HER2 result as IHC staining of 3+ (uniform, intense membrane staining of >10% of invasive tumour cells); an in situ hybridization (e.g., FISH, SISH or CISH) ratio (HER2 gene signals to chromosome 17 signals) of ≥2.0; or HER2 gene polysomy of ≥6.0 HER2 gene copies per nucleus. Equivocal results, defined as IHC 2+ or ISH equivocal based on single-probe ISH average HER2 copy number ≥4.0 and <6.0 signals/cell or based on dual-probe HER2/CEP17 ratio <2.0 with an average HER2 copy number ≥4.0 and <6.0 signals/cells, should be reported as equivocal and reassessed using a reflex test (same specimen using the alternative test) or new test (new specimen, if available, using same or alternative test).</li>

# R27. Trastuzumab plus chemotherapy is recommended for all patients with HER2+ node positive breast cancer and for patients with for HER2+ node negative breast cancer greater than 1 cm in size.

- Phase III clinical studies have demonstrated improved DFS and OS with the addition of trastuzumab to chemotherapy compared with chemotherapy alone in HER2+ early breast cancer (see Table 14 in Evidentiary Base).
- The majority of adjuvant trastuzumab trials included patients with lymph node positive

breast cancer, or lymph node negative disease with one of the following high-risk features: ER-, grade 2 or 3, T  $\geq$ 1cm, or age <35 years. Trastuzumab may still be considered in patients with HER2+ disease outside these features. Although most studies excluded patients with tumours <1 cm, the benefit of trastuzumab was equivalent in both node negative and node positive tumours in the HERA trial which included small N0 tumours (1 cm was the formal inclusion criteria, although 60 patients with tumours <1 cm were also enrolled). The BCIRG 006 trial (71,72) analysis by tumour size found benefit in tumours <1 cm, <2 cm, and  $\geq$ 2 cm, but not for tumours 1-2 cm in size; however, interpretation is limited because of the small number of patients in each category. The review by Petrelli and Barni (78) concluded that patients with HER2+ tumours have a higher rate of recurrence and poorer survival rate than patients with HER2- cancer of the same size/stage, confirming that HER2 positivity itself is a risk factor. There does not appear to be a threshold according to tumour size, and size alone should not be the deciding factor in whether to administer trastuzumab to patients with tumours <1 cm. In Ontario, tumours <1 cm can be treated under the Evidence Building Program (EBP).

- The meta-analysis by Moja et al (Cochrane Collaboration) (79) found that the hazard ratio for trastuzumab-containing regimens vs chemotherapy alone was 0.66 for OS and 0.60 for DFS (p<0.00001 for both). The risk of congestive heart failure and left ventricular ejection decline were higher with trastuzumab (RR=5.11, p<0.00001 and RR=1.83, p<0.0008, respectively). In patients at high risk of recurrence without cardiac problems, there is clear survival rate benefit for trastuzumab.
- The benefit of adjuvant trastuzumab in the absence of cytotoxic chemotherapy is unknown because it has not been evaluated in clinical trials. Trastuzumab monotherapy vs trastuzumab + chemotherapy is being evaluated in elderly patients in the SAS BC07 (RESPECT) study (80).

# R28. Trastuzumab therapy can be considered in small (≤1 cm) tumours as part of clinical studies or evidence-building programs (such as the one currently available in Ontario).

- Evidence for trastuzumab use is included in the Evidence Summary (Section 2, Subsection 4.4).
- Because most major phase III trials that confirmed the benefit of adjuvant trastuzumab did not include small (≤1 cm diameter) node negative breast cancer, there is little evidence from RCTs evaluating the effect of trastuzumab in tumours ≤1cm. HERA and BCIRG 006 as discussed in R27 are exceptions.
- Several retrospective case series of HER2 positive pT1a/bN0M0 carcinoma seem to demonstrate that they have a higher risk of relapse compared with the HER2 negative counterpart (79).
- In the HERA trial (81), the subgroup of 510 patients with node negative disease and tumours ranging from 1.1 to 2.0 cm in diameter had similar three-year DFS rate benefit with trastuzumab as in the overall cohort (trastuzumab vs observation HR=0.53, 95% CI 0.26-1.07; all patients HR=0.64, 95% CI 0.54-0.76).
- The American trials found a similar trend with benefit in pT1N0M0 tumours smaller than 2

cm. Although there has not been a confirmatory trial, there is no reason to think that high-risk pT1a/bN0M0 breast cancer cannot benefit from trastuzumab in the same way as more advanced stages of the disease. There does not appear to be a threshold according to tumour size, and size alone should not be the deciding factor in whether to administer trastuzumab to patients with tumours  $\leq 1$  cm. In Ontario, tumours  $\leq 1$  cm can be treated under the Evidence Building Program.

## R29. Trastuzumab can be administered with any acceptable adjuvant chemotherapy regimen.

#### Key Evidence and Qualifying Statements

- Evidence on use of trastuzumab + chemotherapy is provided in Table 14 of Section 2: Evidentiary Base. The majority of evidence exists for anthracycline-taxane-based regimens.
- Three large RCTs (>1000 patients) administered anthracycline/taxane combinations [AC→paclitaxel in NSABP B31 (82) and NCCTG N9831 (69,70,82-85), AC→docetaxel in BCIRG 006 (71,72)], whereas the BCIRG 006 trial also included a non-anthracycline containing arm [docetaxel + carboplatin + trastuzumab (TCH)]. Trastuzumab had a significant survival rate benefit in all these trials.
- The HERA trial (81) gave trastuzumab to any patient who received prior chemotherapy (neoadjuvant, adjuvant, or both). There was no randomization regarding the type of chemotherapy: 68% received anthracycline, 26% anthracycline + taxane, and 6% no anthracycline. When results were censored to account for cross-over to trastuzumab after unblinding, there was persistent DFS and OS rate benefit. This trial suggests there is benefit of trastuzumab in combination with any chemotherapy, but it did not address the issue of which chemotherapy is optimal.
- PEBC Guideline #1-17 (86) recommended that trastuzumab be used with an anthracycline instead of CMF.
- Because anthracyclines are known to be cardiotoxic, and anthracyclines + trastuzumab even more cardiotoxic, non-anthracycline regimens may be more appropriate in some patients. The BCIRG 006 trial (71,72) compared both AC→docetaxel/trastuzumab (AC→TH) and docetaxel/carboplatin/trastuzumab (TCH, a non-anthracycline regimen) to the AC→T control. TCH and AC→TH were both superior to AC→T. There was no significant difference in OS or DFS rates among trastuzumab regimens, although AC→TH seemed to have a stronger effect in some subgroups. TCH had a much lower incidence of cardiotoxicity and leukemia. Whether TCH is equivalent to AC→TH was not established as the trial was not designed to test for non-inferiority between the two trastuzumabcontaining regimens.

# R30. The administration of trastuzumab concurrently with the anthracycline component of a chemotherapy regimen is generally not recommended because of the potential of increased cardiotoxicity.

• Anthracyclines are known to be cardiotoxic and anthracycline followed by trastuzumab even more cardiotoxic. Anthracyclines administered concurrently with trastuzumab in patients with metastatic breast cancer resulted in high rates (25%) of congestive heart failure. Concurrent use of trastuzumab + anthracycline has been explored in several small trials in the neoadjuvant setting without significant cardiotoxicity. Long-term results of these trials have yet to be reported; therefore, this approach should not be considered outside the context of a clinical trial.

# R31. Adjuvant trastuzumab can be initiated either concurrently or sequentially with the taxane portion of a chemotherapy regimen.

#### Key Evidence and Qualifying Statements

- The evidence is summarized in the Evidentiary Base (Section 2, Subsection 4.4.2).
- There appears to be no significant differences in survival outcomes between concurrent or sequential taxane and trastuzumab; however, initiating the trastuzumab concurrently with the taxane is still generally preferred.
- Most adjuvant trials started trastuzumab sequentially after anthracyclines, either concurrently with or after the taxane, and administered it either weekly (2 mg/kg) or every three weeks (6 mg/kg) for one year (sometimes switching frequency at the end of the taxane cycles). All trials used a higher dosage (loading) for the first round (8 mg/kg for the 3-weekly schedule and 4 mg/kg for the weekly administration).
- NCCTG N9831 had both sequential and concurrent arms and there was a nonsignificant trend toward greater survival rate benefit with the concurrent arm (87). NSABP B31 and the HERA trial prescribed trastuzumab sequentially after chemotherapy whereas BCIRG 006 delivered trastuzumab concurrently with the taxane in the two relevant arms.

# 32. TCH (docetaxel/carboplatin/trastuzumab) is less cardiotoxic than AC→TH (doxorubicin/cyclophosphamide-docetaxel/trastuzumab) and is recommended for patients at higher risk for cardiotoxicity.

- Evidence exists for trastuzumab in combination with docetaxel and carboplatin (TCH), and this regimen was found to be similar to AC→TH (see Table 14 in the Evidence Summary). The BCIRG 006 trial (71,72) compared both AC→TH and TCH (a non-anthracycline regimen) to the AC→T control. TCH and AC→TH were both superior to AC→T. There was no significant difference in OS or DFS rates among trastuzumab regimens, although AC→TH seemed to have a stronger effect in some subgroups. TCH had much lower incidence of cardiotoxicity and leukemia. Whether TCH is equivalent to AC→TH was not established because the trial was not designed to determine non-inferiority between the two trastuzumab-containing arms.
- Because anthracyclines are known to be cardiotoxic, and anthracyclines + trastuzumab even more cardiotoxic, non-anthracycline regimens may be more appropriate in some patients.

R33. Phase III evidence for the addition of trastuzumab to some chemotherapy regimens such as TC (docetaxel/cyclophosphamide) does not exist. However, these regimens may be in use and are reasonable options, particularly to mitigate cardiotoxicity in certain patients.

#### Key Evidence and Qualifying Statements

 HERA (73,81,88,89) was a large phase III international RCT that randomized patients with HER2+ early breast cancer to one year vs two years vs no trastuzumab after completion of adjuvant systemic therapy (as per investigator choice). Patients experienced significant clinical benefit with the addition of trastuzumab to chemotherapy, regardless of the chemotherapy backbone. TC has not been formally evaluated with trastuzumab in the context of an RCT; however, given the results of the HERA trial (systemic therapy as per investigator choice), TC could be considered a reasonable systemic option in combination with trastuzumab, particularly in patients for whom there is a concern with regards to cardiotoxicity.

## R34. Patients should be offered one year total of adjuvant trastuzumab, with regular cardiac functional assessments during this period.

- Current evidence suggests that the optimal duration of adjuvant trastuzumab is one year (see Subsection 4.4.2 of Section 2: Evidentiary Base). Data for shorter durations of trastuzumab are being evaluated.
- Trastuzumab therapy for one year total continues to be the standard of care for patients with early-stage HER2+ disease. Studies with regular cardiac monitoring discontinued trastuzumab if there was cardiotoxicity.
- Trastuzumab can be administered concurrently with [see NSABP B-31 and NCCTG N9831 (69,83,85,90)] or sequential to radiotherapy [HERA (73,88,89)].
- The recent HERA update (73) on one- vs two-year trastuzumab subgroups found no DFS or OS rate benefits for the longer treatment duration, but increased cardiotoxicity (based on the secondary cardiac endpoint).
- The PHARE trial is a phase III RCT comparing 6 vs 12 months of adjuvant trastuzumab. Results presented at ESMO 2012 (91,92) were inconclusive as to whether 6 months of trastuzumab was non-inferior to 12 months with a nonsignificant trend favouring 12 months. Further results after 3.5 years follow-up (93) also concluded that they failed to show that 6 months trastuzumab was non-inferior to 12 months trastuzumab, although there were significantly more cardiac events in the 12 month group (5.7% vs 1.9%).
- Two small trials [FinHER, 9 weeks trastuzumab (94,95); E-2198, 12 vs 52 weeks trastuzumab (96)] suggest trastuzumab may be beneficial when administered for shorter durations resulting in less cardiotoxicity than longer treatment. Results need to be confirmed in larger trials that are ongoing. The Short-HER and SOLD studies are looking at one year vs nine weeks trastuzumab and the Hellenic Group and PERSEPHONE trials are looking at one year vs six months trastuzumab. Based on the completed trials plus neoadjuvant trials that found trastuzumab + chemotherapy increased the pathologically

complete response (pCR) rate compared with chemotherapy alone, some have suggested that shorter trastuzumab therapy (even if not optimal for preventing recurrence) may be acceptable, particularly for those patients who cannot tolerate trastuzumab for one year.

- The NICE guideline (97) recommends that patients receiving trastuzumab should have cardiac functional assessments every three months during trastuzumab treatment, and trastuzumab should not be offered to patients with any of the following:
  - A left ventricular ejection fraction LVEF of <55%
  - A history of documented congestive heart failure
  - High-risk uncontrolled arrhythmias
  - Angina pectoris requiring medication
  - Clinically significant valvular disease
  - Evidence of transmural infarction on electrocardiograph (ECG)
  - Poorly controlled hypertension.

Most of the clinical trials evaluating trastuzumab excluded these patients. Patients who develop cardiotoxicity during administration of trastuzumab should be treated and monitored closely by a knowledgeable multidisciplinary team (oncologists and cardiologists).

#### 7. IMPLEMENTATION

As indicated in Section 2, the systematic review and companion recommendations are intended to promote evidence-based practice in Ontario, Canada and issues specific to other jurisdictions (including low- or middle-income countries) were not considered. The recommendations encompassed in this guideline are most applicable to the Ontario (and likely North American) oncology practice setting. Although the approval of drugs is under the auspices of Health Canada, funding for particular systemic therapy agents is handled provincially in Canada, and this may impact on the ability to receive public reimbursement for certain therapeutic agents in each province. Some treatments as recommended by this guideline are fairly resource-intensive (e.g., taxane chemotherapy and trastuzumab). As such, these treatments may only be sustainable in higher-income nations. One must consider the local practice setting, including resource constraints, when considering the implementation of systemic therapy recommendations. Guidelines by groups such as the Breast Health Global Initiative (98-100) may help users of this guideline to better choose the most resource-appropriate systemic therapies for their unique practice setting.

#### 8. RELATED PEBC/CCO GUIDELINES

- Warr D, Johnston MF, and members of the Breast Cancer Disease Site Group. Use of bisphosphonates in women with breast cancer [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Cancer Care Ontario; 2012 May 15 [2004 document assessed as to be updated 2012 Feb, Clemmons M, Agbassi C, reviewers; cited 2012 Oct 15]. Program in Evidence-Based Care Evidence-Based Series No.: 1–11 TO BE UPDATED. Available from: https://https://www.cancercareontario.ca/en/guidelines-advice/types-of-cancer/37761
- 2. Eisen A, Trudeau M, Shelley W, Messersmith H, Pritchard KI. Aromatase inhibitors in adjuvant therapy for hormone receptor positive breast cancer: a systematic review.

Cancer Treat Rev. 2008;34(2):157-74.

- Trudeau M, Franek J. Docetaxel plus cyclophosphamide as adjuvant therapy for early, operable breast cancer [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Cancer Care Ontario; 2008 Sep 9 [cited 2012 May 14]CED-SOS Advice Report No.:9. Available from: <u>https://www.cancercareontario.ca/en/guidelines-advice/types-ofcancer/711?redirect=true</u>
- Madarnas Y, Eisen A, Myers R, Haynes AE. The prophylactic use of filgrastim in patients with breast cancer [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Cancer Care Ontario; 2009 Oct 1 [cited 2012 May 25]. CED-CCO Special Advice Report No.: 4–2. Available from: <u>https://www.cancercareontario.ca/en/guidelines-advice/types-of-</u> cancer/676?redirect=true
- 5. Clemons M, Amir E, Haynes AE, Eisen A, Trudeau M. Zoledronic acid as adjuvant therapy in combination with adjuvant endocrine therapy for premenopausal women with early-stage hormone receptor positive breast cancer [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Cancer Care Ontario; 2010 Jan 25 [cited 2012 May 24]. CED-CCO special advice report No.: 16. Available from: <a href="https://www.cancercareontario.ca/en/guidelines-advice/types-of-cancer/661">https://www.cancercareontario.ca/en/guidelines-advice/types-of-cancer/661</a>
- 6. Eisen A, Messersmith H, Franek J, Trudeau M, the Breast Cancer Disease Site Group. Adjuvant ovarian ablation in the treatment of premenopausal women with early stage invasive breast cancer [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Cancer Care Ontario; 2010 Jul 6. [cited 2012 May 23] Program in Evidence-Based Care (PEBC) Evidence-Based Series No:.1–9. Available from: <u>https://www.cancercareontario.ca/en/guidelines-</u> <u>advice/types-of-cancer/1031</u>
- 7. Dhesy-Thind B, Pritchard K, Messersmith H, O'Malley F, Elavathil L, Trudeau M, et al. The role of HER2/neu in systemic and radiation therapy for women with breast cancer [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Cancer Care Ontario; 2011 [2006 Nov 10; archived 2011 Apr; cited 2012 Oct 6]. Program in Evidence-Based Care Evidence-Based Series No.: 1–17. Available from: <a href="https://www.cancercareontario.ca/en/guidelines-advice/types-of-cancer/1301">https://www.cancercareontario.ca/en/guidelines-advice/types-of-cancer/1301</a>
- Nofech-Mozes S, Vella E, Dhesy-Thind S, Hanna W. Guideline on hormone receptor testing in breast cancer [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Cancer Care Ontario; 2011 Apr 8. [cited 2012 Oct 5]. Program in Evidence-Based Care Evidence-Based Series No.: 22–1. Available from: <u>https://www.cancercareontario.ca/en/guidelines-advice/types-of-</u> cancer/541
- 9. Trudeau M, Eisen A, Messersmith H, Pritchard KI, and the Breast Cancer Disease Site Group. Adjuvant taxane therapy for women with early-stage, invasive breast cancer [Internet]. Version 2. Toronto (ON): Cancer Care Ontario; 2011 Sept 30 [2006; reviewed by Madarnas Y, Mates M, Abgassi C 2011; endosed 2011 Sep 16; cited 2012 May 24] Program in Evidence-Based Care Evidence-Based Series No.: 1–7. Available from: https://www.cancercareontario.ca/en/guidelines-advice/types-of-cancer/1021
- Trudeau M, Madarnas Y, McCready D, Pritchard KI, Messersmith H, and the Breast Cancer Disease Site Group. The role of trastuzumab in adjuvant and neoadjuvant therapy in women with HER2/neu-overexpressing breast cancer [Internet]. Version 2. Toronto (ON): Cancer Care Ontario; 2011 Sep 15 [reviewed by Madarnas Y, Tey R, 2009; endorsed 2010 Jun 11]; cited 2012 May 24]. Program in Evidence-Based Care Evidence-Based Series No.: 1–24. Available from:

1-21 Optimal Systemic Therapy for Early Female Breast Cancer

https://www.cancercareontario.ca/en/guidelines-advice/types-ofcancer/696?redirect=true

11. Trudeau M, Sinclair S, Clemons M, Shelley W, the Breast Cancer Disease Site Group. The role of taxanes in neoadjuvant chemotherapy for women with non-metastatic breast cancer [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Cancer Care Ontario; 2011 [reviewed by Madarnas Y, Mates M, Agbassi C; 2003/04 document endorsed 2011 Sep; cited 2012 May 23] Program in Evidence-Based Care Evidence-Based Series No.: 1–20 Version 2.; Available from: <a href="https://www.cancercareontario.ca/en/guidelines-advice/types-of-cancer/691?redirect=true">https://www.cancercareontario.ca/en/guidelines-advice/types-of-cancer/691?redirect=true</a>

#### Funding

The PEBC is a provincial initiative of Cancer Care Ontario supported by the Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. All work produced by the PEBC is editorially independent from the Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care.

#### Updating

All PEBC documents are maintained and updated through an annual assessment and subsequent review process. This is described in the PEBC Document Assessment and Review Protocol, available on the CCO website at: <a href="https://www.cancercare.on.ca/cms/One.aspx?portalld=1377&pageId=122178">https://www.cancercare.on.ca/cms/One.aspx?portalld=1377&pageId=122178</a>

#### Copyright

This report is copyrighted by Cancer Care Ontario; the report and the illustrations herein may not be reproduced without the express written permission of Cancer Care Ontario. Cancer Care Ontario reserves the right at any time, and at its sole discretion, to change or revoke this authorization.

#### Disclaimer

Care has been taken in the preparation of the information contained in this report. Nonetheless, any person seeking to apply or consult the report is expected to use independent medical judgment in the context of individual clinical circumstances or seek out the supervision of a qualified clinician. Cancer Care Ontario makes no representation or guarantees of any kind whatsoever regarding the report content or use or application and disclaims any responsibility for its application or use in any way.

#### **Contact Information**

For information about this document, please contact Dr Maureen Trudeau, lead author, through the PEBC via: Phone: 905-527-4322 ext. 42822 Fax: 905 526-6775 E-mail: ccopgi@mcmaster.ca

For information about the PEBC and the most current version of all reports, please visit the CCO website at <u>http://www.cancercare.on.ca/</u> or contact the PEBC office at: Phone: 905-527-4322 ext. 42822 Fax: 905 526-6775 E-mail: <u>ccopgi@mcmaster.ca</u>

#### Evidence-Based Series #1-21: Section 2

### A Quality Initiative of the Program in Evidence-Based Care (PEBC), Cancer Care Ontario (CCO)

### Optimal Systemic Therapy for Early Female Breast Cancer: Evidentiary Base

Andrea Eisen, Glenn G Fletcher, Sonal Gandhi, Mihaela Mates, Orit Freedman, Susan Dent, Maureen Trudeau, and members of the Early Breast Cancer Systemic Therapy Consensus Panel

#### Report Date: September 30, 2014

#### 1. QUESTION

What is the optimal adjuvant<sup>1</sup> systemic therapy for female patients with early-stage operable breast cancer, when patient and disease factors are considered?

#### 2. INTRODUCTION

There are several guidelines that address specific issues of systemic therapy either in early breast cancer, or breast cancer generally. Because of the overlapping nature of the guidelines and patient characteristics, it is difficult for the end-user to find the appropriate guideline and recommendations. The Breast Disease Site Group (DSG) determined it would be desirable to have one guideline covering all systemic treatments for early breast cancer. It would also be useful to have an associated user-friendly chart, matrix, or decision tree, based on disease and patient characteristics. Such a matrix or decision tree is not part of the current three-part guideline but will be prepared at a later date.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Several of the systemic therapies discussed in this guideline can be considered in the neoadjuvant setting. However, this guideline makes recommendations specifically for adjuvant therapy for the following reasons: a) there is significant variability within the patient population for whom neoadjuvant therapy may be considered (from early, operable breast cancer to locally advanced breast cancer, which may have unique treatment needs), and b) our systematic review of the evidence focused on trials with disease-free survival (DFS) and overall survival (OS) as endpoints, and thus excluded several trials that used pathologically complete response (pCR) as a primary endpoint. Therefore, our recommendations represent only some of the data that may be relevant to neoadjuvant patients.

#### 3. METHODS

The initial plan was to consolidate recommendations from Program in Evidence-Based Care (PEBC)/Cancer Care Ontario (CCO) guidelines on systemic therapy for female breast cancer (86,101-107) according to pathology and menopausal status and to provide additional context and qualifying statements. After working on this approach, it was found that many relevant randomized controlled trials (RCTs) were not included in any of the guidelines under consideration, both because of topics covered and the dates of the literature searches. Updating all of the individual guidelines so they could be used in a summary guideline was considered unfeasible.

A different approach was used in which a literature search for recent publications was conducted. The starting point was selected to include studies or updates published after the literature searches in the PEBC guidelines and the NICE Guideline "Breast Cancer (Early and Locally Advanced): Diagnosis and Treatment" (97). These guidelines, along with other guidelines or systematic reviews identified in the literature search, would be used as a source of publications for RCTs that were published before the literature search. This was not strictly an update of the previous guidelines as the research questions in the current guideline were not the same, because relevant issues have changed and because the current guideline was designed to be broader in scope. For topics in which a recent guideline, meta-analysis, or systematic review was found that covered most of the published trials, additional RCTs found in the literature search are listed so that the evidence base is complete, but they are not discussed unless they result in additional or different conclusions.

The evidence-based series (EBS) guidelines developed by the CCO/PEBC use the methods of the Practice Guidelines Development Cycle (108,109). For this project, the core methodology used to develop the evidentiary base was the systematic review. Evidence was selected and reviewed by one member (GF) of the PEBC Early Breast Cancer Systemic Therapy Working Group, with input from the full group once initial screening was complete. The body of evidence in this review is primarily mature RCT data. The evidence forms the basis of the recommendations developed by the Early Breast Cancer Systemic Therapy Consensus Panel. This systematic review and companion recommendations are intended to promote evidence-based practice in Ontario, Canada. The PEBC is supported by the Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. All work produced by the PEBC is editorially independent from the Ministry.

#### 3.1 LITERATURE SEARCH STRATEGY

A literature search on MEDLINE and EMBASE was conducted for the period from 2008 to March 5, 2012 and updated on May 12, 2014. The search was for articles on breast cancer plus systemic therapy (chemotherapy, hormonal/endocrine therapy, targeted agents, ovarian suppression/ablation), and was limited to RCTs, guidelines, systematic reviews, and meta-analyses. Although in most cases chemotherapeutic agents were indexed to terms such as adjuvant therapy and the studies would be found by the index terms, we also included individual chemotherapy agents or regimens considered relevant to Ontario. The full search strategy is provided in Appendix C. The <u>SAGE Directory of Cancer Guidelines</u> (available at <u>www.cancerview.ca</u>) was searched in May 2012 for current versions of guidelines published in 2008 or later. Most guidelines listed were evaluated using AGREE II instrument and no further appraisal of quality was undertaken for the current guideline on systemic therapy in early breast cancer. NICE (UK), SIGN (UK), ASCO (US), NCCN (US), National Health and Medical

Research Council (Australia), and the New Zealand Guidelines Group sites were searched in February 2012 for guidelines not yet indexed in SAGE.

#### 3.2 STUDY SELECTION CRITERIA

Clinical trials were included if they included at least 100 female patients with earlystage breast cancer randomized to at least one systemic agents and with survival rate (generally overall survival rate (OS) or disease-free survival rate (DFS)) as one of the primary or secondary outcomes to be determined according to the study design. Studies had to define the patient population as early or operable breast cancer, or provide a description in the abstract, methods, or results indicating that patients with early breast cancer were the main group studied. When tumour size and nodal status were reported, these were translated to stage according to the AJCC Cancer Staging Manual, 6<sup>th</sup> edition (110,111). Studies in which the title or abstract indicated the trial focused on metastatic breast cancer (other than locoregional lymph nodes), advanced, locally advanced breast cancer (LABC), non-invasive cancers [ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) or lobular carcinoma in situ (LCIS)], or treatment of recurrence were excluded. Because of overlap between early and LABC definitions, studies in which the patients were referred to as LABC but also indicated the distribution of stages were evaluated more carefully. Because Stages IIB and IIIA are also considered early in some definitions, these were included if Stage IIA was part of the patient population and at least one-half the patients had Stages I-IIB cancer. Studies with mostly Stage III-IV were excluded. Studies were excluded that focused on evaluation of supportive care such as drugs to prevent nausea and vomiting, gonadotropin-releasing agents to prevent ovarian damage, erythropoiesis-stimulating agents, or autologous hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation Studies on bisphosphonates to prevent metastasis or cancer recurrence were (AHST). included (with a final decision deferred to later in the process); studies to treat bone metastasis were excluded because they did not meet the definition of early breast cancer. A decision to include or exclude studies of granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (GCSF) to prevent or treat neutropenia was deferred to later in the guideline process; therefore, these were included in the initial screening.

Clinical practice guidelines were considered relevant if recommendations were based on a systematic review of the literature or were consensus-based with reference to the clinical evidence. When multiple versions of a guideline were located, only the most recent guideline was retained.

#### 3.3 ADDITIONAL STUDIES

Recent guidelines, systematic reviews, and meta-analyses were evaluated and the included studies were compared with those found in the literature search for this guideline. The Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group (EBCTCG) published the fifth cycle meta-analysis at the end of 2011. It presented the latest update of individual patient meta-analysis for polychemotherapy based on RCTs worldwide and included data available up to mid-2010 (1). This gave extended follow-up and additional trials compared with the previous (fourth cycle) meta-analysis published in 2005 (112). Because portions of the data included were comprehensive and current, these were used as a basis for some of the comparisons and the original studies were not obtained. In other areas, the current literature review revealed major new studies or extended follow-up of previous studies that needed to be considered along with the older publications. Therefore publications before 2008 referenced in the

guidelines, reviews, or meta-analyses were obtained and compiled along with the newer data. For RCTs that were in progress, incomplete, or reported only as an abstract, additional targeted searches using MEDLINE, EMBASE, or Google were performed to find recent or complete reports where available.

#### 3.4 SYNTHESIZING THE EVIDENCE

Meta-analyses performed in other publications are cited but no meta-analysis was conducted in the preparation of this guideline.

### 4. **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

The recommendations and justification in Section 1 are based on the following evidence and can be considered as conclusions for the evidentiary summary. The full recommendations are not reproduced here.

#### 4.1 LITERATURE SEARCH RESULTS

The initial search in MEDLINE and EMBASE, after removal of duplicate citations, resulted in 7380 publications (6085 RCTs and 1295 systematic reviews and guidelines). After applying the inclusion/exclusion criteria in an initial screening (primarily by title and abstract), there were 253 articles representing 163 trials from the original search. A secondary screening of the titles by the Working Group reduced this to 216 articles; studies were eliminated if they were not relevant to Ontario (e.g., old drugs no longer used), duplicate publications, publications with exploratory analyses or correlations, and studies without survival rate endpoints. The literature search also resulted in 63 candidate clinical practice guidelines, of which 42 remained after discussion by the Working Group. Five of the guidelines by the PEBC and four others have been summarized or referred to in this evidentiary review. AGREE II ratings of the non-PEBC guidelines are provided in Appendix E. Of the trials (RCTs) found in the literature search, 46 were trials that had not been included in the guidelines, meta-analyses, or systematic reviews discussed in the following subsections.

The literature search update of May 2014 resulted in 5350 RCT/trial publications and 1714 systematic reviews or guidelines. After screening, there were 110 publications of RCTs and 96 guidelines/systematic reviews/meta-analyses. The new guidelines and systematic reviews were not used unless updates of those already included in the current guideline. After adding in publications from other sources (reference lists, targeted searches for publications of studies initially found only as abstracts) there were 516 publications of trials.

The EBCTCG (see <u>www.ctsu.ox.ac.uk/research/meta-trials/ebctcg</u>) is an international collaboration formed in 1985 to evaluate studies on early (operable) breast cancer. They obtain individual patient data for all relevant RCTs (studies conducted throughout the world except Japan and USSR in the initial analysis, but later expanded to include these). The initial analysis included hormonal and cytotoxic therapy, with updates every five years giving longer-term follow-up and with the scope expanded to include all aspects of early breast cancer management (chemotherapy, endocrine therapy, surgery, radiotherapy). Individual patient meta-analysis is considered the strongest evidence (113) and provides the most reliable and least biased means of addressing questions that are not answered in individual RCTs (114). The Cochrane Collaboration has withdrawn several reviews on topics covered by the EBCTCG (115-117) instead of updating them, stating this is because the EBCTCG reviews are based on

individual patient data, are of the highest quality, and represent the best available evidence on the effects of these treatments on relapse, second cancer and death. Several of the EBCTG meta-analyses (1,5,112,118,119) are referred to in the following sections of this guideline. Because the EBCTCG had strict inclusion criteria and protocols and included individual patient data for all studies, it was considered unnecessary and unfeasible to extract data from or evaluate the quality of the individual trials included by the EBCTCG. Some limitations of the EBCTCG data are discussed in the subsequent subsections.

Another group conducted an individual patient meta-analysis of luteinizing hormonereleasing hormone (LHRH) agonists in early breast cancer (61). Five systematic reviews and one non-systematic review are also discussed in the following sections. Quality assessment of the systematic reviews and meta-analyses using the AMSTAR tool (120) is provided in Appendix F.

Individual RCTs, along with the guidelines, reviews, and meta-analyses, were sorted into studies of chemotherapy, endocrine therapy for hormone receptor positive (HR+) cancers, targeted therapy for human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 positive (HER2+) cancers, bisphosphonates, and GCSF. Chemotherapy trials were further subdivided into major classes: antimetabolites including CMF [cyclophosphamide + methotrexate + fluorouracil] and its components, anthracyclines, taxanes, and other agents. The major endocrine therapies were tamoxifen, aromatase inhibitors, and ovarian suppression or ablation (by surgery or radiation). Trastuzumab for HER2+ cancers is the only biologic/targeted agent that was found to have sufficient evidence from RCTs.

Trials were only included in the literature search with  $\geq 100$  patients, with patients randomized to at least one systemic agent, and with survival rate data available as one of the primary or secondary outcomes. Most of the RTCs found in the literature search were already included and assessed in the reviews, guidelines, or meta-analyses discussed in this subsection, and there was therefore no additional quality assessment of these studies. Because assessment of study quality is based primarily on design of the study, quality assessment is done per trial and therefore updates were not assessed for trial quality. A summary of study/trial design and quality characteristics is provided in Appendix G for new RCTs (i.e., RCTs not included in the cited guidelines, reviews, or meta-analyses).

#### 4.2 CHEMOTHERAPY

The EBCTCG analysis published in 2005 reported on unconfounded RCTs of adjuvant chemotherapy or hormonal therapy that began by 1995 (112). Chemotherapy trials were primarily CMF vs no chemotherapy or CMF vs anthracycline-based chemotherapy such as FAC [fluorouracil + doxorubicin + cyclophosphamide] or FEC [fluorouracil + epirubicin + cyclophosphamide] but did not include taxanes. The latest EBCTCG analysis on chemotherapy (1) compared taxanes vs anthracyclines, and anthracycline vs anthracycline or CMF, and included data for all RCTs that began during 1973–2003. Both of these meta-analyses are referred to extensively in the following sections.

#### 4.2.1 Antimetabolites (CMF) and Anthracyclines (Doxorubicin and Epirubicin)

The EBCTCG meta-analyses (1,112) covered most of the trials that have been conducted for CMF and/or anthracyclines. Because these drugs are from an earlier generation of chemotherapy agents, most of the studies were performed several years ago (the studies listed by EBCTCG started in the period 1973–1997) and are complete except for

some long-term follow-up or exploratory analysis of specific subfactors. Extended follow-up is not expected to change the conclusions of the EBCTCG that were based on individual patient data for all trials conducted, whether or not they had been published. EBCTCG 2005 (112) concluded that 6 months of FAC or FEC reduced annual breast cancer death rate by approximately 38% for patients aged <50 years and 20% for patients aged 50–69 years at diagnosis. These are significantly more effective than CMF. EBCTCG 2012(1) concluded that standard AC×4 cycles (A 60 mg/m<sup>2</sup> + C 600 mg/m<sup>2</sup>, given IV 3-weekly) and standard CMF (6 cycles of C 100 mg/m<sup>2</sup> [days 1–14] + M 40 mg/m<sup>2</sup> [days 1 and 8 IV] + F 500 mg/m<sup>2</sup> [days 1 and 8 IV], given 4-weekly) were equivalent, but anthracycline-based regimens such as CAF or CEF that have much higher cumulative dose than 4 cycles AC were superior to standard CMF. Compared with no chemotherapy, CAF (RR=0.64) also resulted in greater reduction in mortality rates than did 4 cycles AC (RR=0.78) or CMF (RR=0.76). The meta-analysis of all taxane-based or anthracycline-based regimens found that age, nodal status, tumour size or differentiation, estrogen receptor (ER) status, and tamoxifen use had little effect on proportional risk reductions.

Reports of relevant studies found in the current literature search are summarized in Table 1 (CMF or other antimetabolites) (39,40,121-144) and Table 2 (anthracyclines) (33,36,131,142,145-159). Table 1 includes 17 RCTs, of which 10 were not reported in the EBCTCG meta-analysis. Table 2 includes 13 studies, of which 7 were not included in the EBCGTC meta-analysis. The study by Muss et al (40) found that capecitabine monotherapy was inferior to either CMF or AC in the elderly population and, therefore, is not recommended for adjuvant therapy. Trials that examined the addition of gemcitabine or capecitabine to an anthracycline-taxane regimen are discussed in Section 4.2.2. Some studies (137,144) examined drugs not commonly used in Canada for the treatment of breast cancer and thus are not included in our recommendations. Cheang et al (148) evaluated the outcomes in the MA.5 study according to intrinsic subtype as determined by the PAM50 test. In this retrospective analysis, the HER2+ subtype appeared to gain most benefit from the anthracycline, but this was not significant, and trastuzumab was not provided in this trial.

Author, year	Trial name, enrolment period	Intervention	# pts	Inclusion criteria	Staging	Other characteristics*	Other	Results
Amadori, 2008 (121) Update of Amadori, 2000(122)	1989–1993	CMF×6 or none after locoregional therapy (mastectomy or quadrantectomy + RT)	278	N0 (at least 10 nodes examined), high thymidine labeling index (TLI) ≥3.1%, age ≤70 y	64% ≤2 cm (Stage I)	42% premenopausal, 65% ER+, 50% PR+	Stratified pts according to cell proliferation evaluated by TLI	TLI 3.1%-4.4% (33.1% of pts), TLI 4.5-6.8% (33.8%), TLI >6.8 (33.1%) Relapse at median follow-up of 12 y, CMF vs control: Overall: HR=0.75 (95% CI 0.50-1.13), p=0.17, (NS) Pts who received full CMF dose: HR=0.59 (95% CI 0.36-0.95), p=0.03 TLI 3.1%-4.4%: HR=1.05 (95% CI 0.45-2.49), p=0.91 TLI 4.5%-6.8%: HR=0.30 (95% CI 0.12-0.72), p=0.01 TLI>6.8 %: HR=0.79 (95% CI 0.37-1.68), p=0.53, 25% of relapses occurred within 20 mo in control and within 93 mo in CMF group Death at median follow-up of 12 y, CMF vs control Overall: HR=0.80 (95% CI 0.48-1.33), p=0.38 Pts who received full CMF dose: HR=0.57 (95% CI 0.31-1.07), p=0.08 TLI 3.1%-4.5%: HR=0.86 (95% CI 0.29-2.57), p=0.78 TLI 4.5%-6.8%: HR=0.27 (95% CI 0.08-0.83), p=0.02 TLI>6.8 %: HR=0.71 (95% CI 0.30-1.73), p=0.46
Taucher, 2008 (123)	ABCSG-07 1991–1999	CMF timing: CMF×3 preoperative vs CMF×3 post- operative All received additional therapy determined by histological nodal status (3×CMF if N0 or 3×EC if N+) All had axillary dissection, BCS +RT or modified radical mastectomy (+RT at physician's discretion)	398	HR-1991-99; high-risk (N1) HR+ 1996-99	24% T1, 65% T2, 9% T3; N0-1, M0	9% ER+, 15% PR+ 64% N0, 49% premenopausal	Biopsy proven cancer and/or cN+	OS not affected by therapy group: HR=0.800 (95% CI 0.563-1.136), p=0.213 Recurrence after median follow-up 9 y: RFS: HR=0.7 (95% CI 0.52-0.96), p=0.024 favouring postop treatment, although rates of local recurrence (13.3 vs 8.2%, p=0.1) and distant metastases (30.5% vs 22.6%, p=0.07) for pre and postoperative groups were not significantly different

# Table 1. Antimetabolites: CMF, capecitabine, and gemcitabine.

Author, year	Trial name, enrolment period	Intervention	# pts	Inclusion criteria	Staging	Other characteristics*	Other	Results
Muss, 2009 (40)	CALGB 49907 2001-2006	Std chemotherapy (CMF×6 or AC×4) vs capecitabine×6 Axilla treated at discretion of patient and surgeon HR+ offered tamoxifen or AI after chemotherapy Trastuzumab recommended in last year (2006 ) for HER2+ tumours	633 (ended early due to safety)	Age ≥65 y	I, II, IIA, IIIB; >1 cm	10% HER2+, 67% HR+, 70% N+, 55% >2 cm	Operable, histologically confirmed adenocarcinoma	<ul> <li>At median follow-up of 2.4 y:</li> <li>RFS: 80% capecitabine, 89% std chemotherapy</li> <li>OS: 88% capecitabine, 93% std chemotherapy</li> <li>Estimated at 3 y:</li> <li>RFS: 68% capecitabine, 85% std chemotherapy, HR=2.09, p&lt;0.001</li> <li>OS: 86% capecitabine, 91% std chemotherapy; HR=1.85, p=0.02</li> <li>HR- subgroup with capecitabine vs all others: risk of relapse HR=4.39 (95% CI 2.9-6.7, p&lt;0.001); risk of death HR=3.76 (95% CI 2.23-6.34, p&lt;0.001)</li> <li>Adverse effects (grade 3-4 events): 70% CMF, 60% doxorubicin, 34% capecitabine</li> <li>Adverse effects (hematological grade 3-4 effects): 52% CMF, 54% doxorubicin, 2% capecitabine</li> </ul>
Kornblith, 2011 (124)	CALGB 49907 2001-2006	See preceding entry (QoL substudy)	350					Pts with capecitabine had significantly better QoL, role function, social function, appetite, and less systemic adverse effects, psychological distress, fatigue, nausea, vomiting or constipation; capecitabine was worse for hand-foot syndrome and diarrhea. QoL similar at 1 y. Concluded std chemotherapy is better than capecitabine to improve RFS and OS, and survival rate effects outweigh short-term adverse effects
Ejlertsen, 2010 (125)	DBCG 77B 1977-83	CMF (N=423) vs cyclophosphamide (N=424) vs levamisole (N=112) vs no adjuvant systemic therapy (RT only, N=187) CMF was oral C at 80 mg/m <sup>2</sup> on days 1-14, IV M at 30 mg/m <sup>2</sup> and F at 500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> on days 1-8; q28d×12); C only as for CMF but 130 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ; levamisole 5 mg/w×48 w	1146	Premenopausal; N+ or >5 cm or invasion of deep fascia with no distant metastasis	high-risk; 17% N0, 56% N1, 27% N2+; 25% T1, 37% T2, 13 % T3, 24% unknown	hormone receptor status unknown for 70% of pts; 22% HR+	All had mastectomy + axillary sampling or clearance before chemotherapy	Levamisole arm closed early (1979) due to adverse effects, and resulted in closure of control arm as well in 1981 10-y survival rates: CMF 62%, C 60%, L 41%, Control 46%; C vs control: HR=0.70, p=0.02; CMF vs control: HR=0.70, p=0.02, C vs CMF: no difference (HR=1.11, p=0.32) Invasive DFS: CMF 49%, C 56%, L 35%, Control 39% OS benefit persisted at 25-y follow-up when adjusted for baseline characteristics:

Author, year	Trial name, enrolment period	Intervention	# pts	Inclusion criteria	Staging	Other characteristics*	Other	Results
		All received radiotherapy to chest wall and regional lymph nodes Endocrine therapy not permitted						C vs control: HR=0.66, p=0.002; CMF vs control: HR=0.59, p=0.0001
Ejlertsen, 2008 (126) (127)	DBCG 77B, 82B, 89B, 89D Results of all studies previously reported separately 1977–2001	Retrospective unplanned cross-trial comparison of higher-dose classic vs lower- dose IV CMF (CMF +RT dose and schedule) •DBCG 77B: see Ejlertsen 2010; used classic CMF •DBCG 82B: CMF +RT, CMF, CMF + tamoxifen •(IV CMF at 600, 40, 600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> q4w×8 except with delay after first cycle to administer RT) •DBCG 89B: HR+: RT + OA vs RT +CMF (CMF q3w×9) •DBCG 89D: HR-: RT + CMF vs RT + CEF; (CMF q3w×9); secondary randomization to pamidronate for 4 y permitted.	5652 (2113 received CMF + RT)	Premenopausal, N+	65% N1, 27% N2, 8% N3 43% T1 44% T2 9% T3		Data on those administered CMF combined from 4 studies of DBCG, N+ data only, exclude those on tamoxifen or OA	10-y survival rates after CMF were 48% with classic CMF, 45% administered every 4 w, 47% administered every 3 w; after adjusting in multivariate analysis was 30 % increase in risk of recurrence in 3- or 4-weekly regimen compared with classic CMF Effect was age dependent (p<0.01): pts aged <40 y did better in the 77 cohort, whereas those aged >50 y did better in 89 cohort, authors suggested may be endocrine effect because for those aged <40 y classic CMF resulted in 15% regular menses, whereas this was 47% in the 89 cohort; interpret with caution due to non-experimental design
Joensuu, 2012 (39)	FinXX, NCT00114816 2004–2007	Capecitabine TX×3→ CEX×3 vs T×3→ CEF×3	1500	N+ (89%), or N0 if >20 mm and PR- (11%)	44% pT1, 50% pT2, 5% pT3; [mostly IIA-IIB]	77% ER+, 62% PR+, 19% HER2+	Histologically confirmed invasive, excluded if had neoadjuvant chemotherapy	5-y RFS 87% for TX/CEX vs 84% for T/CEF, HR=0.79 (95% CI 0.60 to 1.04), p=0.087 56 pts assigned to TX $\rightarrow$ CEX died during the follow-up compared to 75 pts assigned to T $\rightarrow$ CEF, HR=0.73 (95% CI 0.52-1.04), p=0.08 In exploratory (subgroup) analyses, TX $\rightarrow$ CEX improved breast cancer-specific survival rate (HR=0.64, p=0.027) and RFS rates (HR=0.64, 95% CI 0.43-0.96) in female pts with triple- negative disease and in female pts who had >3metastatic axillary lymph nodes at the time of diagnosis
Canney 2012, 2014 (128-130)	TACT2, CRUK/05/019 2005-2008	Accelerated E (aE) + pegfilgrastim vs E; then X vs classic CMF	4371 female pts, 20	N+ or high risk N0 invasive early breast cancer			1 y trastuzumab if HER2+; 5 y endocrine	•Median follow-up 61 mo, X vs CMF: •TTR events: 14.0% vs 14.4%, HR=0.98 (95% CI 0.84-1.15),p=0.79

Author, year	Trial name, enrolment period	Intervention	# pts	Inclusion criteria	Staging	Other characteristics*	Other	Results
Velikova 2014 (131) [abstracts only]		E-CMF is control	men				therapy if HR+	<ul> <li>OS: HR=1.00 (95% CI 0.84-1.20)</li> <li>DFS: HR0.99 (95% CI 0.86-1.15)</li> <li>Fewer serious adverse effects (except diarrhea and PPE) and better global QoL with X than CMF</li> <li>Concluded X non-inferior efficacy but superior tolerability</li> <li>Median follow-up of 49 mo, aE vs E</li> <li>TTR: 3-y recurrence rates 91.0% vs 90.9%, 5-y recurrence rates 86.4% vs 85.2%; HR=0.96</li> <li>OS 94.4% vs 95.4% at 5 y (p=0.23)</li> <li>After 4 cycles, more nausea, vomiting, appetite loss, constipation, systemic adverse effects and deterioration of functioning (global QoL, role function) with aE than E, but these did not persist to 12 or 24 mo.</li> <li>At end of 8 cycles, CMF had more adverse effects than with X (fatigue, dyspnea, insomnia, constipation, systemic side-effects, deterioration of functioning ) and these (e.g., fatigue) often persisted to 24 mo</li> <li>Impact on menstruation assessed at 18 mo for premenopausal aged &lt;50 y (N=1622): E→ X has lower risk of permanent loss of menstrual function than E→ CMF (28% vs 69%); aE vs E had more short-term amenorrhea but effect lost by 18 m</li> </ul>
Ohno 2013 (132)		Neoadjuvant FEC then randomized to TX vs T	477	Operable, age 20-70 y; T1C-3, N0, M0 >1 cm; or T1-3, N1, MO	43% IIA, 45% IIB, 11% IIIA	Excluded pts with disease progression on FEC	Relative dose intensity of T was lower in TX group due to adverse effects	Powered for pCR difference pCR 23% vs 24% (p=0.748) At median follow-up 4.5 y, 3-y DFS rates 92.7% vs 90.7%, HR=0.910 (95% CI 0.551-1.502); OS HR=0.671 (95% CI 0.303-1.488)
Pippen, 2011(133) O'Shaugh- nessy, 2010 (134)	US Oncology 1062 USON 01062 2002-2006	AC→ T vs AC→ TX AC→ T: A (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4→ T (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4	2611	Resectable, early, high risk (N+, T1-3; or N0, T2+; or N0, >1 cm, HR-)			Tamoxifen or Al for 5 y if HR+; After 2005, HER2+ offered 1 y trastuzumab	<ul> <li>Median follow-up of 5 y, 304 events</li> <li>DFS: HR=0.84 (95% CI 0.67-1.05), p=0.125 [endpoint not met]</li> <li>Distant DFS favoured TX group: HR=0.80 (95% CI 0.63-1.02), p=0.067</li> </ul>

Author, year	Trial name, enrolment period	Intervention	# pts	Inclusion criteria	Staging	Other characteristics*	Other	Results
[abstract]		AC→TX: AC as in other arm→TX (T: 75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> day 1, X: 825 mg/m <sup>2</sup> bid, days 1-14;) [4 cycles ?]						<ul> <li>OS: improvement with TX vs T: HR=0.68 (95% CI 0.51-0.92), p=0.011</li> <li>Subgroup analysis appeared to favour TX over T</li> <li>Unplanned subset analysis of Ki-67 expression and DFS suggests benefit of X in more highly proliferative tumours ( for Ki-67 &gt; 10%, hazard ratio for TX vs T is HR=0.70 (95% CI 0.50-0.98) for DFS and HR=0.52 (95% CI 0.33-0.82) for OS</li> <li>Adverse events similar in both arms, except grade 3 hand-foot syndrome (3.8% T vs 18.1% TX), grade 3/4 stomatitis (4.5% vs 9.1%), diarrhea (2.9% vs 5.1%), and febrile neutropenia (13.1% vs 9.4%)</li> </ul>
O'Shaugh- nessy, 2012 (135) [abstract]	USON 01062	See previous entry in table				2195 ductal 355 lobular or mixed		Exploratory analysis by histology: • ductal pts $\underline{AC} \rightarrow \underline{T}$ vs $\underline{AC} \rightarrow \underline{XT}$ : • no difference in DFS (HR=0.92, p=0.48) or OS (HR=0.75, p=0.07) • lobular/mixed $\underline{AC} \rightarrow \underline{XT}$ vs $\underline{AC} \rightarrow \underline{T}$ • DFS, HR=0.55, p=0.055 • OS, HR=0.38, p=0.04
Bermejo, 2013 (136)	GEICAM/2003 -10 2004-2007	ET $\rightarrow$ X vs EC $\rightarrow$ T ET (90/75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> )q3w×4 $\rightarrow$ X (1250 mg/m <sup>2</sup> bid d1-14) q3w×4 EC (90/600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 $\rightarrow$ T (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4	1384	T1-3/N1-3 operable	66% N1, 25% N2, 9% N3	Stratified by site, menopausal status, number of nodes (1-3, 4-9, 9+), hormone receptor status	HER2+ pts excluded after first 803 pts recruited; 84% HR+, 11% HER2+	After median follow-up 6.6 y, survival rates at 5 y: • DFS: 82% EC $\rightarrow$ X vs 86% EC $\rightarrow$ T, HR=1.314 (95% CI 1.042–1.657), p=0.0208 • OS not different: HR=1.113 (95% CI 0.809–1.531), p=0.511 EC $\rightarrow$ X vs EC $\rightarrow$ T : Neutropenia 10% vs 19%, hand-foot syndrome 20% vs 2%, diarrhea 11% vs 3%
Watanabe, 2009 (137)	N-SAS BC 01 1996-2001	Oral uracil and tegafur (UFT) daily for 2 y vs CMF×6	707	N0, Stage I–IIIA	42% T1, 54% T2, 5% T3 [96% Stage I-IIA]	62% ER+ and/or PR+; 42% premenopausal	Authors considered "high risk" but no reason reported	RFS at 5 y: 88.0% CMF vs 87.8% UFT, HR=0.98 (95% CI 0.66-1.45), p=0.92 OS: 96.0% vs 96.2%, HR=0.81 for OS (95% CI 0.44 to 1.48), p=0.49 The adverse effects profiles differed between the two groups QoL scores were better for pts administered UFT than for those administered CMF (p<0.05 for social functioning, nausea/vomiting, constipation, systemic adverse effects, hair

Author, year	Trial name, enrolment period	Intervention	# pts	Inclusion criteria	Staging	Other characteristics*	Other	Results
								loss)
Hara 2012 (138) [abstract]	N-SAS BC 01	See previous entry in table Subgroup of older pts (aged ≥65 y)	97					5-y RFS (UFT vs CMF): 93.0% vs 92.5%, HR=1.07 (95% CI 0.31-3.55) OS: 97.7% vs 98.1%, HR=1.07 (95% CI 0.15-10.25) Grade 3/4 leukopenia 0% vs 3.8%, neutropenia 4.8% vs 13.5%; grade 3/4 increased liver enzyme and nausea/vomiting less frequent with UFT; more elevated bilirubin and diarrhea observed in UFT arm; UFT better QoL scores
Ejlertsen, 2013 (139)	DBCG 82c 1982-1990	CMF (IV×9) + tamoxifen vs tamoxifen (30 mg/d for 1 y)	1445	Postmenopausal; N+, deep invasion, or >5 cm		55% N1, 34% N2+ 37% T1, 50% T2, 12% T3	Mastectomy + axillary sampling or clearance (level 1 + part of level II)	Analysis 20 y after recruitment closed; median follow-up 10 y DFS, 24 y OS DFS (CMFT vs CMF): HR=0.89 (95% CI 0.78-1.01), p=0.08 [ITT] DFS adjusted: HR=0.82 (95% CI 0.71-0.93), p=0.003 OS: no difference, HR=0.96 (95% CI 0.86-1.08), p=0.51
Colleoni 2011 (140) [abstract]	IBCSG 22-00	Study of low-dose maintenance/metronomic CM after surgery + chemo -Randomized to 12 mo CM vs no CM	1080 planned	ER-PR- (<10%), known HER2 status		Stratified by menopausal status, induction regimen	Concurrent trastuzumab permitted if HER2+	Ongoing
Wardley, 2008 (141)	tAnGo 2000-	EC→ G + P vs EC→ P E 90 mg/m <sup>2</sup> + C 600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> q3w×4→ [ P 175 mg/m <sup>2</sup> q3h infusion day 1 and G 1250 mg/m <sup>2</sup> days 1 and 8] q3 w×4	3000		Substudy: 19% N0 35% N1 46% N2+	Substudy: 20% ER+ 15% PR+		Ongoing, no survival rate results
Earl, 2014 (142)	Neo-tAnGo	Neoadjuvant: $EC \rightarrow P \text{ vs } P \rightarrow EC \text{ vs } EC \rightarrow PG$ $vs PG \rightarrow EC$ Effect of gemcitabine and role of sequence ( $EC \rightarrow P \text{ vs}$ $P \rightarrow EC$ ) Stratified by ER status, tumour size (50 mm cut-off), nodal status (N0/N+), inflammatory/locally	831	Early invasive, >2 cm; no previous chemo, RT, endocrine therapy T4 eligible	80% T2, 20% T3 50% N+	67% ER+ 51% PR+ 25% inflammatory or LABC; 57% premenopausal, 5% perimenopausal		Median follow-up 47 mo; first planned interim analysis found no significant difference in DFS or OS • DFS : EC $\rightarrow$ P vs EC $\rightarrow$ PG, HR=1.13 (95% CI 0.88-1.46), p=0.34 • DFS: P $\rightarrow$ EC vs EC $\rightarrow$ P, HR=0.84 (95% CI 0.65-1.09), p=0.18 • OS: EC $\rightarrow$ P vs EC $\rightarrow$ PG, HR=1.02 (95% CI 0.76-1.39), p=0.89 • OS: P $\rightarrow$ EC vs EC $\rightarrow$ P, HR=0.82

Author, year	Trial name, enrolment period	Intervention	# pts	Inclusion criteria	Staging	Other characteristics*	Other	Results
		advanced (yes/no)						<ul> <li>(95% CI 0.60-1.11), p=0.19</li> <li>•pCR greater with P→ EC than EC→ P (20% vs 15%, p=0.03); G did not increase pCR</li> <li>•pCR was correlated with significant improvement in DFS (p&lt;0.0001) and OS (p=0.0007)</li> </ul>
Toi, 2012 (143) [abstract]	OOTR N0003	Neoadjuvant study FEC→ TX vs FEC→ T	504	Operable, T1C-3N0M0/ T1-3N1M0		Median 3.5 cm, 56% N+		Discontinued in 22% TX and 5% T groups (p<0.0001) Median follow-up 3.7 y, DFS 92% TX vs 91% T, HR=0.907 (95% CI 0.528-1.557), p=0.723 More hand-foot syndrome with TX (15% vs 2%) Concluded adding X to T not superiority to T alone following FEC
Schneeweiss 2011 (144)	2005-2007	Pemetrexed×4 vs cyclophosphamide×4 Doxorubicin + pemetrexed→ docetaxel vs doxorubicin + cyclophosphamide→ docetaxel	257	Operable T2-T4a-c, N0-2, M0	30% IIA, 46% IIB, 17% IIIA, 8% IIIB 39% N0 6% T1 38% T2 37% T3	66% HR+ 15% HER2+		Ongoing, no survival rate results

<u>Abbreviations</u>: AC, doxorubicin + cyclophosphamide; aE, accelerated epirubicin; AI, aromatase inhibitor; BCS, breast-conserving surgery; C, cyclophosphamide; CEF, cyclophosphamide + epirubicin + fluorouracil; CEX, cyclophosphamide + epirubicin + capecitabine; CMF, cyclophosphamide + methotrexate + fluorouracil; DFS, disease-free survival rate; E, epirubicin; ER, estrogen receptor; EC, epirubicin + cyclophosphamide; F, 5-fluorouracil; FEC, fluorouracil + epirubicin + cyclophosphamide; G, gemcitabine; HR+, hormone receptor positive; HR-, hormone receptor negative; IDFS, invasive disease-free survival rate; ITT, intention to treat; LABC, locally advanced breast cancer; M, methotrexate; N0, node-negative; N+, nod-positive; OA, ovarian ablation; OS, overall survival rate; P, paclitaxel; pCR, pathologically complete response; PG, paclitaxel + gemcitabine; pts, patients; PR, progesterone receptor; QoL, quality of life; RFS, recurrence-free survival rate; RT, radiation therapy; T, docetaxel (Taxotere); TTR, time to recurrence; TX, docetaxel + capecitabine; TLI, thymidine labeling index; UFT, oral uracil and tegafur; X, capecitabine

\* HER2, ER/PR, risk, menopausal status

Author, year	Trial name, enrolment period	Intervention	# pts	Inclusion criteria	Staging	Other characteristics*	Other	Results
de Azambuja, 2009 (145)	1988–1996	CMF vs EC vs high-dose EC (HEC) CMF×6 vs EC×8 vs HEC×8	777	N+ (≥10 nodes resected), age ≤70 y, operable breast cancer (mastectomy or lumpectomy + ALND)	60 % N1, 40% N2+ 43% pT1, 39% pT2, 2% pT3, 16% unknown	54% ER+, 30% ER-, 16% unknown; 58% premenopausal	Tamoxifen for 5 y if ER+ or unknown and postmenopausal; RT after BCS; PMRT depended on centre's policy	<ul> <li>•15-y EFS was 45% for CMF, 39% for EC, 50% for HEC</li> <li>•HEC vs EC: HR=0.77 (95% CI 0.60-0.98), p=0.03</li> <li>•HEC vs CMF: HR=0.90 (95% CI 0.7-1.15), p=0.39</li> <li>•EC vs CMF: HR=0.86 (95% CI 0.67-1.09), p=0.21</li> <li>•No difference in OS</li> <li>•Cardiac adverse effects more frequent with HEC than with CMF( p=0.006) but not more than with EC (p=0.21)</li> </ul>
Kimura, 2010 (36)	1996-2000	CEF vs CMF post-surgery	294	N+, ALND, no previous systemic therapy or RT, exclude BCS	I-IIIA: 68% II, 25% IIIA; 32% N1, 42% N2, 26% N3; 11% T1, 64% T2, 17% T3	61% premenopausal, 53% ER+, 48% PR+	Tamoxifen for 2 y if ER+ or ER unknown; did not meet intended sample size of 700	<ul> <li>5-y survival rate 77.1% for CEF and 71.4% for CMF, HR=0.79 (95% CI 0.50-1.24), p=0.24</li> <li>5-y DFS 55.7% for CEF and 48.9% for CMF, HR=0.80 (95% CI 0.57-1.12), p=0.15</li> <li>Adverse drug reactions more common with CEF</li> <li>Study had insufficient power to prove significance of trends</li> </ul>
Amadori, 2011 (146)	1997-2004	E→ CMF vs CMF→ E (after radical resection)	878	Rapidly proliferating breast cancer (TLI >3% or histological grade 3 or S phase >10% or Ki-67 >20%); N1 or N0 and >1 cm	53% N0, 23% N1, 13% N2, 10% N3; 49% pT1, 46% pT2, 5% pT3-4	47% premenopausal, 62% ER+, 50% PR+, 44% HER2+	ER+ received tamoxifen for 5 y after chemotherapy, GnRH optional in premenopausal pts not achieving amenorrhea; RT administered after BCS; PMRT for pT3-4 tumours	<ul> <li>At a median follow-up of 69 m:</li> <li>5-y OS 91% (88%-94%) for E→ CMF and 93% (90%-95%) for CMF→ E, with adjusted HR=0.88 (95% CI 0.58-1.35)</li> <li>DFS 80% in both arms, adjusted HR=0.99 (95% CI 0.73-1.33)</li> <li>Adverse events were similar, apart from a higher rate of neutropenia in the CMF→ E arm (12% vs 7. 5%, p=0.03).</li> <li>No important differences in clinical outcome were observed between the two different sequences, making both a valid option in early breast cancer</li> </ul>
Rocca 2014 (147)		See previous entry in table Amadori (146) E→ CMF vs CMF→ E vs CMF×6 ( E×4 and CMF×4)	1066 (705 analyzed)				Combined $E \rightarrow$ CMF and CMF $\rightarrow$ E arms (E/CMF) Post-hoc analysis by tumour biomarkers HR,	E/CMF arms vs CMF: • DFS: 84% vs 73%, HR=0.54, p=0.0006 • OS: 94% vs 87%, HR=0.44, p=0.0009 Subgroup DFS, E/CMF vs CMF alone: • Ki-67 low: 89% vs 85%, HR=0.55, p=0.116

## Table 2. Anthracyclines: Doxorubicin and epirubicin.

	Trial name,							
Author,	enrolment			Inclusion		Other		
year	period	Intervention	# pts	criteria	Staging	characteristics*	Other	Results
							Ki-67, HER2 for	•Ki-67 high: 82% vs 68%, HR=0.53, p=0.002
							705 pts	•HER2-: 86% vs 74%, HR=0.50, p=0.001
								•HER2+: 81% vs 71%, HR=0.64, p=0.147
								•ER+: 86% vs 81%,, HR=0.61, p=0.047
								•ER-: 81% vs 63%, HR=0.51, p=0.008
								•PR+: 88% vs 82%, HR=0.65, p=0.151
								•PR-: 81% vs 65%, HR=0.51, p=0.002
								•ER+ and/or PR+: 85% vs 80%, HR=0.61,
								p=0.036
								•Triple Negative: 85% vs 55%,, HR=0.33,
								p=0.0007
								•ER-PR-HER2+: 75% vs 71%,, HR=1.10,
								p=0.840
								•ER-PR-Ki-67 >20%: 82% vs 58%, HR=0.45,
								p=0.005
Cheang,	NCIC.CTG	CEF + antibiotic prophylaxis	716	Premenopausal	39% T1, 49%		60% ER+, 28%	Multivariable regression results for intrinsic
2012 (148)	MA.5	vs CMF		, N+	Т2, 5% Т3,		ER-, 12% ER	subgroups determined by PAM50, adjusted
					7% unknown		unknown	for clinicopathological variables
	1989-1993	Prognostic impact of			61% N1,		20% HER2+,	•Overall, CEF vs CMF (N=454)
		intrinsic subtype and			39% N2+		80% HER2-	•RFS: HR=0.87 (95% CI 0.67-1.12)
		interaction with treatment;					(HER2 measured	•OS: HR=0.98 (95% CI 0.74-1.31)
		determined by PAM50 gene-					only in subset	•HER2-E (N=105)
		expression test					with PAM50 test)	•RFS HR=0.56 (95% CI 0.34-0.93)
								•OS HR=0.62 (95% CI 0.36-1.05)
							PAM50	•Non-HER2-E (N=350)
							determined	• RFS HR=1.02 (95% CI 0.76-1.38)
							Intrinsic subtype	•OS HR=1.22 (95% CI 0.86-1.74)
							<u>(N=476)</u>	•Basal (N=94)
							HER2-E (HER2	• RFS HR=1.12 (95% CI 0.60-2.08)
							enriched) 22%	•OS HR=1.32 (95% CI 0.71-2.46)
							Basal-like 20%	•Non-basal (N=361)
							Luminal B 23%	•RFS HR=0.80 (95% CI 0.60-1.06)
							Luminal A 31%	•OS HR=0.90 (95% CI 0.65-1.25)
							Normal 4%	•Luminal B (N=110)
								• RFS HR=0.76 (95% CI 0.47-1.24)
								• OS HR=0.83 (95% CI 0.46-1.50)
								•Luminal A (N=145)
								• RFS HR=1.14 (95% CI 0.70-1.88)
								•OS HR=1.71 (95% CI 0.91-3.22)
								•HER2-E and HER2+ status strongly
								predicted anthracycline sensitivity,

Author, year	Trial name, enrolment period	Intervention	# pts	Inclusion criteria	Staging	Other characteristics*	Other	Results
<b>, .</b>			F					HER2+/HER2-E: 62% response to CEF, 22% response to CMF, p=0.0006
Bartlett, 2010 (149) Poole, 2006 (150)	NEAT, BR9601 1996-2001	E→ CMF vs classic CMF (NEAT) E→ modified CMF vs modified CMF (BR9601) Prospectively planned analysis of 1941 tumours by tissue microarrays for HER2, TOP2A, HER1-3, Ki-67, Ch17CEP (chromosome 17 centromere enumeration probe)	2391 (2021 NEAT, 370 BR9601)		28% N0 47% N1 25% N2-3 43% T1 50% T2 5% T3	48% premenopausal 9% perimenopausal 37% postmenopausal 6% unknown 50% ER+, 32% ER-, 18% unknown	Analyzed 1762 pts	<ul> <li>Survival rate data reported in earlier publication (150), RFS and OS significantly higher with E-CMF:</li> <li>2-y RFS 91% vs 85%, 5-y RFS 76% vs 69%</li> <li>2-y OS 95% vs 92%, 5-y OS 82% vs 75%, p&lt;0.001 for all</li> <li>RFS HR=0.69 (95% CI 0.58-0.82), p&lt;0.001</li> <li>OS HR=0.67 (95% CI 0.55-0.82), p&lt;0.0001 favouring E-CMF</li> <li>Independent prognostic factors were nodal status, tumour grade and size, ER status, vascular/lymphatic invasion; these did not significantly interact with effect of E-CMF</li> <li>Adverse effects significantly higher with E- CMF but did not significantly affect QoL 2010 publication</li> <li>21% were HER2 amplified, 10% TOP2A amplified, 11% TOP2A deleted, 23% Ch17CEP duplication, 61% high Ki-67 (&gt;13%);</li> <li>E-CMF significantly better for RFS (p=0.001-0.009) and OS for all categories (p=0.01-0.04)</li> <li>HER2 amplificant prognostic factors for RFS and OS</li> <li>No significant interaction with anthracycline benefit for Ki-67, HER2, HER1-3, TOP2A</li> <li>Ch17CEP duplication associated with significant improvement with anthracycline use</li> <li>RFS: HR=0.92, (95% CI 0.72-1.18) normal vs HR=0.52 (95% CI 0.34-0.81) duplication, interaction p=0.04</li> <li>OS: HR=0.94 (95% CI 0.72-1.24) vs HR=0.57 (95% CI 0.36-0.92), interaction p=0.02</li> </ul>
Earl, 2012 (151)	NEAT, BR9601	See previous entry in table	2391					<ul> <li>Median follow-up 7.4 y, E-CMF vs CMF, 5-y results</li> <li>RFS: 78% vs 71%, HR=0.75</li> </ul>

Author, year	Trial name, enrolment period	Intervention	# pts	Inclusion criteria	Staging	Other characteristics*	Other	Results (95% CI 0.65-0.86), p<0.0001 • OS: 84% vs 78%, HR=0.76 (95% CI 0.65-0.89), p=0.0007
Earl, 2008 (152) Poole, 2006 (150)	NEAT 1996-2001	E→ CMF vs classic CMF QoL and adverse effects data	2021	Early stage	31% NO 45% N1 24% N2+ 44% T1 49% T2 5% T3	48% premenopausal 9% perimenopausal 37% postmenopausal 49% ER+, 32% ER-, 19% unknown	QoL substudy offered to all pts until 500 accrued, used EORTC QLQ-C30 and QLQ-BR23, and Women's Health Questionnaire at baseline, mid- chemotherapy, end of chemotherapy, 12 and 24 mo after baseline	<ul> <li>E-CMF vs CMF: 28% improvement in RFS and 30% OS</li> <li>E-CMF produced low common adverse effects criteria (CTC) scores, although higher than CMF for nausea, vomiting, alopecia, constipation, stomatitis, infection (all p&lt;0.001) and fatigue (p=0.03)</li> <li>QoL over 2 y was equivalent despite minimally worse adverse effects for E-CMF during treatment</li> <li>Conclude E-CMF is significantly more effective with no serious long-term adverse effects or QoL detriment</li> </ul>
Van Nes, 2009 (153)	POCOB, EORTC 10902 1991-1999	FEC preoperative vs FEC postoperative	698	Early stage, T1c-T3, T4b; N0-1	59% pN+ 51% cN+ 14% cT1 58% cT2 27%c T3-4 37% pT0-1 42% pT2 11% pT3-4	42% ER+ 20% ER- 37% unknown 7% aged ≤35 y 48% aged 35-50 y 45% aged >50 y	Pts ≥50 y assumed postmenopausal and received tamoxifen for 2 y; BCS +RT or modified radical mastectomy	<ul> <li>Median follow-up of 10 y: no statistically significant difference between the two treatment arms</li> <li>OS: 66% postoperative, 64% preoperative, HR=1.09 (95% CI 0.83-1.42), p=0.54</li> <li>DFS: HR=1.12 (95% CI 0.90-1.39) p=0.30</li> <li>LRR: HR=1.16 (95% CI 0.77-1.74)</li> <li>Preoperative chemotherapy was associated with an increase in BCT rates. BCT feasible due to tumour downsizing after preoperative chemotherapy was not correlated with higher LRR or worse OS compared with BCT which was feasible without downsizing of the tumour.</li> </ul>
Canney 2012, 2014 (128-130); Velikova 2014 (131) [abstracts only]	TACT2, CRUK/05/01 9 2005-2008	Accelerated epirubicin (aE) + pegfilgrastim vs E; then X vs classic CMF E-CMF is control	4371 female pts, 20 male pts	N+ or high risk N0 invasive early breast cancer			1 y trastuzumab if HER2+; 5 y endocrine therapy if HR+	<ul> <li>Median follow-up 61 mo, X vs CMF:</li> <li>TTR events: 14.0% vs 14.4%, HR=0.98 (95% Cl 0.84-1.15),p=0.79</li> <li>OS: HR=1.00 (95% Cl 0.84-1.20)</li> <li>DFS: HR=0.99 (95% Cl 0.86-1.15)</li> <li>Fewer serious adverse effects (except diarrhea and PPE) and better global QoL with X than CMF</li> <li>Concluded X non-inferior efficacy but</li> </ul>

Author,	Trial name, enrolment		# - br	Inclusion	Sta ein a	Other	Other	Davilla
year	period	Intervention	# pts	criteria	Staging	characteristics*	Other	<ul> <li>Results</li> <li>superior tolerability</li> <li>Median follow-up of 49 mo, aE vs E</li> <li>TTR: 3-y recurrence rates 91.0% vs 90.9%, 5-y recurrence rates 86.4% vs 85.2%; HR=0.96</li> <li>OS 94.4% vs 95.4% at 5 y (p=0.23)</li> <li>After 4 cycles, more nausea, vomiting, appetite loss, constipation, systemic adverse effects and deterioration of functioning (global QoL, role function) with aE than E but these did not persist to 12 or 24 mo.</li> <li>At end of 8 cycles, CMF had more adverse effects than X (fatigue, dyspnea, insomnia, constipation, systemic side-effects, deterioration of functioning ) and these (e.g., fatigue) often persisted to 24mo</li> <li>Impact on menstruation assessed at 18 mo for premenopausal aged &lt;50 y (N=1622): E→ X had lower risk of permanent loss of menstrual function than E→ CMF (28% vs 69%); aE vs E had more-short term amenorrhea but effect lost by 18 m</li> </ul>
Budd, 2011, 2013 (154,155) [abstracts]	SWOG S0221 2003-2012	AC vs ddAC, then second randomization to P(80 mg/m <sup>2</sup> )q1w×12 vs P(175mg/m <sup>2</sup> )q2w×6 AC=A(24 mg/m <sup>2</sup> )q1w×15 + C(60mg/m <sup>2</sup> )q1d + filgrastim ddAC=AC(60/600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q2w×6 + pegfilgrastim	2716	N+ or high risk N0; operable				At first interim analysis after 2716 pts, a Cox model adjusted for paclitaxel arms had a HR=1.21 (95% CI 0.98-1.50, p=0.071) favouring ddAC; therefore, AC was stopped for futility. All subsequent pts received ddAC and then randomized to weekly or biweekly P
Lee, 2008 (156)	2002-2005	Neoadjuvant TX→ surgery→ AC vs Neoadjuvant AC→ surgery→ TX	204	N+, Stage II/III	Stage II/III 77% T1-2, 23% T3-4 69% N1, 31% N2-3	61% HR+ 34% HER2+ 47% HER2- 18% unknown	All received RT; tamoxifen or anastrozole if HR+	At median follow-up of 37 mo, no significant difference in DFS by treatment groups (p=0.932). Compared with AC, TX increased pCR in primary tumours (21% vs 10%, p=0.024) and clinical response (84% vs 65%, p=0.003). Fewer pts developed recurrence who achieved pCR in lymph nodes HR=0.189 (95% CI 0.044-0.815), p=0.025 in the multivariate analysis.

Author, year	Trial name, enrolment period	Intervention	# pts	Inclusion criteria	Staging	Other characteristics*	Other	Results
year	period		<i><sup>#</sup></i> pts		Jung			TX was associated with less nausea and vomiting, but more stomatitis, diarrhea, myalgia, and skin/nail changes than with AC
Burnell, 2010 (33)	MA.21 2000-2005	CEF vs dd EC→ P vs AC→ P Filgrastim and epoetin permitted with CEF or AC→ P, required with EC→ P; Prespecified interim analysis for RFS after 261 events at median follow-up of 30.4 m	2104	N+ or high risk N0 (≥1cm plus one or more of: ER-, grade 3, or lymphovascular invasion); age ≤60 y	28% N0, 43% N1, 22% N2, 6% N3 35% T1 55% T2 9% T3 1% T4	Premenopausal or early postmenopausal (age <60 y); 41% ER+ 11% HER2+, 70% HER2-, 19% unknown	Stratified by number of positive nodes, type of surgery, ER status; BCS +RT or mastectomy (PMRT permitted); ER+ received tamoxifen, Al allowed after Oct 2004; trastuzumab for 1 y for HER2+ was allowed after June 2005	3-y adjusted RFS for CEF, EC→ P, AC→ P were 90.1%, 89.5%, 85% (p=0.001); pairwise comparison: AC→ P vs CEF: HR=1.49 (95% CI 1.12-1.99), p=0.005 AC→ P vs EC→ P: HR=1.68 (95% CI 1.25-2.27), p=0.0006 EC→ P vs CEF: HR=0.89 (95% CI 0.64-1.22), p=0.46 <u>Adverse effects</u> : CEF, EC→ P compared with AC/P: febrile neutropenia: 22.3% CEF, 16.4% EC/P 4.8% AC/P (p=0.001); erythrocyte transfusion 23.8% CEF, 39.9% EC→ P, 1.6% AC/P (p<0.001); grade 3-4 cardiotoxicity higher in CEF (2.1%) vs 0.7% and 0.3% (p<0.001) AC→ P inferior for RFS but fewer adverse effects
Janni, 2012 (157); Schoenher r 2010 (158) [abstract]	ADEBAR (only in abstract form)	Dose-intensive FE <sub>120</sub> C vs E <sub>90</sub> C→ T FE <sub>120</sub> C: F 500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> days 1+8 + E 60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> days 1+8 + C 75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> days 1-14, q4w×6 E <sub>90</sub> C→T: E 90 mg/m <sup>2</sup> + C 600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> q21d×4→ T 100mg/m <sup>2</sup> q21d×4	1502	N2+				Median 49.5 mo observation Events: HR=0.877 (95% CI 0.722-1.065), p=0.38 OS: HR=0.996 (95% CI 0.783-1.267), p=0.969 Different adverse effects profiles: FEC had more hematological adverse effects, more infection (20% vs 10%), required more GCSF (61% vs 39%) and erythropoietin stimulation (20% vs 8.7%), p<0.0001 Myalgia and arthralgia occurred significantly more often in the EC $\rightarrow$ T-arm (12.3 vs 1.4%, p<0.0001). Neurological symptoms and dermal adverse effects were found almost exclusively in the EC $\rightarrow$ T arm (3.9% vs 0.3%, 4.2% vs 0.8% p=0.0001)
Earl, 2014 (142)	Neo-tAnGo	Neoadjuvant: EC $\rightarrow$ P vs P $\rightarrow$ EC vs EC $\rightarrow$ GP vs GP $\rightarrow$ EC Effect of gemcitabine and	831	Early invasive, >2 cm; no previous chemo, RT, endocrine	80% T2, 20% T3 50% N+	67% ER+ 51% PR+ 25% inflammatory or LABC;		<ul> <li>Median follow-up 47 mo; first planned interim analysis found no significant difference in DFS or OS</li> <li>DFS</li> <li>EC→ P vs EC→ PG, HR=1.13</li> </ul>

Author, year	Trial name, enrolment period	Intervention	# pts	Inclusion criteria	Staging	Other characteristics*	Other	Results
		role of sequence (EC $\rightarrow$ P vs		therapy		57%		(95% CI 0.88-1.46), p=0.34;
		$P \rightarrow EC$ )				premenopausal,		• $P \rightarrow EC \text{ vs } EC \rightarrow P \text{ HR}=0.84$
		Stratified by ER status,		T4 eligible		5%		(95% CI 0.65-1.09), p=0.18
		tumour size (50 mm cut-				perimenopausal		• OS
		off), nodal status (N0/N+),						• EC $\rightarrow$ P vs EC $\rightarrow$ PG HR=1.02
		inflammatory/locally						(95% CI 0.76-1.39), p=0.89;
		advanced (yes/no)						• $P \rightarrow EC \text{ vs } EC \rightarrow P \text{ HR}=0.82$
								(95% CI 0.60–1.11), p=0.19
								• pCR greater with P $\rightarrow$ EC than EC $\rightarrow$ P (20% vs
								15%, p=0.03); G did not increase pCR
								• pCR was correlated with significant
								improvement in DFS (p<0.0001) and OS (p=0.0007)
Kerbrat,	PACS 05	FEC-100 q3w×6	1515	High-risk NO.			HR+ pts received	Median follow-up 73 mo
2012 (159)		vs FEC-100q3w×4		Operable, NO,			5 y hormonal	PFS: 12.0% vs 14.0%
[abstract]	2002-2006			>1 cm and			therapy; after	No difference in DFS, DDFS, local relapse, OS
		F 500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> , E 100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ,		another poor			Aug 2005	More grade III and IV neutropenia after 6
		C 500 mg/m <sup>2</sup>		prognostic			excluded HER2+	cycles
				factor (T >2			pts	
				cm, HR-, SBR				
				grade II or III,				
				aged <35 y)				

Abbreviations: \_AC, doxorubicin (Adriamycin) + cyclophosphamide; aE, accelerated epirubicin; AI, aromatase inhibitor; ALND, axillary lymph node dissection; BCS, breast-conserving surgery; BCT, breast-conserving therapy (BCS + RT); CEF, cyclophosphamide + epirubicin + fluorouracil; CEX, cyclophosphamide + epirubicin + capecitabine; CMF, cyclophosphamide + methotrexate + fluorouracil; dd, dose-dense; ddAC, dose-dense AC; DFS, disease-free survival rate; DDFS, distant disease-free survival rate; E, epirubicin; EC, epirubicin + cyclophosphamide; EFS, event-free survival rate; ER, estrogen receptor; FEC, fluorouracil + epirubicin + cyclophosphamide; G, gemcitabine; GCSF, granulocyte-colony stimulating factor; GnRH, gonadotropin-releasing hormone; HEC, high-dose EC; HER2, human epidermal growth factor receptor 2; HER2-E, HER-2 enriched; HR, hazard ratio; HR+, hormone receptor positive; HR-, hormone receptor negative; IDFS, invasive disease-free survival rate; LABC, locally advanced breast cancer; LRR, locoregional recurrence; N0, node-negative; N+, node-positive; OS, overall survival rate; P, paclitaxel; PG, paclitaxel + gemcitabine; pCR, pathologically complete response; PMRT, postmastectomy radiotherapy; pts, patients; PR, progesterone receptor; QoL, quality of life; RFS, recurrence-free survival rate; RT, radiation therapy (radiotherapy); T, docetaxel (Taxotere); TLI, thymidine labeling index; TX, docetaxel + capecitabine; X, capecitabine.

\*HER2, ER/PR, lymph node, risk, menopausal status

Intrinsic Subtypes: luminal A=(ER+ and/or PR+) and not (HER2+ or Ki-67<sup>high</sup>); luminal B=(ER+ and/or PR+) and either (HER2+ and/or Ki-67<sup>high</sup>); HER2=HER2+ and ER-; triple negative (TN)=PR- and ER- and HER2-; basal=TN and either (EGFR+ or cytokeratins 5/6+)

#### 4.2.2 Taxanes: Docetaxel and Paclitaxel

In the current literature search, the largest number of RCTs was found for studies of taxanes (55 trials, 94 publications), mostly compared with anthracycline regimens, as seen in Table 3 (21,22,25-33,38,39,43-49,94,133-136,141,142,154-158,160-221). For adjuvant taxane use, recent reviews (222), systematic reviews (223) and meta-analyses (1,183,224,225) were consulted to identify RCTs that were not found by the literature search (primarily due to publication outside the search period). The EBCTCG individual patient meta-analysis was the most complete for the comparisons it included, and only two additional studies were found. Because these studies are relatively recent (those in the EBCTCG analysis commenced 1994–2003), reports of most of the trials (except those that are unpublished) were also found in the current literature search. The EBCTCG analysis did not cover neoadjuvant therapy, comparison of taxane to non-anthracyclines, and second-generation studies comparing taxane to a different dose or different taxane (docetaxel vs paclitaxel). For the second-generation studies, 14 RCTs were identified in the literature search and one additional study from the analysis by Qin (225). Gines (224) had included seven of the studies, and Arroyo (223) included two. For neoadjuvant studies, Cuppone (226) or PEBC/CCO Guideline #1-20 (105) identified nine studies, whereas the current search found three additional studies plus updates on four of the others.

Many of the studies identified in the EBCTCG and other reviews varied the dose or number of cycles of the anthracycline component such that they were different for the taxane and non-taxane arms. For some of the comparisons the taxane and anthracycline arms had equivalent outcomes. To account for this unexpected effect, the EBCTCG subdivided the studies by whether the only difference in the arms was the addition of taxane (unconfounded), or with differences in both the anthracycline and taxane component such that the contribution of taxane alone is less certain (confounded studies). Studies included those in which the anthracycline component was approximately double that used in the taxane arm (e.g., additional cycles of anthracycline were administered so that the total number of cycles of chemotherapy was the same in both arms), or studies in which the control arm had more anthracycline than the taxane arm but the amount was not close to being doubled. Studies were also subdivided according to whether taxane and anthracycline were administered concurrently or sequentially. The same categories are indicated in Table 3, along with the additional categories mentioned (neoadjuvant, taxane vs taxane, or without anthracycline). Outcome data are generally reported from the publication with the longest follow-up, although earlier data are sometimes also reported if more complete.

The EBCTCG analysis indicates that when anthracycline is equivalent in both arms, or anthracycline is increased but not near to doubled, then taxane regimens are superior. When anthracycline + taxane is compared with doubled anthracycline + taxane, the survival rate results are similar. Nonetheless, truncating the number of anthracycline cycles when adding a taxane can mitigate certain important adverse effects, which are increased with more cycles of anthracyclines, including cardiotoxicity and leukemia.

Although the EBCTCG analysis excluded comparisons of different taxanes or doses, these studies were found in the current search and have been included in Table 3. Based on the RCTs, AC $\rightarrow$ P weekly [ECOG 1199 (32)], dose-dense (dd) A $\rightarrow$ P [CALGB 9741 (43)], TAC×6 [BCIRG 5 (47), NSABP B-38 (38,48)], and dd EC $\rightarrow$ P [MA.21 (33)] are considered acceptable regimens, whereas TAC×4 was found to be inferior [NSABP B30 (45)]. In MA.21 (33), AC×4 $\rightarrow$  P×4 was found to be inferior to CEF and dd EC $\rightarrow$ P, and in CALGB 9741 (43) it was inferior to

dd AC $\rightarrow$ P, and thus is not recommended. Based on the FinHer study (94), vinorelbine is not recommended instead of docetaxel when followed by FEC and is therefore not recommended in the adjuvant setting. Additionally, several studies used the FEC regimen (25,94,157,158,183) with doses of epirubicin of <100 mg/m<sup>2</sup> and thus are not relevant to practice in Ontario.

The FinXX study (39) found improved breast cancer-specific survival rate and fewer local relapses with  $TX \rightarrow CEX$  compared with  $T \rightarrow CEF$ . However, the OS rates were not found to differ with statistical significance. In addition, the doses of both the taxane and anthracycline are considered non-standard in the Ontario setting. As such, the addition of capecitabine to an anthracycline-taxane regimen is not clearly beneficial.

ECOG 1199 (32) compared paclitaxel to docetaxel administered weekly or q3 weekly, and found that AC $\rightarrow$  weekly paclitaxel provided the most benefit with the fewest adverse effects, but there was no direct comparison of AC $\rightarrow$  weekly paclitaxel to AC $\rightarrow$  q3 weekly docetaxel.

In NSABP B-38 (38,48), the addition of gemcitabine to  $ddAC \rightarrow P$  did improve outcomes but increased adverse effects. In this trial, TAC×6 was found to be equivalent to  $ddAC \rightarrow P$ , although with a different adverse effects profile. The trial by Kelly et al (210) demonstrated no benefit from the addition of capecitabine to an anthracycline -taxane regimen.

studies publications of ten as summarized 3 Sixteen in Table (28,142,156,195,196,201,211-221) evaluated the use of taxanes in the neoadjuvant setting. These were included because they met they search criteria used in the systematic review. However, as indicated in the footnote on the first page of Section 1, this guideline makes recommendations specifically for adjuvant therapy for the following reasons: a) there is significant variability within the patient population for whom neoadjuvant therapy may be considered (from early operable breast cancer, to LABC, which may have unique treatment needs), and b) our systematic review of the evidence focused on trials with DFS and OS rates as endpoints and thus excluded several trials that used pathologically complete response (pCR) as a primary endpoint. Therefore, our recommendations represent only some of the data that may be relevant to patients receiving neoadjuvant therapy.

Author, year	Trial name, enrolment period	Intervention	# pts	Inclusion criteria	Staging	Other characteristics*	Other	Results
Taxane + ar	nthracycline (se	quential) vs same anthracycline regime	en					
Rastogi, 2008 (28)	NSABP B-27 1995-2000	See neoadjuvant section later in this table						
Mamounas, 2005 (160)	NSABP B-28 1995-1998	AC vs AC→ P AC: A (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 AC→ P: A (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4→ P (225 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 • Before each P cycle, dexamethasone (20mg), diphenhydramine (50mg), and cimetidine (300mg) or ranitidine (50 mg) • All ER+ or PR+ pts or pts aged ≥50 y at time of surgery: tamoxifen (20mg/d) for 5 y beginning first day of AC cycle • Primary prophylaxis with GCSF not allowed, secondary prophylaxis mandated following a cycle complicated by prolonged neutropenia, febrile neutropenia, or grade 3-4 infection	3060	N+, cT1-3, cN0-1	70% N1 26% N2 4% N3 59% T1 32% 2.1-4 cm 8% ≥4 cm	66% ER+ 34% ER-/ borderline 61% PR+ 39% PR-/borderline	Tamoxifen for 5 y administered if age ≥50 y or HR+; RT after BCS, PMRT prohibited	<ul> <li>5-y survival rates</li> <li>DFS: 76% AC→ P vs 72% AC, RR=0.83 (95% CI 0.72-0.95), p=0.006</li> <li>OS: 85% for both groups, RR=0.93 (95% CI 0.78-1.12), p=0.46</li> <li>Subgroup analysis on the effect of paclitaxel according to hormone receptor status and tamoxifen administration did not find statistically significant interaction</li> <li>Adverse effects with AC→ P were acceptable</li> </ul>
Pusztai, 2009 (161)	NSABP B-28	See previous entry in table (160) Tau protein expression	1924					<ul> <li>No significant interaction between Tau expression and benefit from paclitaxel in total population or pts with ER+ or ER- cancer</li> </ul>
Vici, 2012 (162)	GOIM 9902 1999-2005	EC vs T $\rightarrow$ EC High-dose EC (E 120 mg/m <sup>2</sup> , C 600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) in both arms EC: E (120 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 T $\rightarrow$ EC: T (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 $\rightarrow$ E (120 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4	750	pN+ (at least 5 nodes removed), operable, T1-3	94% N1 4% N2 1% N3 41% T1 53% T2 6% T3	46% premenopausal 77% HR+ 28% HER2+	Tamoxifen for 5 y if HR+, starting Jan 2003 post- menopausal pts administered anastrozole for 5 y; RT for	<ul> <li>Median follow-up 64 mo: report 5-y survival rates, T→ EC vs EC</li> <li>DFS: 73.4% in both arms, HR=0.99 (95% CI 0.75-1.31), p=0.95</li> <li>DFS: no treatment differences between subgroups (T1 vs T2-3, ER and hormone receptor status)</li> <li>OS: 90.7% T→ EC vs 89.5% EC, HR=0.84 (95% CI 0.54-1.31), p=0.45</li> </ul>

#### Table 3. Taxanes: Paclitaxel and docetaxel.

	Trial name,							
Author, year	enrolment period	Intervention	# pts	Inclusion criteria	Staging	Other characteristics*	Other	Results
yeai		Primary prophylaxis with GCSF not allowed; administered in subsequent cycles if treatment delay due to low granulocyte/platelet count or G4 febrile neutropenia	# pts		Staging		BCS, PMRT if 4+ positive nodes	• Adverse effects more common but manageable with T $\rightarrow$ EC: G3-4 neutropenia (65% vs 54%, p=0.007); hypersensitivity (5.2% vs 0.3%, p<0.0001), reversible cardiotoxicity (1.4% vs 0.3%, p=0.23), skin (1.6% vs 0%, p=0.03), diarrhea (3.3% vs 0.3%, p=0.006) • Found no advantage of adding T to high-dose EC
Henderson, 2003 (163)	CALGB 9344 INT 0148 1994-1999	AC (A: 60, 75, or 90 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) vs AC (A: 60, 75, or 90 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) $\rightarrow$ P AC: C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + A (either: 60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> on day 1 or 75 or 90 mg/m <sup>2</sup> on days 1 or 2) q3w×4 AC $\rightarrow$ P: C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + A (either: 60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> on day 1 or 75 or 90 mg/m <sup>2</sup> on days 1 or 2) q3w×4 $\rightarrow$ P (175 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 Filgrastim (5µg/kg/d) + ciprofloxacin (750 mg 2×daily) administered routinely to pts receiving A 90 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ; only after an episode of febrile neutropenia for other pts	3121	Operable, N+	46% N1 42% N2 12% N3 35% T1 52% T2 13% T3	62% premenopausal 66% HR+ 59% ER+	Tamoxifen administered for 5 y to 94% of pts with HR+ cancer and 21% of pts with HR- cancer; RT for BCS, PMRT elective	Median follow-up 69 mo, 5-y survival rates, $AC \rightarrow P vs AC$ • DFS: 69%, 66%, 67% for increasing doses of A (no dose effect) • DFS: 70% $AC \rightarrow P vs 65\% AC$ , p=0.0023 • OS: 80% $AC \rightarrow P vs 77\% AC$ , HR=0.82 (95% CI 0.71-0.95), p=0.0064 • Unplanned subset analysis: • ER-: HR=0.72 (95% CI 0.59-0.86) • ER+: HR=0.91 (95% CI 0.78-1.07) • Without tamoxifen: HR=0.69 (95% CI 0.57-0.84) • With tamoxifen: HR=0.92 (95% CI 0.79-1.08) • Additional adverse effects from adding P were generally modest • P resulted in fewer hematological adverse effects (16% vs 62% granulocytopenia for lowest dose AC), less other adverse effects (nausea, vomiting, stomatitis, cardiotoxicity) • Higher doxorubicin doses vs lower doses resulted in significantly more dose reductions and delays (p<0.001) and cardiotoxicity (p=0.0032)
Sartor, 2005 (164)	CLGB 9344	See previous entry in table (163) Subgroups were records indicate patient received BCS +RT	169					5-y cumulative incidence of isolated LRR after BCS + RT: 3.7% AC→P vs 9.7% AC, p=0.04
Hayes, 2007 (165)	CLGB 9344	See previous entry in table (163) Randomly selected tissue blocks from subset of 1500 female pts from study; analyzed 1322 by IHC for HER2	1322					No interaction observed between HER2+ and doxorubicin doses HER2+ associated with significant benefit from paclitaxel, interaction HR=0.59, p=0.01, regardless of ER status Paclitaxel did not benefit HER2- ER+ cancers

Author,	Trial name, enrolment			Inclusion		Other		
year	period	Intervention	# pts	criteria	Staging	characteristics*	Other	Results
Berry, 2009 (166) [abstract]	CLGB 9344	See previous entry in table (163) HER2 and ER status from tissue microarrays from 2039 pathology blocks from the study, including 957 that were part of previous HER2 study (165); plus results of the previous study where samples not re-analyzed	2376					<ul> <li>HER2 had significant interaction with P for RFS, p=0.001</li> <li>RFS for P vs not P:</li> <li>HER2- ER- : HR=0.89 (95% CI 0.79-0.99), p=0.027, N=681</li> <li>HER2- ER+ : HR=1.01 (95% CI 0.92-1.10), p=0.95, N=1342</li> <li>HER2+ ER- : HR=0.73 (95% CI 0.59-0.89), p=0.0018, N=192</li> <li>HER2+ ER+ : HR=0.77 (95% CI 0.65-0.92), N=277</li> <li>Results were similar for OS (not reported)</li> <li>AC→ P in pts with N+ cancer improves outcome for HER2+ tumours and TN or double-negative tumours, but does not benefit ER+HER2- (which are majority of pts)</li> </ul>
Lara, 2011 (167)	CLGB 9344	See previous entry in table (163) From trial, evaluated 1887 patient specimens for p53 expression using IHC antibodies (mAbs 1801 and D07)	1877			P53 expression: 23% by mAbs 1801 and 27% by mAbs D07, 92% concordance		<ul> <li>P53+ associated with worse OS with either antibody</li> <li>P53 staining with mAb 1801 had significantly worse RFS</li> <li>P53 not predictive of RFS or OS from either doxorubicin dose escalation or addition of paclitaxel</li> </ul>
Cognetti, 2008 (168) [abstract]	TAXIT 216 1998-2002	E→ T→ CMF vs E→ CMF E→ CMF: E (120 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4→ C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + M (40 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + F (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) days 1&8, q4w×4 E→ T→ CMF: E (120 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4→ T (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4→ CMF	998	Early, N+				<ul> <li>Median follow-up 62 mo, report 5-y survival rates, E→ T→ CMF vs E→ CM</li> <li>DFS: 74% vs 68%, HR=0.82 (95% CI 0.64-1.03), p=0.13</li> <li>RFS: 76% vs 69%, HR=0.75 (95% CI 0.59-0.96), p=0.039</li> <li>OS: 90% vs 85%, HR=0.67 (95% CI 0.48-0.94), p=0.017</li> </ul>
Taxane + and	thracycline (se	quential) vs more non-taxane (anthrac	ycline) reg	imen			·	
Francis, 2008 (169)	BIG 02-98 1998-2001	$\begin{array}{l} A \rightarrow CMF \text{ (sequential control) vs } AC \rightarrow \\ CMF \text{ (concurrent control) vs} \\ A \rightarrow T \rightarrow CMF \text{ (sequential docetaxel)} \\ vs \\ AT \rightarrow CMF \text{ (concurrent docetaxel)} \end{array}$	2887	N+ (at least 8 nodes dissected), T1-3	54% N1 46% N2-3 92% pT1-2 7% pT3	54% premenopausal 76% HR+, 24% HR-	Tamoxifen administered for 5 y if HR+, from 2004 on allowed	Analysis after 5 y • DFS: 73% A, 72% AC, 78% A→ T, 74% AT • DFS: T vs control: HR=0.86 (95% CI 0.74-1.00), p=0.051 • DFS: sequential T vs control: HR=0.79 (05% CI 0.010 + 0.00)
		*In all arms, if oral C not tolerated,					sequential Als in post-	(95% CI 0.64–0.98), p=0.035 • DFS: concurrent T vs control: HR=0.93

Author,	Trial name, enrolment			Inclusion		Other		
year	period	Intervention	# pts	criteria	Staging	characteristics*	Other	Results
		IV C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) used A $\rightarrow$ CMF: A (75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 $\rightarrow$ C (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + M (40 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + F (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) days 1&8 q4w×3 AC $\rightarrow$ CMF: A (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 $\rightarrow$ C (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + M (40 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + F (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) days 1&8 q4w×3 A $\rightarrow$ T $\rightarrow$ CMF: A (75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×3 $\rightarrow$ T (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×3 $\rightarrow$ C (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + M (40 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + F (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) days 1&8 q4w×3 AT $\rightarrow$ CMF: A (50 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + T (75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 $\rightarrow$ C (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + M (40 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + F (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + T (75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 $\rightarrow$ C (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + M (40 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + F (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) days 1&8 q4w×3 Unbalanced randomization, ratio: 1:1:2:2 Ciprofloxacin administered during AT cycles; primary GCSF prophylaxis not permitted, but recommended with subsequent doses in cases of previous febrile neutropenia, grade 3–4 infection, delay >7 d due to neutropenia					menopausal pts and ovarian suppression in pre- menopausal; RT after BCS, PMRT according to institutional guidelines	<ul> <li>(95% CI 0.75-1.14), p=0.48</li> <li>DFS: sequential T vs concurrent T: HR=0.83 (95% CI 0.69-1.00) [survival rate better with sequential T]</li> <li>No heterogeneity of effect with regard to efficacy of T found in subgroups according to age, lymph node status or hormone status</li> <li>Too early to report OS</li> <li>Febrile neutropenia, severe asthenia, myalgias, diarrhea, skin adverse effects, and neurosensory adverse effects more common with T than in controls</li> </ul>
Oakman 2013 (170)	BIG 02-98	See previous entry in table (169)	2887					<ul> <li>Median follow-up 93.4 mo</li> <li>DFS (T vs no T): HR=0.91 (95% CI 0.80-1.05), p=0.187</li> <li>DFS (sequential T vs sequential control): HR=0.81 (95% CI 0.67-0.99), p=0.036</li> <li>DFS (sequential A→ T vs concurrent AT): HR=0.84 (95% CI 0.72-0.99), p=0.035</li> <li>OS (sequential A→ T vs concurrent AT): HR=0.79 (95% CI 0.65-0.98), p=0.028</li> <li>Better OS and DFS with A→ T compared with concurrent AT</li> </ul>

Author, year	Trial name, enrolment period	Intervention	# pts	Inclusion criteria	Staging	Other characteristics*	Other	Results
Fernandez- Cuesta, 2012 (171)	BIG 02–98 1998–2001	See previous entry in table (169) Retrospective analysis of TP53 mutations for 18% of pts; classified as wild type (no TP53 variations or variations which do not modify p53 protein) or mutant	520			17% mutants		P53 status had no significant predictive value for response to docetaxel P53 truncating mutations were uncommon (3.6%) but associated with poor prognosis
Martin, 2013 (172)	GEICAM/ 2003-02 2003-2008	FAC → P vs FAC FAC (500/50/500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> )q3w×4→ P (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> )q1w×8 vs FAC (500/50/500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×6	1925	T1-3, N0 and at least one high-risk factor (age <35 y, T2+, HR-, histological grade 2-3)	58% T1 40% T2	50% premenopausal	HER2+ pts excluded after 2005 (792 pts already recruited); 73% HR+, 9.4% HER2+	<ul> <li>Median follow-up 63.3 mo</li> <li>5-y DFS: 93% vs 90.3%, HR=0.73 (95% CI 0.54-0.99), p=0.04</li> <li>OS: 97% vs 96%, HR=0.79 (95% CI 0.49-1.26), p=0.31</li> <li>1 vs 7 deaths from cardiovascular disease Grade 3/4 adverse events: neutropenia 22% vs 25% (p=0.07), febrile neutropenia 2.7% vs 3.6% (p=0.22), fatigue 7.9% vs 3.4% (p&lt;0.01), sensory neuropathy 5.5% vs 0% (p&lt;0.01), myalgia 1.5% vs 0.2% (p&lt;0.01), thrombosis/embolism 1.1% vs 0.1% (p&lt;0.01)</li> </ul>
Delbaldo, 2014 (173)	AERO- B2000 2000-2002	FEC <sub>100</sub> → P vs FEC <sub>100</sub> FEC (500/100/500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> )q3w×4→ P(175 mg/m <sup>2</sup> )q3w×4 vs FEC(500/100/500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> )q3w×6	837	N+	Mean 4.3 positive nodes; 43% T1, 46% T2	73% ER+, 62% PR+	Planned 1000 pts, closed early due to slow accrual; RT according to standard practice of each centre; HR+ administered 5 y tamoxifen or AI	Median follow-up 108 mo DFS HR=0.99 (95% CI 0.77-1.26), p=0.91 OS HR=0.85 (95% CI 0.62-1.15), p=0.29 5-y DFS 78.4% FEC $\rightarrow$ P vs 78.5% FEC 9-y DFS 62.5% FEC $\rightarrow$ P vs 62.9% FEC 5-y OS 88.6% FEC $\rightarrow$ P vs 86.1% FEC 9-y OS 77% FEC $\rightarrow$ P vs 73.9% FEC Overall grade 3-4 adverse effects similar (58% FEC $\rightarrow$ P vs 63% FEC, p=0.16); neuropathy 2.9% vs 0.2%, p=0.002; myalgia 3.2% vs 0.5%, p=0.003; cardiac 0.3% vs 0.5% (NS) May be lack of power to detect small benefits
Martín, 2008 (174)	GEICAM 9906 1999-2002	<ul> <li>FEC×6 vs FEC×4→ P (eight 1- w courses)</li> <li>FEC: F (600 mg/m<sup>2</sup>) + E (90 mg/m<sup>2</sup>) + C (600 mg/m<sup>2</sup>) q3w×6</li> <li>FEC→ P: F (600 mg/m<sup>2</sup>) + E (90 mg/m<sup>2</sup>) + C (600 mg/m<sup>2</sup>) q3w×4→ P</li> </ul>	1246	N+ (at least 6 nodes isolated), T1-3	62% N1, 38% N2-3 43% T1 52% T2 36% T3	54% premenopausal 82% HR+ (investigator report), 66% HR+ (central) 20% HER2+	Tamoxifen if ER+ or PR+, Als allowed in menopausal pts after Sept 2005; RT after BCS, PMRT according to	<ul> <li>At 5 y, FEC→ P vs FEC</li> <li>DFS 78.5% in FEC→ P, 72.1% in FEC, p=0.006</li> <li>OS: 22% reduction, HR=0.78 (95% CI 0.57-1.06), p=0.110</li> <li>Risk of relapse: 23% reduction, HR=0.77 (95% CI 0.62-0.95), p=0.022</li> <li>No significant interaction between HER2 or hormone receptor status and paclitaxel</li> </ul>

	Trial name,							
Author,	enrolment			Inclusion		Other		
year	period	Intervention	# pts	criteria	Staging	characteristics*	Other	Results
		after three weeks no treatment P(100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q1w×8 Primary GCSF prophylaxis not permitted, but mandatory for pts with at least one episode of febrile neutropenia or infection					institutional guidelines (mostly T3 or N2-3)	treatment
Martín, 2010 (175)	GEICAM 9906	See Martín, 2008 (174) Molecular predictors of efficacy					928 (74.5%) samples had evaluation of molecular subtype	<ul> <li>At 7-y follow-up, FEC→ P vs FEC:</li> <li>Benefit with FEC→P is now statistically significant</li> <li>DFS 75% vs 68%, HR=0.75 (95% CI 0.61-0.93), p=0.007</li> <li>OS: 84% vs 79%, HR=0.74 (95% CI 0.56-0.96), p=0.026</li> <li>Benefit small in absolute terms, attempted to find subgroups that benefit more</li> <li>Superiority of FEC→ P greater in HR-/HER2-(TN), particularly in subset with basal phenotype (TN and either EGFR+ or cytokeratins 5/6+) and for luminal A (p=0.034)</li> <li>TN: FEC→ P reduced likelihood of relapse by 47% and yielded and absolute benefit of 18% DFS compared with FEC (74% vs 56%), p=0.015</li> <li>Basal (N=79): DFS 83% FEC→ P vs 57% FEC, p=0.018     <ul> <li>HR=0.33 (95% CI 0.12-0.87), p=0.024</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
Fountzilas, 2008 (176)	HE 10/00 2000-2005	Group A: Sequential $E \rightarrow P \rightarrow CMF$ vs Group B: Concurrent $E+P \rightarrow CMF$ $E \rightarrow P \rightarrow CMF$ : E (110 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q2w×3 $\rightarrow$ P (250 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q2w×3 $\rightarrow$ C (840 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + M (57 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + F (840 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q2w×3 E+P $\rightarrow$ CMF: E (83 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + P (187 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 $\rightarrow$ C (840 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + M (57 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + F (840 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q2w×3 Cumulative dose almost identical in both groups Prophylactic GCSF for dose-dense	1121	T1-4, N1-2	48% N1 52% N2+ (median 3-4 positive nodes) 32% T1 57% T2 11% T3+	69% ER+, 61% PR+, 73% HR+ 46% premenopausal 33% HER2+	5 y tamoxifen for HR+, 2 y ovarian suppression if premenopausa l, switched in 2004 to 2-3 y tamoxifen + 2-3 y exemestane; RT for BCS, PMRT if N2+and/or T3+	Group A (dose-dense) had more thrombocytopenia (1.1% vs 0%, p=0.03), severe sensory neuropathy (9.5% vs 2.1%, p<0.001), hypersensitivity (5.2% vs 1.4%, p<0.001), severe arthralgias/myalgias (3% vs 0.8%, p=0.01), and discontinuation of chemotherapy (6.5% vs 3%, p=0.003) Conclude rates of severe adverse effects low, but significantly increased with dose-dense sequential regimen (Group A)

Author,	Trial name, enrolment			Inclusion		Other		
year	period	Intervention	# pts	criteria	Staging	characteristics*	Other	Results
		treatments						
Gogas, 2012 (177)	HE 10/00 2000-2005	See Fountzilas 2008 (176)						<ul> <li>Median follow-up 76 mo; 5-y survival rates,</li> <li>Group A (sequential) vs B (concurrent)</li> <li>DFS: 74% and 74%, p=0.78</li> <li>OS: 86% and 85%, p=0.45</li> <li>Subgroup by disease subtypes: no significant differences in response by hormone receptor status, HER2 status, TN</li> <li>Conclude no DFS or OS benefit Group A vs B</li> </ul>
Burnetl, 2010 (33)	MA.21 2000-2005	CEF vs dd EC $\rightarrow$ P vs AC $\rightarrow$ P CEF: C (75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ; days 1-14) + E (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ; days 1&8) + F (500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ; days 1&8) q4w×6 EC $\rightarrow$ P: E (120 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (830 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q2w×6 $\rightarrow$ P (175 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 AC $\rightarrow$ P: A (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 $\rightarrow$ P (175 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 Filgrastim and epoetin permitted with CEF or AC $\rightarrow$ P, required with EC $\rightarrow$ P; Prespecified interim analysis for RFS after 261 events at median follow- up of 30.4 mo	2104	N+ or high risk N0 ( ≥1cm plus one or more of: ER-, grade 3, or LVI); age ≤60 y	28% N0, 43% N1, 22% N2, 6% N3 34% T1 55% T2 9% T3 1% T4	Premenopausal or early post- menopausal (age <60 y); 41% ER+ 11% HER2+, 70% HER2-, 19% unknown	Stratified by number of positive nodes, type of surgery, ER status; BCS +RT or mastectomy (PMRT permitted); ER+ received tamoxifen, AI allowed after Oct 2004; trastuzumab for 1 y for HER2+ was allowed after June 2005	3-y adjusted RFS for CEF, EC/P, AC/P were 90.1%, 89.5%, 85% (p=0.001); pairwise comparison: • AC→ P vs CEF: HR=1.49 (1.12–1.99), p=0.005 • AC→ P vs EC/P HR=1.68 (1.25–2.27), p=0.0006 • EC→ P vs CEF: HR=0.89 (95% CI 0.64–1.22), p=0.46 Adverse effects: febrile neutropenia was 22.3% and 16.4% in CEF and EC→ P pts compared with 4.8% in AC→ P (p=0.001); erythrocyte transfusion 23.8%, 39.9%, 1.6% (p<0.001); grade 3-4 cardiotoxicity higher in CEF (2.1%) vs 0.7% and 0.3% (p<0.001); full adverse effects comparison listed AC→ P inferior for RFS but fewer adverse effects [see CALGB 9741 for higher-dose AC→ P (43)]
Polyzos, 2010 (178)	HORG 1995-2004	T→ EC vs FEC T→ EC: T (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> )→ E (75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (700 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 FEC: E (75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (700 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + F (700 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×6 Epirubicin dose 75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> was lower than used in other studies; prophylactic GCSF not permitted,	756	N+, ALND with at least 10 nodes removed, early, Stage II-IIIA	35% N1, 45% N2, 21%N3 53% T1, 40% T2, 5% T3, 3% unknown	71% ER+ and/or PR+ 20% ER-PR- 10% unknown 38% premenopausal	60%-70% HR+ and subsequently received adjuvant hormonal treatment; RT for all BCS, PMRT at physician discretion	Median follow-up of 5 y • Relapse: 28% T $\rightarrow$ EC vs 33% FEC, p=0.181 • DFS 72.6% (63.8–81.3) and 67.2% (58.0–76.4%), p=0.041; • No difference in OS rates (83.8% vs 81.4%, p=0.533) • T $\rightarrow$ EC had increase neutropenia requiring GCSF (90.5% vs 74.1%, p=0.0001) • T $\rightarrow$ EC had higher significantly more stomatitis, diarrhea, hypersensitivity reactions, nail disorders, neurotoxicities

	Trial name,							
Author,	enrolment			Inclusion		Other		
year	period	Intervention	# pts	criteria	Staging	characteristics*	Other	Results
Joensuu,	FinHer	but allowed in subsequent courses if febrile neutropenia or grade 3-4 neutropenia or >7 d delay because of neutropenia $T \rightarrow$ FEC vs vinorelbine $\rightarrow$ FEC	1010	N+ or high risk	56% >2 cm	72% ER+	Tamoxifen for	Conclude: improved DFS in pts with N+ cancer at expense of increased but manageable myelotoxicity     5-y survival rates calculated     00.7% for entire partice.
2009 (94)	2000-2003	T→ FEC: T (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×3→ F (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + E (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×3 Vinorelbine→ FEC: Vinorelbine (25 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ; days 1,8,15) q3w×3→ F (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + E (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×3 Further randomization to receive trastuzumab if HER2+ (N=232, 2+ or 3+ on scale of 0-3+ by IHC, and 6+ gene copies) Prophylactic GCSF not recommended unless 1+ episodes of febrile neutropenia or severe infection Dose of T reduced from 100 to 80 mg/m <sup>2</sup> in Feb 2002 due to neutropenic fevers		N0 (>2 cm and PR-)	11% N0 61% N1 28% N2+	23% HER2+	5 y if HR+, amended Dec 2005 to allow switching to Al for post- menopausal pts after 2-3 y and to allow administration of Al for addition 2-3 y after completion of 5 y tamoxifen; RT according to each institutions guideline	<ul> <li>OS=90.7% for entire series</li> <li>T vs vinorelbine, HR=0.70 (95% CI 0.46-1.05), p=0.086</li> <li>DDFS rate (pts with only local recurrence were censored):</li> <li>T vs vinorelbine: HR=0.66 (95% CI 0.49-0.91), p=0.010</li> <li>Subgroup HER2+: <ul> <li>Trastuzumab better than without: HR=0.65 (95% CI 0.38-1.12), p=0.12; adjusted for nodal metastases HR=0.57, p=0.047</li> <li>T + trastuzumab better than T, HR=0.32 (95% CI 0.12-0.89), p=0.029</li> <li>T + trastuzumab better than vinorelbine + trastuzumab, HR=0.31 (95% CI 0.11-0.83), p=0.020</li> <li>Vinorelbine ± trastuzumab HR=0.92 (95% CI 0.47-1.83), p=0.82</li> <li>Median left ventricular ejection fraction of trastuzumab-treated pts remained unaltered during 5-y follow-up</li> <li>HER2- subgroup</li> <li>DDFS: 88.2% T vs 83.5% vinorelbine, HR=0.69 (95% CI 0.47-1.01), p=0.058</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
Nitz, 2009(179) [abstract]	EC-Doc WSG/AGO AM02 2000-2005	EC→ T vs control (FEC, N=828 or CMF, N=175) EC→ T: E (90 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4→ T (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 FEC: F (500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + E (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×6	2012	N1, intermediate risk	Median 2.0 cm	78% HR+		<ul> <li>Median follow-up 41 mo, estimated 5-y survival rates</li> <li>EFS: 91% vs 86%, p=0.005 (better in EC→ T arm)</li> <li>OS: 95% vs 90%, p=0.004 (better in EC→ T arm)</li> <li>EC→ T vs FEC: EFS 91% vs 85%, HR=0.58, p=0.004</li> <li>EC→ T vs FEC: OS 95% vs 91%, p=0.03</li> </ul>

Author, year	Trial name, enrolment period	Intervention	# pts	Inclusion criteria	Staging	Other characteristics*	Other	Results
		CMF: C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + M (40 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + F (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q4w×6						<ul> <li>HR+ subgroup, HR=0.51 in favour of EC→T, p=0.007</li> <li>Conclude EC→ T is superior for EFS and OS over FEC</li> </ul>
Huober, 2010(180) Nitz, 2011 (181) Gluz, 2011 (182) [abstracts]	EC-Doc	See previous entry in table	2012 (772 for protein analysis )				<ul> <li>20% HER2+</li> <li>25% Topo-II aberration (deletion or amplifica- tion)</li> <li>49% HER2+ and 14% HER2- tumours had Topo-II aberration</li> <li>65% TIMP-1</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Median follow-up 64 mo: report 5-y survival rates</li> <li>DFS 90% EC→ T vs 80% FEC, p=0.006</li> <li>OS: 95% EC→ T vs 92% FEC, p=0.022</li> <li>DFS highest in luminal A (97%), lowest in TN basal-like (72%)</li> <li>Significant benefit of EC→ T vs FEC for DFS in pts with luminal B cancer: HR=0.41 (95% CI 0.22-0.77), p=0.004</li> <li>In multivariate model, EC→ T vs FEC, HR=0.44 (95% CI 0.26-0.76), p=0.003</li> <li>EC→ T better than FEC in HR- non-basal like, HR=0.385 (95% CI 0.14-1.07), p=0.057</li> <li>Prospective WSG Plan B trial to validate these results</li> <li>Ki-67 cut-off of 20% was significant regarding interaction with therapy (HR=0.467, p=0.02)</li> <li>DFS for subgroups, EC→ T vs FEC</li> <li>HER2: HR=0.29 (95% CI 0.12-0.7) p=0.006</li> <li>HER2- : EC→ T vs FEC, not significant, p=0.18</li> <li>Topo-II aberration: HR=0.28 (95% CI 0.11-0.69), p=0.006</li> <li>Topo-II normal, not significant, p=0.14</li> <li>In multivariate model, only high Ki-67 had significant therapy interaction</li> </ul>
Ellis, 2009 (183)	TACT CRUK01/00	quential) vs doubled non-taxane ( anth $FEC \rightarrow T$ vs control (either FEC or $E \rightarrow$ CMF)	4162	pT1-3a, pN0-1	34% T1 56% T2	69% ER+ 31% ER-	Tamoxifen for 5 y if HR+,	Median follow-up 62 mo, report survival rates at 5 y
	1 ISRCTN7971 8493 2001–2003	FEC→ T: F (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + E (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4→ T (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4		Early, N+ or high risk N0 (grade 3, HR–, or lympho-	9% T3 20% N0 44% N1 36% N2+	20% HER2+ 65% HER2- 14% unknown	from 2005 allowed AIs as an alternative; pts with	<ul> <li>DFS: 75.6% vs 74.3 %, HR=0.95 (95% CI 0.85-1.08), p=0.44</li> <li>OS: 82.5% vs 83%, HR=0.99 (95% CI 0.86-1.14), p=0.91</li> <li>No difference due to choice of control</li> </ul>

	Trial name,							
Author,	enrolment			Inclusion		Other		
year	period	Intervention	# pts	criteria	Staging	characteristics*	Other	Results
year		FEC: F (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + E (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×8 E→ CMF: E (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4→ C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + M (40 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + F (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q4w×4 GCSF used according to local practice		vascular invasion)			HER2+ allowed to enter trials assessing trastuzumab; RT after BCS, PMRT according to local guidelines	<ul> <li>regimen</li> <li>No strong evidence for differential effect by ER status or HER2 status</li> <li>Exploratory analysis consistent with improvement with taxane for ER- HER2+ subgroup, DFS HR=0.78 (95% CI 0.55-1.09), DFS for pts with N+ cancer HR=0.70 (95% CI 0.49-1.00)</li> <li>Acute grade 3 or 4 adverse events significantly greater in experimental group than in control group (p&lt;0.0001), most frequent was neutropenia, leucopenia, lethargy; late adverse effects also more frequent with FEC→ T</li> <li>In QoL substudy there was significantly greater impairment in experimental group for physical, role, emotional and social functioning, pain, fatigue, global QoL, but less nausea and vomiting; returned to close to baseline levels over 24 mo</li> <li>Conclude: did not show any overall gain from addition of T to standard anthracycline therapy</li> </ul>
Roche, 2006 (27)	PACS 01 1997-2000	FEC vs FEC $\rightarrow$ T FEC: F (500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + E (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×6 FEC $\rightarrow$ T: F (500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + E (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×3 $\rightarrow$ T (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×3 Primary prophylaxis with GCSF prohibited; administered for subsequent cycles of FEC in case of low granulocyte/platelet count or febrile neutropenia	1999	Operable, N+ (based on at least 5 nodes removed), Stage <t4a< td=""><td>62% N1 38% N2+ 37% T1 55% T2 8% T3</td><td>61% premenopausal 79% HR+, 21% HR- 74% ER+, 65% PR+</td><td>Tamoxifen for 5 y if HR+ and post- menopausal (optional for pre- menopausal until Dec 1998, after which it was required), some centres also gave for HR- RT after BCS, PMRT to chest wall, supra- clavicular</td><td><ul> <li>Median follow-up 60 mo, report 5-y survival rates</li> <li>DFS: 78.4% FEC→ T vs 73.2% FEC, HR=0.80 (95% CI 0.67-0.96), p=0.012</li> <li>OS: 90.7% FEC→ T vs 86.7% FEC, HR=0.73 (95% CI 0.56-0.94), p=0.017</li> <li>In subgroup analysis for DFS, FEC→ T was better or equivalent in all groups; there was significant benefit of FEC→ T for female pts aged ≥50 y or postmenopausal, but not premenopausal or aged &lt;50 y</li> <li>Grade 3-4 neutropenia, need for hematopoietic growth factor, incidence of nausea/vomiting higher with FEC</li> <li>Febrile neutropenia (fourth cycle), stomatitis, edema, nail disorders higher with FEC→ T due to lower anthracycline cumulative dose</li> </ul></td></t4a<>	62% N1 38% N2+ 37% T1 55% T2 8% T3	61% premenopausal 79% HR+, 21% HR- 74% ER+, 65% PR+	Tamoxifen for 5 y if HR+ and post- menopausal (optional for pre- menopausal until Dec 1998, after which it was required), some centres also gave for HR- RT after BCS, PMRT to chest wall, supra- clavicular	<ul> <li>Median follow-up 60 mo, report 5-y survival rates</li> <li>DFS: 78.4% FEC→ T vs 73.2% FEC, HR=0.80 (95% CI 0.67-0.96), p=0.012</li> <li>OS: 90.7% FEC→ T vs 86.7% FEC, HR=0.73 (95% CI 0.56-0.94), p=0.017</li> <li>In subgroup analysis for DFS, FEC→ T was better or equivalent in all groups; there was significant benefit of FEC→ T for female pts aged ≥50 y or postmenopausal, but not premenopausal or aged &lt;50 y</li> <li>Grade 3-4 neutropenia, need for hematopoietic growth factor, incidence of nausea/vomiting higher with FEC</li> <li>Febrile neutropenia (fourth cycle), stomatitis, edema, nail disorders higher with FEC→ T due to lower anthracycline cumulative dose</li> </ul>

Author,	Trial name, enrolment			Inclusion		Other		
year	period	Intervention	# pts	criteria	Staging	characteristics*	Other	Results
Jean					Juging		area, internal mammary chain recommended following mastectomy but irradiation of the axilla prohibited	
Coudert, 2009 (21) [abstract] 2012 (22)	PACS 01	See previous entry in table (27)						<ul> <li>Update at median follow-up of 92.8 mo, report 8-y survival rates</li> <li>DFS: 70.2% FEC→ T vs 65.8% FEC, HR=0.85 (95% CI 0.73-0.99), p=0.036</li> <li>OS: 83.2% FEC→ T vs 78.0% FEC, HR=0.75 (95% CI 0.62-0.92), p=0.007</li> <li>Cardiac events 0.4% FEC→ T vs 2.1% FEC Confirms previous 5-y results</li> </ul>
Penault- Llorca, 2009 (184)	PACS 01	See previous entry in table (27) Measured ER, PR, Ki-67, HER2 by IHC in 55% of original samples (N=1190), and selected those ER+ for further analysis	798	ER+ subset		21% Ki-67 >20% 9% HER2+ 62% PR+ >10%		<ul> <li>ER+ tumours (this study), median follow-up</li> <li>58.7 mo</li> <li>DFS, 5 y: 82% FEC→ T vs 77% FEC, p=0.11</li> <li>Relapse, FEC→ T vs FEC: <ul> <li>All: HR=0.82 (060-1.12), p=0.22</li> <li>Ki-67+ HR=0.51 (95% CI 0.26-1.01)</li> <li>Ki-67- HR=1.03 (95% CI 0.69-1.55)</li> <li>Hazard ratio for interaction with T HR=0.53 (95% CI 0.24-1.16), p=0.11</li> <li>No trend for interaction with T observed for HER2 or PR status</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
Jacquemier 2011 (26)	PACS 01	See previous entry in table (27) Prepared tissue microarray for 1099 of the cases that had IHC(184), and evaluated expression of ER, PR, Ki- 67, HER2 and 30 additional proteins	1099				Defined molecular subtypes: • luminal A (HR+, HER2-, Ki- 67-), • luminal B (HR+, HER2-, Ki- 67+), • HER2 over- expressing	<ul> <li>In multivariate analysis, PR- and Ki-67+ remained associated with shorter DFS</li> <li>Interaction of protein expression and FEC→ T only significant for Ki-67, p=0.012</li> <li>Ki-67+ HR=0.51 (95% CI 0.33-0.79), p=0.003</li> <li>Ki-67- HR=1.10 (95% CI 0.75-1.61), p=0.612</li> <li>Molecular subtypes analyzed for docetaxel benefit on risk of relapse:</li> <li>Luminal B: 53% reduction, HR=0.47 (95% CI 0.22-1.01), p=0.05</li> <li>HER2 overexpressing: 34% reduction,</li> </ul>

Author,	Trial name, enrolment			Inclusion		Other		
year	period	Intervention	# pts	criteria	Staging	characteristics*	Other	Results
jeur							• TN (HR- HER2-)	<ul> <li>HR=0.66 (95% CI 0.37-1.19), p=0.14</li> <li>TN: 12% reduction, HR=0.88 (95% CI 0.49-1.57), p=0.67</li> <li>Luminal A: 16% higher with T, HR=1.16 (95% CI 0.73-1.84), p=0.52</li> <li>Interaction between benefit of T and each subtype was significant for luminal B (p=0.047), borderline for HER2 overexpressing (p=0.14) and not significant for TN (p=0.46)</li> <li>Added value of molecular subtype compared with Ki-67 alone did not show any significant added predictive value</li> </ul>
Ladoire, 2012 (25)	PACS 01	See previous entry in table (27) Assessed FOXP3 status in subgroup of 1097 pts by IHC	1097				37% FOXP3 expressed	<ul> <li>Median follow-up 96 mo, FEC→ T vs FEC</li> <li>OS shorter in pts with FOXP3–</li> <li>For FOXP3–, OS shorter with FEC than FEC→ T</li> <li>For FOXP3+, no difference between FEC and FEC→ T</li> <li>Interaction between FOXP3 and treatment arm was not significant; however, the statistical power of the interaction test was 13%</li> </ul>
Sakr, 2013 (185)	Mansoura University 2006–2010	FEC×3→ T×3 vs FEC×6 FEC (500/100/500mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×3→ T(100mg/m <sup>2</sup> )q3w×3 vs FEC (500/100/500mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×6	657	Had surgery + AD with clear margins, high risk (T3-4 and/or N+)	34% T1, 51% T2, 7% T3 64% N1 36% N2+	79% HR+ 60% pre- menopausal	Almost all received RT, 78% received tamoxifen	Median 61 mo from randomization •5-y DFS 74% FEC vs 78% FEC $\rightarrow$ T •Multivariate analysis found 17% reduction in relative risk of relapse with FEC $\rightarrow$ T (p=0.034); difference found in N2+ subgroup (p=0.042) but not N1subgroup; benefit of FEC $\rightarrow$ T in female pts aged $\leq$ 50 y (p=0.03) but not aged >50 y (p=0.65) Fewer cardiac events with FEC $\rightarrow$ T (0.3% vs 1.8%, p=0.02), less nausea-vomiting (11.2% vs 19%, p=0.001), more edema (3.6% vs 0.3%, p=0.001), and nail disorders (5.1% vs 0.9%, p=0.001)
Coombes, 2011 (186)	DEVA 1997-2005	E vs E→ T E: E (50 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ; days 1&8) q4w×6 E→ T: E (50 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ; days 1&8)	803	Post- menopausal, N+, early	0.5% N0 66% N1 32% N2 1% unknown	78% HR+ 19% HR- 3% unknown	Tamoxifen received by all pts, amended in 2001 to be	Median follow-up 64.7 mo, report 5-y survival rates for E→ T vs E • DFS: 79.5% vs 72.7%, HR=0.68 (95% CI 0.52-0.91), p=0.008 • OS: 88.9% vs 81.8%, HR=0.66
		$q4w \times 3 \rightarrow T$ (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ; day 1)			44% T1		omitted if	(95% CI 0.46-0.94), p=0.02

	Trial name,							
Author,	enrolment			Inclusion		Other		
year	period	Intervention	# pts	criteria	Staging	characteristics*	Other	Results
		q3w×3 + dexamethasone 8mg orally 2×daily for 3 d each cycle Optional second random assignment of timing of tamoxifen (concurrently with chemotherapy or sequentially) in some centres, to be reported separately Prophylactic GCSF recommended in case of febrile neutropenia			49% T2 6% T3		HR- and in 2007 to allow Als	<ul> <li>E→ T associated with greater adverse effects but no difference in QoL</li> <li>Subgroup analysis found consistency with overall effect</li> <li>T gave higher level of grade 3-4 adverse effects: febrile neutropenia (p&lt;0.001), neutropenia (p&lt;0.001), skin disorders (p=0.002), stomatitis(p=0.009), diarrhea (p=0.01), and myalgia/arthralgia (p=0.04); also higher level of neurological disorders of any grade and more persistent effects: peripheral neuropathy, edema, and nail abnormality</li> <li>No significant differences in overall QoL</li> <li>Overall, substitution of T for E for last 3 cycles improved DFS and OS but more adverse effects</li> </ul>
Burnell, 2010 (33)	MA.21 2000-2005	CEF vs dose-dense EC $\rightarrow$ P vs AC $\rightarrow$ P CEF: C (75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ; days 1-14) + E (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ; days 1&8) + F (500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ; days 1&8) q4w×6 EC $\rightarrow$ P: E (120 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (830 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q2w×6 $\rightarrow$ P (175 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 AC $\rightarrow$ P: A (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 $\rightarrow$ P (175 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 Filgrastim and epoetin permitted with CEF or AC $\rightarrow$ P, required with EC $\rightarrow$ P; Prespecified interim analysis for RFS after 261 events at median follow- up of 30.4 m	2104	N+ or high-risk N0 ( ≥1cm plus one or more of: ER-, grade 3, or lymphovas- cular invasion); age ≤60 y	28% N0, 43% N1, 22% N2, 6% N3 34% T1 55% T2 9% T3 1% T4	Premenopausal or early post- menopausal (<60 y old); 41% ER+ 11% HER2+, 70% HER2-, 19% unknown	Stratified by number of positive nodes, type of surgery, ER status; BCS +RT or mastectomy (PMRT permitted); ER+ received tamoxifen, Al allowed after Oct 2004; trastuzumab for 1 y for HER2+ was allowed after June 2005	3-y adjusted RFS for CEF, EC/P, AC/P were 90.1%, 89.5%, 85% (p=0.001); pairwise comparison: • AC $\rightarrow$ P vs CEF: HR=1.49 (1.12–1.99), p=0.005 • AC $\rightarrow$ P vs EC $\rightarrow$ P HR=1.68 (1.25–2.27), p=0.0006 • EC $\rightarrow$ P vs CEF: HR=0.89 (95% CI 0.64–1.22), p=0.46 Adverse effects: febrile neutropenia was 22.3% and 16.4% in CEF and EC $\rightarrow$ P pts compared with 4.8% in AC $\rightarrow$ P (p=0.001); erythrocyte transfusion 23.8%, 39.9%, 1.6% (p<0.001); grade 3-4 cardiotoxicity higher in CEF (2.1%) vs 0.7% and 0.3% (p<0.001); full adverse effects comparison listed AC $\rightarrow$ P inferior for RFS but fewer adverse effects [see CALGB 9741 for higher-dose AC $\rightarrow$ P (43)]
Janni, 2012	ADEBAR	$E_{90}C \rightarrow T \text{ vs } FE_{120}C \text{ (dose-intensive})$	1502	N2+			Antibiotics	• At median follow-up 49.5 mo, <u>FEC vs EC→ T:</u>
(157) Schoenherr,	2001-2005	anthracycline)					administere d in 10%	<ul> <li>Recurrence: 166 vs 193 events, HR=0.877 (95% CI 0.722-1.065), p=0.382</li> </ul>
2010 (158)		EC→ T: E (90 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600					ECT vs 20%	• OS: 131 vs 134 deaths, HR=0.996

	Trial name,							
Author,	enrolment	Intervention	# ata	Inclusion	Staging	Other	Othor	Deculto
year [abstracts] Albert, 2011 (187)	period	Intervention $mg/m^2$ ) $q3w \times 4 \rightarrow T (100 mg/m^2)$ $q3w \times 4$ FEC: F (500 mg/m²; days 1&8) + E         (60 mg/m²; days 1&8) + C (75 mg/m²; days 1&14) q4w \times 6         P→ FAC vs FAC         P→ FAC: P (250 mg/m²) q3w \times 4 → F         (500 mg/m²; days 1&4) + A (50 mg/m²; days 1-3) + C (500 mg/m²; days 1) q3w or q4w \times 8	# pts	criteria T1-3, N0-1	Staging           4% Stage 0,           17% Stage I,           43% Stage IIA,           30% Stage IIB,           5% Stage IIIA,           1% Stage IIB           31% N0,           38% N1,           28% N2+, 3%           unknown	characteristics* 54% premenopausal 3% peri- menopausal 32% post- menopausal 11% surgical; 59% ER+, 37% ER-, 4% unknown; 58% PR+, 37% PR-, 6% unknown	Other FEC GCSF administere d in 39% ECT vs 61% FEC Erythro- poietin administere d in 9% ECT vs 20% FEC Tamoxifen for 5 y if aged ≥ 50 y and ER+; RT after BCS, PMRT at discretion of physician	<ul> <li>Results <ul> <li>(95% CI 0.783-1.267), p=0.969</li> <li>Subgroup analysis found no significant difference between the two arms</li> </ul> </li> <li>Treatment stopped early due to adverse effects in 3.7% EC→T and 8% FEC (p=0.0009)</li> <li>Neutropenia grade 3-4 and febrile neutropenia similar in both groups</li> <li>Hematological adverse effects significantly higher in FEC arm</li> <li>Non-hematological adverse effects grade 3-4 seldom found in either arm</li> <li>EC→T had higher myalgia and arthralgia (12.3 vs 1.4%, p=0.0001), neurological symptoms (3.9% vs 0.3%), dermal adverse effects (4.2% vs 0.8%)</li> <li>Conclude EC→T is well tolerated feasible alternative to FE<sub>120</sub>C</li> </ul> Median follow-up 124 mo, no difference in locoregional recurrence or death rates: <ul> <li>OS at 10 y: 78.4% in FAC arm vs 81.7% in P→ FAC, p=0.930</li> <li>No difference in OS between subgroups (BCT, mastectomy, PMRT, N+)</li> </ul>
Taxane + an	thracycline (co	oncurrent) vs more non-taxane ( anthra	cycline)					
Martín, 2005 (31)	BCIRG 001 1997-1999	TAC vs FAC TAC: A (50 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + T (75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×6 FAC: A (50 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + F (500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×6 Primary prophylaxis with GCSF not	1491	N+, T1-3; exclude advanced disease (T4, N2-3, M1)	62% N1 38% N2+ 41% T1 52% T2 7% T3	55% premenopausal 76% HR+ 22% HER2+, 15% unknown	Tamoxifen for 5 y administered if HR+; RT after BCS, PMRT according to institution guidelines	Median follow-up 55 mo; estimated 5-y survival rates • DFS: 75% TAC vs 68% FAC, p=0.001 • OS: 87% TAC vs 81% FAC, p=0.008 • Grade 3 or 4 neutropenia 65.5% vs 49.3 % (p<0.001), febrile neutropenia 24.7% vs 2.5% (p<0.001), infections 3.9% vs 2.2% (p=0.05)

Author,	Trial name, enrolment period	Intervention	# pts	Inclusion criteria	Staging	Other characteristics*	Other	Results
year	period	allowed; pts with one episode of febrile neutropenia or infection were administered GCSF in subsequent cycles	# pts		Staging			
Mackey, 2013 (188)	BCIRG 001	See previous entry in table	1491					<ul> <li>Median follow-up 124 mo</li> <li>DFS: 62% TAC vs 55% FAC, HR=0.80 (95% CI 0.68–0.93), p=0.0043</li> <li>OS (10 y): 76% TAC vs 69% FAC, HR=0.74 (95% CI 0.61–0.90), p=0.0020</li> <li>TAC improved DFS irrespective of nodal, hormone receptor, HER2 status (although not all statistically significant)</li> <li>More serious adverse events during treatment phase with TAC than FAC (36% vs 9%); more sensory neuropathy during follow-up in TAC group (4% vs 1%, p&lt;0.0001)</li> </ul>
Hugh, 2009 (30)	BCIRG 001	<ul> <li>See previous entry in table (31)</li> <li>Subtypes and response to docetaxel: <ul> <li>14.5% Triple negative</li> <li>8.5% HER2 (HER2+, ER-, PR-)</li> <li>61.1% luminal B (ER+ and/or PR+ and either HER2+ and/or Ki-67<sup>high</sup>)</li> <li>15.9% luminal A (ER+ and/or PR+ and not HER2+ or Ki-67<sup>high</sup>)</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	1350					<ul> <li>3-y DFS (p values compared with luminal B) were 67% TN (p&lt;0.001, HR=2.22), 68% HER2(p=0.0008, HR=2.12), 82% (referent luminal B), 91% luminal A (p=0.0027, HR=0.46)</li> <li>Improved 3-y DFS with TAC was found in the luminal B group (p=0.025) and a combined ER+/HER- group treated with tamoxifen (p=0.041), with a marginal trend in the triple negatives (p=0.051) and HER2 (p=0.068) subtypes.</li> <li>No DFS advantage was found in the luminal A population.</li> </ul>
Dumontet, 2010 (29)	BCIRG 001	See previous entry in table (31) IHC assessment of biological markers	1350					<ul> <li>No interaction with Ki-67 and treatment allocation</li> <li>Ki-67 and p53 protein, as well as microtubule- related parameters tau protein and tubulin III are independent prognostic factors but not predictive of docetaxel benefit</li> </ul>
Francis, 2008 (169)	BIG 02-98 1998-2001	See previously in this table (Taxane + anthracycline [sequential] vs more non-taxane [anthracycline] regimen)						
Martín, 2010 (189)	GEICAM 9805	TAC vs FAC	1060	N0 (≥10 nodes examined),	51% T1 47% T2	53% premenopausal	Tamoxifen for 5 y if HR+; RT	Median follow-up 77 mo • DFS: 87.8% TAC vs 81.8% FAC (32%

	Trial name,							
Author,	enrolment			Inclusion	<b>a</b>	Other		
year	period	Intervention $T = C = T (T = m r (m^2) + T (T = m r (m^2))$	# pts	criteria	Staging	characteristics*	Other	Results
	1999-2003	TAC: T (75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + A (50 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) +C (500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×6		T1-3, and at least one St Gallen risk	2% ТЗ	65% HR+, 35% HR-	if BCS, PMRT if >5cm depending on	reduction), HR=0.68 (95% Cl 0.49-0.93), p=0.01 • Benefit in subgroups (HR status, menopausal
		FAC: F (500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + A (50 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) +C (500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×6		factor (T2+, ER- and PR-, histological			institution guidelines	status, age, tumour size, grade) suggested benefit of TAC vs FAC is consistent with benefit in overall population
		Primary prophylaxis with GCSF not permitted in original protocol, amended after 230 pts due to		grade 2 or 3, age <35 y )				• OS: 92.5% TAC vs 93.5% FAC, HR=0.76 (95% CI 0.45-1.26), not significant, but small number of events (need longer follow-up)
		incidence of neutropenic fever in >25% of TAC group; all TAC pts then received GCSF; in FAC group received prophylactic antibiotics and GCSF in all remaining cycles if episode of febrile neutropenia or infection						• Grade 3 and 4 adverse events 28.2% for TAC and 17% for FAC (p<0.001); most TAC-induced adverse effects ameliorated with GCSF administered as primary prophylaxis
Goldstein,	E2197	AT vs AC	2882	N1 or N0 with	66% N0	48%	Tamoxifen for	Median follow-up of 79.5 mo, 5-y survival rates
2008 (190)	NCT000035 19	AT: A (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + T (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4		tumour >1 cm (at least 6 nodes removed)	34% N1 43% T1 57% T2+	premenopausal or peri- menopausal	5 y if HR+; after June 2005 could switch to Al if	reported • DFS: 85% both arms, HR=1.02 (95% CI 0.86-1.22), p=0.78 for AC vs AT • OS: 91% vs 92%
		AC: A (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4			(75% ≤2.8 cm)	32% ER-PR- 3%ER-PR+ 11% ER+PR-	post- menopausal; RT after BCS,	<ul> <li>AT did not improve survival rate and was associated with more adverse effects</li> </ul>
		Primary GCSF not used, received in pts with febrile neutropenia according to ASCO guidelines				54% ER+PR+	PMRT at physician discretion	
Sparano, 2012 (191)	E2197	See previous entry in table	2883		Median T size 2.0 cm			Median follow-up 11.5 y, 10-y DFS, AC vs AT (HR >1 favours AT)
[abstract]	1998–2000							Overall: HR=1.02 (95% CI 0.88–1.18), p=0.83 ER+: HR=0.91 (95% CI 0.76–1.10), p=0.34 ER-: HR=1.22 (95% CI 0.96–1.56), p=0.11 OS: HR=1.03 (95% CI 0.86–1.23), p=0.73 Still no significant difference in DFS or OS
Brain, 2009 (192)	RAPP-01 1999-2003	AT vs AC	627	Early, high- risk pN0 or	43% pN0	44% Ki-67 ≥25%	RT according to standard	Closed prematurely for adverse effects in 2003
[abstract]		AT: A (50 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + T (75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4		limited pN+ (N1)			guidelines, endocrine treatment for	<ul> <li>Median follow-up 64 mo</li> <li>5-y TTR 91% AT vs 90.9% AC, HR=0.91 (95% CI 0.54-1.52), p=0.71</li> </ul>
		AC: A (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4					5 y if HR+	• OS: 94.9 vs 94.3%

Author,	Trial name, enrolment			Inclusion		Other		
year	period	Intervention	# pts	criteria	Staging	characteristics*	Other	Results
		No prophylactic GCSF						
Del Mastro, 2008 (193) [abstract]	GONO-MIG- 5 1996-2001	FEC <sub>21</sub> vs EP FEC: F (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + E (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×6 EP: E (90 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + P (175 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4	1055	N+ (N1-2), operable	68% N1	22% HR- 69% HR+	Tamoxifen (20mg/d) for 5 y if HR+	<ul> <li>FEC vs EP: more nausea/vomiting (85% vs 76%, p=0.0001), mucositis (46% vs 37%, p=0.003), leukopenia (52% vs 40%, p=0.0002); less anemia (17% vs 25%, p=0.006), fever (7% vs 15%, p=0.0001), myalgia (1% vs 19%, p=0.0001), neurotoxicity (6% vs 38%, p&lt;0.0001), allergic reaction (1% vs 5%, p=0.03)</li> <li>Median follow-up 8.2 y <ul> <li>EFS (5 y): 71% FEC vs 70% EP</li> <li>EFS (10 y): 46% both arms</li> <li>OS (5 y): 89% vs 88%</li> <li>OS (10 y): 72% vs 76%, p=0.8</li> </ul> </li> <li>Conclude different adverse effects profiles, no difference in survival rate</li> </ul>
Roché, 2009 (194) [abstract]	PACS04 2001-2004	FEC vs ET FEC: F (500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + E (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×6 ET: E (75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + T (75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×6 GCSF mandatory for subsequent cycles after febrile neutropenia or treatment delay for neutropenia	3010	N+	67% N1 49% T2+	48% post- menopausal 62% ER+PR+ 20% ER-PR- 19% HER2+	RT after BCS; tamoxifen for 5 y if HR+, protocol amendments allowed sequential use of AIs; HER2+ secondarily randomized to 1 y trastuzumab or observation (see HER2+ table)	<ul> <li>FEC vs ET adverse effects: febrile neutropenia 2% vs 6.4% of cycles, grade 3-4 neutropenia 34% vs 9%, leucopenia 35% vs 47%, thrombopenia 1.7% vs 0.3%, nausea/vomiting 14% vs 8%</li> <li>Median follow-up 59.3 mo; report 5-y survival rates</li> <li>DFS: 79.7% FEC vs 81.7% ET, HR=0.89 (95% CI 0.76-1.05), p=0.18</li> <li>Positive interaction was found and favoured ET for the HER2+ subgroup, p=0.01</li> <li>OS: 90.3% FEC vs 90.1% ET, HR=1.07 (95% CI 0.85-1.35), p=0.54</li> </ul>
Gianni, 2009 (195); Zambetti, 2013 (196)	ECTO 1996-2002	See neoadjuvant section later in this table					,	
Taxane with	out anthracycl	ine in one allocation						
Jones, 2009 (49)	US Oncology	AC vs TC	1016	Stage I-III, 1-7 cm,	48% NO 42% N1	69% HR+ 31% HR-	Tamoxifen for 5 y if HR+;	Median follow-up 7 y, 7-y survival rate results • DFS: 81% TC vs 75% AC, HR=0.74

Author, year	Trial name, enrolment period	Intervention	# pts	Inclusion criteria	Staging	Other characteristics*	Other	Results
Jeur	Research Trial 9735 1997-2000	AC: A (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 TC: T (75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 Did not use prophylactic GCSF			10% N2+		RT after BCS, PMRT if N2+; HER2 status determined in 170 pts (emphasis on those who relapsed)	<ul> <li>(95% CI 0.56-0.98), p=0.033</li> <li>OS: 87% TC vs 82% AC, HR=0.69 (95% CI 0.50-0.97), p=0.032</li> <li>TC was favoured in all subgroups: age, HER2 status, ER</li> <li>Grade 3 and 4 adverse events: more anemia and febrile neutropenia in older pts and more febrile neutropenia with TC than AC; 3 late deaths in AC group probably related to treatment</li> </ul>
Shulman 2014, 2012 (197,198)	CALGB 40101 2002-2010	P vs AC P: 80 mg/m <sup>2</sup> q1w×12 or 18 (N=287) or 175 mg/m <sup>2</sup> q2w×4 or 6(N=1653); AC; 60/600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> Randomized to 4 or 6 cycles (N=284 q3w, N=1647 q2w) Test of non-inferiority of T to AC (one-sided 95% CI of HR <1.30 for RFS)	3871 (4646 planned )	0-3 positive axillary nodes; operable	90% N0 65% T1 35% T2+	40% premenopausal , 68% HR+84% HER2-		Median follow-up 6.1 y RFS: HR=1.26 (1-05-1.53) favouring AC OS: HR=1.27 (1.00-1.62) favouring AC 5-y RFS 88% P vs 91% AC 5-y OS 94% P vs 95% AC OS, in table: 92% vs 94% The trial did not show non-inferiority of single agent P compared with AC Grade 3+ adverse effects (hemoglobin, neutropenia, vomiting, fatigue) higher with AC; neuropathy higher in P arm At median 5.3 y, 4-y RFS 90.9% vs 91.8% for 6 and 4 cycles, HR=1.03 (95% CI 0.84-1.28, p=0.77); OS 95.3% vs 96.3%, HR=1.12 (95% CI 0.84-1.49), p=0.44 Concluded 6 cycles not better than 4 cycles
Nitz, 2011 (199)	WSG Plan B 2009-2011+	TC×6 vs 4EC×4 -TC×4 Pts with HR+ NO-3 and RS11 receive endocrine therapy only (not included in randomization)	2296, ongoing	HER2-; N+ or high-risk N0 (pT2, HR-, G2-3, age 35 y, or high uPa/PAI-1)				Ongoing
Ortmann, 2011 (200) Nitz,	SUCCESS-C WSG/AGO	FEC×3 $\rightarrow$ T×3 vs TC×6 See previously in this table (179-	1452, Target 3547	HER2-				Ongoing
2009(179) [abstract]	AM02	182)						

Author, year	Trial name, enrolment period	Intervention	# pts	Inclusion criteria	Staging	Other characteristics*	Other	Results
Mansi, 2010(201)	Anglo- Celtic (ACCOG) 1999-2002	See neoadjuvant section later in this table						
	1	taxane vs taxane (different dose or do						
Citron, 2003 (43)	CALGB 9741 1997-1999	I. A→ P→ C vs         II. dd A→ P→ C vs         III. AC→ P vs         IV. dd AC→ P         I. A→ P→ C: A (60 mg/m²) q3w×4→ P (175 mg/m² IV over 3 hrs) q3w×4→ C (600 mg/m² IV) q3w×4 (33 w total)         II. As I but each cycle q2w (22 w total)         III. As I but C administered concurrently with A (total 21 w)         IV. As II but C administered concurrently with A (total 14 w)         Dose-dense (II and IV) received filgrastim days 3-10 of each cycle	1973	T0-3, N1-2, M0	59% N1, 29% N2, 12% N3 (median 3 positive nodes) 40% T1, 58% T2+ 2% unknown	49% premenopausal 65% ER+	70% of female pts received tamoxifen; recommended that tamoxifen 20 mg/d be administered for 5 y to all HR+; pre- menopausal and to all post- menopausal	Median follow-up 36 mo DFS: dd (q2w) vs q3w at 3 y: 85% vs 81% RR=0.74, p=0.010 DFS, q2w vs q3 w at 4 y: 82% vs 75%, p=0.0072 OS at 3 y, q2w vs q3w: 92% vs 90%, RR=0.69, p=0.013 • Treatment sequence (sequential $A \rightarrow P \rightarrow C$ or concurrent $AC \rightarrow P$ ) was not significantly correlated with DFS (p=0.58) nor OS (p=0.48) • dd + filgrastim caused less grade 4 granulocytopenia, 3% and 9% for arms II and IV (q2w) vs 24% and 43% for arms 1 and 3 (q3 w) • Arm IV (AC $\rightarrow$ P q2w) had higher rate of transfusions (13%) vs 0%, 3%, 4% on arms I, II, III • Concurrent regimens had higher Grade 3+ emesis (7% vs 3%, p=0.0002), later cardiotoxicity (2% vs 1%, p=0.11), severe neurotoxicity (4% vs 2%, p=0.005)
Budd, 2013, 2011 (154,155) [abstract]	SWOG S0221 2003-2012	dd AC $\rightarrow$ P (80 mg/m <sup>2</sup> )q1w×12 vs dd AC $\rightarrow$ P (175mg/m <sup>2</sup> )q2w×6 dd AC=AC (60/600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q2w×6 + pegfilgrastim Initially was initial AC vs ddAC randomization then P randomization but AC $\rightarrow$ P arms were discontinued for futility after 2716 pts and remaining pts received ddAC AC=A(24 mg/m <sup>2</sup> )q1w×15 + C(60mg/m <sup>2</sup> )daily + filgrastim	3294	N+ or high risk N0; operable				<ul> <li>Powered to find DFS HR≤0.82 for weekly vs q2 weekly for each factor</li> <li>HR=1.08 (95% CI 0.90-1.28), p=0.42 and therefore excluding the hypothesis that HR=0.82</li> <li>Estimated 5-y PFS 82% vs 81% for weekly P and ddP respectively</li> </ul>

	Trial name,					<b>a</b> .t		
Author, year	enrolment period	Intervention	# pts	Inclusion criteria	Staging	Other characteristics*	Other	Results
Loesch, 2010 (202)	2000-2002	AC $\rightarrow$ P vs AP $\rightarrow$ P AC (60/600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> )q3w×4 $\rightarrow$ P (175 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 AP (50/200 mg/m <sup>2</sup> )q3w×4 $\rightarrow$ P (80mg/m <sup>2</sup> )q1w×12 No prophylactic hematopoietic growth factors permitted in cycle 1; use in subsequent cycles at physician's discretion	1830	High risk: N1-2 and T1-3, or N0 >2 cm or N0 >1cm and HR-	StagingStage I-III6% Stage I46% Stage IIA35% Stage IIB13% Stage IIIA27% NO46% N120% N28% N3	33% premenopausal 7% peri- menopausal 57% post- menopausal 52% ER+PR+ 10% ER+PR- 2% ER-PR+ 35% ER-PR- (HR-) 33% HER2+ 62% HER2- 21% TN	Premenopaus- al HR+ received 2-3 y tamoxifen (later increased to 5 y), Post- menopausal pts received 2-3 y tamoxifen which could be followed by AI at physicians discretion; RT after BCS, PMRT if N2+	<ul> <li>Median follow-up 64 mo, report 6-y survival rates (median survival not yet reached), no significant difference</li> <li>DFS: 79% vs 80%, OS: 82% vs 87%, p=0.08</li> <li>Unplanned subgroup analysis for OS: HR- and TN groups favoured arm 2 (p=0.06 and p=0.07)</li> <li>Both regimens equally effective and tolerable</li> <li>Dose-dense P (arm 2) is as effective, but increased peripheral neuropathy</li> </ul>
Swain, 2010a (45)	NSABP B30 NCT000037 82 1999-2004	AC→ T vs AT vs ACT AC→ T: A (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4→ T (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 AT: A (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + T (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 ACT: A (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + T (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 Doses modified in Sept 2000 after 5 deaths were reported with ACT. ACT: A 50 mg/m <sup>2</sup> , C 500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> , T 75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> AT: A 50 mg/m <sup>2</sup> , T 75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ; added primary prophylaxis with GCSF in these two treatment groups	5264	pN+, cN0-1, early, T1-3	65% N1 25% N2 8% N3 3% unknown 42% ≤2cm(T1) 40% 2-4 cm 15% >4 cm	45% pre- or peri- menopausal; 75% ER+	HR+ received tamoxifen for 5 y, starting October 2002 anastrozole was allowed in post- menopausal pts Pre- menopausal for menstrual history substudy	Median follow-up 73 mo, calculated 8-y survival rates • DFS: AC $\rightarrow$ T 74% vs AT 69%, HR=0.80, p=0.001 • DFS: AC $\rightarrow$ T 74% vs ACT 69%, HR=0.83, p=0.01 • OS: AC $\rightarrow$ T 83% vs AT 79%, HR=0.83, p=0.03 • OS: AC $\rightarrow$ T 83% vs ACT 79%, HR=0.86, p=0.09 • AT non-inferior to ACT for OS, HR=0.96 (95% CI 0.82-1.14) • No interaction between treatment effect and factors tested (age, hormone receptor status, nodes, tumour size, hormone therapy, menopausal status) • Increased incidence of grade 3 or 4 adverse events with AC $\rightarrow$ T (65%) compared with AT (45%) or ACT (48%), including stomatitis, febrile neutropenia, infection, arthralgia, fatigue, and vomiting • Concluded AC $\rightarrow$ T reduced mortality rates, and hypothesized that longer course and/or higher dose of T are important for maximum effect • Menstrual history substudy (N=2343): survival

	Trial name,							
Author,	enrolment			Inclusion		Other		
year	period	Intervention	# pts	criteria	Staging	characteristics*	Other	Results         rate higher in pts with amenorrhea for ≥6 mo         in the 24 mo after randomization: DFS         RR=0.70, p<0.001, OS HR=0.76, p=0.04
Swain, 2010b (46)	NSABP B30 NCT000037 82	See previous entry in table (45) Reanalysis of menstrual history (MH) substudy to report 12-m landmark analysis	1885					<ul> <li>12-m landmark analysis among female pts with amenorrhea compared with rest</li> <li>Significant improvement in DFS (HR=0.65, p&lt;0.001) and OS (HR=0.72, p=0.04)</li> <li>ER+ subgroup: DFS HR=0.51, p&lt;0.001; OS HR=0.52, p=0.002</li> <li>ER- subgroup: DFS HR=0.96, p=0.85; OS HR=1.08, p=0.76</li> </ul>
Ganz, 2011 (44)	NSABP B30 NCT000037 82 QoL 1999-2001	See previous entry in table (45) N=2145 in menstrual history (MH) substudy N=2111 in QoL substudy; calculated a trial outcome index (TOI) that summarizes physical and functional well-being scales and disease- specific items, 5- point difference is clinically meaningful, with a high score being better	5351 (2145, 2111)	MH substudy: pre- menopausal			MH substudy: 77% received tamoxifen QoL substudy: 79% received tamoxifen	<ul> <li>Rate of prolonged amenorrhea at 12 mo differs significantly by treatment group:</li> <li>70% AC→ T, 38% AT, 58% TAC (p&lt;0.001)</li> <li>If exclude female pts with unknown status at 12 mo, 83% AC→ T, 47% AT, 67% TAC (p&lt;0.001)</li> <li>AC→ T had higher rate of prolonged amenorrhea to 12, 18, and 24 mo compared with AT; rates higher with tamoxifen</li> <li>AT without tamoxifen had lowest rate of amenorrhea (20%-25% over the 24 mo of observation)</li> <li>Information may be useful in younger female pts interested in preserving fertility, because AT may offer better chance of return of menses</li> <li>QoL Outcomes:</li> <li>Over 24 mo, AC→ T had TOI 2.4 points lower than TAC; differences are statistically significant but not clinically meaningful</li> <li>At 6 mo, AC→ T had TOI ≈ 10 points lower than TAC or AT</li> <li>TAC and AT pts TOI and symptoms severity score returned to baseline at 12 mo (p&lt;0.001)</li> </ul>
Eiermann,	BCIRG 005	TAC×6 vs AC×4→ T×4	3298	N+ (cN0-1 but	41% pT1	48%	96% received	TAC associated with more febrile neutropenia
2011 (47)				pN+, ALND of	51% pT2	premenopausal	adjuvant	and thrombocytopenia, $AC \rightarrow T$ associate with

Author,	Trial name, enrolment			Inclusion		Other		
year	period	Intervention	# pts	criteria	Staging	characteristics*	Other	Results
	2000-2003	TAC: T (75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + A (50 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×6 AC $\rightarrow$ T: A (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 $\rightarrow$ T (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 Primary prophylaxis with GCSF allowed; recommend for secondary prophylaxis after an episode of febrile neutropenia or infection		at least 6 nodes), HER2-, T1-3	8% pT3 61% N1 28% N2, 11% N3	82% HR+	tamoxifen and/or Als; 66% received RT	<ul> <li>more sensory neuropathy, nail changes and myalgia; neutropenic infection similar in both groups</li> <li>At median follow-up 65 mo, estimated 5-y DFS &amp; OS</li> <li>DFS 79% in both groups: HR=1.0 (95% CI 0.86-1.16), p=0.98</li> <li>OS 88 and 89%: HR=0.91 (95% CI 0.75-1.11), p=0.37</li> <li>Conclude equally effective but different adverse effects profile</li> </ul>
Poole, 2008 (203) [abstract] Wardley, 2008 (141)	tAnGo 2001-2004 safety substudy	EC→ PG vs EC→ P EC→ PG : E (90 mg/m <sup>2</sup> IV) + C (600 mg/m2) q3w×4→ P (175 mg/m2) + G (1250 mg/m <sup>2</sup> days 1 & 8) q3w×4 EC→ P (details not reported, assumed to be same as above without G)	3152 135 (safety sub- study)	Higher risk early	77% N+ 61% T2+	41% ER-, 37% PR-, 26% HER2+ (of 909 assayed)		<ul> <li>Median follow-up 35 mo</li> <li>DFS: HR=1.0 (95% CI 0.8–1.2), p=0.96</li> <li>OS: HR=1.1 (95% CI 0.9–1.4), p=0.35</li> <li>No subset where EC→ PG more effective, including by ER/PR status</li> <li>Both regimens reported temporary reductions in pulmonary functions and transient transaminitis levels (not clinically significant); these were greater with EC→ PG but both well tolerated</li> </ul>
Joensuu, 2012 (39)	FinXX NCT 0114816	TX→ CEX vs T→ CEF TX→ CEX: T (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + X (900 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ; days 1–15) q3w×3→ C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + E (75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + X (900 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ; days 1–15) q3w×3 T→ CEF: T (80 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×3→ C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + E (75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + F (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×3 Prophylactic GCSF not scheduled	1500	N+ or high risk N0 (T2+ and PR-)	11% N0 61% N1 28% N2+ 44% pT1 50% pT2 6% pT3-4	44% pre- menopausal 56% post- menopausal 77% ER+, 62% PR+, 19% HER2+	HR+ received adjuvant endocrine therapy for 5 y, premenopausa l received tamoxifen and post- menopausal anastrozole; RT according to institutions practice; protocol amended May 2005 to allow trastuzumab for HER2+	Median follow-up 59 mo, calculated survival rates at 5 y, TX $\rightarrow$ CEX vs T $\rightarrow$ CEF • DFS: 86.6% vs 84.1%, HR=0.78 (95% CI 0.59–1.03), p=0.08 • OS: 92.5% vs 89.9%, HR=0.73 (95% CI 0.52–1.04), p=0.080 • TX $\rightarrow$ CEX arm had significantly fewer local relapses (8 vs 20, HR=0.39, p=0.024), deaths from breast cancer (42 vs 64, HR=0.64, p=0.027), and better breast-cancer specific survival, HR=0.64, (95% CI 0.44–0.95) p=0.027) • Exploratory subgroup analysis, TX $\rightarrow$ CEX vs T $\rightarrow$ CEF: • RFS in N2 pts with N2 cancer (HR=0.64, 95% CI 0.43–0.96) • RFS in pts with TN cancer (HR=0.48, 95% CI 0.26–0.88, p=0.018) • TX/CEX was associated with more

	Trial name,							
Author,	enrolment			Inclusion		Other		
year	period	Intervention	# pts	criteria	Staging	characteristics*	Other	Results
								capecitabine-related adverse effects including stomatitis, hand-foot syndrome, nail changes, and diarrhea, whereas T/CEF was associated with more frequent neutropenia, febrile neutropenia, infection with neutropenia, myalgia, and amenorrhea, probably as a result of the higher docetaxel dose.
Sparano, 2008 (32)	E1199, ECO 1199 NCT000041 25 1999-2002	AC $\Rightarrow$ P (q1w×12) vs AC $\Rightarrow$ P (q3w×4) vs AC $\Rightarrow$ T (q1w×12) vs AC $\Rightarrow$ T (q3w×4) AC $\Rightarrow$ P: A (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 $\Rightarrow$ P (175 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 AC $\Rightarrow$ P: AC as above $\Rightarrow$ P (80 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q1w×12 AC $\Rightarrow$ T: AC as above $\Rightarrow$ T (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 AC $\Rightarrow$ T: AC as above $\Rightarrow$ T (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 AC $\Rightarrow$ T: AC as above $\Rightarrow$ T (35 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q1w×12 P q3 w is considered standard therapy Colony-stimulating factors administered at physician discretion according to ASCO guidelines for pts who had an episode of febrile neutropenia or persistent neutropenia that prevented treatment on schedule	4950	N+ (N1-2), T1-3; or N0 and high risk T2-3	12% N0 56% N1 32% N2-3	70% HR+, 26% HR-, 4% unknown; 19% HER2+, 68% HER2-, 13% unknown	Tamoxifen for 5 y if HR+, modified June 2005 to allow switch to AI during or after the 5-y course; RT after BCS, PMRT at discretion of treating physician	<ul> <li>No significant difference in DFS between combined groups with P vs those with T (HR=1.03, p=0.61) or between weekly vs every 3 w (HR=1.06, p=0.33)</li> <li>5-y survival rates: compared with standard therapy (P every 3 w, OS 77%), HR &gt;1 favours experimental therapy: <ul> <li>P (weekly)</li> <li>DFS: HR=1.27 (1.03-1.57), p=0.006</li> <li>OS: HR=1.32 (1.02-1.72), p=0.01</li> <li>Grade 2-4 neuropathies more frequent with weekly P (27% vs 20%)</li> <li>T (every 3 w)</li> <li>DFS: HR=1.23 (1.00-1.52), p=0.02</li> <li>OS: HR=1.13 (95% CI 0.88-1.46), p=0.25</li> <li>T (weekly)</li> <li>DFS: HR=1.09 (95% CI 0.89-1.34), p=0.29</li> <li>OS: HR=1.02 (95% CI 0.80-1.32), p=0.80</li> </ul> </li> <li>Interaction of T and weekly schedule (q1w or q3w) was significant</li> <li>In exploratory analysis, both HER2+ and HER2- subgroups did better on experimental treatment, but only significant for HER2- on weekly P (DFS, HR=1.33, p=0.009; OS, HR=1.34, p=0.03; not affected by hormone receptor status)</li> <li>Overall, weekly P after AC improved DFS and OS</li> </ul>
Schneider, 2012 (204)	E1199	See previous entry in table	4554					Median time to neuropathy after first dose of taxane was 3.0 mo (range 0–57 mo)

Author,	Trial name, enrolment			Inclusion		Other		
year	period	Intervention	# pts	criteria	Staging	characteristics*	Other	Results
			, , p.c.					Grade 2-4 neuropathy developed in 18%, 22%, 15%, 13% of pts in group P3 (P q3w), P1 (P q1w), D3 (T q3w), D1 (T q1w), respectively P1 vs P3, OR=1.34 (1.09-1.64), p=0.006 D1 vs P3 OR=0.73 (95% CI 0.58-0.92), p=0.008 D3 vs P3 OR=0.81 (95% CI 0.65-1.02), p=0.070
Watanabe, 2009 (205) [abstract, poster]	N-SAS-BC02 2000-2006	a) (AC or EC) $\rightarrow$ P vs b) (AC or EC) $\rightarrow$ T vs c) P vs d) T (AC or EC) $\rightarrow$ P: A (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) or E (75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 $\rightarrow$ P (175 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 (AC or EC) $\rightarrow$ T: (AC or EC) as above $\rightarrow$ T (75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 P: P (175 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×8 T: T (75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×8	1060	N+ (SLNB or ALND); excluded ER+PR+ until June 2003	12% I 40% IIA 38% IIB 10% IIIA 64% <3 cm 36% ≥3 cm 58% N1 26% N2 16% N3	56% ER+ 44% ER- 44% PR+ 56% PR-	RT after BCS HR+ : 20mg TAM or an Al for 5 y	<ul> <li>Trial to test non-inferiority for DFS, median follow-up 46.5 mo</li> <li>DFS: HR=0.81(95% CI 0.64-1.03), p=0.08 for T vs P (b or d) vs (a or c)</li> <li>DFS: HR=1.26 (95% CI 0.99-1.60), p=0.67 for (taxane, c or d) vs (AC-taxane, a or b)</li> <li>HER2+: DFS HR1.85 (1.11-3.07), p=0.017</li> <li>HER2-: 1.11 (95% CI 0.85-1.46), p=0.44</li> <li>Grade 3-4 adverse effects lowest in P arm</li> <li>Neutropenic fever more frequent with T than P</li> <li>AC improves DFS in subset with HER2+ but not HER2-</li> <li>Severe adverse effects greater with T than P</li> </ul>
Shiroiwa, 2011 (206)	N-SAS BC 02 2001–2003	See previous entry in table	299 QoL sub- study	N+, Stage I- IIIA, excluded ER+PR+	55% N1 27% N2 18% N3 56% <3 cm 44% ≥3 cm	25% HER2+ 44% HER2- 34% unknown 39% HR+ 61% HR-	Utility scores for health- related QoL, range 0-1 (1 is perfect health)	<ul> <li>Utility scores significantly lower with T alone (group d) than AC (groups a and b)</li> <li>AC-taxane had significantly higher utility score than taxane alone</li> <li>No difference between T (b or d) vs P (a or c)</li> </ul>
Shimozuma 2012 (207)	N-SAS BC02	See previous entry in table Study of chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy (CIPN) and health-related QoL (HRQoL) assessment in first 300 pts						Author conclusions inconsistent with data, wide variation at baseline and inconsistency between groups, measured at end of cycle 6 but not cycle 8 (last cycle) so cumulative effect unknown; tests appear not sensitive enough to distinguish group differences
Swain, 2012, 2013 (38,48)	NSABP B-38 2004-2007	dd AC $\rightarrow$ PG vs dd AC $\rightarrow$ P vs TAC AC $\rightarrow$ PG: A (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q2w×4 $\rightarrow$ P (175 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + G (2000 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q2w×4	4894	Operable, N+	65% N1	52% post- menopausal 80% HR+		<ul> <li>Median follow-up 64 mo, reported 5-y survival rates</li> <li>DFS: 80.6% AC → PG vs 82.2% AC → P (HR=1.1, p=0.27) and 80.1% TAC (HR=0.97, p=0.71)</li> <li>DFS: AC → P vs TAC, HR=0.89, p=0.14</li> <li>OS: 90.8% AC → PG vs 89.1% AC → P (HR=0.89, p=0.25) and 89.6% TAC (HR=0.90, p=0.32)</li> <li>OS: AC → P vs TAC, HR=1.01, p=0.92</li> </ul>

	Trial name,							
Author,	enrolment		<i>H</i> = 1 =	Inclusion	Chamin a	Other	Others	Devilte
year	period	Intervention $AC \rightarrow P: AC \text{ as above} \rightarrow P (175 \text{ mg/m}^2) \text{ q}2\text{w}\times4$ TAC: T (75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + A (50 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) \text{ q}3\text{w}\times6 Primary GCSF required; erythropoiesis-stimulating agents (ESA) used at investigator discretion	# pts	criteria	Staging	characteristics*	Other	Results• Adverse effects for TAC, AC→ P, AC→ PG respectively: febrile neutropenia (grade 3-4, $8\%$ , 2%, 2%, p<0.001); sensory neuropathy (grades 3-4, <1%, 7%, 6%, p<0.001), diarrhea (grade 3-4, Hgb <10 in 12%, 26%, 33% with ESA use in 35.2%, 46%, 51.6% and transfusions in 3.7%, 6.3%, 9.4%; death on treatment (N=13, 5, 7, p=0.2)• Conclude no significant differences in efficacy although adverse effects profiles differed
Pippen, 2011(133) O'Shaugh- nessy, 2010 (134) [abstracts]	US Oncology 1062 USON 01062 2002-2006	AC→T vs AC→TX AC→T: A (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4→T (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 AC→TX: AC as above→TX (T: 75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> day 1, X: 825 mg/m <sup>2</sup> bid, days 1-14) [ number of cycles not reported]	2611	Resectable, early, high risk (N+, T1-3; or N0, T2+; or N0, >1 cm, HR-)			Tamoxifen or Al for 5 y if HR+; After 2005, HER2+ offered 1 y trastuzumab	<ul> <li>Median follow-up of 5 y, 304 events</li> <li>DFS: HR=0.84 (95% CI 0.67-1.05), p=0.125 [endpoint not met]</li> <li>Distant DFS favoured TX group: HR=0.80 (95% CI 0.63-1.02), p=0.067</li> <li>OS: improvement with TX vs T: HR=0.68 (95% CI 0.51-0.92), p=0.011</li> <li>Subgroup analysis appeared to favour TX over T</li> <li>Unplanned subset analysis of Ki-67 expression and DFS suggests benefit of X in more highly proliferative tumours ( for Ki-67 &gt;10%, hazard ratio for TX vs T is HR=0.70 (95% CI 0.50-0.98) for DFS and HR=0.52 (95% CI 0.33-0.82) for OS</li> <li>Adverse events similar in both arms, except grade 3 hand-foot syndrome (3.8% T vs 18.1% TX), grade 3/4 stomatitis (4.5% vs 9.1%), diarrhea (2.9% vs 5.1%) and febrile neutropenia (13.1% vs 9.4%)</li> </ul>
O'Shaugh- nessy, 2012 (135) [abstract]	USON 01062	See previous entry in table				2195 ductal 355 lobular or mixed		Exploratory analysis by histology: •Ductal pts $\underline{AC} \rightarrow \underline{T}$ vs $\underline{AC} \rightarrow \underline{XT}$ : •No difference in DFS (HR=0.92, p=0.48) or OS (HR=0.75, p=0.07) •Lobular/mixed $\underline{AC} \rightarrow \underline{XT}$ vs $\underline{AC} \rightarrow \underline{T}$ •DFS, HR=0.55, p=0.055 •OS, HR=0.38, p=0.04
Moebus,		Intense dose-dense ECP vs	1284	High risk, N2+	58% N2	48%	Radiation of	Median follow-up 62 mo: 5-y survival rate
2010 (208)		conventional EC $\rightarrow$ P		(minimum 10 nodes	42% N3 30% pT1	premenopausal 72% ER+	the supra- clavicular,	results, dose-dense vs conventional • DFS: 70% dose-dense vs 62% conventional,
Moebus,		IDD: $E \rightarrow P \rightarrow C$ : E (150 mg/m <sup>2</sup> )		removed),	55% pT2	69% PR+	infraclavicular	HR=0.72 (95% CI 0.59-0.87), p<0.001

Author,	Trial name, enrolment			Inclusion		Other		
year	period	Intervention	# pts	criteria	Staging	characteristics*	Other	Results
2011 (209) [abstract]		q2w×3→ P (225 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q2w×3→ C (2500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q2w×3 EC→ P: E (90 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4→ P (175 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 Filgrastim received every dose- dense cycle but not conventional; dose-dense pts also randomized to receive epoetin alfa		Stage II-IIIA	14% pT3	25% HER2+, 58% HER2-, 18% unknown	and parasternal lymph nodes, as well as radiation of the breast for BCS or chest wall for mastectomy recommended in all pts. HR+: 5 y tamoxifen; then 5 y letrozole if post- menopausal	<ul> <li>OS: 82% vs 77%, HR=0.76 (95% CI 0.59-0.97), p=0.029</li> <li>Dose-dense therapy associated with significantly more non-hematological and hematological adverse effects</li> <li>Conclude dose-dense ECP less well tolerated but significantly improved survival</li> <li>Median follow-up 8 y, dose-dense vs conventional:</li> <li>8 pts vs 0 developed acute myeloid leukemia or myelodysplastic syndrome</li> <li>Relapse : 231 pts vs 285 pts, HR=0.71 (95% CI 0.59-0.84), p&lt;0.0001</li> <li>RFS: 62% vs 51%</li> <li>OS: 71% vs 65%, HR=0.76 (95% CI 0.62-0.93), p=0.0086</li> <li>Results independent of hormone receptor, menopausal, HER2 expression status, and</li> </ul>
Bermejo, 2013 (136)	GEICAM 2003-10 2004-2007	ET→X vs EC→T ET (90/75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> )q3w×4→X (1250 mg/m <sup>2</sup> bid d1-14) q3w×4 EC (90/600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> )q3w×4→T (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> )q3w×4	1384	T1-3/N1-3 operable	66% N1, 25% N2, 9% N3	Stratified by site, menopausal status, number of nodes (1-3, 4-9, 9+), hormone receptor status	HER2+ pts excluded after first 803 pts recruited; 84% HR+, 11% HER2+	number of positive nodes After median follow-up 6.6 y, survival rates at 5 y: • DFS: 82% EC $\rightarrow$ X vs 86% EC $\rightarrow$ T, HR=1.314 (1.042–1.657), p=0.0208 • OS not different: HR=1.113 (95% CI 0.809–1.531), p=0.511 EC $\rightarrow$ X vs EC $\rightarrow$ T : Neutropenia 10% vs 19%, hand-foot syndrome 20% vs 2%, diarrhea 11% vs 3%
Kelly, 2012 (210)	NCT000501 67 2002-2008	P→ FEC vs TX→ FEC P→ FEC: P (80 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q1w×12→ F (500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + E (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 TX→ FEC: X (1500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ; days 1-14) + T (75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4→ FEC as above • Further stratified by timing of chemotherapy (preoperative, N=110 per group vs adjuvant,	601	Operable. High risk eligible for adjuvant therapy; include pN2a and pN3a, exclude pN2b, cN2, cN3, T4 (except limited T4 lesions, e.g.,	12% Stage I 47% Stage IIA 26% Stage IIB 10% Stage IIIA 4% Stage IIIB- C	45% premenopausal 71% ER+ 54% PR+ 6% HER2+ 25% TN excluded HER2+ after 2005	71% received adjuvant endocrine therapy, 72% received adjuvant RT	<ul> <li>pCR: 19.8% TX vs 16.4% P, p=0.48</li> <li>Median follow-up 50 mo, was 64 RFS events</li> <li>RFS: 87.5% TX vs 90.7% P, p=0.51</li> <li>RFS, preoperative chemotherapy: 81.5% TX vs 85.5% P, p=0.65</li> <li>RFS, adjuvant chemotherapy: 90.9% TX vs 93.5% P, p=0.66</li> <li>OS: 92.2% XT vs 95% P, p=0.39</li> <li>Hematological and non-hematological adverse effects were significantly higher in the XT arm Conclude no difference in efficacy; XT associated with higher GI, skin, neutropenic-</li> </ul>

	Trial name,							
Author,	enrolment			Inclusion		Other		
year	period	Intervention	# pts	criteria	Staging	characteristics*	Other	Results
		<ul> <li>N=190 per group)</li> <li>Stopped accrual at annual safety/efficacy review when 35 RFS observed (median follow-up 40 mo) and it was highly unlikely to find a difference among treatments</li> </ul>		focal extension with negative margins). For preoperative portion must have clinically palpable disease in breast or axilla, exclude Stage I (T1N0).				related adverse effects
Hofmann, 2013 (211)	ADAPT HR+/HER2– Started 2012–	Neoadjuvant endocrine therapy (3 w; optional if N2/3 or RS $\geq$ 26) then randomize high-risk groups to Arm A or B chemotherapy (adjuvant or neoadjuvant), both with endocrine therapy as before Paclitaxel <sub>175</sub> q2w×4 $\rightarrow$ EC q2w×4 vs nab-paclitaxel <sub>125</sub> q1w×8 $\rightarrow$ EC q2w×4	4000 planned	HR+ HER2-		High risk=N2/3; or N0/1 with RS ≥26; or N0/1 with RS 12-25 and Ki-67 ≥10% post neoadjuvant endocrine therapy		Ongoing, started 2012
Hofmann, 2013 (211)	ADAPT Triple negative 2012 -	Neoadjuvant therapy (12 w): nab-paclitaxel + gemcitabine vs nab-paclitaxel + carboplatin	336 planned	Triple negative (HR- HER2-)				Ongoing, started 2012
Neoadjuvant								
Untch, 2011a (212)	PREPARE (prognosis) 2002–2005	Neoadjuvant EC→ P→ surgery (control) vs dd E→ dd P→ CMF→ surgery EC→ P→ surgery: E (90 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4→ P (175 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4→ surgery E→ P→ CMF→ surgery: E (150 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q2w×3→ P (225 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q2w×3→ C (500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + M (40 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + F (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) days 1&8 q4w×3→ surgery	714	T2+, included inflammatory	57% ypN0 43% ypN+ 68% <4 cm 32% ≥4 cm 8% T4 (including inflammatory)	68% HR+ 32% HR-		<ul> <li>Estimated at 3-y EC→ P compared with dd E→ dd P→ CMF</li> <li>DFS 76% vs 79%, HR=1.14, p=0.37</li> <li>OS 88% vs 92%, HR=1.26, p=0.237</li> <li>Estimated at 3 y, with vs without darbepoetin</li> <li>DFS 74% vs 80%, HR=1.31, p=0.061</li> <li>OS 88% vs 92%, HR=1.33, p=0.139</li> <li>Pts with pCR vs without pCR</li> <li>DFS: 89% vs 75%, HR=2.27, p=0.001</li> <li>Concluded neoadjuvant dose-intensified chemotherapy did not improve DFS, darbepoetin might have detrimental effect</li> </ul>

	Trial name,							
Author,	enrolment			Inclusion		Other		
year	period	Intervention	# pts	criteria	Staging	characteristics*	Other	Results
Untch, 2011b (213)	PREPARE (pCR)	Pts in both groups randomized to receive darbepoetin (DA) or none DA: 4.5 $\mu$ g/kg body weight q2w starting with first dose E until 14 d after last dose of P, + 200mg oral iron (Fe <sup>2+</sup> ) daily dd pts received pegfilgrastim (6 mg SC on day 2 of cycles 1–6 (E <sub>dd</sub> $\rightarrow$ P <sub>dd</sub> ); primary prophylactic use of pegfilgrastim during CMF or in the EC $\rightarrow$ T arm was not mandatory; filgrastim (5 $\mu$ g/kg body weight daily) administered in cases of leucopenia for $\geq$ 3d, fever>38.5 C or infection and then pegfilgrastim administered prophylactically in remaining cycles See previous entry in table (212)	733 714 treated	T2+, included inflammatory	50% cN0 38% cN+ 12% unknown 88% cT1-3 8% cT4 65% T <4 cm 30% T ≥4 cm	42% HR+ 20% HR- 38% missing 42% HER2, 0-1+ 39% HER2, 2+ 8% HER2, 3+ 10% missing	91% of pts had surgery after chemotherapy	<ul> <li>13.2% of control and 18.7% of dose-dense group had pCR (p=0.043)</li> <li>10% control,17.4% dose-dense group had cCR</li> <li>DA did not affect pCR, clinical response, or nodal response (p=0.972)</li> <li>In TN subgroup, pCR 44.6% with dose-dense vs 30.4% control (p=0.12)</li> <li>Both chemotherapy groups had had significant decrease in hemoglobin levels; no change in DA+ group</li> <li>DA+ group had more thromboembolic events (6% vs 3%, p=0.055)</li> <li>Hematological adverse effects generally mild, similar in all treatment groups</li> <li>Grade 3-4 sensory neuropathy, neurological complaints, mucositis/stomatitis/proctitis were significantly higher in dose-dense group</li> <li>Conclude: neoadjuvant dose-dense superior in terms of pCR, darbepoetin did not influence response</li> </ul>

Author, year	Trial name, enrolment period	Intervention	# pts	Inclusion criteria	Staging	Other characteristics*	Other	Results
Gianni, 2009 (195)	ECTO 1996-2002	Arm A: surgery $\rightarrow A \rightarrow CMF$ vs Arm B: surgery $\rightarrow AP \rightarrow CMF$ vs Arm C: $AP \rightarrow CMF \rightarrow surgery$ (neoadjuvant) Arm A: A (75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 $\rightarrow$ C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + M (40 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + F (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) days 1&8 q4w×4 Arm B & C: A (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + P (200 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 $\rightarrow$ C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + M (40 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + F (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) days 1&8 q4w×4	1355	T2-3, N0-1	54% N0 46% N1-2 80% ≤4 cm 20% >4 cm	68% HR+ 31% HR-	RT after BCS; tamoxifen offered to all pts at start, only HR+ pts after July 2000	After follow-up 76 mo, report 7-y survival rates: • Arm B vs Arm A • DFS: 76% vs 69%, HR=0.73 (95% CI 0.57-0.97), p=0.03 • OS: 85% vs 82%, HR=0.80 (95% CI 0.56-1.14), p=0.21 • Arm B vs Arm C • DFS: 76% vs 72%, HR=1.21 (95% CI 0.92-1.60), p=0.18 • OS: 85% vs 84%, HR=1.10 (95% CI 0.77-1.59), p=0.60 • BCS: 63% arm C vs 34% arm A/B, p<0.001 • Study not powered for OS
Zambetti, 2013 (196) [abstract]	ЕСТО	See previous entry in table	1335					<ul> <li>10 y results, arm B (AP→ CMF) vs arm A</li> <li>Freedom from progression (FFP): HR=0.77, p=0.045</li> <li>OS: HR=0.82, p=0.24 (no difference) Arm B vs Arm C (adjuvant vs neoadjuvant)</li> <li>Freedom from progression: HR=0.79, p=0.07 Primary chemotherapy (arm C) allowed BCS in a significant percentage of pts</li> </ul>
Kaufmann, 2010 (214) [abstract/ poster] Darb- Esfahani, 2009 (215)	GeparDuo NCT007933 77 1999–2001	Preoperative dose-intensified AT×4 vs preoperative AC×4 $\rightarrow$ T×4 AT: T (50 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + A (75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q2w×4 AC $\rightarrow$ T: A (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 $\rightarrow$ T (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 GCSF administered with AT	913	T2-3, N0-2, M0	0.8% T1 84% T2 15% T3 60% N0 40% N+	28% ER-PR- 72% ER+ and/or PR+	All received tamoxifen	<ul> <li>Preoperative AC→ T is superior for pCR 14.3% vs 7%, OR=2.22 (95% CI 1.41-3.49), p&lt;0.001</li> <li>Median follow-up 64.3 mo; 5-y DFS and OS reported</li> <li>DFS: AC→ T 65% vs AT 69%; HR=1.11 (95% CI 0.884-1.40), p=0.36</li> <li>OS: 84% in both arms</li> </ul>
Untch, 2009 (216)	AGO 1 1998-2002	Preoperative E+P vs intense dose- dense (IDD) E $\rightarrow$ P E+P: E (90 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + P (175 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 IDD: E $\rightarrow$ P: E (150 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q2w×3 $\rightarrow$ P (250 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q2w×3; all received filgrastim (5µg/kg) on days 3–10 of each cycle	668	High risk: 85% ≥3 cm; 15% inflammatory	34% N0 54% N+ 12% unknown 53% T2 29% T3 18% T4	68% HR+ 49% <50 y old	Tamoxifen (20 mg/d for 5 y) administered if HR+; RT for all BCS, PMRT where indicated	<ul> <li>IDD vs conventional, median follow-up 55 mo</li> <li>Improved pCR rate (18% vs 10%, p=0.008)</li> <li>DFS: HR=0.71 (95% CI 0.54-0.92), p=0.011</li> <li>OS: HR=0.83 (95% CI 0.69-0.99), p=0.041</li> <li>Inflammatory cancers <ul> <li>DFS: HR=1.10, p=0.739; OS: HR=1.25, p=0.544</li> </ul> </li> <li>Non-inflammatory cancers <ul> <li>DFS: HR=0.65 (95% CI 0.48-0.88), p=0.005</li> <li>OS HR=0.77 (95% CI 0.63-0.95), p=0.013</li> </ul> </li> </ul>

Author	Trial name, enrolment			Inclusion		Other		
Author, year	period	Intervention	# pts	criteria	Staging	characteristics*	Other	Results
year		All received 3 cycles of CMF after surgery; C (500 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + M (40 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + F (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) on days 1&8 q4w after surgery.	<i>" pu</i>	entent	Staging			IDD associated with significantly more non- hematological adverse effects, anemia, and thrombocytopenia, but similar neutropenia and infection rates
Rastogi, 2008 (28)	NSABP B-27 1995-2000	Preoperative AC $\rightarrow$ surgery vs preoperative AC $\rightarrow$ T $\rightarrow$ surgery vs preoperative AC $\rightarrow$ T $\rightarrow$ surgery $\rightarrow$ T AC $\rightarrow$ surgery: A (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 $\rightarrow$ surgery AC $\rightarrow$ T $\rightarrow$ surgery: A (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 $\rightarrow$ T (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 $\rightarrow$ surgery AC $\rightarrow$ surgery $\rightarrow$ T: A (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w×4 $\rightarrow$ surgery $\rightarrow$ T (100 mg/m <sup>2</sup> )×4	2344	T1c-3, N0-1; or T1-3, N1	70% N0 30% N+ 14% T1 58% T2 28% T3		RT after BCS, PMRT not allowed All groups:→ Tamoxifen (20mg/day) for 5 y initiated on first day of chemotherapy	<ul> <li>After median follow-up 8.5 y, no statistically significant differences in DFS or OS</li> <li>DFS: group 2 vs 1: HR=0.92 (95% CI 0.78-1.08), p=0.29</li> <li>DFS: group 3 vs 1: HR=0.92 (95% CI 0.78-1.08), p=0.29</li> <li>OS: p=0.76 across all 3 arms</li> <li>Addition of T did not significantly impact DFS (HR=0.93, 0.92, p=0.29) or OS (HR=0.93 and 0.97, p=0.46 and 0.76)</li> <li>Preoperative AC→ T significantly increased clinical response (91% vs 86%, p&lt;0.001), cCR (63% vs 40%, p&lt;0.001), and pCR (26% vs 13%, p&gt;0.001)compared to preoperative AC</li> <li>Pts with pCR had significantly superior DFS and OS (8-y follow-up)</li> <li>DFS: HR=0.49, p&lt;0.001, OS: HR=0.36, p&lt;0.001</li> </ul>
Mansi, 2010(201) Evans,	Anglo- Celtic (ACCOG)	Neoadjuvant AC vs AT AC: A (60 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + C (600 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) q3w (6 cycles maximum) AT: A (50 mg/m <sup>2</sup> ) + T (75 mg/m <sup>2</sup> )	363	Large tumours (≥3cm), inflammatory, or LABC	Before chemotherapy : 77% operable			pCR: 24% AC vs 21% A, p=0.61 cCR: 17% AC vs 20% AT, p=0.42 overall clinical response: 61% AC vs 70% AT, p=0.06
2005(217)	1999-2002	q3w (6 cycles maximum) 6% did not receive surgery after neoadjuvant chemotherapy		considered candidates for primary chemotherapy	15% inflammatory 8% LABC Median 6 cm			5-y survival rates • DFS: 54% AC vs 59% AT, p=0.20 • OS: 67% AC vs 72% AT, p=0.24
Lee, 2008 (156)	2002-2005	Neoadjuvant TX→ surgery→ AC vs Neoadjuvant AC→ surgery→ TX	204	N+, Stage II/III	Stage II/III 77% T1-2, 23% T3-4 69% N1, 31% N2-3	61% HR+ 34% HER2+ 47% HER2- 18% unknown	All received RT; tamoxifen or anastrozole if HR+	At median follow-up of 37 mo, no significant difference in DFS by treatment groups (p=0.932). Compared with AC, TX increased pCR in primary tumours (21% vs 10%, p=0.024) and clinical response (84% vs 65%, p=0.003). Fewer pts developed recurrence who achieved pCR in lymph node (LN); HR=0.189 (95% CI 0.044-0.815), p=0.025 in the multivariate analysis. TX was associated with less nausea and

Author, year	Trial name, enrolment period	Intervention	# pts	Inclusion criteria	Staging	Other characteristics*	Other	Results
year	period		# pts	Chiena	Staging		Other	vomiting, but more stomatitis, diarrhea, myalgia, and skin/nail changes than AC
Earl, 2014 (142)	Neo-tAnGo	Neoadjuvant: $EC \rightarrow P \text{ vs } P \rightarrow EC \text{ vs } EC \rightarrow GP \text{ vs } GP \rightarrow EC$ Effect of gemcitabine and role of sequence ( $EC \rightarrow P \text{ vs } P \rightarrow EC$ ) stratified by ER status, tumour size (50 mm cut-off), nodal status (N0/N+), inflammatory/locally advanced (yes/no)	831	Early invasive, >2 cm; no previous chemo, RT, endocrine therapy T4 eligible	80% T2, 20% T3 50% N+	67% ER+ 51% PR+ 25% inflammatory or LABC; 57% premenopausal , 6% peri- menopausal		Median follow-up 47 mo; first planned interim analysis found no significant difference in DFS or OS • DFS : EC $\rightarrow$ P vs EC $\rightarrow$ PG HR=1.13 (95% CI 0.88–1.46), p=0.34; P $\rightarrow$ EC vs EC $\rightarrow$ P HR=0.84 (95% CI 0.65–1.09), p=0.18 • OS: EC $\rightarrow$ P vs EC $\rightarrow$ PG HR=1.02 (95% CI 0.76–1.39), p=0.89; P $\rightarrow$ EC vs EC $\rightarrow$ P HR=0.82 (95% CI 0.60–1.11), p=0.19 • pCR greater with P $\rightarrow$ EC than EC $\rightarrow$ P (20% vs 15%, p=0.03); G did not increase pCR • pCR was correlated with significant improvement in DFS (p<0.001) and OS (p=0.0007)
Von Minckwitz, 2008, 2013 (218-221)	GeparTrio 2002-2005	TAC vs NX if poor response to TAC 2 cycles TAC then evaluated response; early responders randomized to 4 (N=704) or 6 (N=686) additional cycles TAC If no sonographic response (reduction in product of 2 largest perpendicular diameters was <50%) then randomized to 4 additional cycles TAC (N=321) or vinorelbine + capecitabine (NX; N=301); excluded those with disease progression	2012	Tumour ≥2 cm; at least one risk factor of age <36 y, <5 cm, ER-PR-, N+, undifferent- iated grade	61% T2, 19% T3, 12% T4a- c, 5% T4d; median 40 mm by palpation and 29 mm by sonography; 42% N0	LABC, inflammatory, N3 including or supraclav- icular nodes were assigned within a separate stratum		<ul> <li>Median follow-up 62 mo</li> <li>Early responders: DFS better for TAC×8 than TAC×6 (HR=0.78, 95% CI 0.62-0.97,p=0.026)</li> <li>Early non-responders: DFS better for TAC→NX than TAC×6 (HR=0.59, 95% CI 0.49-0.82, p=0.001);</li> <li>DFS for non-responders administered TAC→NX similar to early responders administered TAC→NX better than TAC×6 for DFS overall (HR=0.71, p&lt;0.003) and for subgroups HR+ (luminal A, luminal B) but not HR- or TN pCR predicted improved DFS in TN, HER2+ (nonluminal) and luminal B (Her2-)</li> <li>Adverse effects: NX had more hand-foot syndrome and sensory neuropathy but less hematological adverse effects, mucositis, infections, and nail changes</li> <li>Post-treatment (after 2 cycles TAC) Ki-67 levels gave prognostic information for pts with HR+ cancer with residual disease after neoadjuvant chemotherapy (high Ki-67 had higher risk for relapse or death, p&lt;0.0001)</li> </ul>

Author, year	Trial name, enrolment period	Intervention	# pts	Inclusion criteria	Staging	Other characteristics*	Other	Results
Hofmann, 2013 (211)	ADAPT HR+/HER2- ; ADAPT Triple negative 2012 -	See previously in this table (second- generation studies)						Ongoing, started 2012

Abbreviations: A, doxorubicin (Adriamycin); AC, doxorubicin + cyclophosphamide; ALND, axillary lymph node dissection; AT, doxorubicin + docetaxel; BCS, breastconserving surgery; BCT, breast conserving therapy (BCS +RT); cCR, clinically complete response; CEF, cyclophosphamide + epirubicin + fluorouracil; CEX, cyclophosphamide + epirubicin + capecitabine; C, cyclophosphamide; CMF, cyclophosphamide + methotrexate + fluorouracil; dd, dose-dense; DDFS, distant disease-free survival rate; DFS, disease-free survival rate; E, epirubicin; EC, epirubicin + cyclophosphamide; EFS, event-free survival rate; EGFR, epidermal growth-factor receptor; ER, estrogen receptor; ET, epirubicin + docetaxel; F, 5-fluorouracil; FAC, fluorouracil + doxorubicin + cyclophosphamide; FEC, fluorouracil + epirubicin + cyclophosphamide; G, gemcitabine; HER2, human epidermal growth factor receptor 2; HR, hazard ratio; HR+, Hormone receptor positive; HR-, hormone receptor negative; HRQoL, health-related quality of life; IDD, intensive dose-dense; IDFS, invasive disease-free survival rate; IHC, immunohistochemistry; LRR, locoregional recurrence; LVI, lymphovascular invasion; N0, no positive nodes; N+, positive nodes found; N1, 1–3 positive nodes; N2, 4–9 positive nodes; N3, 10+ positive nodes; nabpaclitaxel, nanoparticle albumin-bound-paclitaxel; NX, vinorelbine + capecitabine; OS, overall-survival rate; P, paclitaxel; pCR, pathologically complete response; PMRT, postmastectomy radiation therapy; PR, progesterone receptor; pts, patients; QoL, quality of life; RFS, recurrence-free survival rate; RR, relative risk; RT, radiation therapy; T, docetaxel (Taxotere); TAC, docetaxel + doxorubicin + cyclophosphamide; TN, triple negative (PR-,ER-, and HER2-); TOI, trial outcome index; TTR, time to recurrence; TX, docetaxel + capecitabine; X, capecitabine

#### \*HER2, ER/PR, lymph node, risk, menopausal status

Intrinsic subtypes: luminal A=(ER+ and/or PR+) and not (HER2+ or Ki-67<sup>high</sup>); luminal B=(ER+ and/or PR+) and either (HER2+ and/or Ki-67<sup>high</sup>); HER2=HER2+ and ER-; triple negative (TN)=PR- and ER- and HER2-; basal=TN and either (EGFR+ or cytokeratins 5/6+)

### 4.2.3 Other Systemic Therapy Agents

#### a) Bevacizumab

The BEATRICE trial (227) studied the use of bevacizumab in patients with triplenegative operable breast cancer (95% hormone-receptor negative [HR-] and 5% hormone receptor low). Tumours were 36% T1, 59% T2, and 6% T3; 63% of patients were node negative, 25% N1, and 12% N2+. Patients were recruited between 2007 and 2010 and 2591 patients were randomized to receive chemotherapy alone or chemotherapy + bevacizumab (5 mg/kg weekly for 1 year). Chemotherapy was 36% anthracycline, 58% anthracycline-taxane, and 5% taxane. At median follow-up of 32 months, invasive disease-free survival (IDFS) events were reported in 14% of the bevacizumab group and 16% of the chemotherapy group (HR=0.88, 95% CI 0.72-1.07, p=0.18). Because survival rates were higher than expected in both groups, sample size and/or follow-up was not long enough for statistically significant results. Preliminary analysis after 200 deaths and median follow-up of 2.6 years found no difference in OS rates (HR=0.84, 95% CI 0.64-1.12, p=0.23), although prespecified analysis was to occur after 340 deaths or median follow-up of 5 years (whichever occurred first). Patients receiving bevacizumab had increased incidences of grade 3+ hypertension (12% vs 1%), severe cardiac events (1.5% vs 0.3%), and treatment discontinuation (20% vs 2%). Data suggests bevacizumab may have greater IDFS benefit in some subgroups, such as patients with node-negative cancer and those who did not receive anthracycline-taxane. It was concluded that bevacizumab cannot be currently recommended in unselected patients with triplenegative cancer. Longer follow-up is required.

The ARTemis trial (228,229) gave patients with early-stage HER2– breast cancer neoadjuvant docetaxel $\rightarrow$ FEC (T-FEC) chemotherapy with or without four cycles of bevacizumab. Patients were stratified by age (68% aged <50 years), ER status (33% ER-, 9% weakly ER+, 59% strongly ER+), tumour size (79% T2, T3-4), nodal involvement (52% node-positive, N+), and inflammatory/LABC (19% of patients). For the primary endpoint of pCR, bevacizumab + T $\rightarrow$ FEC was significantly better than T $\rightarrow$ FEC alone (pCR 22% vs 17%, p=0.03). pCR was higher in subgroups that were ER- (44% bevacizumab, 32% no bevacizumab) or weakly ER+ (52% bevacizumab, 26% no bevacizumab); there was low pCR in patients with strongly ER+ cancer (6% and 7% with or without bevacizumab). Accrual was from 2009 to 2013 and survival rate outcomes have not yet been reported.

#### b) Metformin

NCIC Trial MA.32 (230) is a study on metformin vs placebo for five years after standard adjuvant therapy in early-stage breast cancer (pT1cN0 and at least one of the following factors: grade 3, estrogen receptor (ER) and progesterone receptor (PR) negative, HER2+, lymphovascular invasion (LVI), Oncotype DX recurrence score (RS) >25, Ki-67 >14, pT2-3N0, pT1-3N1-3). Accrual closed in 2013 with 3649 patients and follow-up is ongoing (http://www.bcrfcure.org/researchers/pamela-j-goodwin)

#### c) Bisphosphonates

Several trials were located that were not included (or with insufficient follow-up) in the previous PEBC guideline (106). Several trials and meta-analyses were still ongoing at the time of the initial literature search for the current guideline. Of major importance is the pending

individual patient meta-analysis by the EBCTCG which has been presented as an abstract (231). Appendix D includes and a summary of other guidelines, meta-analysis, and systematic reviews (106,231-237) and a list of trials located during the literature search (238-268). Three trials included in other publications (269-273) did not meet our inclusion criteria. It was decided that bisphosphonates as a class of chemotherapy agents would not be included in the guideline, but would be the subject of a subsequent guideline.

### d) Goserelin in Hormone Receptor-Negative Patients

The Prevention of Early Menopause Study (POEMS; SWOG S0230) (274,275) randomized patients with Stage I-IIIA HR- premenopausal breast cancer to standard cyclophosphamidecontaining chemotherapy (mostly AC, many combined with taxane) with or without goserelin (3.6 mg monthly injections starting 1 week before the first chemotherapy). The primary endpoint was premature ovarian failure (POF) at two years, defined as amenorrhea for the prior six months and postmenopausal follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), with secondary endpoints of survival rates and pregnancy. POF was 8% (goserelin arm) vs 22% (OR=0.30, p=0.03; adjusted logistic regression OR=0.36, p=0.08). Using a broader definition of POF as amenorrhea or elevated FSH, POF was 20% vs 45% (OR=0.29, p=0.006). There were 22 vs 13 pregnancies in the 5-year study period (21% vs 11%, OR=2.22, p=0.05), although among those trying to get pregnant the rates were 22/25 (88%) vs 12/18 (67%) (276). DFS and OS rates at four years were better in the goserelin arm (HR=0.49, p=0.04 and HR=0.43, p=0.05, respectively). The study authors considered the survival rate data to be exploratory. The study is limited as it closed early, had low enrolment (N=257), collected incomplete data (only 218 patients evaluable of which 62% had complete POF data), and has only been published as an abstract.

#### e) Vaccines

The literature search found studies evaluating the ability of the AE37 and E75 HER2 peptide vaccines to prevent disease recurrence in patients with node positive and high-risk node-negative breast cancer. The AE37 vaccine was evaluated in a randomized phase II trial involving 298 patients with any level of HER2 expression (IHC1-3+) (277). After standard care therapy, disease-free patients with either N+ or high-risk node negative (N0) cancer were randomized to AE37 + granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) or GM-CSF alone. Treatment was six monthly intradermal inoculations plus four boosters every six months. The relative reduction in recurrence (RRR) was 12% overall (HR=0.89, p=0.70), 40% in patients with HER2 non-overexpressing cancer (IHC 1/2+; HR=0.60, p=0.21), and 60% patients with triple-negative cancer (HR=0.40, p=0.12). The study concluded a phase III trial is justified.

The E75 vaccine was evaluated in phase I/II dose-escalation/schedule-optimization trials in patients with any degree of HER2 (IHC 1–3+) (278,279). Vaccine was administered in 4–6 monthly intradermal inoculations plus voluntary booster every six months to 108 patients and compared with 79 controls. Five-year DFS rates were 89.7% vs 80.3% (p=0.08). Due to the trial design some patients received a less-than-optimal vaccine dose. In optimally-dosed patients, DFS was 94.6% (p=0.05 vs control) compared with 87.1% in suboptimally-dosed patients. Among 21 patients who received a booster there was one recurrence (DFS=95.2%). Based on this data, a phase III trial evaluating E75 (NeuVax) started enrolment in 2011 (PRESENT: Prevention of Recurrence in Early-Stage, Node-Positive Breast Cancer with Low to

Intermediate HER2 Expressions with NeuVax<sup>™</sup> Treatment; NCT01479244, see <u>http://www.clinicaltrials.gov/show/NCT01479244</u>).

### 4.3 HORMONAL THERAPY FOR HORMONE RECEPTOR-POSITIVE TUMOURS

The therapeutic manipulation of both endogenous estrogen levels and the interaction of estrogen with its receptor is a cornerstone of adjuvant therapy in female patients with hormone receptor positive breast cancer (HR+ = ER+ and/or PR+). In premenopausal patients the ovaries are the main source of hormone production; therefore, surgical removal, permanent inactivation by ovarian irradiation, or temporary ovarian suppression by administration of LHRH agonists (also called gonadotropin-releasing hormone [GnRH] agonists) have been used in treatment. Tamoxifen is a selective estrogen receptor modulator (SERM) that blocks the effect of estrogen in HR+ cancers. It has been found effective in both pre and postmenopausal patients. Als prevent the action of aromatase in the synthesis of estrogen but are not effective in inhibiting the high levels of estrogen produced in the ovaries before menopause. After menopause the ovaries are no longer a significant source of estrogen production and Als are then able to inhibit the lower level of estrogen production in other body tissues such as fat and muscle. Anastrozole and letrozole inactivate aromatase temporarily, whereas exemestane has permanent (irreversible) effect.

Menopausal status is an important factor in deciding on treatment. Some of the issues in determining menopausal status and appropriate treatment are discussed in the Danish guideline "Menopausal Status and Adjuvant Hormonal Therapy for Breast Cancer" (280).

There is evidence of benefit for ovarian ablation and/or suppression (OA/S) or tamoxifen in patients with HR+ cancer, as well as Als in postmenopausal patients. There is less agreement in the value of using combinations of endocrine agents or endocrine agents with chemotherapy. Although OA/S should make premenopausal patients similar to postmenopausal patients, the use of Als in those with induced menopause has been proposed but is not standard practice. The recent SOFT and TEXT trials (63,64,281-283) (see Section 4.3.3) investigated OA/S + Als in premenopausal patients.

The accurate assessment of hormone receptor status is critical for the use of adjuvant hormonal therapy in breast cancer. This topic is discussed in Section 4.3.6.

#### 4.3.1 Tamoxifen

The recent EBCTCG meta-analysis (5) is complete for studies comparing tamoxifen vs no tamoxifen and, therefore, is the basis for most of this evaluation. Duration of tamoxifen >5 years and delayed administration of tamoxifen are reported separately as additional or more recent data have been published.

# a) Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group

The 2011 EBCTCG meta-analysis (5) included all trials worldwide on early breast cancer (excluding DCIS) that compared adjuvant tamoxifen vs no tamoxifen (unconfounded trials in which only the use of tamoxifen differed). The data for one to two years of adjuvant tamoxifen (N=33,000) was essentially unchanged since the previous report in 2005 (112). The 2011 report combined data for patients receiving tamoxifen for longer than two years. Most studies used 5 years tamoxifen, except for four trials at 3 years, one trial at 2 years then randomizing to either 3 more years of tamoxifen or stopping at 2 years, and two trials for 5

years then randomizing to stop or continue to 10 years. Ten-year recurrence rates are summarized in Table 4 (5) and corresponding survival rates are summarized in Table 5 (5).

Tamoxifen did not improve recurrence or survival rates in patients with ER poor (ER–) cancer. This is consistent with the EBCTCG 2008 analysis "Adjuvant chemotherapy in oestrogen-receptor-poor breast cancer" (118), which concluded that tamoxifen had little effect on recurrence or death rates in female patients classified as ER-poor, and it did not significantly modify effects of polychemotherapy. Overall mortality rates were substantially reduced in patients with ER+ cancer (5). ER positivity at the level of  $\geq 10$  fmol/mg was enough to give a positive tamoxifen effect. Given the ER status, PR status was not significantly predictive of response. Chemotherapy and nodal status affected absolute risk but not the benefit from tamoxifen. Substantial and highly significant recurrence rate reduction and survival rate benefit were found in all subgroups: age (including those aged <45 years and presumed premenopausal), tumour grade and size, chemotherapy use and sequence with tamoxifen, and nodal status. Tumour differentiation and size (diameter) had no effect.

ER status was the only factor predictive of proportional reduction. The absolute risk reduction from tamoxifen depended on the absolute breast cancer risk. For patients with ER+ cancer there was more effect on ten-year breast cancer mortality rates with five years of tamoxifen compared with one or two years of tamoxifen. For patients with ER+ cancer who received five years of tamoxifen, 15-year recurrence rates were 33% vs 46.2% without tamoxifen, and breast cancer mortality rates were 23.9% vs 33.1%; thus, the benefit of tamoxifen persists after its use is discontinued.

Table 4. 10-year recurre	nce rates according to duration of tamoxifen, hormor	ne receptor
status and nodal status		

Data from EBCTCG, 2011 (5)

Hormone receptor status, nodal	Number of	10-year recurrence rate
status, and duration of tamoxifen	women	(tamoxifen vs none)
ER+, 1 y	3,482	44.5% vs 52.5%, p<0.00001
ER+, 2 y	10,999	36.2% vs 45%, p<0.00001
ER+, 5 y	10,645	25.9% vs 40.1%, p<0.00001
ER+PR+, 5 y	7,378	24.8% vs 37.7%, RR=0.63, p<0.00001
ER+PR poor, 5 y	2,310	28.6% vs 43.5%, RR=0.60, p<0.00001
ER poor, PR+	1,236	30.9% vs 32.5%, RR=0.90, p=0.35
ER poor, PR poor	4,748	29.0% vs 27.4%, RR=1.03, p=0.60
N0 ER+, 5 y, no chemotherapy	4,288	19.1% vs 34.8%, RR=0.57, p<0.00001
N+ ER+, 5 y, no chemotherapy	919	41.5% vs 57%, RR=0.63, p<0.00001
N0 ER+, 5 y, with chemotherapy	1,662	18.0% vs 24.6%, RR=0.74, p=0.005
N+ ER+, 5 y, with chemotherapy	3,772	36.1% vs 48.1%, RR=0.66, p<0.00001

Abbreviations: ER, estrogen receptor; PR, progesterone receptor; N0, node negative, N+, node positive.

# Table 5. 10-year risk of death ( $\pm$ recurrence) according to duration of tamoxifen use and ER status

Data from EBCTCG, 2011 (5)

Duration of tamoxifen use and ER status	Number of women	Any death, RR*	Death with recurrence, RR*	Women- years	Death without recurrence, RR* (% deaths/ woman- years)
1 y, ER+	3,482	54.6% vs 59.6%, RR=0.89, p=0.01	41.1% vs 48%, RR=0.84, p=0.001	29,241	1.6%/y vs 1.4%/y RR=1.09, p>0.1 (NS)
2 y, ER+	10,999	34.3% vs 38.1%, RR=0.83, p<0.00001	24.4% vs 29.5%, RR=0.80, p<0.00001	79,204	1.3%/y vs 1.3%/y RR=0.93, p>0.1 (NS)
≈ 5 y, ER+	10,645	33.4% vs 38.2%, RR=0.78, p<0.00001	21.7% vs 29.0%, RR=0.70, p<0.00001	105,966	1.1%/y vs 1.0%/y, RR=1.02, p>0.1 (NS)
1 y, ER poor	1,655	46.5% vs 49.9%, RR=0.83, p=0.02	40.7% vs 41.7%, RR=0.89, p>0.1 (NS)	12,738	0.7%/y vs 1.1%/y, RR=0.54, p=0.004
2 y, ER poor	6,448	36.4% vs 37.4%, RR=0.92, p=0.07	29.2% vs 30.5%, RR=0.94, p>0.1 (NS)	44,496	1.0%/y vs 1.0%/y, RR=0.85, p>0.1 (NS)
≈ 5 y, ER poor	6,880	25.7% vs 26.3%, RR=0.97, p>0.1 (NS)	20.9% vs 21.6%, RR=0.94, p>0.1 (NS)	53,889	0.6%/y vs 0.6%/y, RR=1.12, p>0.1 (NS)

Abbreviations: ER, estrogen receptor; NS, not significant

\*RR=relative risk of death, tamoxifen use compared with control (no tamoxifen)

The earlier 2005 analysis (112) indicated that for ER+ disease only, five years tamoxifen reduced the annual breast cancer death rate by 31%, irrespective of use of chemotherapy, age, PR status, or other tumour characteristics. The 2011 update (5) found that tamoxifen reduced recurrence rates in patients with ER+ cancer by one-half in years 0–4 and by one-third in years 5–9. There was little effect after year 10. Over all time periods, the recurrence rate reduction averaged 39% (RR=0.61, p<0.00001 for any recurrence). Tamoxifen adverse effects were increased risk of uterine cancer (age >45 years) and increased risk of thromboembolic disease for those aged  $\geq$ 55 years. There were 182 cases of uterine cancer (excluding cervical cancer) and 19 deaths, of which 137 cases and 18 deaths were in tamoxifen users vs 45 cases and 1 death in the controls. All deaths occurred in those aged >45 years; RR=2.5 for cases and 5.46 for deaths. Effects were small compared with the benefit on breast cancer or survival rates. The relative risk of death due to pulmonary embolus was 1.74 (2 vs 1 deaths aged <55 years, 14 vs 6 deaths aged  $\geq$ 55 years).

#### b) Duration of Tamoxifen >5 years

The ATLAS (55) and aTTom (56,284) trials randomized 12,894 and 6,953 female patients with approximately five years of tamoxifen to another five years or stopping and found benefit of extended tamoxifen. These results contrast those from earlier smaller studies (NSABP B-14 and Scottish trials) which found no benefit of extending tamoxifen for more than five years (285-288).

The ATLAS trial (55) included 12,894 female patients and found that extending tamoxifen duration in ER+ female patients to 10 years further reduced the risk of breast cancer recurrence (617 vs 711 cases, -2.80% difference, p=0.002), breast cancer mortality (331 vs 397 deaths, p=0.01), and overall mortality (639 vs 722 deaths, -2.48% difference, p=0.01). The benefit for preventing recurrence was similar for the subgroups by menopausal status at study entry (premenopausal: HR=0.81, p=0.15; postmenopausal: HR=0.85, p=0.05), although premenopausal patients were only approximately 9% of the study and statistical significance was not reached likely because of the much smaller number of events in this group.

For all ER groups combined (ER+, ER-, or unknown) there was an increased incidence of pulmonary embolus (41 vs 21 cases, difference of 0.31%, RR=1.87, p=0.01), and endometrial cancer (116 vs 63, difference of 0.82%, RR=1.74, p=0.0002), although these did not result in a significant difference in mortality (10 vs 8 deaths, p=0.69 and 17 vs 11, p=0.29). There was an decrease in ischemic heart disease (127 vs 163 cases, -0.56% difference, p=0.02,) and lower rate of death due to heart attack or other vascular causes (excluding stroke or pulmonary embolism; 178 vs 205 deaths, difference -0.43%, p=0.10).

The aTTOM trial (published only as abstracts) (56,284) included 2755 ER+ and 4198 ER untested (estimated 80% ER+) also found that extending tamoxifen to 10 years compared with 5 years reduced recurrence rates (580 vs 672 events, p=0.003), breast cancer mortality rates (392 vs 443 deaths, p=0.05), and overall mortality rates (849 vs 910 deaths, p=0.1) with little effect on non-breast cancer mortality rates (457 vs 467 deaths, RR=0.94, 95% CI 0.82–1.07). There was an increase in endometrial cancer occurrence (102 vs 45 cases, RR=2.2, p<0.0001) and death (37 vs 20 deaths, 1.1% vs 0.6%, p=0.02). Combined results with the ATLAS trial gave enhanced statistical significance for extended tamoxifen benefit for recurrence (p<0.0001), breast cancer mortality (p=0.002), and OS (p=0.005).

The revised ASCO guideline (May 2014) on adjuvant endocrine therapy (289) recommends that tamoxifen be used for up to ten years. Als for up to five years may be used instead of or subsequent to tamoxifen (two to five years) in postmenopausal patients (see 4.3.2 for more details). The Committee on Gynecologic Practice of the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists report on Tamoxifen and Uterine Cancer (290) also indicated tamoxifen use may be extended to ten years. Patients should be informed of risk of endometrial proliferation, endometrial hyperplasia, endometrial cancer, and uterine sarcomas; should report any abnormal vaginal symptoms; and postmenopausal patients should be monitored.

#### c) Delayed Adjuvant Tamoxifen

The TAM-02 trial (57) randomized patients treated with surgery, radiotherapy, and/or adjuvant chemotherapy but no hormone therapy at least two years earlier (mean 59 months) to tamoxifen for five years or no treatment. The ten-year results indicated that tamoxifen significantly improved OS and DFS rates in N+ and in HR+ (ER+ and/or PR+) tumours. Patients

with delay longer than five years had significantly improved DFS rates. An Italian study (58) randomized patients with at least two years delay after surgery (median 25 months) to receive either two years tamoxifen or follow-up alone. At median follow-up of 89 months, five-year results reported less contralateral breast cancer (4 vs 10 cases, p=0.11), and ER+ secondary breast cancers in the tamoxifen group (1 vs 10, p=0.005) but similar overall locoregional and distant relapses or metastasis and more ER- contralateral breast cancer. Approximately one-third of the patients were ER+, one-third were ER-, and one-third had unknown ER status. No significant differences were reported between these subgroups. The small size and the variability of the data limit the usefulness of this study. Although not definitive, these studies together with MA.17 (291-299) suggest that hormonal treatment may be beneficial for some patients even after a delay of several years.

# d) Tamoxifen plus Octreotide

The NCIC CTG MA.14 trial (300) and the NSABP B-29 trial (NCT00002967; see https://clinicaltrials.gov/show/NCT00002967) studied whether there was a benefit to adding octreotide (SMS 201–995 PA LAR) to tamoxifen. A full publication of NSABP B29 results was not found, although Pritchard et al (300) indicated the trial was closed in 1999 because of excess gallbladder adverse effects. MA.14 included postmenopausal patients post-surgery, and randomized to five years tamoxifen + octreotide or tamoxifen alone. Assignment was stratified by adjuvant chemotherapy, nodal status, and ER/PR status. Because of symptomatic gallbladder disease and surgery, MA.14 was amended to reduce duration of octreotide to two years. At median follow-up of 7.9 years results were reported for event-free survival (EFS; HR=0.93, p=0.62), RFS (HR=0.84, p=0.31), and OS (HR=0.97, p=0.86). Cholecystectomy was required in 23% of patients receiving octreotide vs 1.4% without (p<0.001).

NSABP B-29 included only patients with node negative/HR+ cancer, whereas in the MA.14 trial 53% of patients had node negative cancer and 91% had HR+ cancer. These two trials were similar in design and a combined analysis was presented as an abstract (301). At a median 9.8 years for MA.14 (667 patients) and 6.8 years for B-29 (893 patients) DFS rates were 76% vs 80% for MA.14 (p=0.50) and 88% (both arms) for B-29 (p=0.59). Multivariate pooled HR was 0.98 (95% CI 0.81–1.20, p=0.84). It was concluded that octreotide does not significantly improve DFS rate.

# e) Tamoxifen plus Radiotherapy

The British Association of Surgical Oncology (BASO) II trial (302) compared radiation therapy (RT), tamoxifen for five years, RT+ tamoxifen, or no adjuvant treatment after surgery in female patients with N0 tumours  $\leq 2$  cm without LVI. Tamoxifen and RT both reduced local recurrence rates compared to controls without either. The ten-year local recurrence-free rates were 93% tamoxifen (HR=0.35, p<0.001) and 93% radiotherapy (HR=0.36, p=0.001) compared with 83% with neither treatment. In comparison, there was only 2% recurrence in the group receiving RT + tamoxifen, which was significantly lower compared with either RT alone p=0.01 or tamoxifen alone p=0.006.

#### 4.3.2 Aromatase Inhibitors

#### a) Aromatase Inhibitors vs Tamoxifen

At the time of the EBCTCG meta-analyses on AI vs tamoxifen (67), there was insufficient follow-up to evaluate long-term effects in most of the trials. This section summarizes the EBCTCG meta-analysis, 4 recent systematic review/guidelines, and 68 publications of 23 trials from the literature search (including studies updated or published since the EBCTCG meta-analysis). Results from the EBCTCG meta-analyses are provided in Table 6 and Table 7 (67,303), and the results of the literature search are provided in Table 8 (63,64,68,268,281-283,291-299,304-352). An update of the EBCTCG meta-analysis was presented at the ASCO 2014 annual meeting (303) and included 36,889 postmenopausal patients, compared to 18,871 in the 2010 publication (67). It may include some of the more recent studies summarized in Table 8, but is still limited to postmenopausal patients and a total of five years of endocrine therapy. Only an abstract has been published. Note that most of the studies in Table 8 were included in the PEBC #1–18 and ASCO guidelines (discussed subsequently) but the studies from the literature search provide more full publications (instead of abstracts) and longer-term follow-up.

The main types of studies conducted have been:

- Al vs tamoxifen as monotherapy
- Randomization at the start to two to three years of tamoxifen followed by a planned switch to an AI for a total of five years treatment vs tamoxifen for a total of five years
- Tamoxifen first for two to three years, followed by randomization of those patients without recurrence to either AI or tamoxifen for five years total treatment
- Five years of tamoxifen followed by randomization to AI or no further treatment
- Five years of AI vs tamoxifen (2-3 years) then AI for a total of five years
- Al + ovarian suppression vs tamoxifen in premenopausal patients (see Table 8 and Subsection 4.3.3)

#### **Clinical Practice Guidelines**

The PEBC/CCO Evidence-Based Series #1–18 (107) on Als in postmenopausal patients with HR+ breast cancer included a systematic review covering until 2005 and was updated up to May 2007. This review was also published in *Cancer Treatment Reviews* (102). The American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) guideline on endocrine therapy in HR+ breast cancer (353) is based on the evidence in the PEBC/CCO literature review plus a search of the published literature for the period May 2007–February 2009. A revised version released in May 2014 (289) included a review of trials published 2009 to June 2013.

The PEBC guideline recommends four approaches: a) tamoxifen (20 mg daily) for five years; b) anastrozole (1 mg daily) or letrozole (2.5 mg daily) for five years; c) tamoxifen 20 mg daily for two to three years, then switching to exemestane (25 mg daily) or anastrozole (1 mg daily) for a total of five years of endocrine therapy; d) five years tamoxifen followed by five years letrozole (2.5 mg daily). There was no data available to compare the strategies. The guideline recommended female patients receiving Als be monitored for changes in bone mineral density. Data were mixed regarding cardiac outcomes and lipid profile changes. The ASCO guideline summarized relative adverse effects in greater detail.

ASCO (353) recommends that postmenopausal patients with HR+ breast cancer consider incorporating AI therapy at some point during adjuvant therapy, either upfront or sequentially after tamoxifen. Optimal timing and duration of endocrine therapy remains unresolved, although a key change in the 2014 revision (289) is to recommend tamoxifen for up to ten years rather than five years. Tamoxifen for 0-5 years followed by AI for up to 5 years is an alternative, provided postmenopausal status is confirmed before AI use. Tamoxifen and AIs are generally well tolerated but have specific adverse effects, including effects on bone, cardiovascular, and gynecological health. The profile of effects is different because tamoxifen is a selective ER modulator with mixed pro- and anti-estrogenic activities, whereas Als achieve near complete estrogen deprivation in postmenopausal patients. Als are associated with greater loss of bone mineral density and fractures, which may be mitigated with use of bisphosphonate therapy. Als can cause a musculoskeletal/arthralgia syndrome characterized by bone and joint symptoms including pain, stiffness or achiness that is symmetric and not associated with other signs of rheumatological disorders. Data suggest Als are associated with increased cardiovascular disease, possibly including ischemic cardiac disease, although differences are small. Some studies found an effect on lipid metabolism, including increased risk of hypercholesterolemia. It has been suggested that these unfavourable changes in lipid profile may be due more to the discontinuation of tamoxifen in the switching studies rather than a significant effect of the Al alone. Risk of venous thromboembolic events is higher with tamoxifen, with 1% to 2% greater risk of deep vein Tamoxifen is associated with an increased risk of uterine cancer thrombosis. (approximately 1% of patients), benign endometrial pathology (bleeding, polyps, hyperplasia), hysterectomy, and vaginal discharge. Als seem less frequently associated with hot flashes. Results are inconsistent for vaginal dryness and loss of libido.

The Alberta Health Services guideline on Als for early-stage HR+ breast cancer (354) is based on a literature search until October 2009. It recommends three strategies for postmenopausal patients with HR+ breast cancer: a) AI for five years, b) AI after two to three years of tamoxifen, or c) five years of tamoxifen then five years Al. During treatment with Als, bone changes should be monitored, calcium and vitamin D supplements are recommended, and bisphosphonates are also recommended. Al therapy is contraindicated in pre or perimenopausal patients except in clinical trials. Postmenopausal is defined, based on NCCN criteria, as any of "(a) prior bilateral oophorectomy; (b) age  $\geq 60$  years; (c) age < 60years and amenorrheic for 12 months or more in the absence of chemotherapy, tamoxifen, toremifene, or ovarian suppression and follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) and estradiol in the postmenopausal range; or (d) if taking tamoxifen or toremifene and age <60 years, then FSH and plasma estradiol levels in the postmenopausal ranges." Menopausal status cannot be assigned to patients who are receiving a LHRH agonist or antagonist. Amenorrhea is not a reliable indicator of menopausal status in patients who are premenopausal at the beginning of adjuvant chemotherapy, because ovarian function may still be intact or resume after chemotherapy. For these patients, oophorectomy or serial measurement of FSH and/or estradiol are needed to ensure postmenopausal status.

An expert panel (355) addressed the factors that should be considered in perimenopausal patients who may become eligible for Als. There may be a case for use of Als in perimenopausal patients at sufficiently high risk of recurrence, either upfront or after tamoxifen; however, there must be careful consideration of age, menstrual history, and effects of tamoxifen (which may make hormonal levels unreliable in determining ovarian

function). Treatment-naïve patients should start with tamoxifen if postmenopausal status cannot be confirmed by reliable serial hormone measurements. Serial monitoring may enable AI to be started. In the case of treatment-induced amenorrhea, a decision to start AI use requires baseline hormone levels consistent with postmenopausal status, and continuation of treatment requires periodic documentation of postmenopausal hormone levels.

#### Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Cancer Group Meta-Analysis

The EBCTCG meta-analysis (67) included patients with ER+ cancer in RCTs of Als vs tamoxifen as monotherapy (Cohort 1) or after two to three years tamoxifen (Cohort 2) for a total of five years therapy (i.e., randomized to continue tamoxifen or to switch to an Al for an additional two to three years). It did not include trials of Al after five years of tamoxifen. The analysis included all trials started by year 2000 and was locked September 30, 2006, before the December 2008 San Antonio Breast Cancer Symposium; therefore, it did not include results presented at this conference. Data were not available from the ABCSG 12 trial and the switching arms for BIG 1–98 (IBCSG 18–98). ABCSG 12 started in 1999 and assigned 1803 premenopausal patients taking goserelin for ovarian suppression to either three years of anastrozole or three years of tamoxifen. BIG 1–98 started in 1998 and assigned 6193 female patients to either five years of letrozole, five years of tamoxifen, two years of tamoxifen followed by three years of letrozole, or two years of letrozole followed by three years of tamoxifen.

Cohort 1 (tamoxifen vs AI as monotherapy for five years) included 9856 patients from the ATAC and BIG 1–98 trials with a mean 5.8 years follow-up since the start of treatment. Results were calculated for AI therapy vs tamoxifen and are provided in Table 6. AIs resulted in better recurrence rates than tamoxifen, but there was no significant difference for mortality rates.

Cohort 2 included 9015 patients from four trials (German ABCG/Arimidex-Nolvadex, Intergroup Exemestane/BIG 02–97, Italian Tamoxifen Anastrozole [ITA], ABCSG 8) with a mean follow-up of 3.9 years calculated from the time of treatment divergence, that were reported at three and six years (approximately five and eight years after start of hormonal treatment). There was significant benefit of AIs for both recurrence and survival rates (see Table 7).

There was no apparent heterogeneity in proportional risk reduction with respect to age, nodal status, or grade. The overall conclusion was that Als result in lower recurrence rates than tamoxifen. More follow-up for long-term survival information is required. Cause-specific mortality rates were not reported in this analysis. Als achieved modest absolute improvements in breast cancer end points with significant reductions in recurrence rates in both cohorts. The absolute gain was greater in patients with poorer prognosis.

Comparisons A and B in the 2014 abstract (303) appear to correspond to Cohorts 1 and 2 and results are similar to the eight-year data in Tables 6 and 7. An additional comparison ("Comparison C") was made for five years of AI vs sequential tamoxifen then AI. They found recurrence benefit for continuous AI overall (RR=0.90, 95% CI 0.81–1.00) and in years 0–1 (RR=0.75, 95% CI 0.62–0.89) but not in years 2+. Five-year recurrence rates were 9.6% vs 10.7% (p=0.042) and breast cancer deaths were 6.2% vs 6.8% (p=0.097). For all groups combined there were fewer endometrial cancers (0.2% vs 0.6%, RR=0.37, 95% CI 0.27–0.51) but more fractures (8.1% vs 5.9%, RR=1.40, 95% CI 1.27–1.53) with AI than with tamoxifen.

#### Individual Studies and Comparison with Earlier Reviews/Meta-analyses

Table 8 summarizes characteristics and outcomes for individual studies of Als vs tamoxifen identified in this review. Included are updates of most of the trials used in the EBCTCG meta-analysis and other guidelines summarized.

The EBCTCG meta-analysis of AI vs Tamoxifen monotherapy (Cohort 1) was based on ATAC and BIG 1–98 studies in postmenopausal patients and found benefit for recurrence but not survival. Longer-term follow-up of these studies, as summarized in Table 8, indicates significant DFS rate and recurrence rate benefits for anastrozole compared with tamoxifen in the ATAC trial for the full patient group and a larger effect in the subset of patients with HR+ cancer (84% of total). BIG 1–98 found an improvement in both DFS and OS rates for letrozole compared with tamoxifen. ATAC found more bone fractures with anastrozole during treatment but similar rates post-treatment. Anastrozole caused less endometrial abnormalities and other adverse effects. BIG 1–98 found more bone fractures in the letrozole group, whereas the HOBOE trial found this was counteracted by zoledronic acid. These studies did not find higher rates of cardiac events with Als. Although the PEBC and Alberta guidelines gave no recommendation between Als and tamoxifen, results of these two trials may help in the decision process.

The ABCSG-12, SOFT, and TEXT trials (see Table 8) studied a different patient group; namely, premenopausal patients receiving an AI + OA/S (goserelin in ABCSG-12, triptorelin in TEXT, triptorelin or ovarian surgery/irradiation in SOFT). These studies are also relevant to Subsection 4.3.3 on Ovarian Suppression. In the ABCSG-12 trial patients were randomized to three years anastrozole or tamoxifen, with secondary randomization to receive zoledronic acid or not. There were less serious adverse events with anastrozole. Overall there was no difference in DFS rates between anastrozole and tamoxifen, whereas tamoxifen resulted in significantly better OS. However, it was found zoledronic acid improved OS and DFS rates in both groups, and in the subgroup aged >40 years, but not in those aged  $\leq$ 40 years. Both tamoxifen and anastrozole resulted in bone loss, with a greater adverse effect with anastrozole. This was prevented by concomitant zoledronic acid administration. Combined analysis of the SOFT and TEXT trials (63,64,282) found improved DFS rate with exemestane + OA/S compared with tamoxifen + OA/S but comparison with the tamoxifen-alone arm was not reported (follow-up is still ongoing).

Cohort 2 of the EBCTCG meta-analysis compared use of Als following two to three years of tamoxifen vs continuation of tamoxifen. It included four trials with mean follow-up of 3.9 years from treatment divergence. Als had significant benefit on recurrence and survival rates. Table 8 summarizes additional studies and longer follow-up that confirm the benefit of switching to Als compared to continuing on tamoxifen. Most trials studied anastrozole, although the IES study also found OS and DFS benefit for switching to exemestane.

An additional issue not addressed in the previous analyses is whether there is benefit of more than five years treatment. MA.17 is the largest study; after five years tamoxifen patients received either five years letrozole or placebo. It found improved DFS rates overall as well as in N+ and N0 subgroups, and the age <60 years and age 60–69 years subgroups. Letrozole had significant benefit in OS for N+ but no effect in patients with node-negative cancer. A meta-analysis of four studies (published as an abstract) including MA.17 found AI therapy after five years tamoxifen had a 2.9% decrease in recurrence and 0.5% decrease in breast cancer mortality rates. The summary of evidence from the available clinical practice guidelines, metaanalyses, and individual trials of tamoxifen and AIs in the adjuvant treatment of HR+ breast cancer suggests that the AIs are associated with a modest but significant improvement in clinical outcomes. The optimal sequence and duration of AI  $\pm$  tamoxifen therapy is uncertain. It is also unknown how adjuvant regimens containing AIs compare to the strategy of tamoxifen for 10 years.

#### b) Comparison of Aromatase Inhibitors

Studies comparing Als are provided in Table 9 (329,356-365). The MA.27 trial (359) found no difference in survival outcomes, but some difference in adverse effect profiles. The study concluded that exemestane is comparable to anastrozole. The FACE (361), DATA (364), and SOLE trials (365) are ongoing and do not have survival rate data yet. The TEAM Japan study (329) reported tamoxifen had a favourable effect on lipid profiles and may be preferred over exemestane and anastrozole (which both had no clinically significant effect on serum lipids) for patients at high risk of cardiovascular events such as hyperlipidemia. Further comparisons to tamoxifen are provided in the previous section (see Table 8). Two additional publications [abstracts only] provide an indirect comparison of anastrozole and letrozole from the BIG 1–98 and ATAC trials and conclude that letrozole may be more effective than anastrozole to reduce early distant recurrence and mortality rates at five years. This is based on trends (not statistically significant) and needs confirmation in ongoing trials. Taken together, these trials suggest that all Als available in Ontario are active in this setting.

#### c) Aromatase Inhibitors plus Chemotherapy

The New Primary Endocrine-Therapy Origination Study (NEOS, N-SAS BC06) is a twostage study that started recruitment in 2008 (366,367). This study is ongoing and will evaluate the need for adjuvant chemotherapy in addition to endocrine therapy in patients who respond to neoadjuvant letrozole. In the first phase neoadjuvant letrozole (2.5 mg/day) was administered for 24 to 28 weeks before surgery. Patients who did not progress (i.e., complete or partial response or stable disease) were then randomized to chemotherapy + letrozole (4.5–5 years) or letrozole alone. Recruitment of 850 patients (postmenopausal, N0, ER+, HER2–, >1.0 cm and  $\leq$ 5.0 cm) was expected by May 2013. Table 6. Recurrence and survival rates for aromatase inhibitors vs tamoxifen as monotherapy for five years: EBCTCG Cohort 1 or Comparison A.

Time of outcome,	Recurrence rate	Breast cancer	Death without	Any death
source of data		mortality rate	recurrence	
At 5 y (Kaplan-Meier)	9.6% vs 12.6%	4.8% vs 5.9%	4.4% vs 4.2%	8.8% vs 9.6%
	p<0.0001	p=0.1	p=0.9	p=0.3
At 8 y (Kaplan-Meier)	15.3% vs 19.2%	10.0% vs 10.5%	9.1% vs 8.8%	17.8% vs 18.0%
	p<0.0001	p=0.1	p=0.9	p=0.3
From forest plots, ratio	11.8% vs 14.7%	6.8% vs 7.5%	5.8% vs 5.6%	12.5% vs 13.1%
of annual event rates	RR=0.769	RR=0.89	RR=1.01	RR=0.94
	p<0.00001	p>0.1 (NS)	p>0.1 (NS)	p>0.1 (NS)
2014 abstract	16.6% vs 19.6%,	10.1% vs 11.4%,		
	RR=0.84, p<0.0001	RR=0.86, p<0.014		
	• Year 0-1:			
	RR=0.66			
	• Year 2-4:			
	RR=0.75			
	• Year 5+ RR=0.90			

Data from EBCTCG 2010 (67) and EBCTCG 2014 (303)

Table 7. Recurrence and survival rates for aromatase inhibitors following two to three years tamoxifen vs five years tamoxifen: EBCTCG Cohort 2 or Comparison B

Time of outcome, source of data	Recurrence rate	Breast cancer mortality rate	Death without recurrence	Any death
At 3 y (5 y since diagnosis) (Kaplan- Meier)	5.0 vs 8.1% p<0.00001	1.7% vs 2.4% p=0.02	1.7% vs 2.1% p=0.1	3.3% vs 4.4% p=0.004
At 6 y (8 y since diagnosis) (Kaplan- Meier)	12.6% vs 16.0% p<0.00001	6.3% vs 7.9% p=0.02	5.0% vs 5.8% p=0.1	10.8% vs 13.0% p=0.004
From forest plots, ratio of annual event rates	7.9% vs 10.6% RR=0.711 p<0.00001	3.5% vs 4.5% RR=0.78 p=0.02	2.8% vs 3.3% RR=0.82 p=0.10	6.3% vs 7.8% RR=0.79 p=0.004
2014 Abstract	12.7% vs 14.7%, RR=0.87, p=0.0001 • During years 2-4: RR=0.56 • During year 5+: RR=0.97	6.1% vs 7.3%, RR=0.84, p=0.015		

Data from EBCTCG 2010 (67) and EBCTCG 2014 (303)

# Table 8. Studies comparing aromatase inhibitors to tamoxifen

(Studies from the literature search, including updates of some of the trials used in the EBCTCG meta-analysis)

Trial and recruitment	Trial arms	# pts	Patient characteristics	Outcome
PREMENOPAUSAL				
AI vs TAM as monothera	py: Premenopausal			
MA.17 (291-299) 1998-2003	See entries at end of this table		Subgroup was premenopausal at diagnosis but postmenopausal after TAM	
ABCSG-12 (304-308) 1999-2006	ANA (3 y)+ GOS vs ANA (3 y) + GOS + zoledronic acid vs TAM (3 y) + GOS vs TAM (3 y)+ GOS + zoledronic acid ANA: 1 mg/d TAM: 20 mg/d GOS: 3.6 mg q4w Zoledronic acid: 4 mg every 6 m	453 450 450	Premenopausal, ER+ and/or PR+, early-stage (Stage I-II)	<ul> <li>Effect of ANA vs TAM, 62 mo follow-up (304,305):</li> <li>ANA vs TAM</li> <li>DFS: HR=1.08 (95% CI 0.81–1.44, p=0.59)</li> <li>OS: HR=1.75 (1.08–2.83, p=0.02)</li> <li>ANA ± zoledronic acid vs TAM ± zoledronic acid</li> <li>Subset with disease recurrence (N=185): relative risk of death HR=2.00 (1.23–3.24), p=0.005</li> <li>Subset with distant recurrence (N=100): relative risk of death HR=2.18 (1.23–3.86), p=0.009</li> <li>No difference ANA vs TAM on DFS, worse OS with ANA (but not if zoledronic acid administered)).</li> <li>ANA ± zoledronic acid had lower incidence of serious adverse events than TAM ± zoledronic acid (1% vs 7% endometrial hyperplasia, 1% vs 8% uterine polyp, 2% vs 4% uterine D&amp;C, &lt;1% vs 2% endometrial disorder)</li> <li>ANA vs TAM had higher rate of non-serious adverse effects (33% vs 23% bone pain, 19% vs 8% arthralgia, 8% vs 2% muscle rigidity, 7% vs 3% arthropathy, 2% vs &lt;1% joint stiffness)</li> <li>Effect of zoledronic acid vs ANA <ul> <li>DFS HR=0.68 (95% CI 0.45–1.02), p=0.061</li> <li>TAM + zoledronic acid vs ANA</li> <li>DFS HR=0.67 (95% CI 0.44–1.03), p=0.067</li> </ul> </li> <li>ANA/TAM + zoledronic acid vs ANA/TAM</li> <li>DFS 92% vs 88%, HR=0.68, 95% CI 0.51–0.91,p=0.009</li> <li>DFS, age ≤40 y: HR=0.54 (95% CI 0.40–0.83), p=0.003</li> <li>OS HR=0.67 (95% CI 0.41–1.07, p=0.09)</li> <li>OS, age &gt;40 y: HR=0.57, p=0.057</li> <li>Addition of zoledronic acid to endocrine therapy improved DFS overall and for age &gt;40 y but not &lt;40 y</li> </ul>

Trial and recruitment	Trial arms	# pts	Patient characteristics	Outcome
				<pre>pain, pyrexia, joint stiffness)  Effect of zoledronic acid 76 mo follow-up (308): ANA/TAM + zoledronic acid vs ANA/TAM  DFS HR=0.73, p=0.021  DFS, age ≤40 y: HR=0.91, p=0.707  DFS, age &gt;40 y: HR=0.66, p=0.013  OS: HR=0.59, p=0.042  OS, age ≤40 y: HR=1.01, p=0.982  OS, age &gt;40 y: HR=0.51, p=0.018  Effect of zoledronic acid 84 mo follow-up (306,307): ANA/TAM + zoledronic acid vs ANA/TAM  DFS: HR=0.72, p=0.014  DFS, age ≤40 y: HR=0.87, p=0.527  DFS, age &gt;40 y: HR=0.66, p=0.013  OS: HR=0.63, p=0.049 </pre>
ABCSG-12 bone mineral substudy (309)	(ANA or TAM ) + GOS (3 y)+ vs (ANA or TAM) + GOS + zoledronic acid (3 y)	199 205		<ul> <li>Endocrine therapy alone (no zoledronic acid) caused significant loss of bone mineral density (BMD) at lumbar spine and trochanter (p&lt;0.0001) at 36 mo</li> <li>Without zoledronic acid, ANA caused greater BMD loss than TAM at 36 mo at lumbar spine (-13.6% vs -9.0%, p&lt;0.0001)</li> <li>2 y after completion of treatment, pts without zoledronic acid still had decreased BMD compared with baseline, whereas pts with zoledronic acid had stable BMD at 36 mo and increased BMD at 60 mo compared with baseline</li> <li>Conclude GOS + TAM/ANA causes significant bone loss, was prevented by concomitant zoledronic acid</li> </ul>
SOFT IBCSG-24-02, NCT00066690 (63,64,281,282) 2003-2010 [See also (59,62) published after guideline completion, data not extracted]	TAM daily vs TAM + ovarian suppression* vs EXE + ovarian suppression Treatment continues 5 y *Ovarian suppression by one of triptorelin, surgical oophorectomy, or ovarian irradiation Pts stratified: prior adjuvant/neoadjuvant chemotherapy (yes vs no), number of positive axillary and/or internal mammary lymph nodes (0 vs 1 or more) and intended initial method of ovarian- function suppression (triptorelin vs	1021 1024 1021 Total: 3066	Premenopausal, ER+ and/or PR+, no inoperable LABC, prior or concurrent adjuvant trastuzumab allowed, neoadjuvant chemotherapy allowed if operable before neoadjuvant chemotherapy	TAM alone group data not expected until end of 2014 EXE + ovarian suppression vs TAM + ovarian suppression is presented as combined analysis of SOFT and TEXT (later in this table) per protocol amendment in 2011 to allow higher number of DFS events in a shorter time; otherwise estimated 13 additional years follow-up would be required

Trial and recruitment	Trial arms	# pts	Patient characteristics	Outcome
	oophorectomy vs ovarian irradiation)			
TEXT, NCT00066703 (63,64,282,283) 2003-2011	TAM + triptorelin vs EXE + triptorelin Treatment for 5 y	2672	Inclusion criteria: ER+ and/or PR+ (at least 10% of tumour cells positive by IHC),	EXE + ovarian suppression vs TAM + ovarian suppression is presented as combined analysis of SOFT and TEXT (see later in this table) per protocol amendment in 2011 to allow higher number of DFS events in a shorter time otherwise estimated 7 additional years follow-up would be required
2000 2011	Pts stratified by concurrent adjuvant chemotherapy, number of positive lymph nodes		premenopausal, no inoperable LABC or metastasis	
Joint analysis of SOFT and TEXT trials	See previous entry in table		Pts who received chemotherapy were	Median follow-up 68 mo, 5-y survival rates, EXE vs TAM DFS:
(63,64,282)	EXE + ovarian suppression vs TAM + ovarian suppression TAM alone group not reported	2359 EXE 2358 TAM	more likely to be N+, T2+, HER2+, <age 39="" y<br="">42.5% no chemo 57.4% chemo 42.2% N+ 13% &lt;1 cm 49% 1-2 cm 32% &gt;2-5 cm</age>	<ul> <li>Overall: 91.1% vs 87.3%, HR=0.72 (95% CI 0.60-0.85), p&lt;0.001</li> <li>TEXT, no chemo: 96.1% vs 93.0%, HR=0.54 (95% CI 0.32-0.92)</li> <li>SOFT, no chemo: 95.8% vs 93.1%, HR=0.68 (95% CI 0.38-1-19)</li> <li>TEXT, with chemo: 89.8% vs 84.6%, HR=0.69 (95% CI 0.53-0.90)</li> <li>SOFT, with chemo: 84.3% vs 80.6%, HR=0.84 (95% CI 0.62-1.13)</li> <li>N0: 95.1% vs 91.6%, HR=0.60 (95% CI 0.45-0.81)</li> <li>N+: 85.6% vs 81.4%, HR=0.79 (95% CI 0.64-0.98)</li> <li>Breast cancer free: 92.8% vs 88.8%, HR=0.66 (95% CI 0.55-0.80), p&lt;0.001</li> <li>Distant recurrence free: 93.8% vs 92.0%, HR=0.78 (95% CI 0.62-0.97), p=0.02</li> </ul>
			4% >5 cm 88% HER2-	<ul> <li>OS: 95.9% vs 96.9%, HR=1.14 (95% Cl 0.86-1.51), p=0.37</li> <li>Targeted adverse effects, any grade (EXE vs TAM)</li> <li>98.3% of pts in both groups</li> <li>Most common were hot flushes (91.7% vs 93.3%), depression (50.3% vs 50.1%), sweating (54.5% vs 59.0%), insomnia 58.2% vs 58.5%), and fatigue (61.3% vs 62.9%)</li> <li>EXE group had more musculoskeletal symptoms (88.7% vs 76.0%), osteoporosis (38.6% vs 25.2%), vaginal dryness 52.4% vs 47.4%), decreased libido (45.0% vs 40.9%), and dyspareunia (30.5% vs 25.8%)</li> <li>EXE group had less thrombosis/embolism (1.0% vs 2.2%), urinary incontinence (13.1% vs 17.8%), and sweating (54.5% vs 59.0%)</li> </ul>
				<ul> <li>Grade 3-4 adverse events</li> <li>30.6% EXE vs 29.4% suppression</li> <li>EXE group had less thrombosis/embolism (0.8% vs 1.9%) but more musculoskeletal symptoms (11.0% vs 5.2%)</li> <li>Adverse effects (64):</li> <li>Similar changes in global QoL indicators in both groups but different endocrine symptoms profile</li> <li>TAM: more vaginal discharge (P&lt;0.0001), more hot flushes with treatment difference persisting over time (each p&lt;0.05; change from baseline improved</li> </ul>

Trial and recruitment	Trial arms	# pts	Patient characteristics	Outcome
				over time for both groups)
				• EXE: more vaginal dryness and greater loss of sexual interest (p<0.0001), more bone/joint pain (p<0.0001)
HOBOE, NCT00412022	• TAM (20 mg daily for 5 y; switch for	≈500	Pre and post-	Significantly distinct endocrine effects; positive effect of zoledronic acid on BMD
(268,310-312)	postmenopausal pts to LET allowed		menopausal, HR+, early	largely counteracts damage produced by letrozole as compared with TAM;
	after 2 y)		breast cancer,	survival rate data not available yet
2004-2009	• LET (2.5 mg daily for 5 y)		chemotherapy allowed	
	• LET + zoledronic acid (4 mg every			
	6 mo for 5 y)			
	Triptorelin 3.75 mg IM q4w if			
	premenopausal			
POSTMENOPAUSAL				
AI vs TAM as monothera	py: Postmenopausal			
ATAC (313,314)	ANA (1 mg/d for 5 y)	3125	Postmenopausal, early-	Median follow-up 120 mo
	TAM (20 mg/d for 5 y)	3116	stage,	ANA vs TAM:
	ANA + TAM (5 y)	3125	84% HR+	• DFS HR=0.91 (95% CI 0.83-0.99, p=0.04)
				• Time to recurrence HR=0.84 (95% CI 0.75–0.93, p=0.001)
	The combination arm was			• Time to distant recurrence: HR=0.87 (95% CI 0.77-0.99, p=0.03)
	discontinued after initial analysis			• ANA vs TAM, HR+ only:
	because there was no benefit			• DFS HR=0.86 (95% CI 0.78-0.95, p=0.003)
	compared with TAM arm			• Recurrence: HR=0.79 (95% CI 0.70–0.89, p=0.0002)
				<ul> <li>Distant recurrence HR=0.85 (95% CI 0.73–0.98, p=0.02)</li> </ul>
				<ul> <li>Mortality: HR=0.95 (95% CI 0.84-1.06, p=0.4)</li> </ul>
				Fractures more frequent with ANA (451 vs 351, OR=1.33, p<0.0001)during
				treatment but similar post-treatment (110 vs 112); other adverse effects less
				with ANA; more lung and colorectal cancer (51 vs 34 and 66 vs 44) but less
				endometrial, melanoma and ovarian cancers (6 vs 24, 8 vs 19, and 17 vs 28)
ATAC endometrial	ANA (1 mg/d for 5 y)	44	Postmenopausal, early-	After 6-y follow-up, ANA vs TAM:
subprotocol (315)	TAM (20 mg/d for 5 y)	41	stage	• Endometrial abnormalities 12.4% vs 20.2%, OR=0.52 (95% CI 0.20-1.32,
				p=0.17, NS)
				• Time to first endometrial abnormality: HR=0.57 (95% CI 0.26-1.22, p=0.15,
				NS)
				Fewer pts with ANA required medical intervention for endometrial
				abnormalities
BIG 1-98 (316-318)	LET (25 mg/d for 5 y)	2463	Postmenopausal, early-	Median follow-up 8.7 y, LET vs TAM
(000 0000	TAM (20 mg/d for 5 y)	2459	stage, HR+ (ER+ and/or	Intention to treat:
1998-2003			PR+), chemotherapy	• DFS: HR=0.86 (95% CI 0.78-0.96)
	619/2459 or 25.2% crossed over to		allowed	• OS: HR=0.87 (95% CI 0.77-0.999)
	LET after initial results presented in			• DRFI: HR=0.86 (95% CI 0.74-0.998)
	Jan 2005			• BCFI: 0.86 (95% CI 0.76-0.98)
				Using inverse probability of censoring weighted (IPCW) modelling (LET vs TAM):
	Additional 2 arms reported (see later			• DFS: HR=0.82 (95% CI 0.74-0.92)
	in this table: "Randomized at start,			• OS: HR=0.79 (95% CI 0.69-0.90)

Trial and recruitment	Trial arms	# pts	Patient characteristics	Outcome
	at least one sequential arm with TAM			• DRFI: HR=0.79 (95% CI 0.68-0.92)
	and AI")			• BCFI: HR=0.80 (95% CI 0.70-0.92)
				More bone fractures in LET group; grade 3-5 non-fracture adverse events (but
				not thromboembolic or cardiac) were higher in elderly pts in LET group
				Conclude LET compared with TAM significantly reduces death and recurrence
				rates in postmenopausal pts with HR+ breast cancer
BIG 1-98 (319)	See previous entry in table.			5-y DFS, LET vs TAM using composite measure
	Study of composite measure of			Low risk group: 96% vs 94%
	prognostic risk using ER, PR, EGFR2			<ul> <li>Medium risk: 90% vs 86%</li> </ul>
	(HER2), Ki-67			• High risk: 80% vs 69%
				Results for 2-3 y LET/TAM then switching were intermediate between these
				results
BIG 1-98 (320)	See previous entry in table. LET vs	2599	IDC: 44% Luminal A,	5-y survival rates, LET vs TAM:
	ТАМ	IDC;	36% Luminal B	• DFS: IDC 88% vs 84%; ILC 89% vs 76%
	Subgroups by cancer type: Invasive	324 ILC		• DFS Luminal A: IDC 91% vs 89%; ILC 89% vs 78%
	ductal (IDC) or lobular (ILC); Luminal		ILC: 59% luminal A, 22%	<ul> <li>DFS Luminal B: IDC 85% vs 77%; ILC 89% vs 71%</li> </ul>
	A or B		luminal B	<ul> <li>OS: IDC 94% vs 92%; ILC 96% vs 86%</li> </ul>
				• OS Luminal A: IDC 95% vs 95%; ILC 96% vs 90%
				• OS Luminal B: IDC 92% vs 89%, ILC 95% vs 76%
				TAM less effective in luminal B subtype of ILC
Randomized at start, at	least one sequential arm with TAM and	Al		
BIG 1-98, 1999-2003	LET (2 y) $\rightarrow$ TAM (3 y) vs	1540	Postmenopausal, early,	Median follow-up 8.0 y, LET, LET $\rightarrow$ TAM, TAM $\rightarrow$ LET, intention to treat, no
(316)	TAM (2 y) $\rightarrow$ LET (3 y)	1548	HR+	significant differences
	(see previous entry in table for LET or			• DFS: 78.6%, 77.8%, 77.3%
	TAM monotherapy)			• OS: 87.5%, 87.7%, 85.9%
		K		• DRFI: 89.9%, 88.7%, 88.1%
	LET 25 mg/d			• BCFI: 86.1%, 85.3%, 84.3%
	TAM 20 mg/d			Sequential treatment does not improve outcome compared with LET alone, but
				may be useful strategies when considering individual patient's risk of recurrence
				and tolerability
BIG 1-98 (321)	See previous entry in table LET $\rightarrow$ TAM	2849		8-y survival rate results, LET vs TAM-LET vs LET-TAM
	vs TAM $\rightarrow$ LET	IDC;		DFS: IDC 79% vs 79% vs 79%; ILC 85% vs 76% vs 75%
	Subgroups by cancer type	363 ILC		OS: IDC 88% vs 86% vs 88%; ILC 90% vs 85% vs 89%
				All comparisons nonsignificant, but is a trend toward more benefit of LET in ILC
ABCSG-6 (322,323)	TAM (2 y) + aminoglutethimide $\rightarrow$	2021	Postmenopausal, ER+	Median follow-up 5.3 y
	TAM (3 y)		and/or PR+, Stage I-II,	DFS 83.6% vs 83.7%, p=0.89
1990–1995	vs TAM (5 y)		pT1-2, 62% N0	OS 91.4% vs 91.2%, p=0.74
				13.7% vs 5.2% (p=0.0001) failed to complete treatment because of adverse
				effects
				No difference in DFS or OS rates for subgroups of normal weight (p=0.70 for DFS,
	TAM 40 mg/d first 2 y, then 20 mg/d;			
	TAM 40 mg/d first 2 y, then 20 mg/d;			p=0.38 for OS) or for overweight + obese pts ( $p=0.79$ for DFS, $p=0.42$ for OS)

Trial and recruitment	Trial arms	# pts	Patient characteristics	Outcome
1996-2004	ТАМ (5 у)	1849	and/or PR+, no chemotherapy, operable G1 or G2 tumours, 75% N0, 75% T1	<ul> <li>RFS HR=0.80 (95% CI 0.63-1.01), p=0.064</li> <li>Distant RFS: HR=0.78 (95% CI 0.60-0.996), p=0.046</li> <li>DFS: HR=0.91 (95% CI 0.748-1.103), p=0.33</li> <li>DFS (censored for crossover): HR=0.87 (95% CI 0.717-1.064)</li> <li>OS: HR=0.87 (95% CI 0.645-1.163), p=0.33</li> <li>OS (censored for crossover): HR=0.81 (95% CI 0.602-1.094)</li> <li>More bone pain in TAM→ ANA arm (32.9% vs 29.3%), more uterine disorders in TAM arm (20.2% TAM vs 14.1% TAM→ ANA )</li> <li>Median follow-up 76.7 mo</li> <li>DFS: HR=0.82 (95% CI 0.66-1.01), p=0.17</li> <li>OS: HR=0.82 (95% CI 0.66-1.01), p=0.06</li> <li>OS (censored for crossover); HR=0.79 (95% CI 0.64-0.98)</li> </ul>
ABCSG-8, Ki-67 expression substudy (326)	See previous entry in table		Determined expression of Ki-67 by IHC	<ul> <li>OS (censored for crossover); HR=0.79 (95% CI 0.64-0.98)</li> <li>Pts with high Ki-67 expression had shorter RFS and OS (HR=1.90 and HR=1.78 respectively).</li> <li>Pts with medium or high ER levels had significant interaction between Ki-67 and endocrine treatment.</li> <li>TAM→ ANA was superior to TAM in pts with low Ki-67 (DFS: adjusted HR=0.53, 95% CI 0.34-0.83, p=0.005) but not high Ki-67 (HR=1.18, 95% CI 0.66-1.89, p=0.68)</li> </ul>
TEAM (68) 2001-2006	EXE (5 y) vs TAM (2.5-3 y) $\rightarrow$ EXE (2-2.5y); 5 y total EXE 25 mg/d TAM 20 mg/d Originally randomized to either EXE or TAM for 5 y, but modified trial after results of IES study	4898 4868	Postmenopausal, ER+ and/or PR+, completed local treatment with curative intent, 95% N0-1, 94% T1-2; 36% chemotherapy	<ul> <li>TAM→ EXE vs EXE alone, 5-y results</li> <li>DFS: HR=0.97 (95% CI 0.88-1.08), p=0.60</li> <li>DFS (per protocol treatment): HR=0.93, p=0.22</li> <li>OS: HR=1.00 (95% CI 0.89-1.14), p&gt;0.99</li> <li>Sequential treatment associated with higher level of gynecological symptoms (20% vs 11%), venous thrombosis (2% vs 1%), endometrial abnormalities (4% vs&lt;1%).</li> <li>EXE alone caused higher adverse effects for musculoskeletal (50% vs 44%), hypertension (6% vs 5%), and hyperlipidemia (5% vs 3%)</li> <li>Concluded no difference in DFS and OS but differences in adverse effect profile may play a role in treatment decisions</li> </ul>
TEAM, PR expression substudy (327)	See previous entry in table	4598	Analysis according to PR poor and PR rich	No treatment by marker effect for PR was observed for EXE vs TAM, [PR rich HR=0.83 (95% CI 0.65–1.05), PR poor HR=0.85 (95% CI 0.61–1.19), p=0.88 for interaction]
TEAM, ER expression, Dutch & Belgium pts (328)	EXE (5 y) vs TAM (2.5−3 y) → EXE (2.5−2 y)	2603	82% IDC, 18% ILC; 235 ER poor ( <allred 7),<br="">1789 ER-rich (≥7)</allred>	RFS rates, EXE vs TAM→ EXE • IDC: HR=0.83 (95% CI 0.67-1.03) • ILC: HR=0.69 (95% CI 0.45-1.06) • ER-rich: HR=0.71 (95% CI 0.56-0.89) • ER-poor: HR=2.33 (95% CI 1.32-4.11)

Trial and recruitment	Trial arms	# pts	Patient characteristics	Outcome
TEAM Japan: N SAS	EXE (5 y) vs	52		Changes in lipid profiles with TAM were relatively favourable, whereas EXE and
BC04 lipid substudy	TAM (2.5–3 y) $\rightarrow$ EXE (2–2.5 y); 5 y	52		anastrozole had no clinically significant effect on serum lipids; TAM may be a
(329)	total vs			treatment choice for pts at high risk of cardiovascular events such as
	ANA (5 y) (1 mg/d)	50		hyperlipidemia
TEAM quality of life	EXE (5 y) vs	742		QoL questionnaires at 1 and 2 y after start of endocrine treatment. Less sexual
study, Dutch pts (330)	TAM (2.5–3 y) $\rightarrow$ EXE (2.5–2 y)			enjoyment and more sexual function problems with EXE. More fatigue, dyspnea, insomnia, and arm symptoms with EXE. Most scales improved over time. Only
				clinically relevant and statistically significant difference was more insomnia in EXE pts
TEAM Japan: N SAS	EXE (5 y) vs	55		FACT-B scores increased and remained higher after TAM during the first year
BC04 quality of life	TAM (2.5–3 y) $\rightarrow$ EXE (2–2.5 y); 5 y	56		(p=0.045); FACT-B similar in EXE and ANA groups
study (331)	total vs			Endocrine subscale (ES) and CES-D (depression scales) similar in all groups;
	ANA (5 y)	55		arthralgia and fatigue less frequent but vaginal discharge more frequent in TAM
				group; health-related QoL better with TAM
TEAM Japan: N SAS	TAM vs	20		BMD higher at 2 y with TAM than EXE and ANA but insignificant intergroup
BC04 Bone substudy	EXE vs	24		difference (p=0.25 and p=0.075)
(332)	ANA	24		Serum bone-specific alkaline phosphatase and urinary type I collagen cross-linked
				N-telopeptide were significantly lower in TAM pts (p<0.05)
				Conclude TAM may provide better bone protection
TEAM (333)	EXE (5 y) vs	200		• TAM: mean increase from baseline in lumbar spine BMD of 1.2% at 12 mo
meta-analysis of the	TAM (2.5–3 y) $\rightarrow$ EXE (2–2.5 y); 5 y	212		and 0.2% at 24 mo.
US, German,	total	4		• EXE: mean decrease from baseline of 2.6% after 12 mo and 3.5% after
Netherlands,				24 mo (p=0.0001 at both time points).
and Belgium substudies				Changes in BMD from baseline at the total hip were also significantly
				different between EXE and TAM (p<0.05 at both time points).
				Bone turnover markers decreased from baseline with TAM and increased with
				EXE.
TEAM gynecological		143	Transvaginal ultrasound	EXE associated with significantly less endometrial thickening than TAM: no cases
ultrasound substudy			to assess endometrial	>10 mm with EXE vs 11 with TAM, p<0.00003
(334)			thickness	Time to endometrial thickness >5 mm or >10 mm was in favour of EXE (p<0.0001)
DBCG 89C (335)	TAM (6 mo) $\rightarrow$ megestrol acetate (MA)	428	Postmenopausal, HR+ or	Median follow-up >10 y, no difference in DFS or OS among the 3 arms
	(6 mo) vs		unknown, high risk (N+	
	TAM (1 y) vs	519	or T3)	
	TAM (2 y)	505		
	TAM 30 mg/d, MA 160 mg/d			
	to AI or TAM (sequential)			
ITA (336,337)	TAM (2−3 y)→ ANA	223	Postmenopausal, ER+,	Median follow-up 64 mo, TAM $\rightarrow$ ANA vs TAM
	TAM (2−3 y)→ TAM	225	N+, no evidence of	<ul> <li>Event-free survival rate: HR=0.57 (95% CI 0.38-0.85), p=0.005</li> </ul>
1998-2002			recurrent or metastatic	• RFS: HR=0.56 (95% CI 0.35-0.89), p=0.01
	5 y total in both groups		disease;	• OS: HR=0.56 (95% CI 0.28-1.15), p=0.1
			47% T1, 50% T2+, 64%	<ul> <li>Adverse events ANA (94%) vs TAM (67%), p&lt;0.001</li> </ul>
	TAM 20 mg/d, ANA 1 mg/d		N1, 36% N2+	• Serious adverse effects were similar (37 vs 40, p=0.7) except for gynecological

Trial and recruitment	Trial arms	# pts	Patient characteristics	Outcome
				<ul> <li>changes (1.3% vs 8.4%) which were higher in the TAM group.</li> <li>ANA greater rate of non-serious events: GI complaints (p=0.07), fatigue (p=0.045), lipid metabolism disorders (p=0.01), hyperglycemia (p=0.045), musculoskeletal disorders/bone fractures (p=0.2)</li> <li>ANA lower rate of venous disorders (p=0.2)</li> </ul>
ITA (338)	See previous entry in table	448		Median follow-up 128 mo, TAM $\rightarrow$ ANA vs TAM EFS: HR=0.71 (95% CI 0.52-0.97), p=0.03 RFS: HR=0.64 (95% CI 0.44-0.94), p=0.023 OS: HR=0.79 (95% CI 0.52-1.21), p=0.3, study not powered enough for this endpoint Serious adverse effects: bone fracture same in both arms, gynecological problems less in TAM $\rightarrow$ ANA arm (21 pts including 8 endometrial cancers vs 3 pts including 1 endometrial cancer, p<0.001),
ARNO 95 (339)	TAM (2 y) $\rightarrow$ ANA (3 y) vs	489	Postmenopausal, ER+,	Median follow-up 30.1 mo, calculated 3-y survival rates, TAM $\rightarrow$ ANA vs TAM
1996-2002	TAM (2 y)→ TAM (3 y)	490	early-stage; grade 1-3, pT1-3, pN0-2, no disease recurrence	DFS: HR=0.66 (95% CI 0.44-1.00), p=0.049 OS: HR=0.53 (95% CI 0.28-0.99), p=0.045 Fewer serious adverse events with ANA (22.7% vs 30.8%), primarily due to more endometrial events on TAM; more musculoskeletal events with ANA (11.7% vs 4.9% arthralgia/bone pain and 2.9% vs 0.9% osteoporosis)
IES (340-342)	TAM (2-3 y) $\rightarrow$ EXE vs	2352	Postmenopausal, 85.8%	TAM $\rightarrow$ EXE vs TAM, outcomes at 8 y
	TAM (2-3 y) $\rightarrow$ TAM	2372	ER+ (86%) or ER	• OS: HR=0.86 (95% CI 0.74–0.99), p=0.04
1998-2003	5 y total in both groups		unknown (12%) disease free after 2-3 y of TAM	<ul> <li>DFS: HR=0.81 (95% CI 0.72-0.91), p&lt;0.001</li> <li>BCFS: HR=0.81 (95% CI 0.71-0.92), p=0.001 <ul> <li>On-treatment years 0-2.5: HR=0.60</li> <li>Post-treatment years 2.5-9: HR=0.94</li> </ul> </li> <li>Fewer deaths reported for both breast cancer and intercurrent deaths following switch to EXE.</li> <li>Non-breast cancers higher in TAM group.</li> </ul>
				<ul> <li>At median follow-up of 55.7 mo there was greater incidence of musculoskeletal adverse events in EXE group and higher incidence of serious gynecological adverse events (vaginal bleeding, endometrial hyperplasia, uterine polyps) on TAM.</li> <li>At 91 mo, carpel tunnel syndrome in 2.8% EXE vs 0.6% TAM group (OR=5.23, p&lt;0.0001) with most events during treatment phase; 46.7% vs 38.5% had musculoskeletal symptoms (OR=1.48, p&lt;0.0001).</li> <li>8-y follow-up found smaller differences in rates of adverse events than in previous report</li> </ul>
IES bone substudy (343)	Effect of endocrine treatment withdrawal on BMD, bone turnover markers and fracture rates	206		More fractures occurred during EXE treatment, similar rates after treatment withdrawal. Following treatment withdrawal, differences in BMD between the two groups partially reversed and the change from baseline was were similar in both groups by 2 y

Trial and recruitment	Trial arms	# pts	Patient characteristics	Outcome
IES endometrial substudy (344)	Sonographic uterine effects of EXE, primarily endometrial thickness >5 mm	183		2 y after randomization, proportion of pts with abnormal endometrial thickness significantly lower in EXE compared with TAM arm (36% vs 62%, p=0.004). Difference apparent within 6 mo of switching treatment and disappeared within 12 mo of treatment completion (30.8% vs 34.7%, p=0.67)
IES QoL substudy (345)	On-treatment and post-treatment QoL up to 60 mo assessed by questionnaire (FACT-B and endocrine symptom subscale)	582		Previously reported that the switch in treatment neither increased nor decreased endocrine symptoms from TAM and did not initiate significant reports of new ones. Vasomotor complaints high on treatment in both groups (>19%), vaginal discharge more frequent with TAM, libido did not recover to baseline post- treatment in either group. Both groups had gradual improvement in QoL and lessening of total endocrine symptoms post treatment compared with baseline.
NSAS BC-03 (346,347) (Japan) 2002–2005	TAM $(1-4 y) \rightarrow$ ANA vs TAM $(1-4 y) \rightarrow$ TAM 5 y total in both groups	347 349	Postmenopausal, ER+ and/or PR+; 79% <3 cm; 79% I-IIA, 14 IIB, 7% IIIA- B	Closed early after entry of ≈ 28% of planned pts Median follow-up 42 mo, ANA vs TAM DFS: HR=0.69 (95% Cl 0.42-1.14), p=0.14 RFS: HR=0.54 (95% Cl 0.29-1.02), p=0.06 QoL (FACTG-B, FACT-ES, FACT-G) were better on TAM than ANA (p=0.042, p=0.038, p=0.005), but no difference on CES-D (depression) scale
NSAS BC03 (348)	See previous entry in table. Follow- up of adverse effects from randomization to 36 m	696		Changes in hot flushes (p=0.001) and vaginal discharge (p<0.001) in favour of ANA; more arthralgia in ANA (p=0.00002) for first 12 mo then difference gradually decreased
TAM (approximately 5 y	or more) then randomized to AI or plac	ebo		
ATENA (349,350) 2001–2005	TAM (5-7 y) $\rightarrow$ EXE (5 y) vs TAM (5-7 y) $\rightarrow$ observation	211 200	Postmenopausal, operable breast cancer, 75% ER+ and/or PR+, 25% ER/PR unknown, Stage I-IIIA, absence of local or distant metastatic disease before randomization	Overall study closed early due to MA.17 trial, no survival rate results published Lipid Substudy, assessed at baseline, 6 or 12 mo and at 24 mo Total cholesterol and low-density lipoprotein increased over time in both arms, total cholesterol more pronounced for observation arm, high-density lipoprotein decreased significantly over time for EXE but not for observation arm, triglycerides decreased over time on both arms EXE lacks beneficial effect of TAM on lipids EXE does not alter lipid profile significantly compared with observational arm
ABCSG-6a (351) 1996 to ≈ 2001	TAM $(5 y) \rightarrow$ ANA $(3 y)$ TAM $(5 y) \rightarrow$ none $(3 y)$ Continuation of ABCSG-6 which randomized to TAM alone or TAM + aminoglutethimide for the first 2 y; both groups combined at 5 y, excluded those with recurrence or metastasis and then re-randomized to ANA or control TAM 40 mg/d first 2 y, then 20 mg/d; ANA 1 mg/d	386 466	Postmenopausal, ER+ and/or PR+, Stage I-II, 98% pT1-2, no recurrence or metastasis during TAM	<ul> <li>Median follow-up 62.3 mo, ANA vs control</li> <li>No statistically significant difference in OS rates between study arms (55 deaths [11.7%] for the no further treatment arm vs 40 deaths [10.3%] for the anastrozole arm; death from any cause HR=0.89 (95% Cl 0.59 to 1.34), p=0.57</li> <li>Recurrence, HR=0.62 (95% Cl 0.40-0.96), p=0.031</li> <li>Distant metastasis HR=0.53 (95% Cl 0.29-0.96), p=0.034, advantage for ANA starting by 20 mo</li> <li>Incidence of recurrence lower in pts initially receiving TAM + aminoglutethimide (HR=0.64, 95% Cl 0.41-0.98, p=0.042); authors caution no conclusion should be made due to small number of pts in subgroups.</li> <li>There was no significant difference in 5-y DFS for TAM ± aminoglutethimide</li> <li>Serious adverse effects (grade 1) were more frequent in ANA group (hot flushes, asthenia, somnolence, allergy, cutaneous adverse effects, skin rash, hair loss, nausea, p&lt;0.001), and it was concluded ANA was well tolerated</li> </ul>

Trial and recruitment	Trial arms	# pts	Patient characteristics	Outcome
NSABP B-33 (292,352)	TAM ( $\approx$ 5 y) $\rightarrow$ EXE (5 y)	783	Postmenopausal, ER+	Due to MA.17 results, unblinded in Oct 2003 and offered EXE to pts in placebo
	TAM ( $\approx$ 5 y) $\rightarrow$ placebo (5 y)	779	and/or PR+, early-	group
2001-2003			stage, T1-3N1M0 (61%	Median follow-up 30 mo, EXE vs placebo at 4 y after randomization
	TAM 57–67 mo		T1, 52% N0), disease-	<ul> <li>DFS: 91% vs 89%, RR=0.68, p=0.07</li> </ul>
			free after 5 y TAM	<ul> <li>RFS: 96% vs 94%, RR=0.44, p=0.004</li> </ul>
	EXE 25 mg/d			• OS: 98.0% vs 98.3%, RR=1.2 p=0.72
				<ul> <li>In subset analysis, N+ pts did better on EXE (HR=0.50, p=0.01), but there was no effect (HR=1.13, p=0.74) for N0 pts</li> </ul>
				<ul> <li>No difference in grade 4 adverse effects (1% each)</li> </ul>
				• EXE group had more grade 3 adverse effects (9% vs 6%, p=0.03)
				<ul> <li>More fractures in EXE group (28 pts vs 20, p=0.33)</li> </ul>
				QoL substudy: EXE had higher symptom severity on all 4 scales but no significant
				treatment effects in vasomotor ( $p=0.87$ ), psychosocial ( $p=0.27$ ), physical ( $p=0.13$ )
				or sexual (p=0.23) scales
NCIC CTG MA.17	TAM ( ≈5 y) → LET (5 y)	2583	Postmenopausal at	Median follow-up 2.4 y, data received until August 2003. At first interim analysis
(291,292)	TAM ( $\approx 5$ y) $\rightarrow$ placebo (5 y)	2587	randomization (after	the data safety monitoring committee recommended termination/unblinding due
			TAM), ER+ and/or PR+	to a highly statistically significant effect of LET on DFS and a trend toward
1998-2003	(TAM 4.5-6 y)		(97% positive, 2%	survival rate advantage in pts who received LET compared with placebo (291)
			unknown) 50% N0, 46%	• 75 vs 132 recurrences, HR=0.57 (95% CI 0.43–0.75), p=0.00008
	5 y TAM then randomized to placebo	1579	N+	<ul> <li>4-y DFS 93% vs 87%, p≤0.001</li> </ul>
	or LET; after unblinding in 2003	placebo		• OS: 31 vs 42 deaths, HR=0.76 (95% Cl 0.48–0.76), p=0.25
	(median 2.8 y), 66% of placebo group	-LET		<ul> <li>Effect of LET similar in N0 and N+ female pts</li> </ul>
	switched to LET (offered for 5 y)			<ul> <li>Low-grade hot flashes, arthritis, arthralgia, myalgia more frequent in LET;</li> </ul>
	according to patient choice	804		vaginal bleeding less frequent
		placebo		<ul> <li>5.8% osteoporosis vs 4.5%, p=0.07</li> </ul>
				• 5.8% osceptorosis vs 4.5%, $p=0.07$
				Median follow-up 30 mo: Final analysis up to date of unblinding (Oct 9, 2003),
				(292)
				• DFS (4 y):94.4% vs 89.8%, HR=0.58 (95% CI 0.45–0.76), p<0.001
				<ul> <li>DFS N+ subgroup: HR=0.61 (95% CI 0.45-0.84)</li> </ul>
				<ul> <li>DFS N0- subgroup: HR=0.45 (95% CI 0.47-0.04)</li> <li>DFS N0- subgroup: HR=0.45 (95% CI 0.27-0.73)</li> </ul>
				<ul> <li>OS (4 y): 95.4% vs 95%, HR=0.82 (95% CI 0.57-1.19), p=0.3</li> </ul>
				<ul> <li>OS (4 y): 95.4% vs 95%, HR=0.62 (95% CI 0.57-1.19), p=0.5</li> <li>OS N+ subgroup: HR=0.61 (95% CI 0.38-0.98), p=0.04</li> </ul>
NCIC CTG MA.17				OS NO subgroup: HR=1.52 (95% CI 0.76-3.06)
Intention- to-treat				Median follow-up 64 mo (database locked July 28, 2006): analysis based on
analysis (293)				<ul> <li>original randomization, although 66% of placebo switched to LET</li> <li>4 y DFS 94.3% vs 91.4%, HR=0.68 (95% CI 0.55-0.83), p=0.0001</li> </ul>
analysis (273)				<ul> <li>4 y Dr3 94.3% vs 91.4%, fix=0.68 (95% CI 0.55-0.63), p=0.0001</li> <li>DFS N+ subgroup: HR=0.74 (95% CI 0.58-0.94), p=0.01</li> </ul>
				<ul> <li>DFS N+ subgroup: HR=0.74 (95% CI 0.38-0.94), p=0.01</li> <li>DFS N0 subgroup: HR=0.51 (95% CI 0.35-0.75), p=0.0005</li> </ul>
				<ul> <li>DFS N0 subgroup: HR=0.51 (95% CI 0.35-0.75), p=0.0005</li> <li>4 y OS 95.1% both groups: HR=0.98 (95% CI 0.78-1.22), p=0.853</li> </ul>
				• OS N+ subgroup: HR=0.84 (95% CI 0.63–1.12)
				<ul> <li>OS N0 subgroup: HR=1.24 (95% CI 0.84–1.82)</li> </ul>

Trial and recruitment	Trial arms	# pts	Patient characteristics	Outcome
NCIC CTG MA.17	Two approaches used to account for			Median follow-up 64 mo, LET vs placebo
Analysis adjusted for	>60% of female pts on placebo			<ul> <li>Inverse probability of censoring weighted (IPCW) Cox model</li> </ul>
crossover (294)	crossing over to LET after the study			• DFS: HR=0.52 (95% CI 0.45-0.61), p<0.001
	was unblinded			<ul> <li>DDFS: HR=0.51 (95% CI 0.42–0.61), p&lt;0.001</li> </ul>
				• OS: HR=0.61 (95% CI 0.52-0.71), p<0.001
				Cox model with time-dependent covariates
				• DFS: HR=0.58 (95% CI 0.47-0.71), p<0.001
				• DDFS: HR=0.68 (95% CI 0.52-0.88), p=0.004
				• OS: HR=0.76 (95% CI 0.60-0.96), p=0.02
NCIC CTG MA.17	• ER+PR+	3809		LET vs placebo
according to ER/PR	• ER+PR-	636		• DFS ER+PR+: HR=0.49 (95% CI 0.36-0.67)
status (295)	• ER-PR+	200		• DFS ER+PR-: HR=1.21 (95% CI 0.63-2.34)
	• ER-PR-	8		• DFS ER-PR+: HR=0.56 (95% CI 0.15-2.12)
		-		• OS ER+PR+: HR=0.58 (95% CI 0.37-0.90)
				• OS ER+PR-: HR=1.52 (95% CI 0.54-4.30)
				• OS ER-PR+: HR=2.16 (95% CI 0.22-20.77)
				Results suggest greater benefit for LET in ER+PR+ tumours. Because this is a
				subset analysis not measured centrally, the authors caution against using results
				for clinical decision making; this result contradicts other trials (IES, BIG 1–98,
				ATAC, ABCSG-8)
NCIC CTG MA.17	See previous entry in table	877	Postmenopausal after	Extended LET vs placebo, 4-y outcomes
Subset by menopausal	See previous entry in table	premen	TAM	Premenopausal
status at diagnosis	Subdivided by menopausal status at	opausal	1700	• DFS 96.5% vs 86.8%, HR=0.26 (95% CI 0.13–0.55), p=0.0003
(296)	diagnosis of breast cancer, whereas	opuusui		<ul> <li>OS 99.3% vs 96.8%, HR=0.43 (95% CI 0.08-2.22), p=0.31</li> </ul>
(270)	trial inclusion was based on being			<ul> <li>Postmenopausal</li> </ul>
	postmenopausal at time of			• DFS 93.9% vs 90.5%, HR=0.67 (95% CI 0.51–0.89), p=0.006
	randomization (after 5 y TAM)			<ul> <li>OS 94.6% vs 94.5%, HR=0.83 (95% CI 0.57-1.22), p=0.35</li> </ul>
	randomization (arter 5 y rAm)			• 03 94.0% v3 94.5%, Tik-0.03 (95% CI 0.57 T.22), p=0.55
				Subgroups who switched from placebo to LET after unblinding vs stayed on
				placebo, 5-y outcome
				Premenopausal:
				• DFS 98.8% vs 90.5%, HR=0.39 (95% CI 0.14–1.09), p=0.07
			~	<ul> <li>DDFS 99.6% vs 93.7%, HR=0.15 (95% CI 0.03-0.79), p=0.02</li> </ul>
				<ul> <li>OS 99.0% vs 98.2%, HR=0.51 (95% CI 0.06-4.11), p=0.53</li> </ul>
				<ul> <li>OS 77.0% VS 78.2%, TR=0.51 (75% CF 0.00-4.11), p=0.55</li> <li>Postmenopausal:</li> </ul>
				<ul> <li>DFS 97.0% vs 94.0%, HR=0.36 (95% CI 0.21–0.62), p=0.0003</li> </ul>
				<ul> <li>DDFS 97.0% vs 94.0%, nk=0.30 (95% CI 0.21=0.02), p=0.0003</li> <li>DDFS 98.1% vs 96.7%, HR=0.45 (95% CI 0.22=0.94), p=0.033</li> </ul>
				<ul> <li>OS 98.1% vs 93.0%, HR=0.28 (95% CI 0.15-0.49), p&lt;0.0001</li> </ul>
NCIC CTG MA.17	• Age <60 y	2152		At 4 y, LET vs placebo
	<ul> <li>Age &lt;60 y</li> <li>Age 60-69 y</li> </ul>	1694		• DFS, age <60 y: HR=0.46, (95% CI 0.30–0.70), p=0.0004
older female pts		1323		
subset (297)	• Age ≥70 y	1323		• DFS, age 60-69 y: HR=0.68 (95% CI 0.44-1.04), p=0.078
				• DFS, age ≥70 y: HR=0.67 (95% CI 0.41-1.11), p=0.12
				• OS, age <60 y: HR=0.78, (95% CI 0.34-1.79), p=0.56

Trial and recruitment	Trial arms	# pts	Patient characteristics	Outcome
				<ul> <li>OS, age 60-69 y: HR=0.75 (95% CI 0.36-1.59), p=0.56</li> <li>OS, age ≥70 y: HR=0.82 (95% CI 0.50-1.35), p=0.44</li> <li>No interaction between age and treatment, indicating similar effect of LET among all age groups</li> <li>No difference in adverse effects or QoL at 24 mo among LET and placebo-treated pts aged ≥70 y</li> </ul>
NCIC CTG MA.17 late extended (298)	TAM (5 y) $\rightarrow$ placebo ( $\approx$ 2 y) $\rightarrow$ LET (5 y) vs TAM (5 y) $\rightarrow$ placebo (by patient choice)	1579 804	Pts who had large gap in treatment after initial 5 y TAM due to being randomized to placebo were offered LET	<ul> <li>Median follow-up 5.3 y since initial randomization (2.8 y since unblinding);</li> <li>excludes those who died or relapsed before unblinding</li> <li>DFS: HR=0.37 (95% CI 0.23-0.61), p&lt;0.0001</li> <li>OS: 21 vs 36 deaths (1.3% vs 4.5%), HR=0.30 (95% CI 0.17-0.53), p&lt;0.0001</li> <li>LET group had more clinical fractures (5.2% vs 3.1%, p=0.02) and self-reported osteoporosis (5.3% v 1.6%; P&lt;0.0001)</li> <li>Interpret that LET improves DFS even when substantial period of time since discontinuation of TAM (median 2.8 y in this study)</li> </ul>
Meta-analysis of 4 studies: NCIC CTG MA.17; NSABP B33; ABCSG 6A; ATENA (299) [abstract only]	TAM (5 y)→ EXE, LET or ANA TAM (5 y)		See individual studies	Median follow-up 2.5 y Al therapy after 5 y TAM associated with absolute 2.9% decrease in breast cancer recurrence rate (43% relative decrease, p<0.00001), and absolute 0.5% decrease in breast cancer mortality rate (relative decrease 27%, p=0.11). Trend toward improved survival rate, may be underestimated due to cross-over after unblinding

<u>Abbreviations</u>: AI, aromatase inhibitor; ANA, anastrozole; BCFI, breast cancer-free interval; BCFS, breast cancer-free survival rate; BMD, bone-mineral density; DFS, disease-free survival rate; DDFS, distant disease-free survival rate; DRFI, distant recurrence-free survival rate; ER, estrogen receptor; EXE, exemestane; GOS, goserelin; HER2, human epidermal growth factor receptor 2; IDC, invasive ductal cancer; IHC, immunohistochemistry; ILC, invasive lobular cancer; LET, letrozole; OR, odds ratio; OS, overall survival rate; pts, patients; PR, progesterone receptor; QoL, quality of life; RFS, recurrence (relapse)-free survival rate; TAM, tamoxifen; TDR, time to distant recurrence

Trial and recruitment	Trial arms	# pts	Patient characteristics	Outcome
MA.27 (356-359)	EXE (25 mg/d) vs ANA (1 mg/d)	7,576	Postmenopausal, HR+	EFS rates at median follow-up 4.1 y, EXE vs ANA:
	for 5 y	.,	72% T1, 26% T2, 71%	• 91% vs 91.2%, HR=1.02 (95% Cl 0.87–1.18), p=0.85
2003-2008			N0	<ul> <li>N0, 93.2%, HR=1.04 (95% CI 0.85–1.27), p=0.73</li> </ul>
2003 2000			31% had adjuvant	<ul> <li>N+, 85.8%, HR=0.99 (95% CI 0.79–1.23), p=0.90</li> </ul>
			chemotherapy,	<ul> <li>Chemotherapy HR=1.02 (95% CI 0.80–1.29), p=0.89</li> </ul>
			4% trastuzumab for	<ul> <li>No chemotherapy HR=1.01(95% CI 0.84-1.23), p=0.89</li> <li>No chemotherapy HR=1.01(95% CI 0.84-1.23), p=0.89</li> </ul>
			HER2+ since 2005	OS 94.5% vs 94.1%, HR=0.93 (95% CI 0.77–1.13), p=0.46
			HERZ+ SILCE 2005	
				DDFS 95.9% vs 95.7%, HR=0.95 (95% CI 0.76-1.18), p=0.64
				Liver enzyme elevation, acne, androgenic changes occurred in ≈1-2%
				of pts and were significantly increased compared with ANA (p=0.04 to
				p<0.0001); hypertriglyceridemia occurred in 2% of EXE pts vs 3% of the
				ANA group (p=0.002), hypercholesterolemia in 15% vs 18% of pts
				(p=0.01), and osteoporosis in 31% vs 35% (p=0.001); vaginal bleeding
				was less common with EXE (1% vs 2%, p=0.04). Cardiovascular events
				were similar between the 2 arms, although atrial fibrillation was less
				common with ANA (2% vs 1%, p=002).
				Conclude EXE comparable to ANA, provides new option
MA.27B bone substudy (360)	See previous entry in table	497	See previous entry in	Group A (no bisphosphonate): BMD change, EXE vs ANA:
Multip bolic substacy (500)	Group A: no osteoporosis at	300	table, no	<ul> <li>Bone loss at hip: 1 y: -0.62% vs -1.66%, p=0.01</li> </ul>
2006-2008	start (baseline T-score for BMD	500	bisphosphonates in	<ul> <li>Bone loss at hip, 2 y: -1.93% vs -2.71(p=0.10)</li> </ul>
2000 2000	-2.0 or greater at the spine and	197	6 mo before	<ul> <li>Bone loss at L spine, 1 y: -0.59% vs -1.88% (p=0.32)</li> </ul>
	hip)		registration in Group	<ul> <li>Bone loss at L spine, 2 y: -0.92% vs -2.39% (p=0.08)</li> </ul>
	inp)		A	• bone toss at L spine, 2 y0.72% vs -2.57% (p=0.00)
	Group B: osteoporosis (T-score			Group B: BMD increased in all groups despite EXE or ANA (effect of
	less than -2.0), administered			bisphosphonate + vitamin D + calcium)
	bisphosphonate			• BMD change, hip, 1 y: 0.61% vs 0.83% (p=0.23)
	Both groups administered			<ul> <li>BMD change, hip, 2 y: 2.09% vs 0.00% (p=0.28)</li> </ul>
	vitamin D and calcium daily			<ul> <li>BMD change, L spine, 1 y: 3.75% vs 2.60% (p=0.67)</li> </ul>
				• BMD change, L spine, 2 y: 2.11% vs 3.72% (p=0.26)
TEAM Japan: N SAS BC04 lipid	EXE (5 y) vs	52		Changes in lipid profiles with tamoxifen were relatively favourable,
substudy (329)	TAM $(2.5-3 y) \rightarrow EXE (2-2.5 y);$	52		whereas exemestane and anastrozole had no clinically significant
······	5 y total			effect on serum lipids; tamoxifen may be a treatment choice for pts at
	5 y ANA	50		high risk of cardiovascular events such as hyperlipidemia
FACE (361)	Initial adjuvant treatment with	4172	Postmenopausal,	Accrual complete March 2008, primary endpoint DFS at 5 y, secondary
	ANA (1 mg/d) vs LET (2.5 mg/d)		HR+, N+	endpoint OS, TDR, safety
	up to 5 y or until			No data yet available
	recurrence/relapse			
Indirect comparison of ANA and	ANA (5 y) vs TAM		Postmenopausal,	Indirect statistical comparison (inverse probability censoring weighted

# Table 9. Studies comparing aromatase inhibitors (letrozole, anastrozole, exemestane) or their duration.

Trial and recruitment	Trial arms	# pts	Patient	Outcome
			characteristics	
LET from the ATAC and BIG 1-98 trials [abstract] (362)	LET (5 y) vs TAM		early-stage, HR+	<ul> <li>analysis):</li> <li>OS for LET was HR=0.83 (95% CI 0.71-0.97), p&lt;0.05 (median follow-up 74 mo) in BIG 1-98</li> <li>OS for ANA was HR= 0.97 (95% CI 0.85-1.12), p=0.70 (median follow-up 68 mo) in ATAC</li> <li>Indirect comparison:</li> <li>DFS, HR=0.98 (95% CI 0.83-1.15)</li> <li>Risk reduction for early distant recurrences between 2-2.5 y with LET (RR=0.75, 95% CI 0.52-1.07) over ANA</li> <li>Trend for improved OS with LET, HR=0.86 (95% CI 0.70-1.05)</li> <li>Authors conclude LET may be more effective than ANA to reduce early distant recurrence and mortality at 5 y but needs confirmation in ongoing trials</li> </ul>
Comparison of benefit in ATAC and BIG-98 [abstract] (363)	See previous entry in table		See previous entry in table	Comparison using number needed to treat (NNT) analysis, number needed to treat with intervention to avoid one additional event, using time points of 2.5 y for ANA and 2 y for LET NNT, all recurrences, LET vs ANA: 75 vs 77 NNT, distant recurrence: 100 vs 300
DATA (364), NCT00301457	TAM (2-3 y) then randomized to 3 y vs 6 y ANA	1915	Postmenopausal (or chemotherapy- induced amenorrhea, CIA), HR+, already received 2 to 3 y of adjuvant tamoxifen, no signs of locoregional recurrences or distant metastases	Ongoing, enrolment complete 2014, see https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/record/NCT00301457
SOLE BIG 1-07 IBCSG 35-07 NCT00553410 (365)	4-6 y prior adjuvant endocrine therapy (selective estrogen receptor modulator and/or aromatase inhibitor) then randomized to 5 y continuous LET vs 5 y intermittent (daily for 9 months, then 3 month gap for years 1-4, 12 months for year 5)	4800 planned	Postmenopausal, post-surgery, disease- free, ER+, N+	Ongoing, recruitment complete, see <u>http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00553410</u>

<u>Abbreviations</u>: ANA, anastrozole; BCFI, breast cancer-free interval; BCFS, breast cancer-free survival rate; DFS, disease-free survival rate; BMD, bonemineral density; DDFS, distant disease-free survival rate; DRFI, distant recurrence-free survival rate; EFS, event-free survival rate; ER+, estrogen-receptor positive; EXE, exemestane; GOS, goserelin; HER2, human epidermal growth factor receptor 2; HR+, hormone receptor positive; LET, letrozole; N+, lymph node positive; NNT, number needed to treat; OS, overall survival rate; pts, patients; RFS, recurrence (relapse)-free survival; TAM, tamoxifen; TDR, time to distant recurrence

## 4.3.3 Ovarian Ablation (Surgical or Radiation) and Ovarian Suppression

#### a) Background

Ovarian ablation (OA) is the oldest form of systemic therapy for breast cancer (368,369). The term "ovarian ablation" is generally used to refer to surgical oophorectomy or ovarian irradiation, although sometimes ovarian suppression is included in the definition [e.g., the Cancer Care Ontario Guideline on Ovarian Ablation (101)]. Goserelin (Zoladex) is the most commonly used agent for ovarian suppression. Chemotherapy can partially interrupt ovarian estrogen production (permanently or temporarily), as indicated by chemotherapy-induced amenorrhea in a large portion of younger patients; however, it may have both cytotoxic and endocrine effects (370).

Ovarian ablation and/or suppression (OA/S) is a hormonal manoeuvre; thus it only benefits female patients with HR+ breast cancer. In addition, OA/S only has endocrine effects in premenopausal patients, and thus should only be considered as a therapeutic strategy in these female patients. Despite the large body of evidence regarding OA/S in early-stage breast cancer, its current role as a treatment strategy remains unclear.

#### b) Major Meta-analyses and Guidelines

A list of RCTs on OA/S in some of the most recent and comprehensive meta-analyses or systematic reviews is provided in Table 10 (41,61,63,64,101,112,119,265,282,304-307,309,371-408). For the EBCTCG meta-analysis (112), only those trials on OA/S are listed.

The data are complicated by the extremely large number of different comparisons made. Studies may use OA (by RT or surgery), ovarian suppression, or both. The comparisons may include no treatment, chemotherapy, or tamoxifen in either or both arms. In Table 10, data on comparisons without tamoxifen in either arm are given first. THE EBCTCG metaanalysis is the most complete comparison of OA vs none and of OA + chemotherapy vs chemotherapy, and these studies are not included in the other meta-analyses. The original studies were not obtained as these analyses are complete in the EBCTCG; thus, the details of hormone receptor status are not indicated in Table 10. For other categories, there are a few studies (e.g. SITAM-02) that appear to be unpublished and are only included in the EBCTCG report.

The main purposes of Table 10 are to highlight the treatment settings in which OA/S has been used and to indicate which studies have been included in the systematic reviews. Table 10 reveals that although some reviews cover certain subtopics comprehensively, no individual review/guideline covers them all. It is not possible to combine all the original trials into a new overall analysis, because the EBCTCG and LHRH studies used individual patient data to make additional comparisons and some of the studies are unpublished. Because of the individual patient data, these meta-analyses are considered the most useful and comprehensive for the areas that they cover, although they have some limitations. The various reviews or meta-analyses as well as new studies from the literature search are discussed in the following sections (4.3.3c-4.3.3h).

# Table 10. Studies of ovarian ablation and/or ovarian suppression included in recent metaanalyses.

Category of treatment comparison and trial names	Treatment comparison	Hormone receptor status	EBCTCG meta- analysis (112,119)	LHRH meta- analysis (61)	<b>PEBC</b> #1-9 (101) <sup>*</sup>	Cochrane (371)	1-21 search
OA vs none	•				•	•	•
Christie A	Irradiation vs control		Yes	No	No	No	No
Norwegian RH	Irradiation vs control		Yes	No	No	No	No
PMH Toronto	Irradiation vs control		Yes	No	No	No	No
Ontario CTRF	Irradiation vs control		Yes	No	No	No	No
(unpublished)							
CRFB Caen A	Irradiation vs control (<100 pts)		Yes	No	No	No	No
NSABP B-03	Oophorectomy vs control		Yes	No	No	No	No
Saskatchewan CF	Oophorectomy vs control		Yes	No	No	No	No
Bradford R1	Oophorectomy + selective radiotherapy		Yes	No	No	No	No
	vs selective radiotherapy (<100 pts)						
Suppression vs none							
ZIPP (372); 1-21	GOS vs none	Any	(Yes) <sup>†</sup>	Yes	No	No	Yes
search (373,374)	( $\approx$ 62% received RT, 43% chemotherapy,				P		
SITAM-02	according to local practice)		00 ot	N.	NL-	N	N.
	GOS vs none		(Yes) <sup>†</sup>	No	No	No	No
(unpublished)	GOS vs none	4.007	No	Yes	No	No	No
IBCSG VIII (41)	GOS VS Holle	Any	NO	res	NO	NO	No
OA vs chemotherapy	Long dis tion on CME	LID	NL.	N.	Maa	N-	N
DBCG 89b (375); 1-21	Irradiation vs CMF	HR+	No	No	Yes	No	Yes
search (376) Scottish Trial A	OA (conherestern) or irrediction) vs CME	4.007	Na	No	Yes	No	No
(377,378)	OA (oophorectomy or irradiation) vs CMF	Any	No	No	res	NO	No
Salvadori et al (379)	Oophorectomy vs CMF (<100 pts)	HR+	No	No	Yes	No	No
				NO	163	110	110
Suppression vs chemo Zebra (380)	GOS vs CMF	4.007	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
IBCSG VIII (41)	GOS VS CMF	Any Any	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
GABG IV-A-93 (381)	GOS vs CMF	HR+	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
TABLE (382,383)	Leuprorelin vs CMF	HR+ or	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
TADEL (362,363)		unknown	NO	163	165	Tes	NU
Suppression + chemot	herapy vs suppression	-	-	-	-	-	-
IBCSG VIII (41)	$CMF \rightarrow GOS vs GOS$	Any,	No	No	No	Yes	No
		subgroup					
		by ER					
		status					
OA + chemotherapy v	s chemotherapy						
CAMS China	Ablation + CMF vs CMF		(Yes) <sup>‡</sup>	No	No	No	No
(unpublished)	(note: RT to ≈50%, CMF to ≈90%,						
	tamoxifen to ≈70%) (384)						
FNCLCC France	Chemotherapy→ ovarian		Yes	No	No	No	No
	irradiation/oophorectomy vs						
	chemotherapy						
Transfer Ed.	(≈ 60% receiving FAC or FEC, 35% CMF)		V				
Toronto-Edmonton	Irradiation + CMF ± regional radiotherapy		Yes	No	No	No	No
	± Bacillus Calmette-Guérin vs CMF ±						
DCCA Maria	Bacillus Calmette-Guérin		V				
BCCA Vancouver	Ovarian irradiation + CMF vs CMF		Yes	No	No	No	No
IBCSG/Ludwig II	Oophorectomy then CMF vs CMF		Yes	No	No	No	No
Bradford RI	(Oophorectomy + methotrexate +		Yes	No	No	No	No
	triethylenephosphoramide) vs						

Category of treatment comparison and trial names	Treatment comparison	Hormone receptor status	EBCTCG meta- analysis (112,119)	LHRH meta- analysis (61)	<b>PEBC</b> #1-9 (101) <sup>°</sup>	Cochrane (371)	1-21 search
	(methotrexate + triethylenephosphoramide) (<100 pts)						
SWOG 7827B	Oophorectomy + CMF+ vincristine vs CMF + vincristine		Yes	No	No	No	No
Suppression + chemot	herapy vs chemotherapy	•	•		•	<u>.</u>	•
Pretoria (385)	Buserelin + CMF vs CMF		Yes	No	No	Yes	No
FNCLCC France (386)	Triptorelin + chemotherapy vs chemotherapy	Any	Yes	Yes	No	No	No
ECOG E5188 (387)	$CAF \rightarrow GOS \ vs \ CAF$	HR+	Yes <sup>†</sup>	Yes	No	Yes	No
IBCSG VIII (41)	$CFM \rightarrow GOS vs CMF$	Any	No	Yes	No	Yes	No
GABG IV-B-93 (388)	GOS + CMF vs CMF GOS + EC/CMF vs EC/CMF	Any	No	Yes	No	Yes	No
SITAM-02	(GOS +CMF ± TAM) vs (CMF ± TAM) (<100 pts )		(Yes) <sup>†</sup>	No	No	No	No
Suppression vs TAM	p0)						
ZXBC1002 (ZBCSG Trial B) (Japan— Zoladex breast cancer study group	GOS vs TAM	ER+	No	No	Yes	Yes	No
trial-B) (389); as				×			
reported in (61)							
Soreide et al (390)	GOS vs TAM (perioperative chemotherapy including vincristine, cyclophosphamide, fluorouracil, and methotrexate)	Any	No	No	Yes	Yes	No
ZIPP (372); 1–21 search (373,374)	GOS vs TAM (≈ 62% received RT, 43% chemotherapy, according to local practice)	Any	(No) <sup>†</sup>	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
SITAM-02	GOS vs TAM		(No) <sup>†</sup>	No	No	No	No
OA/S + TAM vs none		•	L ` ´		<u>.</u>	•	•
ZIPP (372); 1–21 search (373,374)	GOS + TAM vs none (≈62% received RT, 43% chemotherapy, according to local practice)	Any	(No) <sup>†</sup>	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
SITAM-02	GOS + TAM vs none		(No) <sup>†</sup>	No	No	No	
Love et al (391,392); 1-21 search (392)	Oophorectomy + TAM vs none	Any	No	No	Yes	No	Yes
OA/S + TAM vs TAM							
ZIPP (372); 1–21 search (373,374)	GOS + TAM vs TAM (≈ 62% received RT, 43% chemotherapy,	Any	(No) <sup>†</sup>	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
ZXBC1002 (ZBCSG	according to local practice) GOS + TAM vs TAM	ER+	No	Yes	No	No	No
Trial B) (Japan– Zoladex breast cancer study group trial-B) (389)							
SITAM-02	GOS + TAM vs TAM		(No) <sup>†</sup>	No	No	No	No
INT0142 (393,394)	OA (various) + TAM vs TAM	HR+	No	No	Yes	No	No
See also (65)** ABC (OAS) (395)	OA (various)+ TAM vs TAM (chemotherapy by local practice)	Any	No	No	Yes	No	No
SOFT (63,64,282) See also (59,62)**	TAM vs OA/S + TAM vs OA/S + EXE	HR+	No	No	No	No	Yes (on- going)

Category of treatment comparison and trial names	Treatment comparison	Hormone receptor status	EBCTCG meta- analysis (112,119)	LHRH meta- analysis (61)	<b>PEBC</b> #1-9 (101) <sup>*</sup>	Cochrane (371)	1–21 search
OA/S +TAM vs chemot	herapy					•	•
ABCSG 05 (396,397)	GOS + TAM vs CMF	HR+	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
FASG 06 (398)	Triptorelin + TAM vs FEC	HR+	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
GROCTA 02 (399)	OA/S (70% GOS, 25% irradiation, 5% surgery) + TAM vs CMF	ER+	No	Yes	Yes	No	No
Nomura et al (400,401)	Oophorectomy + TAM vs mitomycin C + C	ER+, ER- (separate analysis)	No	No	Yes	No	No
Roche et al (402)	OA (various) + TAM vs FAC	ER+PR+	No	No	Yes	No	No
Suppression +TAM + c	hemotherapy vs chemotherapy						
ECOG E5188 (387)	$CAF \rightarrow GOS + TAM vs CAF$	HR+	No§	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
GOCSI (MAM-1 GOCSI)	$CMF \rightarrow GOS + TAM \lor s CMF$	Any	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
(403)	$A \rightarrow CMF \rightarrow GOS + TAM vs A \rightarrow CMF$	-					
SITAM-02	GOS +CMF ± TAM vs CMF ± TAM (<100 pts)		(No) <sup>†</sup>	No	No	No	No
Suppression +TAM +cl	nemotherapy vs TAM + chemotherapy					•	
ZIPP (372); 1–21 search (373,374)	GOS + TAM vs TAM (≈ 62% received RT, 43% chemotherapy, according to local practice)	Any	(No)†	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
SITAM-02	GOS + CMF ± TAM vs CMF ± TAM (<100 pts)		(No) <sup>†</sup>	No	No	No	No
OA/S + TAM + chemot	herapy vs OA/S + chemotherapy		-	_		•	•
IBCSG 11-93; 1-21 search (404)	OA/S + TAM + AC or EC vs OA/S + TAM	HR+	No	No	No	No	Yes
ECOG E5188 (387)	$CAF \rightarrow GOS + TAM vs GOS + CAF$	HR+	No <sup>§</sup>	No	No	Yes	No
SITAM-02	GOS + CMF ± TAM vs GOS +CMF (<100 pts)		(No) <sup>†</sup>	No	No	No	No
Suppression + Al vs su	ppression + TAM						<b>I</b>
ABCSG-12 (265,304- 307,309,405-407)	GOS + anastrozole vs GOS + TAM Both arms ± zoledronic acid	HR+	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
SOFT (63,64,282)	Tamoxifen vs OA/S + tamoxifen vs OA/S + exemestane	HR+	No	No	No	No	Yes
TEXT (63,64,282)	Triptorelin + tamoxifen vs Triptorelin + exemestane	HR+	No	No	No	No	Yes
Timing						·	
NCT00303524; 1-21 search (408)	GOS (q3 mo) + TAM vs GOS (q1mo) + TAM	ER+	No	No	No	No	Yes
- ( /		1		1		1	

<u>Abbreviations</u>: C, cyclophosphamide; CAF, cyclophosphamide + methotrexate + fluorouracil; CMF, cyclophosphamide + methotrexate + fluorouracil; EC, epirubicin + cyclophosphamide; ER+, estrogen receptor positive; F, 5-fluorouracil; FAC, fluorouracil + doxorubicin + cyclophosphamide; FEC, fluorouracil + epirubicin + cyclophosphamide; GOS, goserelin (Zoladex); HR+, hormone receptor positive; OA, ovarian ablation; OA/S, ovarian ablation and/or ovarian suppression; PR+, progesterone receptor positive; RT, radiation therapy; TAM, tamoxifen.

Note: Yes=study included; No=study not included; none=no chemotherapy/no endocrine therapy

\*PEBC review relied on the EBCTCG meta-analysis and indirectly included studies of the EBCTCG meta-analysis (119).

<sup>†</sup> EBCTCG included the ZIPP and SITAM-02 studies, but ignored that TAM was used, and combined the groups  $\pm$  TAM ( $\approx$ 62% received RT, 43% chemotherapy, according to local practice; this was not randomized chemotherapy trial, but chemotherapy was received for some and could be analyzed in individual patient data; Cochrane listed this in studies of LHRH + chemotherapy vs chemotherapy; LHRH + TAM + chemotherapy vs chemotherapy)

<sup>‡</sup>EBCTCG included CAMS China study, although ≈70% received tamoxifen

<sup>§</sup> EBCTCG included this study only under OA + chemotherapy vs chemotherapy.

\*\*Published following completion of the review and guideline; data has not been extracted.

#### c) Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group

An individual patient data meta-analysis has been published by EBCTCG in 2005 (112). A summary of the meta-analysis is provided in Table 11. The EBCTCG included 7725 female patients aged <50 years with early breast cancer in six trials of either OA (N=4317) or ovarian suppression (LHRH inhibition=LHRHI, N=3408) compared with no adjuvant OA/S. Age <50 years was used as a surrogate for menopausal status. Chemotherapy was allowed if equivalent in both OA/S and controls. They included ER+ cancers and ER-unknown (63% of ablation ER untested, 26% of suppression ER untested) and subdivided results according to age <40 years or age 40–49 years. Overall, OA and suppression both significantly improved recurrence and survival rates compared with no treatment or any other treatment without OA or ovarian suppression. The overall recurrence rate at year 15 was 47.3% for OA/S vs 51.6% for control (p=0.0001). The breast cancer mortality rate at 15 years was 40.3% for OA/S vs 43.5% for control (p=0.004).

Subgroup analyses found the effect of OA/S was significant for patients without chemotherapy when both age groups were combined. The effect appeared smaller in studies in which chemotherapy was also administered, and was not significantly different than the control (chemotherapy alone), except for suppression in patients aged <40 years for which there was a statistically significant improvement in recurrence rates with ovarian suppression (RR=0.70, 95% CI 0.39–0.996). Because the overall effects were small and the subgroups had limited numbers of events (especially for mortality), caution should be used in interpreting subgroup data. One concern about this data is that less than half the patients on OA were confirmed to be HR+. The largest study on OA + chemotherapy (CAMS China) accounted for two-thirds of the patients in the meta-analysis, yet the EBCTCG meta-analysis on radiotherapy (384) indicated that approximately 70% of patients in the CAMS trial received tamoxifen and 50% received radiotherapy. No publication of the CAMS trial could be located.

Another observation not addressed in the report is that all the studies on ovarian suppression without chemotherapy compared goserelin  $\pm$  tamoxifen vs none  $\pm$  tamoxifen. The ZIPP trials and SITAM-02 actually consisted of four patient groups (control, tamoxifen, goserelin, and tamoxifen + goserelin), but the EBCTCG combined these into two groups, thereby ignoring the effect of tamoxifen. In the group of LHRH inhibitor + chemotherapy, the SITAM-02 study again included tamoxifen in some patients (GOS  $\pm$  tamoxifen vs CMF  $\pm$  tamoxifen). Removal of this study from the LHRH+ chemotherapy study analysis and recalculation of the risk without this trial indicates a greater effect of ovarian suppression. The ECOG E5188 study consisted of three groups (CAF, CAF + goserelin, CAF + goserelin + tamoxifen) (387), and it is unclear whether the EBCTCG analysis included the goserelin + tamoxifen group. The EBCTCG meta-analysis does not answer the question of whether or not LHRH adds to tamoxifen in patients treated with chemotherapy.

# Table 11. Summary of EBCTCG 2005 meta-analysis on ovarian ablation and suppression

	Ovarian ablation or sup	pression vs control				
Treatment	Recurrence events/won	nan-years, rate ratio		Deaths/women, rate ratio		
	Age <40 y	Age 40-49 y	overall	Age <40 y	Age 40-49 y	overall
OA, no chemotherapy	5.0% vs 6.5%, RR=0.70 (95% CI 0.30-1.10)	3.6% vs 5.2%, RR=0.67 (95% CI 0.45-0.87)	3.9% vs 5.4%, RR=0.68, p=0.00002	54.6% vs 58.5%, RR=0.71	45.2% vs 56.7%, RR=0.68	47.2% vs 57.1%, RR=0.68, p=0.00002
OA + chemotherapy	6.5% vs 6.6%, RR=0.96 (95% CI 0.73-1.19)	5.1% vs 5.5%, RR=0.90 (95% CI 0.74-1.06)	5.5% vs 5.8%, RR=0.94, p>0.1	32.2% vs 31.3%, RR=1.04	24.6% vs 25.1%, RR=0.98	27.1% vs 27.0%, RR=1.01, p>0.1
OA ± chemotherapy			4.7% vs 5.6%, RR=0.83 (95% CI 0.72-0.93), p=0.0005			33.3% vs 35.8%, RR=0.86, p=0.01
LHRH ± TAM vs control ±TAM	6.9% vs 8.2%, RR=0.79 (95% CI 0.45-1.14)	4.75% vs 6.2%, RR=0.77 (95% CI 0.56-0.97)	5.1% vs 6.6%, RR=0.77, p=0.003	14.3% vs 18.1%, RR=0.73	10.7% vs 13.7%, RR=0.79	11.5% vs 14.8%, RR=0.78, p=0.05
LHRH + chemotherapy	8.1% vs 11.9%, RR=0.70 (95% CI 0.39-0.996)	6.9% vs 6.5%, RR=1.08 (95% CI 0.84-1.32)	7.3 % vs 8.1%, RR=0.91, p>0.1	23.0% vs 29.1%, RR=0.80	20.2% vs 17.2%, RR=1.02	21.2% vs 21.3%, RR=1.02, p>0.1
LHRH + chemotherapy (excluding trial with TAM)			6.9% vs 7.9%, RR=0.88			
LHRH ± chemotherapy (4 trials)			6.0% vs 7.2%, RR=0.83 (95% CI 0.70-0.96), p=0.006			15.2% vs 17.3%, p>0.1
OA or LHRH, no chemotherapy	5.7 vs 7.3%, RR=0.75 (95% CI 0.49-1.01)	4.0% vs 5.6% RR=0.71 (95% Cl 0.57-0.86)	[RR=0.72 (95% CI 0.64-0.82) from (101) ]	29.9% vs 32.0%, RR=0.71	24.3% vs 29.9%, RR=0.71	[RR=0.71 (95% CI 0.62-0.83) from (101)]
OA or LHRH + chemotherapy	6.9% vs 8.0% RR=0.86 (95% CI 0.67-1.04)	5.5% vs 5.8% RR=0.95 (95% CI 0.82-1.09)	[RR=0.92, (95% CI 0.82-1.02) from (101) ]	29.4% vs 30.6%, RR=0.96	23.3% vs 22.7%, RR=1.03	[RR=1.01 (95% CI 0.89–1.14) from (101)]

#### Data from EBCTCG 2005 (112)

Abbreviations: LHRH, luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone; OA, ovarian ablation, TAM, tamoxifen

# Table 12. Summary of LHRH-agonists in early breast cancer overview group results

#### Data from (61)

Therapy	Number	Hazard ratio, LHRH vs control		% change in hazard ratios (95% CI) for	% change in hazard ratios (95% CI) for
	of pts	Recurrence Death after recurrence		- recurrence	all deaths
LHRH vs no systemic	338	0.72 (95% CI 0.49-1.04), p=0.08	0.82 (95% CI 0.47-1.43), p=0.49	-28.4 (-50.5 to 3.5), p=0.08 -	-22.9 (-44.1 to 6.4), p=0.11
LHRH vs Chemotherapy	3184	1.04 (95% CI 0.92-1.17), p=0.52	0.93 (95% CI 0.79-1.10), p=0.40	3.9 (-7.7 to 17.0), p=0.52	-9.4 (-22.6 to 6.1), p=0.22
LHRH + chemotherapy vs chemotherapy	2376			-11.7 (-22.8 to 1.0), p=0.07 Age ≤40: -24.7%, p=0.01 Age >40: -5.1%, p=0.55	-11.5 (-24.8 to 4.2), p=0.14 Age ≤40: -27.5%, p=0.02 Age >40: -2.2%, p=0.83
LHRH + TAM vs no systemic	407			-58.4 (-72.9 to -36.0), p<0.0001	-49.4 (-70.8 to -12.2), p=0.02
LHRH +TAM vs TAM	1013	0.85 (95% CI 0.67-1.09), p=0.20	0.84 (95% CI 0.59-1.19), p=0.33	-14.5 (-32.7 to 8.6), p=0.20 Age ≤40: -32.0%, p=0.12 Age >40: -1.5%, p=0.91	-13.7 (-38.1 to 20.3), p=0.39 Age ≤40: -33.5%, p=0.22 Age >40: -0.3%, p=0.99
LHRH + TAM vs chemotherapy	1577	0.90 (95% CI 0.75-1.08), p=0.25	0.89 (95% Cl 0.69-1.15), p=0.37	-10.1 (-25.0 to 7.8), p=0.25 Age ≤40: -19.8%, p=0.22 Age >40: -3.8%, p=0.72	-12.8 (-31.6 to 11.1), p=0.27 Age ≤40: -2.9%, p=0.90 Age >40: -13.6%, p=0.32
LHRH + TAM + chemotherapy vs chemotherapy	1210			-26.7 (-38.7 to -12.3), p=0.001	-19.8 (-34.6 to -1.7), p=0.03
LHRH + TAM +Chemotherapy vs TAM + chemotherapy	365			-15.9 (-42.4 to 22.6), p=0.37	-30.3 (-57.4 to 13.9), p=0.15
LHRH +(Chemotherapy ± TAM) vs chemotherapy ± TAM*	2741	0.88 (95% CI 0.77-0.99), p=0.04	0.85 (95% CI 0.73-0.99), p=0.04	-12.2 (-22.6 to -0.3), p=0.04	-13.6 (-26.0 to 0.9), p=0.07
LHRH + any systemic vs any systemic*	3754			-12.7 (-21.9 to -2.4), p=0.02 Age ≤40: -26.3%, p=0.002 Age >40: -3.3%, p=0.64	-13.6 (-24.9 to -0.6), p=0.04 Age ≤40: -28.2%, p=0.01 Age >40: -3.9%, p=0.66

<u>Abbreviations</u>: LHRH, luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone; TAM, tamoxifen

\*Combination of other comparisons

#### d) LHRH-Agonists in Early Breast Cancer Overview

Another individual patient data meta-analysis was conducted by the LHRH-agonists in Early Breast Cancer Overview group in 2007 (61). The results of this meta-analysis are summarized in Table 12, and the included trials are indicated in Table 10. It involved 13 trials (16 trials considering the four ZIPP sites separately) in which premenopausal patients (N=11,906) received LHRH agonists (or more than half the patients received LHRH agonists if there were multiple methods of suppression in the trials). An important distinction is that this analysis focused on the 9,022 patients with HR+ cancer, of which 8,278 (91.8%) were ER+. They excluded patients with unknown receptor status, and reported briefly on patients that were HR- or ER/PR unknown. Of those patients receiving chemotherapy, 66% received CMFbased chemotherapy and 32% received anthracycline-based chemotherapy. Data was analyzed in several subgroups depending on chemotherapy and tamoxifen use. LHRH treatment was most commonly administered for two years, but 18 months and three- or five-year durations were also used. In addition to restricting the analysis to patients with HR+ cancer, when compared with the EBCTCG meta-analysis the LHRH-agonists' analysis included more studies with ovarian suppression, included more patients, and controlled for the use of tamoxifen. Although this meta-analysis is important, some of the comparisons are not relevant to modern practice.

LHRH improved recurrence and survival rates in several comparisons. The addition of LHRH + tamoxifen to no systemic treatment, and the addition of LHRH + tamoxifen to chemotherapy both gave significant improvement. It should be noted that these results do not provide direct evidence regarding the efficacy of LHRH alone because tamoxifen was not included in the control arm. The addition of LHRH to any systemic therapy (overall and aged  $\leq$ 40 years subgroup but not the aged >40 years subgroup), and the addition of LHRH to tamoxifen did not have a significant improvement for the full age range of patients (change in hazard ratios for recurrence of -14.5%, p=0.20). For recurrence stratified by age there was no effect for patients aged >40 years (change in hazard ratio of - 1.5%, p=0.91), whereas for patients aged  $\leq$ 40 years the effect was much larger (although still not statistically significant; change in hazard ratio of -32%, p=0.12).

LHRH vs no systemic treatment was almost significant (p=0.08 for recurrence and p=0.11 for all deaths), although it should be noted that this unexpected lack of significance may be due to the small number of patients (338 patients). When results were analyzed by age ( $\leq$ 40 or >40 years) there was a large effect of age for several comparisons. The addition of LHRH significantly improved recurrence rates for patients aged  $\leq$ 40 years but not patients aged >40 years for the comparisons LHRH + chemotherapy vs chemotherapy, LHRH + (chemotherapy  $\pm$  tamoxifen) vs chemotherapy  $\pm$  tamoxifen, and LHRH added to any systemic therapy (note these last two are combinations of other comparisons). This finding is consistent with the EBCTCG analysis which found a significantly reduced recurrence with LHRH in those aged ≤40 years. When results were analyzed according to age in 5-year periods, the effect was greatest in those aged <35 years (HR=0.66) and aged 35-39 years (HR=0.77) but not in the older groups. Although these results indicate a benefit of LHRH in addition to chemotherapy (in the absence of tamoxifen use) for younger female patients, and possible benefit of the addition of LHRH to tamoxifen (in the absence of chemotherapy), they do not address the issue of adding LHRH to tamoxifen + chemotherapy.

In the group that was mostly HR- (ER-/poor plus PR-/poor/unknown), the addition of an LHRH agonist to other treatments did not generally affect the rates of death or recurrence. In contrast, LHRH agonist instead of chemotherapy resulted in significantly increased recurrence rate (p=0.001) and mortality rate (p=0.08), indicating that chemotherapy should be used instead of ovarian suppression for patients with HR- cancer.

# e) PEBC Guideline #1–9: Adjuvant Ovarian Ablation in the Treatment of Premenopausal Women with Early-Stage Invasive Breast Cancer

This review and guideline (101) covers most of the literature, with a search up until September 2009. Included studies are indicated in Table 10. Recommendations are largely based on the individual patient data meta-analysis published by EBCTCG in 2005 (112) and by the LHRH-agonists in Early Breast Cancer Overview group (61). All forms of ovarian ablation or suppression are referred to as ovarian ablation.

The PEBC #1-9 recommendations were:

- OA should not be routinely added to systemic therapy with chemotherapy, tamoxifen, or the combination of tamoxifen and chemotherapy.
- OA alone is not recommended as an alternative to any other form of systemic therapy, except in the specific case of patients who are candidates for other forms of systemic therapy but who for some reason will not receive any other systemic therapy (e.g., patients who cannot tolerate other forms of systemic therapy or patients who choose no other form of systemic therapy).
- When chemical suppression using LHRH agonists is the chosen method of OA, in the opinion of the Breast Cancer DSG, monthly injection is the recommended mode of administration. This recommendation is based on the fact that the mode of administration in nearly all of the available trials has been monthly administration.
- There is no available evidence on which to base a recommendation regarding which specific form of OA (surgical oophorectomy, ovarian irradiation, or medical suppression) should be preferred.

This guideline relies on the EBCTCG meta-analysis for areas of OA (or suppression) vs none and OA (or suppression) + chemotherapy vs chemotherapy. The LHRH agonists meta-analysis was not used for these two questions, although it contains more trials, includes only patients with HR+ cancer for the main analyses, and separates out the effect of tamoxifen in the comparisons. There have been more recent updates of some of the trials since the PEBC #1-9 guideline.

# f) Cochrane Collaboration (Goel et al), 2009. LHRH Agonists for Adjuvant Therapy of Early Breast Cancer in Premenopausal Women

The Cochrane review (371) included a literature search until February 2009 and gives a complete description of the trials and outcomes. The included trials are indicated in Table 10.

#### g) New Studies or Updates from the Current Literature Search

#### ABCSG-12, SOFT, and TEXT Trials

The ABCSG-12 (265,304-307,309,405-407), SOFT (IBCSG-24-02, NCT00066690) (63,64,282), and TEXT (NCT00066703) (63,64,282) trials are significant because they address the use of Als together with ovarian suppression in premenopausal patients. Details and results of these trials are summarized in Table 8. The ABCSG-12 study compared goserelin + tamoxifen to goserelin + anastrozole in premenopausal patients with endocrine-responsive early breast cancer. It had a second randomization with or without zoledronic acid. Because all groups received goserelin, the contribution of ovarian suppression to other hormonal therapies could not be determined. Due to lower than expected events, the TEXT and SOFT trial results were combined to allow earlier reporting of the OA/S + exemestane vs OA/S + tamoxifen results. Other subgroups including comparisons to tamoxifen alone and comparisons with different means of OA/S have not been released. Exemestane +OA/S resulted in better DFS rates than tamoxifen + OA/S (91% vs 87%, p<0.001). Overall survival rates were similar in both groups (96%) and requires longer follow-up. The studies indicate higher survival rates with exemestane + OA/S in premenopausal patients.

Results of the comparison with the tamoxifen-alone arm in the SOFT trial (59,62) were only available subsequent to completion of this review and the corresponding guideline; results have not been included in Table 8 and the reader should consult the publications for additional details. There was a small benefit for the addition of ovarian suppression to tamoxifen (86.6% vs 84.7% DFS, p=0.10; p=0.03 after adjustment for prognostic factors). There was no difference in DFS (93.4% vs. 93.3%) or OS (99.2% vs. 99.8%) at 5 years in the subgroup of patients who had no prior chemotherapy (likely due to their having been assessed as having low risk of recurrence). Most recurrences and thus greater benefit was found in those who received chemotherapy. For patients who had received chemotherapy, the addition of ovarian suppression to tamoxifen resulted in significantly better overall survival [94.5% vs 90.9%, HR=0.64 (0.42-0.96)]. DFS and recurrence appeared to also be improved (80.7% vs 77.1% and 82.5% vs 78.9%, respectively), however these differences were not statistically significant. Rates of freedom from distant recurrence at 5 years in patients with prior chemotherapy were 83.6% tamoxifen, 84.8% tamoxifen plus ovarian suppression (HR=0.87, 95% CI 0.64-1.17), and 87.8% for exemestane plus ovarian suppression (HR=0.72, 95% CI 0.52-0.98). The benefit of ovarian function suppression plus exemestane was especially seen in the patient group under 35 years old (freedom from breast cancer 67.7% for tamoxifen, 78.9% for tamoxifen plus ovarian suppression, and 83.4% for exemestane plus Tamoxifen or exemestane plus ovarian function suppression was ovarian suppression). associated with more toxicity and adverse effect (endocrine symptom and sexual functioning) than for tamoxifen alone. There was a different profile of adverse effects for exemestane plus ovarian suppression (greater loss of sexual interest and arousal difficulties, vaginal dryness, bone pain) compared to tamoxifen plus ovarian suppression (more hot flushes and The INT-0142/E-3193 study(65) was also recently reported (after the current sweats). literature review). Tamoxifen was compared to tamoxifen plus ovarian suppression; the study and was terminated early due to slow accrual and is underpowered for survival endpoint. However, quality of life-and sexual function results showed more menopausal symptoms and sexual dysfunction and lower quality of life with addition of ovarian suppression. Effects on quality of life need to be considered when choosing between tamoxifen, tamoxifen plus ovarian suppression, and exemestane plus ovarian suppression (59,62-65).

## NCT00303524, Masuda et al (408)

Premenopausal Japanese patients with ER+ early breast cancer were randomized to subcutaneous depot injection of goserelin 10.8 mg every three months (N=86) vs 3.6 mg monthly (N=84). Both are sustained-release formulations containing a lactide/glycolide copolymer, but in different ratios (95:5 vs 1:1). The study reported area under the concentration-time curve (AUC) of estradiol (E2) over the first 24 weeks: 18.32 pg/mL·week (every 3 months) vs 18.95 pg/mL·week (monthly). The ratio was 0.974 (95% CI 0.80–1.19) indicating non-inferiority for goserelin every three months. From week 4 onward E2 serum concentrations were suppressed to postmenopausal levels ( $\leq$ 30 pg/mL) in 98.8% of patients across both treatment groups. Most patients experienced amenorrhea by week 8. Serum E2 and FSH remained suppressed throughout the study. No patient had menses after week 16. No clinically important differences in safety and tolerability were found.

## International Breast Cancer Study Group Trial 11-93 (IBCSG 11-93) (404,409)

The study included premenopausal patients with endocrine-responsive (ER+ or PR+), node positive, early breast cancer (T1a,b,c, T2 or T3, pN1M0). It compared four cycles of chemotherapy added to OA/S + five years tamoxifen vs OA/S + tamoxifen without chemotherapy. Randomization of 174 patients occurred in the period May 1993–November 1998, but the trial closed before target accrual (N=760) due to low accrual rate. The method of ovarian function suppression was the choice of the participating centre: bilateral surgical oophorectomy, bilateral ovarian radiotherapy, or GnRH analogue 3.6 mg every 28 days for two years or until age 55 years (whichever was longer, median 2.0 years, range 0.07–12.6 years). Patients could switch the method of OA/S during the trial. Initially, distribution was 63% GnRH analogue, 26% oophorectomy, 11% irradiation; 30 patients initially on GnRH analogues switched (19 to oophorectomy, 11 radiation). Tamoxifen was administered at 20 mg daily until five years from randomization or until intolerance or relapse (median 5 years, range 0–9 years). Chemotherapy consisted of four courses of adjuvant anthracycline-cyclophosphamide (AC: doxorubicin 60 mg/m<sup>2</sup> or epirubicin 90 mg/m<sup>2</sup> plus cyclophosphamide 600 mg/m<sup>2</sup> IV on day 1 for four 21-day courses).

At a median follow-up of 10 years there was no difference in DFS or OS rates between OA/S + tamoxifen + chemotherapy and OA/S +tamoxifen (DFS: HR=1.02, 95% CI 0.57–1.83, p=0.94; OS: HR=0.97, 95% CI 0.44–2.16, p=0.94). Because this study met <25% of its planned accrual, it may have been underpowered to draw firm conclusions. Adjuvant! Online predicted a 10–year relapse-free survival rate of 74.9% (73.1%-76.8%) for chemoendocrine therapy vs 64.4% (61.9%-67.2%) for endocrine therapy alone, compared with observed values of 74.9% (64.5–82.7) for chemoendocrine vs 76.4% (65.8%-84.0%) for endocrine therapy. This suggests Adjuvant! Online underestimates the effectiveness of endocrine therapy alone and therefore overestimates the added benefit of chemotherapy.

#### Zoladex in Premenopausal Patients (ZIPP) (373,374)

The ZIPP study includes patients aged <50 years with invasive, operable breast cancer in one breast and no signs of metastasis. The study description and some results were included in the other systematic reviews and meta-analyses. Long-term follow-up at a median of 12 years (373) is included for some subgroups in PEBC #1–9. The four groups were control (N=476), tamoxifen (N=879), goserelin (N=469), and tamoxifen + goserelin (N=882). The authors examined effects according to subgroups of age (<40 or  $\geq$ 40 years), nodal status, ER status, previous adjuvant systemic chemotherapy (yes or no; 43% received chemotherapy and 62% radiotherapy), and stratified by trial centre (CRUK, GIVIO, SE Sweden, Stockholm). Some of the results are reproduced in Table 13. Goserelin, tamoxifen, and goserelin + tamoxifen all had similar effectiveness and were significantly better than none (control). It should be noted that the groups were not equal, because most patients who received chemotherapy were node positive and most without chemotherapy were negative. In this analysis there was no statistically significant benefit for giving both goserelin and tamoxifen compared with either agent alone.

Survival outcomes for all patients and by subgroups	Goserelin vs none, hazard ratio (95% CI)	Goserelin + tamoxifen vs tamoxifen, hazard ratio (95% Cl)		
Overall survival	0.71 (0.56-0.91)	0.90 (0.74-1.09)		
Event-free survival	0.67 (0.56-0.81)	0.92 (0.79-1.06)		
• Age <40 y	0.89 (0.58-1.35)	0.86 (0.66-1.13)		
• Age ≥40 y	0.65 (0.52-0.80)	0.95 (0.80-1.14)		
Node positive	0.58 (0.44-0.78)	0.82 (0.66-1.02)		
Node negative	0.84 (0.64-1.10)	1.01 (0.82-1.24)		
• ER+	0.69 (0.53-0.91)	0.85 (0.70-1.05)		
• ER-	0.75 (0.51-1.10)	1.05 (0.79-1.39)		
No prior chemotherapy	0.55 (0.42-0.73)	0.87 (0.71-1.06)		
Prior chemotherapy	0.83 (0.64-1.09)	1.00 (0.80-1.24)		
• ER+, no chemotherapy	0.62 (0.43-0.90)	0.79 (0.60-1.03)		
• ER+, chemotherapy	0.78 (0.53-1.15)	0.94 (0.69-1.28)		

Table 13.	Hazard	ratios i	n the	ZIPP	study
-----------	--------	----------	-------	------	-------

Sverrisdottir et al, 2011(374): Stockholm sub-study of ZIPP

Results for the Stockholm site of the study were reported for goserelin vs none, tamoxifen vs none, goserelin + tamoxifen vs none, and subgroups without tamoxifen. Randomization was stratified in three groups based on nodal status and use of other adjuvant therapies: node negative and no chemotherapy, 1–3 positive nodes and chemotherapy, 4+ positive nodes and chemotherapy + radiotherapy; stratification was not done in other centres of ZIPP. The time to first recurrence was better for goserelin vs no endocrine treatment (HR=0.68, 95% CI 0.52–0.89, p=0.005), tamoxifen vs no endocrine treatment, (HR=0.73, 95% CI 0.56–0.95, p=0.018), and goserelin + tamoxifen vs no endocrine treatment, (HR=0.76, 95% CI 0.59–0.98). In the highly ER+ group, goserelin was more effective than tamoxifen (HR=0.52, 95% CI 0.32–0.84, p=0.007 for goserelin vs none; HR=0.68, 95% CI 0.44–1.05, p=0.081 for tamoxifen vs none).

# h) Summary of Conclusions for Each Class of Comparison from the Meta-analyses and Recent Data

For each category of comparison, the results of meta-analysis if available and/or results from the relevant studies if not included in the reported meta-analysis are provided so that an overall conclusion can be made. All of these data are summarized in Table 14 and conclusions appear after the table.

# Table 14. Summary of comparisons of ovarian ablation or suppression for each category of study

Endocrine therapy	Meta-analysis or guideline							
	EBCTCG 2005 meta-analysis (112)	LHRH meta-analysis (61)	PEBC #1-9 (101)	Cochrane (371)	1-21 search			
Patient or study characteristics	Early, under 50 (subdivided by age <40 y, 40–49 y, ER+ or ER unknown), contribution of tamoxifen to outcome not considered	Early, premenopausal, focus on HR+ only (excluded hormone receptor unknown, HR- reported separately), LHRH agonists only, tamoxifen considered in analysis groups	Early, English only, combined OA and suppression; (relied on EBCTCG meta-analysis for OA/S vs none and OA/S + chemotherapy vs chemotherapy (did not include LHRH-meta-analysis or additional studies)	Early, premenopausal (defined as age <50 y), LHRH agonists only				
OA vs none	• Recurrence RR=0.68, p=0.00002 • Death RR=0.68, p=0.00002 • OA better age <40 y, 40-49 y, overall	N/A	Used EBCTCG analysis only, concluded overall benefit of OA/S, did not analyze OA and suppression separately	N/A				
Suppression vs none	•ZIPP, SITAM-02 trials, both studies confounded by TAM	<ul> <li>IBCSG VIII, ZIPP trials</li> <li>Recurrence HR=0.72 (95% CI 0.49-1.04), p=0.08</li> <li>All deaths p=0.11</li> <li>Recurrence or death, p=0.01</li> </ul>	See below	N/A	ZIPP follow-up (373) DFS HR=0.67 (95% CI 0.56-0.81); HR=0.55 (95% CI 0.42-0.73) without chemotherapy; TAM and GOS equivalent Stockholm site of ZIPP (374): time to recurrence GOS vs none HR=0.68 (95% CI 0.52-0.89), p=0.005			
<ul> <li>Suppression ± TAM vs none ±TAM (TAM not randomized)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>ZIPP, SITAM-02 trials</li> <li>Recurrence RR=0.77, p=0.003</li> <li>Death RR=0.78, p=0.05</li> <li>GOS ± TAM better than none ± TAM for both age groups, cannot distinguish between effect of GOS and TAM</li> </ul>		Used EBCTCG analysis only, concluded overall benefit of OA/S did not analyze OA and suppression separately (except OA/S ± chemotherapy)		DFS HR=0.82 (95% CI 0.73-0.92), p=0.001; OS HR=0.83 (95% CI 0.71-0.96), p=0.013			

Endocrine therapy	Meta-analysis or guideline								
	EBCTCG 2005 meta-analysis (112)	LHRH meta-analysis (61)	PEBC #1-9 (101)	Cochrane (371)	1-21 search				
OA vs chemotherapy (CMF)	N/A	N/A	OA: DBCG 89b, Scottish A Suppression: ZEBRA, IBCSG VIII, GABG-IV-A93, TABLE	N/A	DBCG 89b (376) see PEBC 1-9				
Suppression vs chemotherapy	N/A	ZEBRA, IBCSG VIII, GABG-IV-A- 93, TABLE trials Recurrence HR=1.04, p=0.52 All Death p=0.22 Suppression and chemotherapy may be equivalent in HR+ (but not HR-; see separate section and note following this table)	<ul> <li>trials</li> <li>Combined OA/S meta- analysis:</li> <li>DFS HR=1.00 all pts, HR=0.96 HR+</li> <li>OS HR=0.97 all pts, HR=0.92 HR+</li> <li>No significant difference; less statistical heterogeneity when pts with HR- cancer were excluded</li> </ul>	ZEBRA, IBCSG VIII, GABG-IV-A- 93, TABLE trials ZEBRA, IBCSG VIII, TABLE found similar outcomes in ER+ for both groups but ER- and unknown had worse outcomes. Amenorrhea more common with LHRH than CMF and menses more likely to resume after end of LHRH than 36 mo after chemotherapy, LHRH better QoL during first 6 mo					
Suppression + chemotherapy vs suppression	N/A	N/A	N/A	IBCSG VIII (41), CMF +GOS vs         GOS, (68% ER+):         DFS overall 87% vs 79%, RR=0.71         (95% CI 0.52-0.99), p=0.04 due         to strong effect in ER- pts;         DFS ER-:         BK         05% CI 0.52-0.99), p=0.04 due         to strong effect in ER- pts;         DFS ER-:         88% vs 73%,         RR=0.49, (95% CI 0.28-0.87),         p=0.01         ER+ DFS 86% vs 81%, RR=0.84         (95% CI 0.56-1.26), p=0.40         Stratified by age ER+ <40 y					
OA + chemotherapy vs chemotherapy	<ul> <li>Largest study (CAMS China, 1984/3025=66% of all pts in meta- analysis) confounded by TAM</li> <li>Recurrence RR=0.94 (RR≈0.87 without CAMS)</li> <li>Death RR=1.01 (RR≈0.95 without CAMS)</li> </ul>	N/A	Used EBCTCG analysis only; concluded no significant benefit for OA/S (did not analyze separately)	N/A					

Endocrine therapy	Meta-analysis or guideline									
	EBCTCG 2005 meta-analysis (112)	LHRH meta-analysis (61)	PEBC #1-9 (101)	Cochrane (371)	1-21 search					
Suppression + chemotherapy vs chemotherapy	Pretoria, FNCLCC, ECOG (may have included TAM), SITAM-02 (confounded by TAM)	Trials without TAM: ECOG E5188, IBCSG VIII, ZIPP, GABG B93, FNCLCC Recurrence: All pts: $p=0.07$ , age $\leq 40$ y: $p=0.01$ age $>40$ y: $p=0.55$ All deaths All pts $p=0.14$ , age $\leq 40$ y: $p=0.02$ age $>40$ y: $p=0.83$	See below	<ul> <li>ECOG 5188: RFS 60% vs 57%, HR=0.93, p=0.22; OS 73% vs 70%, HR=0.88, p=0.14</li> <li>IBCSG VIII (CMF + GOS vs CMF): DFS overall RR=0.80 (95% CI 0.57-1.11, p=0.17); ER+ RR=0.80 (95% CI 0.54-1.19), p=0.26; ER- RR=0.75 (95% CI 0.40-1.39), p=0.35; ER+ age &lt;40 y RR=0.34 (95% CI 0.14-0.87), p=0.02</li> <li>GAG-IV-B-93: RFS 71% vs 68%, HR=0.92 (95% CI 0.70-1.21), p=0.54; ER+ HR=0.77 (95% CI 0.47-1.24), p=0.27; ER- HR=1.01 (95% CI 0.72-1.42), p=0.97.</li> <li>Pretoria: disease-free interval 6.8 y vs 6.2 y (NS)</li> </ul>						
Suppression + chemotherapy ±TAM vs chemotherapy ± TAM * (TAM ignored in EBCTCG analysis)	Pretoria, FNCLCC, ECOG, SITAM-02 Recurrence RR=0.70 age <40 y RR=1.08 age 40-49 y overall RR=0.91 (NS) For death RR=0.80 age <40 y RR=1.02 age 40-49 y Overall RR=1.02 Suppression + chemotherapy (± TAM) has benefit over chemotherapy alone for younger female pts	Trials above, plus ZIPP trials with TAM Recurrence • Age $\leq 40$ y: HR=0.75, p=0.01 • Age $>40$ y: HR=0.96, p=0.63 • overall: HR=0.88, p=0.04 Death after Recurrence • Age $\leq 40$ y: HR=0.72, p=0.01 • Age $>40$ y: HR=0.93, p=0.47 • Overall: HR=0.85, p=0.04 Any death p=0.07 Based on Forest plots, overall effect and differential age effect does not appear due to tamoxifen (see note)	Used EBCTCG analysis only; conclude no significant benefit for OA/S (did not analyze separately)							

Endocrine therapy	Meta-analysis or guideline								
	EBCTCG 2005 meta-analysis (112)	LHRH meta-analysis (61)	PEBC #1-9 (101)	Cochrane (371)	1-21 search				
Suppression vs TAM	N/A	N/A	Soreide: OS HR=1.16 (95% Cl 0.80-1.69) ZXBC1002: RFS HR=0.87 (95% Cl 0.47-1.63), OS HR=2.10, (95% Cl 0.38-11.49) ZIPP: OS HR=0.71 (95% Cl 0.56-0.91); recurrence rate HR=0.66 (95% Cl 0.53-0.81)	Soreide, at 88 mo no difference, recurrence rate RR=1.10 (95% Cl 0.81-1.48), p=0.56 or death RR=1.16 (95% Cl 0.80-1.69), p=0.42 ZBCSB: no significant difference RFS HR=0.87 (95% Cl 0.47-1.63) or OS HR=2.10 (95% Cl 0.38-11.49) ZIPP: of those with known hormone receptor status, only 68% were ER+; adverse effects 56% vs 41% but mostly by small numbers, only hot flushes (26% vs 17%) and weight gain (4% vs 7%) reported by >10 pts; survival rate data not reported	Stockholm site of ZIPP (374) In highly ER+, GOS more effective than TAM GOS vs none: HR=0.52 (95% CI 0.32-0.84), p=0.007 TAM vs none: HR=0.68 (95% CI 0.44-1.05, p=0.081				
OA/S + TAM vs none	N/A	Suppression (ZIPP trials) Recurrence rate p<0.0001, all deaths p=0.02	Love: DFS HR=0.65 (95% CI 0.51-0.82), p=0.0003 OS HR=0.62 (95% CI 0.48-0.80), p=0.0002 Effect even larger when only HR+ analyzed) ZIPP (from LHRH meta- analysis)	N/A	Love et al (392), see PEBC 1–9 Stockholm site of ZIPP (374): Time to recurrence HR=0.76 (95% CI 0.59–0.98)				

Endocrine therapy	Meta-analysis or guideline								
	EBCTCG 2005 meta-analysis (112)	LHRH meta-analysis (61)	PEBC #1-9 (101)	Cochrane (371)	1-21 search				
OA/S + TAM vs TAM	N/A	Suppression (ZIPP, ZXBC1002 trials) Recurrence: Overall: HR=0.85, p=0.20 age ≤40 y: p=0.12 age >40 y: p=0.91 All deaths: Overall: p=0.39, age ≤40 y: p=0.22 age >40 y: p=0.99	Various methods of OA/S: INT0142 + ABC (HR+ only) meta-analysis: OS HR=0.82 (95% CI 0.58-1.14) ZIPP referred to LHRH meta- analysis; follow-up at 12 y still no significant benefit of GOS + TAM vs TAM (OS HR=0.90, 95% CI 0.75-1.09; recurrence rate HR=0.91, 95% CI 0.78-1.07) More QoL adverse effects with OA/S addition (menopausal symptoms, hot flashes, sexual dysfunction, vaginal dryness, and sweating)	Suppression: ZIPP Direct comparison not made, GOS vs none HR=0.80, p=0.002 and study noted effect was similar in those who received TAM	ZIPP follow-up (373,374) (see also PEBC 1-9); DFS median follow-up12 y: overall: HR=0.92 (95% CI 0.80-1.07); no chemotherapy: HR=0.87 (95% CI 0.71-1.06) ER+ HR=0.85 (95% CI 0.70-1.05) ER+ no chemotherapy: HR=0.79 (95% CI 0.60-1.03) Node +ve HR=0.82 (95% CI 0.66-1.02), small but nonsignificant improvement; effect greater in ER+ This will be addressed by the SOFT trial (see Table 8) but data are not yet available.				
OA/S +TAM vs chemotherapy	N/A	Suppression: ABCSG 05, FASG 06, GROCTA 02 Recurrence: Overall HR=0.90 (95% CI 0.75-1.08), p=0.25; age $\leq 40$ y, p=0.22; age $>40$ y, p=0.72 All deaths: Overall, p=0.27; age $\leq 40$ y, p=0.90; age $\geq 40$ y, p=0.32	Meta-analysis: ABCSG 05, FASG 06, GROCTA 02, Nomura; Roche not included in meta-analysis DFS: HR=0.90 OS: HR=0.91 Excluding Nomura due to statistical heterogeneity OS HR=0.73 (95% CI 0.53-1.00), p=0.05 Adverse effects: OS/A more hot flashes; chemotherapy more nausea, alopecia, stomatitis, diarrhea. GOS or triptorelin + TAM resulted in amenorrhea in all pts	ABCSG 05 (CMF), FASG 06 (FEC50) ABCSG 05: RFS 81% vs 76%, p=0.037; OS 92% vs 90%, p=0.195; more hot flushes and less nausea and alopecia FASG 06: RFS 76% vs 72%, p=0.13; OS 91% vs 88%, p=0.20; amenorrhea 100% vs 65%					

Endocrine therapy	Meta-analysis or guideline							
	EBCTCG 2005 meta-analysis (112)	LHRH meta-analysis (61)	PEBC #1-9 (101)	Cochrane (371)	1-21 search			
Suppression +TAM +chemotherapy vs chemotherapy	N/A	ECOG E5188, GOCSI trials Recurrence p=0.001 All deaths p=0.03	Meta-analysis ECOG, GOCSI: DFS HR=0.79, p<0.0001; OS HR=0.76, p=0.002 GOS + TAM had greater hot flashes, hypertension (ECOG study), and weight gain; menopausal/sexual adverse effects subsided after cessation of therapy; BMD decrease with GOS/TAM but not with chemotherapy in substudy	ECOG, 5188, GOCSI ECOG: RFS 68% vs 57%, OS 76% vs 70% GOSCI: DFS 64% vs 53%, HR=0.74 (95% CI 0.56-0.99), p=0.04; OS 82% vs 80%, HR=0.84 (95% CI 0.54-1.32)				
Suppression +TAM +chemotherapy vs TAM + chemotherapy	(N/A)	ZIPP trials Recurrence p=0.37 All deaths p=0.15	Referred to LHRH meta- analysis for ZIPP trials	n./a	ZIPP (373) DFS HR=1.00 (95% CI 0.80-1.24)			
OA/S + TAM +chemotherapy vs OA/S + chemotherapy	(N/A)	N/A	N/A	ECOG 5188 RFS 68% vs 60%, HR=0.73, p<0.01; OS 76% vs 73%, HR=0.91, p=0.21	IBCSG 11-93 (404) DFS: HR=1.02 (95% CI 0.57-1.83), p=0.94 OS: HR=0.97 (95% CI 0.44-2.16), p=0.94			
OA/S+ AI vs OA/S + TAM	(N/A)	N/A	N/A	ABCSG-12: DFS did not differ, HR=1.10 (95% CI 0.78-2.53), p=0.59; RFS HR=1.11 (95% CI 0.80-1.56), p=0.53, OS HR=1.80 (95% CI 0.95-3.38), p=0.70 but based on small number of events; anastrozole group had significantly more arthralgia, bone pain, morning stiffness, whereas tamoxifen resulted in more thrombosis	ABCSG-12 (265,304- 307,309,405-407), SOFT and TEXT trials (63,64,282) see section on Als and Table 8			
LHRH + any systemic vs any systemic		Recurrence Overall, $p=0.02$ ; age $\leq 49$ y, $p=0.002$ ; age $>40$ y, $p=0.64$ Any death Overall, $p=0.04$ ; age $\leq 40$ y, $p=0.01$ ; age $>40$ y, $p=0.66$	Quoted LHRH meta-analysis	N/A				

Endocrine therapy	Meta-analysis or guideline								
	EBCTCG 2005 meta-analysis (112)	LHRH meta-analysis (61)	PEBC #1-9 (101)	Cochrane (371)	1-21 search				
Timing	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	NTC00303524 (408) GOS every 3 mo equivalent to every month (note different dose and formulation)				
Hormone receptor negative, chemotherapy vs LHRH and other comparisons	N/A	Chemotherapy is better than LHRH, recurrence rate p=0.001; all deaths p=0.08. In general, adding LHRH to other systemic treatments did not affect rates of recurrence (p=0.23)or death (p=0.75)	N/A	n./a					

<u>Abbreviations</u>: BMD, bone mineral density; CMF, cyclophosphamide + methotrexate + fluorouracil; DFS, disease-free survival; ER, estrogen receptor; GOS, goserelin; HR+, hormone receptor positive; HR-, hormone receptor negative; LHRH, luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone; N+, node positive; N0, node negative, N/A, not applicable; OA, ovarian ablation; OA/S, ovarian ablation and/or ovarian suppression; OS, overall survival; QoL, quality of life; RFS, recurrence-free survival

\*This is what is reported in EBCTCG and is a combination of separate comparisons in the LHRH-agonists meta-analysis

Note: The LHRH agonist's meta-analysis authors suggest LHRH agonists are equally effective as chemotherapy regimens used, and LHRH added to chemotherapy has additional benefit in female pts aged  $\leq 40$  y. In these pts, chemotherapy is less likely to induce permanent amenorrhea than in older pts. This may especially be the case with modern non-CMF-based chemotherapy for which permanent amenorrhea after treatment seems less common.

## i) Conclusions from the ovarian ablation/suppression studies and meta-analyses

#### Hormone Receptor Negative

For female patients with HR- breast cancer, chemotherapy is superior to OA/S (41,61).

#### Hormone Receptor Positive

For female patients with HR+ breast cancer, OA/S has been compared with chemotherapy, tamoxifen and combinations of these therapies. Given the multiple treatment options, it is helpful to consider and summarize the results according to the following framework:

#### (1) OA/S alone vs no systemic therapy

OA and suppression are both better than no systemic treatment (61,112,373) for female patients with HR+ breast cancer. Thus, OA/S alone is a reasonable option in the specific case of patients who will not receive any other systemic therapy (e.g., patients who cannot tolerate other forms of systemic therapy or patients who choose no other form of systemic therapy).

#### (2) OA/S plus chemotherapy vs chemotherapy alone

The relevance of this comparison in modern practice is questionable, because the standard of care for these patients would generally also include tamoxifen. The available data suggest that there is benefit for added suppression for patients aged  $\leq$ 40 years (41,61,371). In the EBCTCG meta-analysis, which included -patients with HR- cancer, the addition of OA to chemotherapy did not add any benefit (112). The LHRH agonists meta-analysis authors suggest LHRH agonists are equally effective as chemotherapy regimens used, and LHRH added to chemotherapy has additional benefit in female patients aged  $\leq$ 40 years (61). In these female patients chemotherapy is less likely to induce permanent amenorrhea and may be more common with modern non-CMF-based chemotherapy for which permanent amenorrhea after treatment seems less common.

## (3) OA/S alone vs chemotherapy alone

These studies compared the OA/S strategy to primarily CMF chemotherapy, thus the significance of these results to contemporary practice is limited. There was no significant difference between OA/S and CMF chemotherapy (61,101,371). The Cochrane review (371) found that amenorrhea was more common with LHRH than CMF, but menses were more likely to resume at the end of LHRH than 36 months after chemotherapy. This may be an important consideration in the treatment of young female patients with HR+ breast cancer.

## (4) OA/S alone vs tamoxifen alone

The combined evidence suggests that there is no difference between these treatment options, except for ZIPP-Stockholm (374) which found a suppression benefit in those highly ER+. OA/S alone is a reasonable option for female patients who are not candidates for any other systemic therapy.

#### (5) OA/S plus tamoxifen vs tamoxifen alone

In the absence of chemotherapy, there is no evidence of overall benefit with the combination of OA/S + tamoxifen vs tamoxifen alone. There is some evidence that certain subgroups might benefit from this strategy. For example, there was a trend toward greater benefit in young female patients aged  $\leq$ 40 years (recurrence rate p=0.12 for age  $\leq$ 40 years vs p=0.91 for age >40 years) (61,373,374). The ZIPP follow-up (373,374) found greater effect in ER+ (HR=0.85, 95% CI 0.70-1.05) and in ER+ without chemotherapy (HR=0.79, 95% CI 0.60-1.03), but these results may not be generalizable if chemotherapy is administered. The ongoing SOFT trial (see Table 8) will also address this question.

# (6) OA/S plus tamoxifen and chemotherapy vs tamoxifen and chemotherapy

This question is the most relevant to current practice. The results from a subset of a single study suggest no benefit from the addition of OA/S. Subgroup analysis of the ongoing SOFT trial (see Table 8) may address this.

# (7) OA/S plus tamoxifen vs chemotherapy alone

The LHRH-agonists meta-analysis found no difference in outcome with these two strategies, although there was a trend toward benefit in female patients aged  $\leq$ 40 years (p=0.22) vs those aged >40 years (p=0.72) (61). As expected, the adverse effects profiles of the treatments differed: OS/A caused more hot flashes; chemotherapy caused more nausea, alopecia, stomatitis, and diarrhea. Goserelin or triptorelin + tamoxifen resulted in amenorrhea in all patients (101).

# (8) OA/S plus tamoxifen vs no systemic therapy

The combination of OA/S + tamoxifen decreased recurrence and improved survival rates when compared with no systemic therapy. However, as indicated in previously, whether or not OA/S provides benefit in addition to that from tamoxifen alone is unclear. Benefit may be higher in young patients (aged <40 years).

# (9) OA/S plus tamoxifen and chemotherapy vs chemotherapy alone

The combination of OA/S + tamoxifen + chemotherapy is better than chemotherapy in all patients (61,101,371). In the ECOG E5188 trial (387), there was no consistent benefit to tamoxifen + (OA/S + chemotherapy) vs OA/S + chemotherapy. This trial did not have a chemotherapy + tamoxifen arm; thus, the significance of these results is difficult to interpret.

# (10) OS/A plus tamoxifen vs OA/S plus aromatase inhibitors

The combined analysis of the TEXT and SOFT trials (see Table 8) indicated a DFS rate benefit for OA/S + exemestane over OA/S + tamoxifen in premenopausal patients. It is unclear how this compares to use of tamoxifen alone because results have not yet been reported.

## (11) Other considerations:

Goserelin every three months was found to be equivalent to goserelin every month (408). The study used subcutaneous depot injection of goserelin 10.8 mg every three months vs 3.6 mg

monthly. Both were sustained-release formulations containing a lactide/glycolide copolymer, but in a different ratio (95:5 vs 1:1).

In the trials summarized in the previous subsections the optimal duration of LHRH was not addressed.

LHRH added to any systemic therapy was beneficial overall and in patients aged  $\leq$ 40 years but not aged >40 years (61).

# 4.3.4 Endocrine Therapy plus Chemotherapy

The SWOG S1007 (410) is an ongoing trial of best endocrine therapy vs best endocrine therapy + chemotherapy started in 2011 in N1 ER+ HER2-patients with low RS ( $\leq$ 25). Planned accrual is 4000 patients and will be stratified by RS (10–13 vs 14–25), menopausal status, and axillary surgery (SLNB vs full dissection).

The Optima Prelim and Optima studies (Optimal Personalised Treatment of Early Breast Cancer using MultiParameter Analysis) (411) are ongoing trials evaluating whether chemotherapy + endocrine therapy is better than endocrine therapy alone for patients that have ER+ HER2- cancer with involved nodes (pN1-2). In the preliminary trial, patients are randomized to standard therapy (chemotherapy + endocrine therapy) or to chemotherapy alone with endocrine therapy added if there is high risk of recurrence based on results of the Oncotype DX test and other assays (Mammostrat, IHC4 and fluorescence IHC4, PAM50). The main trial will further assess the assays selected in the preliminary trial.

# 4.3.5 Endocrine Therapy plus Everolimus

Both the UNIRAD study (412) and the SWOG/NSABP s1207 study (413,414) are ongoing trials investigating adjuvant endocrine therapy + everolimus. The UNIRAD trial is randomizing patients (ER+, HER2-, pN+) who are disease-free after three years of adjuvant endocrine therapy to ongoing endocrine therapy with or without everolimus (10 mg/day) for a total adjuvant therapy of five years. The trial started in 2013 with planned enrolment of 1984 patients. The s1207 trial is randomizing patients (HR+; HER2-; high risk including either N0 T2+ and RS >25, N1 and RS >25, or N2+) to standard endocrine therapy plus one year everolimus (10 mg/day) vs standard endocrine therapy plus one year placebo. Targeted accrual is 3500 patients over 3.5 years with completion around 2020.

## 4.3.6 Assessment of Hormone Receptor Status

Although accurate hormonal receptor status is crucial in determining appropriate treatment, results have often been inaccurate and irreproducible. Thresholds for determining positivity also vary (e.g.,  $\geq 1\%$ ,  $\geq 10\%$ , any). As a result, Guideline Recommendations for Hormone Receptor Testing were prepared by CCO/PEBC based on a joint systematic review by American Society of Clinical Oncology/College of American Pathologists and CCO's Program in Evidence-Based Care (415-417). This guideline indicates that core biopsies may be used to assess ER and PR status before neoadjuvant therapy, but cautions that because these may be derived from only a small sample of a larger tumour in which normal ducts and lobules are frequently not present, and in view of the heterogeneity in tumour hormone receptor expression, it is preferable to test the tumour in the surgical excision specimen when adequate surgical specimens are available. The guideline also notes

that comparison of core biopsies vs standard surgical specimen in 18 studies found median concordance of 95% for ER (all studies >83%) and 88.5% for PR (all studies >69%).

Some studies have also indicated that ER and PR status may change during the course Zhang et al (418) published a meta-analysis of nine studies comparing of treatment. hormonal receptor status before and after neoadjuvant chemotherapy. ER status was changed in 14.6% (8.9% ER-  $\rightarrow$  ER+, 5.6% ER+  $\rightarrow$  ER-), while PR status changed in 24.8% (7.3% PR- $\rightarrow$ PR+, 17.0% PR+ $\rightarrow$ PR-). This was a significant change in both ER (p=0.016) and PR status (p<0.001) compared with prechemotherapy status. The change with neoadjuvant chemotherapy was also greater than that found for controls (ER change 18% vs 12%, p=0.011; PR change 26% vs 17%, p=0.001). Possible limitations were heterogeneity among studies of antibody selection, cut-off values, and chemotherapy used. The large variation in distribution of ER+/ER-/PR+/PR- between the included studies also suggests the included trials were not equivalent in the patient populations studied. Most studies used an IHC cutoff value of  $\geq 10\%$ . It is not known whether using the IHC cut-off value of 1% as recommended in current CCO guidelines would have resulted in less variation. The literature search for this current guideline on systemic therapy in early breast cancer did not find any studies that evaluated whether response to endocrine therapy correlates better with hormone receptor status before or after chemotherapy.

Van de Ven et al (419) also conducted a systematic review of changes in ER, PR, or HER2 receptors after neoadjuvant therapy (with or without trastuzumab). Discordance was reported in 4 of 8 studies in 8% to 33% of patients. Studies that indicated ER/PR was stable were generally smaller. A switch to HER2- was reported in up to 43% of patients when neoadjuvant chemotherapy was combined with trastuzumab. Subsequent to these reviews, Lindstrom et al published another trial (420) of patients with relapse and found patients with breast cancer experience altered hormone receptor and HER2 status throughout tumour progression, possibly influenced by adjuvant therapies. Assessment of markers at relapse may improve management.

# 4.4 BIOLOGIC/TARGETED THERAPY FOR HER2+ TUMOURS

# 4.4.1 Search Results

## a) Guidelines

NICE. Early and locally advanced breast cancer: diagnosis and treatment (97).

The NICE guideline includes evidence published until June 2008. The recommendations are as follows:

- Offer trastuzumab, administered at three-week intervals for one year or until disease recurrence (whichever is the shorter period), as an adjuvant treatment to female patients with HER2 positive early invasive breast cancer following surgery, chemotherapy, and radiotherapy when applicable. Assess cardiac function before starting treatment with trastuzumab. Do not offer trastuzumab treatment to female patients who have any of the following:
  - A left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) of  $\leq$ 55%
  - A history of documented congestive heart failure
  - High-risk uncontrolled arrhythmias

- Angina pectoris requiring medication
- Clinically significant valvular disease
- Evidence of transmural infarction on electrocardiograph (ECG)
- Poorly controlled hypertension.
- Repeat cardiac functional assessments every three months during trastuzumab treatment. If the LVEF drops by ≥10 percentage (ejection) points from baseline and to <50%, then trastuzumab treatment should be suspended. Restart trastuzumab therapy only after further cardiac assessment and a fully informed discussion of the risks and benefits with the woman.

<u>PEBC #1-24: The Role of Trastuzumab in Adjuvant and Neoadjuvant Therapy in Women with</u> <u>HER2/neu-overexpressing Breast Cancer</u> (104).

Literature search was conducted up to May 2006, with a literature update until September 2009; the original recommendations were endorsed 2010. The recommendation is:

• Trastuzumab should be offered for one year to all patients with HER2+, N+ or N0, tumour >1 cm in size, and primary breast cancer and who are receiving or have received (neo)adjuvant chemotherapy. Trastuzumab should be offered after chemotherapy.

<u>PEBC #1–17: The Role of HER2/neu in Systemic and Radiation Therapy for Women with Breast</u> <u>Cancer [archived]</u> (86).

The original literature search was conducted up until December 2005, and the guideline was archived in 2011. Recommendations are as follows:

- Patients with HER2/neu-positive breast cancer should be considered for chemotherapy containing an anthracycline instead of CMF or melphalan and 5-fluorouracil (PF) chemotherapy.
- Although the current evidence does not support a definitive recommendation regarding tamoxifen therapy and HER2/neu status, the weight of the evidence, especially the Gruppo Universitario Napoletano (GUN) trial, suggests that the efficacy of tamoxifen may be greater in patients with HER2/neu-negative cancer than with HER2/neu-positive cancer. However, the evidence does not support a recommendation against tamoxifen therapy in patients with HER2/neu-positive cancer. Although it is possible that tamoxifen is more effective in patients with HER2/neu-negative cancer, there is still sufficient evidence that it is effective in patients with HER2/neu-negative cancer as well.

National Breast Cancer Centre (NBCC) (now Cancer Australia). Recommendations for use of Trastuzumab (Herceptin) for the treatment of HER2 positive breast cancer (421).

This guideline appears to contain evidence published up to 2006 and is less current than the NICE and PEBC guidelines. Recommendations are as follows:

- Patients should be informed of the potential adverse effects of trastuzumab and any uncertainties about long-term effects. Patients receiving trastuzumab should be reviewed regularly and monitored for adverse effects by clinicians familiar with the drug.
- Adjuvant trastuzumab should be offered with chemotherapy following surgery in patients with N+ or N0 tumours larger than 1 cm. Trastuzumab concurrently with an

anthracycline is not recommended because of risk of cardiotoxicity. Trastuzumab can be offered to patients who require radiotherapy, although long-term adverse effects are unknown.

## b) Meta-analyses (mostly adjuvant trials)

# Moja et al/The Cochrane Collaboration, 2012 (79)

The authors concluded that trastuzumab-containing regimens improved OS (HR=0.66, p<0.00001) and DFS rates (HR=0.60, p<0.00001). Risk of congestive heart failure and LVEF decline were increased with trastuzumab (RR=5.11, p<0.00001 and RR=1.83, p=0.0008). Cardiotoxicity is often reversible if trastuzumab is stopped immediately on occurrence. There was no difference in hematological adverse effects. In patients at high risk of recurrence and without heart problems, trastuzumab benefit is much greater than the risk. The balance of risk to benefit in patients at low-risk of recurrence is less clear. Two small trials of trastuzumab administered for  $\leq 6$  months vs none (FinHer and Buzdar, N=273 patients total), found similar efficacy as in longer studies but less cardiotoxicity. In the shorter regimens they found a hazard ratio of 0.31 for DFS (p=0.04) and RR=0.89 (no difference) for decline in LVEF. Risk of congestive heart failure was lower (RR=0.5), but this was based on only three events. This meta-analysis excluded the docetaxel + carboplatin + trastuzumab (TCH) arm of BCIRG 006, which found less cardiotoxicity than with anthracyclines, and did not include the sequential arm of NCCTG N9831 because it had not yet been published.

# Yin et al, 2011 (422)

This analysis also found better DFS, OS, locoregional recurrence, and distant recurrence rates (all p<0.001) when trastuzumab was added to adjuvant chemotherapy. They did not comment on cardiotoxicity, but found a higher incidence of central nervous system recurrence (p=0.01), which they suggested may be because of the prolonged survival of the trastuzumab patients.

# c) Neoadjuvant Trials, Systematic Reviews, and Meta-analyses

Several recent systematic reviews on neoadjuvant trastuzumab have been published (423-427). Only the study by Buzdar et al focused on early breast cancer and was excluded from the current literature search because of the small number of patients. Most RCTs have reported pCR as the primary endpoint. However, despite these limitations, it should be mentioned that all the reviews concluded that trastuzumab + chemotherapy significantly increases pCR compared with chemotherapy alone in patients with HER2+ cancer (probability of pCR calculated as RR=1.85 and 2.07, p<0.001 in favour of trastuzumab in two of the meta-analyses). Buzdar et al (428) compared paclitaxel + trastuzumab (every three weeks for four cycles)  $\rightarrow$  FEC + trastuzumab (every three weeks for four cycles) vs the same regimen without trastuzumab and found pCR rates of 65% vs 26%, and three-year DFS rates of 100% vs 85% (p=0.041).

#### d) Meta-analysis or Reviews of Cardiotoxic Effects

#### Chen et al, 2011 (429)

This meta-analysis of 11,882 patients in ten RCTs found LVEF decrease and congestive heart failure to be 7.5% and 1.9% among patients receiving trastuzumab. This was significantly higher compared to no trastuzumab (RR=2.13, p=0.003 and RR=4.19, p<0.00001). Congestive heart failure effect was found in both early and metastatic cancer. The effect was found in patients receiving anthracycline-based chemotherapy (RR=4.27, p<0.00001, almost all were early breast cancer) but uncertain for patients receiving non-anthracycline chemotherapy (3 small studies with 495 patients with metastatic breast cancer, RR=2.42, 95% CI 0.36–16.19, p=0.36). This study did not consider the non-anthracycline arm of BCIRG 006.

#### Costa et al, 2010 (430)

This publication reviewed the six major studies (NSABP B-31, NCCTG N9831, BCIRG 006, HERA, FinHer, PACS 04) with a focus on efficacy and cardiac safety. Cardiac events were 1.9% to 3.8% in anthracycline + trastuzumab arms and lowest with TCH (0.4%). While TCH has less cardiotoxicity and has better survival rates than the control, there is uncertainty as to whether it is as effective as AC  $\rightarrow$  docetaxel + trastuzumab  $\rightarrow$  trastuzumab. Most of the studies excluded patients who had pre-existing heart problems or who experienced cardiotoxicity during chemotherapy. FinHer administered trastuzumab for a shorter time (nine weeks) before anthracycline and found negligible cardiotoxicity, although the study was small and the results need confirmation. Several trials are ongoing to evaluate nine weeks vs one year of trastuzumab. For patients with risk factors for cardiac dysfunction or patients with low risk of recurrence, the review suggested AC $\rightarrow$  taxane + trastuzumab is difficult to justify, and TCH or trastuzumab after completion of chemotherapy (as in the HERA trial) may be preferable.

#### e) Individual RCTs with trastuzumab

The literature search located updated data for six of seven studies in the PEBC guideline, and identified nine new studies and seven ongoing studies. Two studies on LABC/metastatic cancer and one study with <100 patients did not meet the inclusion criteria for the current guideline. Because the previous guidelines were based on limited studies, most of which now have updated results, Table 15 was prepared containing all the studies and the most recent results (69-72,80-85,87,92-96,211,431-457).

Study	Trial arms	N	Characteristics	Outcome
Neoadjuvant trastu	zumab, lapatinib, or pertuzumab			
NeoALTTO BIG 01-06 EGF 106903 NCT00553358 (431,432) 2008-2010	Oral lapatinib vs IV trastuzumab vs lapatinib + trastuzumab Anti-HER2 for 6 w → weekly paclitaxel + anti-HER2 for 12 w→ surgery→adjuvant FEC→ same anti-HER2 as previously for 52 w	455	HER2+, >2 cm,	<ul> <li>Pathologically complete response (pCR) higher in lapatinib + trastuzumab group than trastuzumab alone (51.3% vs 29.5%, p=0.0001)</li> <li>pCR similar (p=0.34) in lapatinib and trastuzumab groups</li> <li>No major cardiac dysfunctions, grade 3 diarrhea and liverenzyme alterations greater in lapatinib groups</li> <li>Conclude dual inhibition might be a valid approach</li> <li>Lapatinib arms had high rates of diarrhea (79%) and hepatic effects (41%)</li> <li>Lapatinib + trastuzumab, lapatinib, trastuzumab arms: <ul> <li>Grade 3 diarrhea 21.1%, 23.4%, 2.0%</li> <li>Grade 3/4 hepatic effects 10.6%, 18.1%, 7.4%</li> <li>Grade 3 skin disorders 6.6%, 6.5%, 2.7%</li> </ul> </li> <li>Secondary endpoints of DFS and OS rates not reported yet</li> </ul>
ACOSOG Z1041 (433) (434)	<ul> <li>Neoadjuvant chemotherapy</li> <li>Arm A: FEC-75 ×4→ paclitaxel+ trastuzumab (q1w×12)</li> <li>Arm B: paclitaxel + trastuzumab (q1w×12)→ FEC-75 + trastuzumab ×4</li> </ul>	282	HER2+, operable	Ongoing; 282 enrolled, pCR 56% (95% CI 48–65) in sequential arm, vs 54.2% (95% CI 46-63) in concurrent arm, OR=0.90 (95% CI 0.55–1.49). The most common severe adverse effects were neutropenia (25.3% sequential vs 31.7% concurrent) and fatigue (4.3% vs 8.5%)
GeparQuinto GBG 44 (435,436)	Randomized to receive neoadjuvant trastuzumab or lapatinib: EC + trastuzumab $(q_3w \times 4) \rightarrow T +$ trastuzumab $(q_3w \times 4)$ vs EC + lapatinib $\rightarrow$ T + lapatinib Pegfilgrastim administered with lapatinib as primary prophylaxis for febrile neutropenia and with trastuzumab as secondary prophylaxis	620	HER2+, ≥2 cm by palpation or ≥1 cm by sonography; cT1-4, 83% operable, 17% LABC, 31% CN0, 55% HR+	<ul> <li>30.3% EC + trastuzumab→T + trastuzumab and 22.7% EC+ lapatinib→T + lapatinib group had pCR (OR=0.68, p=0.04)</li> <li>Trastuzumab associated with more edema (39.1% vs 28.7%) and dyspnea (29.6% vs 21.4%) and less diarrhea and skin rash</li> <li>Still ongoing, no long-term data</li> </ul>
NeoSphere (437) NCT00545688	<ul> <li>A. trastuzumab + docetaxel</li> <li>B. Pertuzumab + trastuzumab + docetaxel</li> <li>C. Pertuzumab + trastuzumab</li> <li>D. Pertuzumab + docetaxel</li> <li>All administered for 4 cycles</li> <li>neoadjuvant</li> </ul>	417	HER2+; stratified by operable, locally advanced, and inflammatory, and by hormone receptor expression	B vs A, pCR 45.8% vs 29% D vs C, pCR 24.0% vs 16.8% Grade 3 neutropenia and leucopenia similar in Groups A, B, D; almost zero in group C Serious adverse events similar in A, B, D; lower in C Small study will not measure survival effects
JBCRG-10 (438,439) [abstract]	Neoadjuvant chemotherapy 1. FEC $\times 4 \rightarrow$ TCH $\times 4$ 2. TCH $\times 4 \rightarrow$ FEC $\times 4$	180 planned	HER2+, T1C-3, N0-1, M0	FEC arms were discontinued after interim analysis and insufficient power for conclusions on preferable sequence; decrease in LVEF was significant for FEC $\rightarrow$ TCH arm

Table 15. HER2+ plu	us trastuzumab, lapatii	nib, and/or pertuzumab RCTs
---------------------	-------------------------	-----------------------------

Study	Trial arms	N	Characteristics	Outcome
	3. TCH ×6	103 actual		
ADAPT HER2+/HR+ (211)	Neoadjuvant therapy (12 w) T-DM1 vs T-DM1 + endocrine therapy vs trastuzumab + endocrine therapy	380 planned	HER2+ HR+	Ongoing
ADAPT HER2+/HR- (211)	Neoadjuvant therapy (12 w) Trastuzumab + pertuzumab vs trastuzumab + pertuzumab + paclitaxel	220 planned	HER2+ HR-	Ongoing
Trastuzumab for <1				
FinHer (94,95)	3 cycles docetaxel or vinorelbine • HER2+ secondary randomization to trastuzumab or not for 9 w administered together with docetaxel or vinorelbine FEC administered after docetaxel/vinorelbine ± trastuzumab was complete	232	1010 pts overall, 232 HER2+ N+ or high-risk N0 (tumour diameter >20 mm, and PR-)	<ul> <li>Median follow-up 62 mo, DDFS and OS rates:</li> <li>Docetaxel better than vinorelbine overall, DDFS HR=0.66, p=0.010; OS HR=0.70, p=0.086</li> <li>HER2+: trastuzumab better than chemotherapy alone, DDFS HR=0.65 (95% CI 0.38-1.12), p=0.12; OS HR=0.55, p=0.094</li> <li>HER2+, adjusted for nodal metastases: DDFS HR=0.57, p=0.047</li> <li>Docetaxel + trastuzumab + FEC better than docetaxel + FEC (DDFS HR=0.32, p=0.29; OS HR=0.42, p=0.14) and vinorelbine + trastuzumab + FEC (DDFS HR=0.31, p=0.20)</li> <li>Trastuzumab group had less heart failure (0.9% vs 1.7%) and change in median LVEF (0% vs 4% decrease)</li> <li>Subgroup with very high HER2 content (≥22-fold the median of HER2- cancers) did not benefit from trastuzumab (HR=1.23, p=0.75) whereas the rest of the HER2+ pts did (HR=0.52, p=0.05)</li> </ul>
PHARE (92,93,440) NCT00381901 2006-2010	6 mo vs 12 mo trastuzumab	3382	HER2+, early, at least 4 cycles (neo)adjuvant chemotherapy; median 2 cm, 45% N+, 58% ER+, 88% RT, 58% trastuzumab, 73% anthracycline and taxane containing chemotherapy	<ul> <li>Median follow-up 42.5 mo</li> <li>DFS HR=1.28 (1.05-1.56), non-inferiority of 6 mo vs 12 mo could not be demonstrated because the 95% CI crossed the prespecified non-inferiority margin of 1.15</li> <li>Results inconclusive but trend in favour of 12 mo overall; subgroup analysis not yet complete</li> <li>Higher cardiotoxicity in 12 mo group (5.7% vs 1.9%)</li> </ul>
E-2198 (96) NCT00003992 [abstract]	Arm A: Paclitaxel + trastuzumab $(q_{3w\times4}) \rightarrow AC$ Arm B: same regimen + trastuzumab for 52 w	234	HER2+, Stage II	Median follow-up 64 mo DFS equivalent for arms B and A (73% vs 76%, p=0.55) Congestive heart failure rate same (Arm B, N=4; Arm A, N=3)
PERSEPHONE (441) [abstracts]	6 vs 12 mo trastuzumab Test for non-inferiority of 6 mo treatment	Planned 4000; 3080 to date	HER2+, early	Ongoing Recruitment expected to be completed late 2015 and first interim analysis mid-2016
Trastuzumab for 1 o				
HERA (81,442,443) BIG 1-01	Trastuzumab for 1 and 2 y (not reported) vs observation; all groups	3401	HER2+, early, 50% HR+, 33% N0 Inclusion criteria was N+ or N0 if	Median follow-up 48.4 mo, 4-y survival rate results, trastuzumab vs control

Study	Trial arms	N	Characteristics	Outcome
	after standard neoadjuvant, adjuvant		>1 cm	Intention-to-treat analysis:
2001-2005	chemotherapy or both			• DFS: 78.6% vs 72.2%, HR=0.76 (95% CI 0.66-0.87), p<0.0001
	After 1 y, the control group was allowed		For N0:	• OS: 89.3% vs 87.7%, HR=0.85 (95% CI 0.70-1.04), p=0.11
	to cross-over to trastuzumab and 52%		60 pts <1 cm	Censored for crossover
	did		33 pts 1 cm	<ul> <li>DFS 78.6% vs 71.7%, HR=0.69, p&lt;0.0001</li> </ul>
			510 pts >1 cm and <2 cm	• OS 89.3% vs 81.5%, HR=53 (95% CI 0.44-0.65), p<0.0001
			484 pts ≥2 cm	Crossover pts vs control
				• Fewer DFS events: HR=0.68 (95% CI 0.51-0.90), p=0.0077
			566 pts HR- N0	More grade 3-4 (14% vs 8%) and fatal adverse events (1% vs 0.5%) on
			533 pts HR+ N0	trastuzumab than observation
			68% anthracyclines,	3-y DFS (1 y trastuzumab vs observation):
			26% anthracycline + taxane	N0 (all sizes): 90.8% vs 84.9%, HR=0.59 (95% CI 0.39-0.91)
			6% no anthracycline	N0 (1.1-2 cm): 91.3% vs 86.7%, HR=0.53 (95% CI 0.26-1.07)
				N+ (N1 ): 84.7% vs 75.9%, HR=0.61 (95% CI 0.43-0.87)
				N+ (N2+): 67.8% vs 62.2%, HR=0.64 (95% CI 0.49-0.83)
				HR- N0: 87.1% vs 86.5%, HR=0.68 (95% CI 0.40-1.16)
				HR+ N0: 94.8% vs 83.4%, HR=0.46 (95% CI 0.23-0.93)
				2-y DFS (1 y trastuzumab vs observation)
				N0: HR=0.59 (95% CI 0.39–0.91)
				N1: HR=0.61 (95% CI 0.43-0.87)
				N2: HR=0.64 (95% CI 0.49–0.83)
				T1 (0-2 cm): HR=0.65 (95% CI 0.47-0.90)
				T2 (>2-5 cm): HR=0.55 (95% CI 0.43-0.71)
HERA (444)	See previous entry in table	5102	Included landmark analysis of	Median follow-up 8 y
	···· p······ ··· , ··· · ····		3105 pts ( 2 vs 1 y trastuzumab)	• DFS: 23.6% in both 2-y and 1-y group, HR=0.99
			disease-free 1 y after	(95% CI 0.85–1.14), p=0.86
			randomization to trastuzumab	• DFS: 1 y vs observation, HR=0.76 (95% CI 0.67–0.86), p<0.0001)
				• OS: 1 y vs observation, HR=0.76 (95% CI 0.65–0.88), p=0.0005
				despite crossover of 52% of pts from observation to trastuzumab
				• More pts had grade 3-4 adverse events in the 2 y group than 1 y
				group (20.4% vs 16.3%) or observation (8.2%). Included
				neoplasms, infections; nervous system, vascular, cardiac,
				musculoskeletal, gastrointestinal disorders (no significance
				values stated for these)
				Conclude 2 y trastuzumab is not more effective than 1 y; 1 y
				remains standard of care
HERA, BIG 1-01	See previous entry in table	5102		Median follow-up 8 y
(445)	see previous energy in tuble	5102		Cardiac adverse events leading to discontinuation of
(113)				trastuzumab 9.4% in 2-y arm and 5.2% in 1-y arm
	·			<ul> <li>2 y vs 1 y vs observation: Severe congestive heart failure rate</li> </ul>
				(0.8%, 0.8%, 0.0%) and confirmed significant LVEF decrease

Study	Trial arms	Ν	Characteristics	Outcome
				<ul> <li>(7.2%, 4.1%, 0.9%) were significantly greater in both trastuzumab arms compared with controls</li> <li>Acute recovery reached in 87.5% receiving 2-y trastuzumab and 81.2% of pts with 1-y trastuzumab</li> </ul>
HERA (446)	See previous entry in table 1 y trastuzumab vs observation	3401		Competing risks analysis of cumulative incidence of first DFS events in the CNS vs other sites after median follow-up 4 y: CNS as first relapse 2% trastuzumab vs 2% control, p=0.55
Lapatinib (± trastuzu	mab) for 1 y			
TEACH (447-449)	Lapatinib (1500 mg) vs placebo daily for 12 m	3147	HER2+, previous adjuvant chemotherapy	<ul> <li>Median follow-up 48 mo, lapatinib vs placebo:</li> <li>DFS 87% vs 83%, HR=0.83 (95% CI 0.70-1.00), p=0.053</li> <li>OS 94% vs 94%, HR=0.99 (95% CI 0.74-1.31), p=0.96</li> <li>HR- pts: DFS 87% vs 80%, HR=0.68 (95% CI 0.52-0.89), p=0.006</li> <li>N0 subgroup: HR=0.57 (95% CI 0.35-0.92)</li> <li>N+ subgroup: HR=0.74 (95% CI 0.37-0.94)</li> <li>HR+ pts: DFS HR=0.98 (95% CI 0.77-1.25), p=0.89</li> <li>Central review as HER2+ (79% of pts): DFS 87% lapatinib vs 83% placebo, HR=0.82 (95% CI 0.67-1.00), p=0.04</li> <li>HER2- or borderline by central FISH testing: DFS 85% vs 81%, HR=0.94 (95% CI 0.56-1.57)</li> <li>More serious grade 3/4 adverse events with lapatinib than placebo (6% vs 5%): diarrhea 6% vs 0.6%, rash 5% vs 0.2%, hepatobiliary disorders 2% vs 0.1%</li> <li>Any adverse effect: diarrhea 61% vs 16% (p&lt;0.0001), rash 59% vs 15% (p&lt;0.0001), hepatobiliary disorders 8% vs 3% (p=0.21)</li> </ul>
ALTTO BIG 2–06 NCCTG N063D (450,451) [abstract]	Lapatinib +trastuzumab (52 w) vs trastuzumab (12w)→ lapatinib (34 w after 6 w delay) vs lapatinib (52 w) vs trastuzumab (52 w) • N=4613 after chemotherapy • N=3337 concurrent with anthracycline→ taxane • N=431 concurrent with platinum- containing regimen	8381	Recruitment June 2007 to July 2011, L arm closed Aug 2011 for futility 40% N0, 57% HR+	Median follow-up 4.5 y, 4-y DFS Lapatinib + trastuzumab vs trastuzumab: 88% vs 86%, HR=0.84 (95% CI 0.70-1.02), p=0.048 Trastuzumab $\rightarrow$ lapatinib vs trastuzumab: 87% vs 86%, HR=0.93 (95% CI 0.76-1.13), p=0.044 both not significant at author's cut-off of p=0.025 Diarrhea (75% vs 20%), rash (55% vs 20%), hepatobilliary adverse effects (23% vs 16%) were more frequent in lapatinib + trastuzumab vs trastuzumab Primary cardiac endpoints <1% in all arms Quality of life substudy (N=777): worse in all arms at 12 w but returned to baseline by end of treatment at 52 w Follow-up continues
Trastuzumab for 1 y NSABP B31 and NCCTG N9831 combined analysis	Doxorubicin + cyclophosphamide→ paclitaxel ± trastuzumab N9831 Arms A and C, NSABP B31 Groups	4045	See later in this table	Median follow-up 3.9 y, significant improvement favouring trastuzumab • DFS: HR=0.52 (95% CI 0.45-0.60), p<0.001

Study	Trial arms	Ν	Characteristics	Outcome
(69)	1 and 2, see later in this table			• OS: 39% reduction, HR=0.61 (95% CI 0.50-0.75), p<0.001
				Analyzed by nodal status, significant only for N+
2000-2005				• 0 nodes: 4-y DFS 86.8% vs 89.6%, events HR=1.78
				(95% CI 0.3-10.7) (not significant, only 33 events occurred)
				• 1-3: DFS 89.7% vs 80.6%, HR=0.58 (95% CI 0.40-0.82)
				• 4-9: DFS 83.5% vs 71.1%, HR=0.68 (95% CI 0.48-0.98)
				• 10+: DFS 73.7% vs 46.5%, HR=0.55 (95% CI 0.38-0.81)
				Effective for all tumour sizes
				0-2 cm: DFS 90.9% vs 81.6%, HR=0.39 (95% CI 0.26-0.60)
				2.1-5 cm: DFS 83.2 vs 70.3%, HR=0.72 (95% CI 0.55-0.94)
				>5 cm: DFS 78.2% vs 52%, HR=0.61 (95% CI 0.35-1.06)
				Effect was similar for all tumour grades, and both HR+ and HR-
NCCTG N9831	<ul> <li>Arm A: AC (q3w×4 )→ paclitaxel</li> </ul>	3505	HER2+, operable, Stage I-III, N+ or	•Median follow-up 6 y, 5-y results (87)
(70,82-85,87)	(q1w×12)		high-risk N0	• Arm B vs A: DFS 80.1% vs 71.8%, HR=0.69 (95% CI 0.57-0.85),
	• Arm, B (sequential): $AC \rightarrow$		39% <2 cm	p<0.001; OS: 89.3% vs 88.4%, HR=0.88 (95% CI 0.67-1.15),
2000-2005	paclitaxel→ trastuzumab (q1wx52)		51% between 2.1-4.9 cm	p=0.343
	• Arm C (concurrent): $AC \rightarrow paclitaxel$		8% ≥5 cm	• Arm C vs B: DFS 84.4% vs 80.1%, HR=0.77
	+ trastuzumab (q1w×12)→		13% N0	(95% CI 0.53-1.11)
	trastuzumab (q1w×4)			Trend toward increase in DFS with C compared with B
			Initially only N+	(concurrent vs sequential), but not significant because the p
	RT or hormonal therapy after		disease; as of May 2, 2003, pts	value (0.02) did not cross the prespecified O'Brien-Fleming
	completion of chemotherapy when		with high-risk N0 (>2 cm +HR+; or	boundary (0.00116) for the interim analysis
	indicated		>1 cm and HR-)	• Cardiac events (congestive heart failure or cardiac death): 3-y
				cumulative incidence 0.3%, 2.8%, 3.3% in Arms A, B, C,
				respectively; cardiac function improved following trastuzumab
				discontinuation and cardiac medication (85)
		K Z		ASCO/CAP guidelines for HER2 positivity identify less pts
				than US FDA guidelines $(3.7\% \text{ less by IHC}, 1.3\% \text{ by})$
				fluorescence in situ hybridization, 1.7% with both);
				improvement in DFS was similar using either definition
				(83) [Note the ASCO/CAP guideline has now been revised,
				see (76,77)]
				Did not find association between MYC amplification and
				additional trastuzumab benefit (82)
				Trastuzumab benefit seemed independent of HER2 centromere 17
				ratio and chromosome 17 copy number (84)
				• Both HR+ and HR- pts benefit from trastuzumab (HR=0.42,
				p=0.005 and HR=0.60, p=0.0001) (84)
NSABP B-31 (69,452)	AC (q3w×4) $\rightarrow$ paclitaxel (q3w×4 or	2101	HER2+, operable, N+	See joint analysis with NCCTG N9831 previous entry in table
2000-2005	q1w×12) vs			Cardiac function assessment at 7-y follow-up
	$AC \rightarrow paclitaxel + trastuzumab (P=q3w×4)$			• Cardiac events: 4.0% trastuzumab vs 1.3% control;
	or q1w×12; H=q1wx52)			RR=3.30 (95% CI 1.63-6.66), p<0.001
				One cardiac death in each arm

Study	Trial arms	Ν	Characteristics	Outcome
				<ul> <li>Most pts recovered LVEF in the normal range after stopping trastuzumab, although some decline from baseline often persists</li> </ul>
BCIRG 006, UCLA-0102006 (71,72) 2001–2004	<ul> <li>[AC→TH]: AC q3w×4 → T q3w×4, trastuzumab q1w during chemotherapy then q3w until 1 y</li> <li>TCH: Docetaxel + carboplatin (q3w×6) + trastuzumab (q1w during chemotherapy then q3w until 1 y)</li> <li>AC→T: AC q3w×4 → T q3w×4</li> </ul>	3222	HER2+, early T1-3, N0-1, M0; N+ or high risk N0 (N=922); for N0 (assessed by SLNB or at least 6 nodes resected) at least one risk factor of age ≤35 y, tumour >2 cm, HR-, histological and/or nuclear grade 2/3 29% N0, 38% N1, 23% N2, 10% N3 40% T1 (≤2 cm), 53% 2-5 cm	Median follow-up 65 mo • AC→ TH vs AC→ T • DFS: 84% vs 75%, HR=0.64, p<0.001 • N0: 93% vs 85%, HR=0.47 (95% CI 0.28–0.77), p=0.0028 • N+ : 80% vs 71%, HR=0.68 (95% CI 0.56–0.84), p=0.0003 • N+ (≥4 nodes): HR=0.66 (95% CI 0.51–0.86), p=0.0017 • Tumour size <1 cm: HR=0.36 (95% CI 0.14–0.93), p=0.034 • Tumour size <2 cm: HR=0.73 (95% CI 0.49–1.09) • Tumour size <2 cm: HR=0.62 (95% CI 0.50–0.76), p<0.0001 • OS: 92% vs 87%, HR=0.63, p<0.001 • N0: HR=0.38 (95% CI 0.17–0.87) • N+: HR=0.67 (95% CI 0.50–0.88) • Tumour size <2 cm: HR=0.49 (95% CI 0.27–0.91) • Tumour size <2 cm: HR=0.46 (95% CI 0.49–0.88) • TCH vs AC→ T • DFS: 81% vs 75%, HR=0.75, p=0.04 • N0: 90% vs 85%, HR=0.64 (95% CI 0.41–1.01), p=0.057 • N+: 78% vs 71%, HR=0.78 (95% CI 0.64–0.95), p=0.013 • N+ (≥4 nodes): HR=0.46 (95% CI 0.51–0.86), p=0.0016 • Tumour size <2 cm: HR=0.151 (95% CI 0.77–1.16), p=0.096 • Tumour size <2 cm: HR=0.70 (95% CI 0.57–0.87), p=0.0009 • OS: 91% vs 87%, HR=0.77, p=0.04 • N0: HR=0.56 (95% CI 0.27–1.13) • N+: HR=0.81 (95% CI 0.62–1.02) • Tumour size <2 cm: HR=0.75 (95% CI 0.43–1.29) • Tumour s
BCIRG 006 (453)	See previous entry in table	3222		Health-Related Quality of Life questionnaire, assessed at baseline

Study	Trial arms	Ν	Characteristics	Outcome
				<ul> <li>(all groups similar), midpoint (cycle 4), end of chemotherapy, 12-mo follow-up:</li> <li>Physical scale, global health, and systemic effects deteriorated for all groups but recovered by 12 mo</li> <li>Repeated measurement analysis found significantly better physical, global health, and less systemic effects with TCH</li> </ul>
FNCLCC PACS-04 (454)	FEC or epirubicin/docetaxel; HER2+ secondary randomization to trastuzumab for 1 y or observation	3010	3010 pts overall, N+; 528 in HER2+ subgroup	Median follow-up 47 mo 14% reduction in risk of relapse with trastuzumab, HR=0.86 (95% CI 0.61-1.22), p=0.41 3-y DFS: 81% vs 78%, HR=0.86 (95% CI 0.61-1.22) OS: 95% vs 96%, HR=1.27 (95% CI 0.68-2.38) Of trastuzumab group, 10% did not receive trastuzumab and 18% discontinued trastuzumab before 6 mo due to cardiac events or progressive disease
N-SAS BC 07 RESPECT (80)	Trastuzumab monotherapy for 1 y vs trastuzumab + chemotherapy	300 planned	HER2+, Age >70 y, Stage I, IIA, IIB, IIIA/MO	Protocol only
Trastuzumab in HER	2 low pts (IHC 1+ or 2+)			
NSABP B-47 (455)	Chemotherapy ± 1 y of trastuzumab Chemotherapy by physician choice, either TC (q3w×6) or AC (q3w×4 or q2w×4) ) plus paclitaxel (q1w×12)	3260 planned	HER2 IHC 1+ or 2+ scores but non- amplified by FISH N+ or high-risk N0	Ongoing 1416 enrolled Feb 2011–Jan 2013
Second agent (pertu:	zumab or neratinib) after trastuzumab			
ExteNET, NCT00878709 (456)	Neratinib for 1 y vs placebo	2842	HER2+, N+ pts who completed adjuvant trastuzumab within 1 y before randomization	No results released yet, recruitment completed 2012, see http://clinicaltrials.gov/show/NCT00878709
APHINITY BIG 4-11 NCT01358877 (457)	1 y trastuzumab + pertuzumab vs trastuzumab Chemotherapy is investigator's choice between anthracycline-taxane or taxane-platin containing regimens	4800	<ul> <li>HER2+ with excision of tumour and adjuvant chemotherapy; either</li> <li>N+ (pN1),</li> <li>N0 and T&gt;1cm,</li> <li>or N0 and T 0.5-1 cm and one of grade 3, ER-/PR-, age &lt;35 y</li> <li>Randomized 3-7 w after surgery</li> </ul>	Ongoing Accrual complete August 2013 (458)

<u>Abbreviations</u>: AC; doxorubicin + cyclophosphamide; DDFS, distant disease-free survival; DFS, disease-free survival; EC, epirubicin + cyclophosphamide; ER, estrogen receptor; REC, fluorouracil + epirubicin + cyclophosphamide; HER2, human epidermal growth factor receptor 2; HR-, hormone receptor negative; HR+, hormone receptor positive; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; LABC, locally-advanced breast cancer; N+, node-positive; N0, node-negative; OS, overall survival; pCR, pathologically complete response; RT, radiation therapy; TCH, docetaxel + carboplatin + trastuzumab; T, docetaxel; T-DM1, trastuzumab emtansine; TH, docetaxel + trastuzumab.

#### 4.4.2 Questions and Interpretation

# For which patients is the benefit in preventing recurrence greater than the added risk of cardiotoxicity (risk-benefit profile)?

# a) Is trastuzumab beneficial in small node negative tumours? (T <1 cm; T <2 cm and node negative?)

Most of the RCTs exclude patients with small node-negative cancers, so there is limited evidence to evaluate this question. HERA (73,81,442,443) had included N0 cases with small tumours: 60 cases <1cm, 33 cases of 1 cm, and 510 cases >1 and <2 cm. HERA found no difference in efficacy of trastuzumab between N+ and N0 tumours, and was effective in both 0-2 cm and 2-5 cm cases at two years; at three years the trastuzumab effect was similar in both all N0 and N0 subgrouped as 1.1-2 cm and  $\ge 2$  cm. BCIRG 006 (71,72) found benefit in both patients with N0 and N+ cancer and results are not further divided by tumour size for patients with N0 cancer alone. Trastuzumab was beneficial in <1 cm, <2 cm,  $\ge 2$  cm, but not 1-2 cm; inconsistency may be due to the small numbers in each category. N9831 (69,70,82-85,87) included 39% of tumours <2 cm, of which some were 1-2 cm and N0, but data were not reported separately for this later group.

Petrelli and Barni (78) summarized the studies on very early-stage pT1a/bN0M0 HER2+ breast cancer, including both RCTs and retrospective case series. They conclude these cancers have a higher rate of relapse and poorer survival rate than HER2- cancers of the same size/stage, and that biology/prognostic factors (proliferative index, hormone receptor status, etc.) should guide the choice of treatment more than the tumour size for small N0 tumours.

Exploratory analysis in the FinHer trial (94,95) found that a subgroup with very high HER2+ content did not benefit from trastuzumab.

#### b) What is the optimal duration of trastuzumab therapy?

HERA results (73,81,442,443) indicated that one year of trastuzumab is as good as two years and with less adverse effects. The small FinHer trial (94,95) found nine weeks of trastuzumab is more effective than the control, with no difference in cardiotoxicity or brain metastasis. E2198 (96) found no difference between twelve weeks and one year, although this is a small trial published only as an abstract. PHARE (91-93,440) was inconclusive whether six months is non-inferior to twelve months. There was a nonsignificant trend favouring 12 months. It is suggested that although the optimal duration is still unknown and one year is standard, lower cardiotoxicity may justify shorter duration for some patients and six months trastuzumab is better than none.

# c) Should trastuzumab be administered concurrently with or sequentially after chemotherapy?

No adjuvant studies gave trastuzumab concurrently with anthracyclines. Most either gave anthracycline  $\rightarrow$  taxane  $\rightarrow$  trastuzumab, or anthracycline  $\rightarrow$  (taxane + trastuzumab). In the N9831 study trastuzumab was administered either concurrently or sequentially with taxanes, and there was a trend toward an increase in DFS rates for concurrent vs sequential, but this was not statistically significant. There are ongoing studies giving trastuzumab and anthracyclines concurrently in the neoadjuvant setting.

# d) What is the most appropriate chemotherapy to be used in conjunction with trastuzumab?

Limited data are available because only BCIRG 006 (71,72) compared a nonanthracycline to anthracycline regimen. It found that TCH (docetaxel + carboplatin [q3w×6] + trastuzumab [52 weeks]) had less adverse effects than AC $\rightarrow$ T + trastuzumab (AC $\rightarrow$ TH), while both were superior for DFS and OS to AC $\rightarrow$ T alone. A direct comparison was not made between the two trastuzumab regimens; however, they were both compared with the same control AC $\rightarrow$ T. DFS rates for the three groups were 84% AC $\rightarrow$ TH, 81% TCH, and 75% AC $\rightarrow$ T. Rates of congestive heart failure and cardiac dysfunction were higher in AC $\rightarrow$ T + trastuzumab than for TCH (p<0.001). There were seven acute leukemia cases for the AC-based regimens vs one in the TCH group (received anthracycline outside the study). It is uncertain whether TCH is as effective as AC $\rightarrow$ TH; however, due to lower cardiotoxicity and leukemia it may be preferred for some patients. As suggested in the review by Costa et al (430), TCH may be preferred for those patients with risk factors for cardiac dysfunction.

#### e) HER2 status and taxane efficacy

Meta-analysis of 11,631 patients in six studies found taxanes superior to non-taxanebased regimens for DFS in both HER2+ and HER2- disease. There was no evidence of interaction between HER2 status and taxane efficacy (459).

#### 5. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The conflict of interest details are shown at the end of Section 3 and in Appendix A.

#### 6. JOURNAL REFERENCE

The recommendations and systematic review of this EBS have been published in the journal Current Oncology in a supplement on breast cancer.

Eisen A, Fletcher GG, Gandhi S, Mates M, Freedman OC, Dent SF, et al. Optimal systemic therapy for early breast cancer in women: a clinical practice guideline. Curr Oncol. 2015;22(Suppl 1):S67-81. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3747/co.22.2320</u>.

Gandhi S, Fletcher GG, Eisen A, Mates M, Freedman OC, Dent SF, et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy for early female breast cancer: a systematic review of the evidence for the 2014 Cancer Care Ontario systemic therapy guideline. Curr Oncol. 2015;22(Suppl 1):S82-94. http://dx.doi.org/10.3747/co.22.2321.

Freedman OC, Fletcher GG, Gandhi S, Mates M, Dent SF, Trudeau ME, et al. Adjuvant endocrine therapy for early breast cancer: A systematic review of the evidence for the 2014 Cancer Care Ontario systemic therapy guideline. Curr Oncol. 2015;22(Suppl 1):S95-113. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3747/co.22.2326</u>

Mates M, Fletcher GG, Freedman OC, Eisen A, Gandhi S, Trudeau ME, et al. Systemic targeted therapy for HER2-positive early female breast cancer: a systematic review of the evidence for the 2014 Cancer Care Ontario systemic therapy guideline. Curr Oncol. 2015;22(Suppl 1):S114-122. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3747/co.22.2322</u>.

### 7. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Early Breast Cancer Systemic Therapy Consensus Panel would like to thank the following individuals for their assistance in developing this report:

- Melissa Brouwers, Amanda Hammill, Donna Maziak, Sheila McNair, Hans Messersmith, Rovena Tey, and Rebecca Wong for providing feedback on draft versions.
- Cindy Walker-Dilks who was the Health Research Methodologist during the initial stage of the project.
- Ellen Liang and Kristy Yiu for conducting a data audit.
- Bruce Histed and Kristine Thornley for copyediting.
- Yvonne Rohlehr for assisting with the consensus questionnaire and meeting.

A complete list of the members of the Early Breast Cancer Systemic Therapy Consensus Panel and the Working Group, with their affiliations and conflict of interest information, is provided in Appendix A.

#### Evidence-Based Series 1–21: Section 3

### A Quality Initiative of the Program in Evidence-Based Care (PEBC), Cancer Care Ontario (CCO)

### Optimal Systemic Therapy for Early Female Breast Cancer: Development Methods, Recommendations Development and External Review Process

Andrea Eisen, Glenn G Fletcher, Sonal Gandhi, Mihaela Mates, Orit Freedman, Susan Dent, Maureen Trudeau, and members of the Early Breast Cancer Systemic Therapy Consensus Panel

Report Date: September 30, 2014

#### 1. THE PROGRAM IN EVIDENCE-BASED CARE

The Program in Evidence-Based Care (PEBC) is an initiative of the Ontario provincial cancer system, Cancer Care Ontario (CCO) (108). The PEBC mandate is to improve the lives of Ontarians affected by cancer through the development, dissemination, and evaluation of evidence-based products designed to facilitate clinical, planning, and policy decisions about cancer care.

The PEBC supports a network of disease-specific panels, termed Disease Site Groups (DSGs), as well as other groups or panels called together for a specific topic, all mandated to develop the PEBC products. These panels consist of clinicians, other healthcare providers and decision makers, methodologists, and community representatives from across the province.

The PEBC is produces evidence-based and evidence-informed guidelines, known as Evidence-Based Series (EBS) reports, using the methods of the Practice Guidelines Development Cycle (108,109). The EBS report consists of an evidentiary base (typically a systematic review), an interpretation of and consensus agreement on that evidence by our Groups or Panels, the resulting recommendations, and an external review by Ontario clinicians and other stakeholders in the province for whom the topic is relevant. The PEBC has a formal standardized process to ensure the currency of each document through the periodic review and evaluation of the scientific literature and, where appropriate, the integration of that literature with the original guideline information.

This EBS includes the following sections:

- Section 1: Guideline Recommendations. Contains the clinical recommendations derived from a systematic review of the clinical and scientific literature and its interpretation by the Group or Panel involved and a formalized external review by review participants.
- Section 2: Evidentiary Base. Presents the comprehensive evidentiary/systematic review of the clinical and scientific research on the topic and the conclusions reached by the Group or Panel.
- Section 3: Development Methods, Recommendations Development, and External Review Process. Summarizes the EBS development process, including the recommendations development process and the results of the formal external review of the draft version of the EBS.

#### 2. FORMATION OF GUIDELINE DEVELOPMENT/WORKING GROUP

The Breast Cancer DSG asked the PEBC to develop a guideline on Systemic Therapy for Early Female Breast Cancer. In consultation with the DSG, a Working Group was identified from the DSG membership. This Working Group consisted of six medical oncologists and one methodologist. The Early Breast Cancer Systemic Therapy Consensus Panel (see Consensus section and Appendix A), consisting of medical oncologists selected to represent all regions of Ontario, reviewed the evidence base and initial draft recommendations, and voted on the final recommendations. The members of the consensus panel also reviewed the draft document at the same time as the Report Approval Panel (RAP) review (see later in this section).

A consensus panel process was used due to the large amount of evidence and wide scope of the document, the current use of several chemotherapy regimens that do not have direct randomized controlled trial (RCT) comparisons and that may have differential benefits in specific subpopulations of patients, possible differences in practice patterns among different centres and regions of Ontario, and to identify gaps in evidence for certain practices. The consensus process was envisioned as a way to standardize practice, to raise awareness of some of the issues surrounding treatment decisions, and to reveal practices that are not according to best evidence.

#### 3. RESEARCH QUESTION

What is the optimal adjuvant systemic therapy for female patients with early-stage operable breast cancer, when patient and disease factors are considered?

#### 4. GUIDELINE REVIEW

Almost all PEBC document projects begin with a search for existing guidelines that may be suitable for adaptation. The PEBC defines adaptation, in accordance with the ADAPTE Collaboration, as "the use and/or modification of (a) guideline(s) produced in one cultural and organizational setting for application in a different context" (460). This includes a wide spectrum of potential activities from the simple endorsement, with little or no change, of an existing guideline, to the use of the evidence base of an existing guideline with *de novo* recommendations development.

The <u>SAGE Directory of Cancer Guidelines</u> (available at <u>www.cancerview.ca</u>) was searched in May 2012 for current versions of guidelines published 2008 or later. Most guidelines listed are evaluated using AGREE II, and no further appraisal of quality was undertaken for the current guideline on systemic therapy in early breast cancer. NICE (UK), SIGN (UK), ASCO (US), NCCN (US), National Health and Medical Research Council (Australia), and New Zealand Guidelines Group sites were searched in February 2012 for guidelines not yet indexed in SAGE. Guidelines were also located from a literature search on MEDLINE and EMBASE as indicated in Section 2. Relevant guidelines are summarized in the Section 2 (Evidentiary Base); however, none were considered up-to-date enough to be adapted or used as the sole literature base.

#### 5. EVIDENTIARY BASE DEVELOPMENT

A literature search on MEDLINE and EMBASE was conducted for the period 2008 up to March 5, 2012, and updated May 12, 2014 as described in Section 2. The search was limited to RCTs, guidelines, systematic reviews, and meta-analyses. Information on trials published before 2008 was obtained from the guidelines, systematic reviews and meta-analyses. Additional targeted searches were conducted to locate further details of some of the studies. The evidence is summarized in Section 2.

#### 6. INITIAL STATEMENTS/RECOMMENDATIONS

Using the evidentiary base in Section 2, the Working Group developed a set of initial consensus statements or recommendations. These initial recommendations were developed through a consideration of the aggregate evidence quality, the potential for bias in the evidence, and the likely benefits and harms. The initial recommendations were voted on by a consensus panel as described in the next subsection. The consensus panel was provided the evidence summary (Section 2) and the initial recommendations, but not the key evidence summaries or comments that appear following each recommendation in Section 1. Both initial and revised recommendations are provided in Appendix B. The exact wording of the final recommendations in Section 1 differ from those in the Appendix B because cross-referencing to tables in Section 2 or other evidence was removed from the recommendation boxes and placed with the qualifying statements and key evidence. In a few cases, the wording was edited for clarity but it is consistent with the intent of the recommendation as voted on.

### 7. CONSENSUS PANEL PROCESS

During the project planning stage it was decided that final recommendations would be decided on by consensus at a meeting, with participants being medical oncologists practicing in Ontario. All medical oncologists currently serving as members of the Breast Cancer DSG were invited. Additional medical oncologists with an interest in breast cancer were invited to ensure representation from all Cancer Treatment Centres and regions of Ontario. The initial list of people to invite was prepared by the Working Group chair (MT) in consultation with the Head of Medical Oncology or the Head of the Cancer Centre. Invitees who declined to participate were asked if they could recommend another medical oncologist from their institution/centre with an interest in breast cancer. The consensus panel members are listed in Appendix A and included the medical oncologists in the Working Group plus the additional medical oncologists who agreed to participate

The Working Group prepared 34 recommendation statements based on the evidence in the systematic review in Section 2. Because a systematic review was not conducted on patient and disease stratification factors, draft recommendations on these (R1–R7) were based on clinical practice guidelines, factors included or evaluated in clinical trials in our systematic review, and experience of the Working Group members.

A modified Delphi technique was used to try to reach consensus. The draft recommendations were circulated to all consensus group members and voted on before the consensus meeting using a 5-point scale (strongly disagree, disagree, undecided, agree, strongly agree). Consensus was defined as at least 80% agreement (agree or strongly agree) and with no responses of strongly disagree. Voting on the initial set of recommendations was coordinated using Survey Monkey (a third-party website), which allowed anonymous voting and feedback. Of those people receiving the online survey, 19 of 20 responded. Recommendations without consensus from the initial questionnaire were presented at a consensus meeting on November 23, 2012 and voted on by 16 participants after rewording (if required) and discussion. Some of the recommendations that met consensus but also had some responses of "disagree" were reviewed but not voted on again. No additional discussion was held at the consensus meeting for statements attaining consensus and all responses being undecided, agree, or strongly agree.

#### 7.1 QUESTIONNAIRE AND RESULTS

The original questionnaire, statements added or modified at the consensus panel meeting, and a tabulation of responses are provided in Appendix B. In the online survey, 24 recommendations achieved consensus, whereas 10 recommendations did not attain consensus in their entirety (some recommendations contained multiple statements voted on separately). Of these ten statements, participants were able to attain consensus for at least part (i.e., at least one sub-statement or clause) for nine. Eight of the consensus statements had attained consensus with some disagreement and were discussed at the meeting but were not voted on again. The discussion has been incorporated into the comments, key evidence, and qualifying statements.

#### 7.2 THE DELPHI TECHNIQUE

Consensus methods are a means of resolving conflicting scientific data. A consensus statement is often developed after a consensus conference where a comprehensive analysis by a panel of experts is undertaken to resolve a scientific or medical issue. Quantitative methods, such as meta-analyses, provide statistical overviews of the results of clinical trials and attempt to resolve inconsistencies in published studies. Consensus methods are concerned with deriving quantitative estimates through qualitative approaches.

Features of consensus methods include:

- Anonymity to avoid dominance by panel members
- (Iteration to allow individuals to change their opinions
- Controlled feedback to demonstrate the distribution of the group's response
- Statistical group response to express judgment using summary measures of the full group response (providing more information than just a consensus statement)

The Delphi technique is a well-established consensus technique in scientific and medical research. Through the use of sequential questionnaires and regular anonymous feedback, this technique allows for collection, grouping, sorting, and ranking of data through structured communication. The technique also allows for attaining consensus among a group of individuals without requiring face-to-face contact.

Questionnaires are distributed to participants and responses are summarized to develop additional questionnaires in an attempt to seek agreement, disagreement, and new insights from the same pool of participants. The process continues until no new opinions are raised.

A modified Delphi Technique was applied to this project through multiple phases:

- Phase 1 An initial questionnaire was administered to a group of chosen specialists in Ontario.
- Phase 2 The results of the initial questionnaire were summarized and were distributed at the consensus meeting. A brief presentation on some of the relevant issues was made by the Working Group. Following discussion the respondent group answered another questionnaire that only included the questions for which there had not been consensus before the meeting. Although some statements had achieved consensus on some of the clauses and therefore did not strictly require revote on all the clauses, it was decided that any statement not reaching consensus in its entirety would be voted on again in full.

#### 7.3 STATEMENTS WITHOUT CONSENSUS

The following 10 consensus statements did not attain agreement on all clauses in initial voting; however, 9 of 10 statements did attain agreement on some clauses following the consensus meeting. The discussion at the consensus meeting is summarized. Percentages refer to the percentage of participants agreeing or strongly agreeing with the statement.

#### 7.3.1 Patient Stratification

#### a) Disease Characteristics (Statement 1)

Although not useful in determining tamoxifen response, progesterone PR) status may have prognostic implications. Based on the EBCTCG meta-analysis (55), estrogen receptor (ER) status played a stronger role in determining response to tamoxifen, regardless of PR status. Caution was raised about the PR status in the studies of the EBCTCG meta-analysis because specimens were analyzed by older analytical methods which are not as standardized as ER analysis. Furthermore, the rarity of ER-PR+ breast cancer requires that pathological confirmation take place. As such, the analytical method is important and should be conducted according to CCO/ASCO guidelines. Within Ontario, there is still uncertainty regarding whether laboratories are using one methodology to ascertain ER or PR positivity. PR status may still have prognostic value even if it is not useful in determining tamoxifen response; however, the response of patients with ER-PR+ cancer to other endocrine agents besides tamoxifen was not covered in the EBCTCG meta-analysis. Much discussion was raised over the standardization of PR evaluation and whether PR status currently influences clinical practice. In the final vote consensus was reached.

Most disagreed with or were undecided about the relevance of Ki-67 and molecular subtype. With respect to Ki-67, some studies show a prognostic role; however, there is poor analytical reproducibility between various centres, as this test is not standardized. Molecular subtypes do influence prognosis and response to chemotherapy. Such response variation was detected in retrospective analysis but has not been studied in prospective trials. ER, PR, human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) and grade provide the most prognostic and predictive information and there is currently little additional value of the intrinsic subtype. Consensus was not attained for the utilization of Ki-67 and molecular subtype as predictive or prognostic factors when deciding about adjuvant chemotherapy.

#### b) Risk Stratification Tools (Statement 2)

Most participants voted that Oncotype DX and Adjuvant! Online may be used as risk stratification tools to help determine the candidacy for systemic treatments, although 11.3% of participants initially disagreed with the usage of Adjuvant! Online and there was not consensus before the meeting. Additional discussion revealed that Adjuvant! Online, was more frequently used as a discussion tool to empower patients as opposed to facilitate physician decision-making. Limitations of this particular tool include lack of HER2 inclusivity. Furthermore, estimated risks are dependent on the comorbidities entered.

Prognostic information for Adjuvant! Online comes from SEER databases and validation studies (17,461). There is overall good correlation. Exceptions include a UK validation study (18) demonstrating patients did worse than predicted by Adjuvant! Online. This difference may relate to differences in the healthcare systems. There is good correlation between Adjuvant! Online and Oncotype DX in patients with mid-risk of recurrence, but poor correlation at the high and low ends.

Oncotype DX is not funded consistently across Canada. This 21-gene signature test, of which 16 genes are involved in proliferation and distant relapse, is of greatest use for ER+ N0 disease, but can be utilized ER+ N+ disease as well. It is a commercial RT-PCR test costing approximately \$4100 (in 2012), and categorizes the risk of recurrence as low, intermediate, or high. High-risk results indicate a benefit from receiving chemotherapy and tamoxifen.

Conversely, the benefit of the addition of chemotherapy to tamoxifen among female patients with low-risk results is minimal (approximately 1% benefit) and therefore not indicated.

#### c) Tumour Characteristics (Statement 4)

For patients in which chemotherapy is assessed to be tolerated, adjuvant treatment should be considered if N+ (100%), ER- >5 mm (88.9%), HER2+ tumours (100%), and high-risk N0 tumours with T size >5 mm and another high-risk feature (88.9%). There was initial disagreement (non-consensus) on whether the Adjuvant! Online 10-year risk of death from breast cancer >10% (77.7%) should be included. Comments were made that value judgments may be being imposed. The threshold for improved benefit, particularly for tools such as Adjuvant! Online, may be different for physicians and patients. The group added an initial question on Adjuvant! Online with a 10-year risk of death of >15%. After the revote there was consensus for Adjuvant! Online at a cutoff of both 10% (14 agree, 1 strongly agree) and 15% (9 agree, 5 strongly agree), although agreement was stronger for 15% cut-off.

#### d) High-Risk Features for Node Negative Disease (Statement 5)

High-risk features for N- tumours include grade 3 histopathology (88.9%), triple negative receptor status (94.5%), and lymphovascular invasion positive (72.3%). One participant initially strongly disagreed with including intermediate or high recurrence score (RS) in the Oncotype DX tool, with an estimated distant relapse risk of  $\geq$ 15% at 10 years (88.9%), although consensus was reached after discussion. Four participants had written in *HER2*+ as another factor to consider. HER2+ was included on the final vote, and consensus was reached.

#### e) Disease Characteristics that May Not Need Chemotherapy (Statement 6)

Patients with tumours <5mm, N0 and no other high-risk features (see R6) <u>may</u> not require adjuvant chemotherapy (100%). The majority indicated lymph node positive with micrometastases only (<2 mm) and no other high-risk feature may not need adjuvant chemotherapy; however, 25% disagreed or were undecided and consensus was not reached. Issues include a lack of data to determine whether chemotherapy is beneficial in addition to a lack of consensus over whether a micrometastasis itself is a high or low risk factor. Consensus was still not reached after the discussion.

Most of the literature addresses whether to proceed with a full axillary lymph node dissection (ALND). Although trials such as ACOSOG Z0011 (462) did not demonstrate a trend toward clinical benefit of ALND for patients with limited nodal disease, caution must be exercised to not generalize the results of such trials to all patient groups and treatment modalities.

#### f) Disease Characteristics for HER2 Negative, Hormone Positive Disease (Statement 7)

Among patients with HER2 negative, strongly ER and PR (>90%) disease, adjuvant chemotherapy may not be required for some patients. There was consensus for tumours <5 mm. The group added "A low recurrence score <18 on Oncotype DX" and this reached consensus. Discussion was held regarding chemotherapy for patients with 1–3 positive lymph nodes or with lymphovascular invasion (LVI), but consensus was not reached. Lymph nodes with micrometastasis only (<2 mm) did not have consensus on the initial survey but reached

consensus after discussion. Macrometastasis to 1–3 lymph nodes did not reach consensus on either vote. Concerns were raised regarding using cut-off level categories (high, medium, low) for continuous data, because the physician bases this on a value judgment. Another problem is that studies evaluated multiple factors, not just single factors in isolation.

#### 7.3.2 Adjuvant Chemotherapy

#### a) Anthracycline and Anthracycline-Taxane-Based Regimens (Statement 13)

Several chemotherapy regimens were considered acceptable. Consensus was not reached on the use of CEF in either vote, although the majority thought it can be used. CEF may have a role in a subgroup of patients with very high risk of recurrence and in good health who can tolerate it. In general, there are other regimens that are as effective and less toxic. FEC followed by weekly paclitaxel was not included in the initial questionnaire. It was discussed at the meeting and participants were asked to vote on this regimen. Four of 16 participants present did not vote; therefore, consensus was not attained. Of those voting, 11 agreed and 1 was undecided. Dose-dense AC followed by paclitaxel was another regimen suggested at the meeting, and consensus was reached.

#### 7.3.3 Adjuvant Endocrine Therapy

#### a) ER Positive Patients (Statement 16)

Adjuvant endocrine therapy should be considered in all patients with ER+ cancer, defined by the ASCO/CAP guidelines as ER IHC staining  $\geq 1\%$ , taking into consideration overall disease risk, patient preference and potential adverse effects (94.4% agreed, 5.6% strongly disagreed). Discussion led to concerns about the term 'should' however, the operative phrase is 'should be considered' indicating that after consideration, no therapy may be indicated. "Overall disease risk" was added as an additional item to be considered, and consensus was reached on the final vote.

#### b) ER Negative, PR Positive Patients (Statement 17)

"Evidence suggests that estrogen receptor negative (ER-) with progesterone receptor positive (PR+) tumours may not benefit from tamoxifen, as compared with ER + tumours (please see Table 4 in Evidence Summary). Nonetheless, adjuvant endocrine therapy should be offered to all estrogen receptor negative (ER-), but progesterone receptor positive (PR+) patients."

Revised at consensus meeting to state "should be considered" instead of "should be offered":

"Evidence suggests that patients with estrogen receptor negative (ER-), but progesterone receptor positive (PR+) tumours may not benefit from tamoxifen, as compared with patients with ER+ tumours (please see Table 4 in Evidence Summary). Nonetheless, adjuvant endocrine therapy <u>should be considered</u> in patients with estrogen receptor negative (ER-), but progesterone receptor positive (PR+) tumours"

Consensus was not obtained for the original or revised recommendation, although 12 of 19 and 11 of 16, respectively, indicated agreement. The discussion centered on the risk-tobenefit ratio for patients. Some oncologists asserted that the risk of hormone treatment is low and patients should be offered treatment with the caveat that their benefit would likely be minimal if any. Other oncologists emphasized that the evidence points to no benefit for these patients (118); therefore, treatment should not be offered. All participants agreed that this profile (ER-PR+) is rare, and pathology should be consulted to confirm this result. Discussion for Statement 1 is also relevant to this issue.

#### c) Endocrine Strategies in Postmenopausal Women (Statement 24)

Regarding the role of aromatase inhibitors (Als) in postmenopausal patients, there was consensus that multiple strategies exist for acceptable use. These strategies include the use of Als upfront for five years (instead of tamoxifen), or as a switch from tamoxifen after two to three years (for a total of five years of endocrine therapy), or as extended adjuvant therapy for at least five years (after five years of tamoxifen) are all acceptable strategies (100%). Participants disagreed (61.1%) or were undecided (27.8%) regarding the use of Als for more than five years after completing five years of tamoxifen (i.e., > 10 years total endocrine therapy) due to lack of available literature supporting this practice. After discussion all participants either disagreed or were undecided.

#### 7.4 CONSENSUS ATTAINED, WITH SOME DISAGREEMENT

The following eight statements attained consensus but there was some disagreement (no strong disagreement) in the pre-meeting survey. The Working Group considered it might be useful to discuss these statements to see if there was misinterpretation, problems with the wording, or additional issues for consideration. According to pre-established rules, because consensus had been achieved no change to the intent of a recommendation was allowed and a second vote on these statements did not occur. Issues raised have been included in the qualifying statements.

#### 7.4.1 Patient Stratification

#### a) Patient Factors (Statement 3)

Patient factors, specifically age (94.4% agreement), menopausal status (94.4% agreement) and medical comorbidities (100% agreement) were believed to be considerations for systemic treatment selection. Regarding age, 5.6% of panelists disagreed with its consideration as a factor. Discussion revealed that advanced age in the absence of other comorbidities should not be a factor in determining treatment. Young age, in particular, may affect aggressiveness of cancer, response to treatment, desire to spare fertility and may be a surrogate for menopausal status. In the initial survey four respondents indicated that patient preferences should be considered.

#### 7.4.2 Adjuvant Chemotherapy

#### a) Anthracycline-Taxane Containing Regimens (Statement 8)

In patients who can tolerate it, using an anthracycline-taxane containing regimen is considered the optimal strategy for adjuvant chemotherapy (94.4% agreed, 5.6% disagreed). Discussion was held around the NCIC MA.21 data (33), which demonstrates that CEF is statistically significantly better than AC $\rightarrow$ P q3w and that there is no statistically significant difference between EC $\rightarrow$ P and CEF. Given the increased adverse effects of CEF, the

increased number of visits compared with anthracycline-taxane regimens and the increased difficulty in administering granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (GCSF) during treatment, the consensus remains that anthracycline-taxane containing regimens are considered the optimal strategy for adjuvant chemotherapy.

#### 7.4.3 Adjuvant Endocrine Therapy

#### a) Definitions of Menopause (Statement 15)

Menopausal status is an important factor to determine before selecting adjuvant hormonal therapy. The most reliable definitions include bilateral oophorectomy (100%) or at least 12 months of amenorrhea prior to initiation of chemotherapy or tamoxifen (94.4% agreed, 5.6% disagreed). Following discussion, consensus was achieved with the following qualifications. Most studies had age limits, such as age >50 years. As such, some participants use hormonal analysis, particularly high follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) and low luteinizing hormone (LH) to confirm menopausal status. There was additional discussion about what is monitored and how frequently. Additional assessments such as hormonal status may be necessary in some patients (i.e., post hysterectomy). In female patients  $\leq$ 60 years of age who experience amenorrhea secondary to chemotherapy or tamoxifen, defining menopause is difficult, and care must be taken when initiating an AI (100% agreement).

#### b) Duration of Therapy (Statement 18)

Duration of therapy with tamoxifen for five years was considered standard of care in premenopausal patients with ER+ tumours, regardless of chemotherapy use (94.4% agreed, 5.6% disagreed). Discussions emphasized that the potential for switching endocrine treatments must be considered because menopausal status must be regularly evaluated clinically after initiation of treatment. After the consensus meeting, new data became available. The ATLAS (55) and aTTOM trials (56,284) demonstrated that 10 years of therapy with tamoxifen is superior to 5 years. The recommendations were revised to reflect this and the consensus panel members were asked to approve the change.

#### c) Ovarian Ablation/Suppression in Premenopausal Women (Statement 20)

The benefit of ovarian ablation (OA) or suppression when administered in addition to other systemic treatments remains controversial. 83.3% of participants agreed that the addition of OA or suppression to tamoxifen in premenopausal patients is not standard of care; however, 16.7% of participants disagreed or were undecided given the existence of data that suggests a benefit in female patients aged <40 years. There was significant discussion and divergent opinions on this issue. Pending upcoming data, the addition of ovarian ablation or suppression to tamoxifen in premenopausal patients it is not standard of care.

A meta-analysis of LHRH agonists (61) suggests that subgroups such as young patients with ER+ cancer (aged <40 years) have additional benefit of LHRH added to tamoxifen, because the effect was stronger in this subgroup (aged  $\leq$ 40 years: -32% change in hazard ratio for recurrence, p=0.12; age >40 years: -1.5% change, p=0.91). Although these data demonstrate a trend towards benefit, statistical significance was not achieved (p=0.12). The meta-analysis also found that LHRH agonists may be as effective as chemotherapy regimens used, and LHRH added to chemotherapy has an additional benefit in female patients aged  $\leq$ 40 years. The EBCTCG data (112) found a statistically significant improvement in recurrence

rate with addition of ovarian suppression to chemotherapy for patients aged <40 years (RR=0.70, 95% CI 0.39–0.996) but did not address the issue of tamoxifen use. Both metaanalyses suggest greater benefit of LHRH agonists in young female patients but did not address adding LHRH to tamoxifen + chemotherapy.

#### d) Aromatase Inhibitors and Postmenopausal Women (Statement 23)

The optimal adjuvant endocrine therapy in this population should include an AI (94.4% agreed, 5.6% disagreed). "Optimal" was believed to be an inappropriate adjective selection, and this has been noted in the recommendation in Section 1. Tamoxifen is acceptable in low-risk patients with low risk of recurrence.

#### 7.4.4 Adjuvant Targeted Therapy (HER2+)

#### a) Concurrent vs Sequential Trastuzumab (Statement 31)

The initiation of trastuzumab concurrently with a taxane is generally preferred (88.9% agreed, 5.6% undecided, 5.6% disagreed). Discussion was held around the evidence summary endorsing that no significant differences in survival rate outcome exists between concurrent vs sequential initiation. Re-examination of the data concluded that the NCCTG 9831 (69,87) trial did not show a statistically significant improvement in overall survival (OS). Given the evidentiary basis demonstrating disease-free survival (DFS) rate benefit and a lack of added adverse effects in clinical practice, concurrent trastuzumab with taxanes is supported.

#### b) TCH vs AC $\rightarrow$ TH regimens (Statement 32)

The combination of trastuzumab with taxotere and carboplatin (TCH) has been evaluated, and, given its decreased cardiotoxicity compared with ACTH, is recommended for patients at higher risk for cardiotoxicity (83.3% agreed, 11.1 disagreed, 5.6% undecided). Discussion was held around the statement that TCH was found to be equivalent to ACTH. Given that the BCIRG 006 trial (71,72) was not designed to demonstrate "equivalence", qualifying statements specifying the relative benefit of TCH to ACTH should be included.

#### 7.5 SUMMARY

The overall consensus process reinforced that when high-quality evidence is available, agreement is easily attained. Areas in which there was disagreement or no consensus were specific areas in which there was limited evidence available or value judgments were necessary to interpret risk stratification.

The overall trend of the consensus process was to identify female patients in whom treatment should be offered. It was among these consensus statements that higher proportions of disagreement were identified. Regarding which specific treatment regimens should be offered, overall, there was a higher proportion of agreement.

For recommendations with second votes, there was a tendency to switch from strongly agree to agree, although this did not affect consensus.

#### 8. INTERNAL REVIEW

Almost all PEBC documents undergo internal review. For this document, the consensus panel reviewed the document as part of the consensus recommendations-development process. Internal review was conducted by the RAP, and the Working Group was responsible for incorporating the feedback and required changes. RAP had to approve the document before it could be sent to External Review.

#### 8.1 REPORT APPROVAL PANEL REVIEW AND APPROVAL

The purpose of the RAP review is to ensure the methodological rigour and quality of PEBC documents. The RAP consists of nine clinicians with broad experience in clinical research and guideline development, and the Director of the PEBC. For each document, three RAP members review the document: the Director and two others. RAP members must not have had any involvement in the development of the guideline before Internal Review. All three RAP members must approve the document, although they may do so conditionally. If there is a conditional approval, the Working Group is responsible for ensuring the necessary changes are made, with the Assistant Director of Quality and Methods, PEBC, making a final determination that the RAP's concerns have been addressed.

The RAP reviewed this document during September to October 2013. The RAP approved the document on October 16, 2013. Key issues raised by the Report Approval Panel are summarized below.

#### 8.1.1 Section 1 Comments and Responses

#### 1. Section 1, Recommendation 2 and 4

Make sure the language here about Adjuvant! Online aligns with CCO MONC-2. They were okay with Adjuvant! Online but it was a back up to Oncotype DX when the latter could not be used.

**Response:** CCO MONC-2 is a summary from the Molecular Oncology Advisory Committee and says there is nothing better than Oncotype DX to approve Oncotype DX funding; however, Adjuvant! Online has broader applicability and has good correlation with Oncotype DX for some patient groups. MONC-2 is still in draft and was written for a different purpose.

#### 2. Section 1, Recommendation 6

The wording of "may not need" in R6 and R7 is less consistent with the wording that is preferred as a recommendation statement. However, I appreciate this is tightly integrated into the methodology and can't be changed.

**Response:** The group believes the wording is appropriate and was accepted by the consensus panel.

#### 3. Section1, Recommendation 6/7 (Qualifying statements)

Given this is a MAY NOT recommendation (may being the operative word), do you want to state something to the effect that this becomes doctor-patient preference but the doctor needs to make sure the patient gets the information. Doctor cannot be a yes/no gateway?

**Response:** This is pertinent to all recommendations. The physician must ensure the patient is onboard with the recommendations. The group believed no statement is required for this specific recommendation.

#### 4. Section 1, Recommendation 23 (originally Recommendation 22)

Given this, do you want to push it up to 10 years in the recommendation and then you have your \* indicating this came post-consensus because the new data was presented/published?

**Response:** As external review also raised this point and the literature search was updated, 10 years was put in the recommendation and the consensus panel was notified.

#### 5. Section 1, Recommendation 30

Do you want to strengthen this statement to reflect your statement underneath? Rather than say "generally not recommended" say "not recommended outside the context of a clinical trial due to potential for increased cardiotoxicity".

**Response:** There was a study at ASCO that found no increased adverse effects with limited number of cycles of FEC; in Europe, they do use concurrently. Neoadjuvant studies suggest it is okay to use concurrently so do not want to strengthen.

#### 8.1.2 Section 2 Comments and Responses

6. There is no quality assessment of the evidence (guidelines, reviews, RCTs).

**Response:** Under Section 3.1, it was stated most guidelines had been evaluated by AGREE II by SAGE, and therefore no further assessment was made. The study selection criteria (Section 3.2) indicate only RCTs with at least 100 patients would be included. In response to the comments, further details of the types of evidence and assessment are provided in the literature search results (Section 4.1). A table has been added to the appendices summarizing the guidelines and AGREE II evaluation. Note that it is policy not to evaluate our own (PEBC) guidelines. Individual patient data meta-analyses by EBCTCG and LHRH-agonists group were considered to be the highest quality evidence, and these meta-analyses were relied on for several questions. Additional explanation of these studies and evidence quality was added. AMSTAR ratings of systematic reviews referred to in the Results or Discussion are now provided in a table in the Appendices. A summary of the quality assessment for individual RCTs (excluding those already in previous guidelines, systematic reviews, or meta-analyses) is also provided in the Appendices.

7. No overall statement of the yield of evidence. A summative statement about what makes up the evidence may help. Include an overall statement of the number and types of

studies considered in each section. What is the overall quality of the evidence and key issues for the reader?

8. Unclear how the various guidelines, meta-analyses, or reviews were used and how the new RCT data fits in. There is little discourse in the text about what the data says and what the bottom line is. Some tables are presented without any context or discussion. Are the conclusions consistent and is there still uncertainty? Include a concluding statement for each section.

#### Response (7 and 8)

The Results and Discussion have been edited to more clearly indicate the types of evidence included and how they fit together. Additional interpretation and conclusions have been added. A statement referring the reader to Section 1 for recommendations has been added at the start of the Results and Discussion.

9. There was concern with readability/accessibility of the document. Consider a paragraph on how to use the document, signposts, and contents/index for Sections 1 and 3.

#### Response

A table of contents has been added for all sections. Some introductory statements have been added.

#### 9. EXTERNAL REVIEW BY ONTARIO CLINICIANS AND OTHER EXPERTS

The PEBC external review process is two-pronged and includes a targeted peer review that is intended to obtain direct feedback on the draft report from a small number of specified content experts and a professional consultation that is intended to facilitate dissemination of the final guidance report to Ontario practitioners.

Following approval of the document at Internal Review, the draft document with recommendations modified as noted under Internal Review was circulated to external review participants for review and feedback.

The revised document was circulated to Consensus Panel members at the time of external review, as well as following completion of the external review process.

#### 9.1 METHODS

#### 9.1.1 Targeted Peer Review

During the guideline development process, five targeted peer reviewers from across Canada considered to be clinical and/or methodological experts on the topic were identified by the Working Group. Several weeks before completion of the draft report, the nominees were contacted by email and asked to serve as reviewers. Four reviewers agreed and the draft report and a questionnaire were sent via email for their review. The questionnaire consisted of items evaluating the methods, results, and interpretive summary used to inform the draft recommendations and whether the draft recommendations should be approved as a

guideline. Written comments were invited. The questionnaire and draft document were sent out on March 24, 2014. Follow-up reminders were sent at two weeks and at four weeks. The Working Group reviewed the results of the survey.

#### 9.1.2 Professional Consultation

Feedback was obtained through a brief online survey of healthcare professionals who are the intended users of the guideline. Breast DSG members not part of the Working Group or consensus panel, plus all other medical oncologists, surgical oncologists, and radiation oncologists in the PEBC database who had indicated breast cancer as an area of interest were contacted by email and directed to the survey website where they were provided with access to the survey, the guideline recommendations (Section 1) and the evidentiary base (Section 2). Participants were asked to rate the overall quality of the guideline (Section 1) and whether they would use and/or recommend it. Written comments were invited. The notification email was sent on March 24, 2014. The consultation period ended on May 2, 2014. The Working Group reviewed the results of the survey.

#### 9.2 RESULTS

Several reviewers commented that the guideline is very detailed, comprehensive, well-organized, and well done. This is reflected in the ratings in the following sections. Concerns or suggestions for improvement along with the response of the authors are listed for both the targeted peer review and professional consultation.

#### 9.2.1 Targeted Peer Review

#### a) Questionnaire

Three responses were received from four reviewers. Key results of the feedback survey are summarized in Table 16.

Table 16	Responses	to nine items	on the targeted p	peer reviewer	questionnaire.
----------	-----------	---------------	-------------------	---------------	----------------

Question		Reviewer ratings (N=3)				
	Lowest Quality (1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	Highest Quality (5)	
1. Rate the guideline development methods.				3		
2. Rate the guideline presentation.				2	1	
3. Rate the guideline recommendations.			1	1	1	
4. Rate the completeness of reporting.				2	1	
5. Does this document provide sufficient information to inform your decisions? If not, what areas are missing?				3		
7. Rate the overall quality of the guideline report.				2	1	
	Strongly	(2)	Neutral	(4)	Strongly	

	disagree (1)	(3)	agree (5)
<ol> <li>I would make use of this guideline in my professional decisions.</li> </ol>		2	1
9. I would recommend this guideline for use in practice.		2	1

6. What are the barriers or enablers to the implementation of this guideline report?

Publication of this guideline on the CCO website will ensure that it can be readily accessed by physicians treating this group of patients. Implementation of the guideline at practice level may be difficult to study. Assessing guideline adherence retrospectively may be the only way to determine efficacy of implementation.

#### b) Summary of Written Comments

The main points contained in the written comments and the guideline authors' responses are provided in Table 17.

Comment	Authors' response
This guideline is already a bit dated as the literature search included publications up to March 2012.	Targeted searches were performed to locate full publications of data included as abstracts. The authors tried to keep up-to date with presentations at conferences. For these reasons the likelihood of being outdated is low. As a result of the comments the literature search was updated. Annotations that specific data was from publications after the literature search date were removed.
The order of factors in R4 and R5 is a bit dated and does not reflect current understanding of biology.	The factors were those developed by consensus and are in no particular order.
R6: should consider 'benefit' instead of 'need'	The authors agree and made the appropriate change.
Chemotherapy (R8-14)	
R13. The study comparing TC and AC suggested that TC was superior. Why is TC not a standard in R13.	A cross-reference to R14 that covers TC has been added.
R13. The emphasis on epirubicin-based regimens at the expense of other regimens may be increasingly difficult to justify. There is mounting evidence that the dose-escalation effect of epirubicin is now explained by a pharmacogenomic metabolic interaction (463). UGT2B7 "fast metabolzsers" of epirubicin have lower drug levels, less myelosuppression, and poorer long-term outcomes.	An additional bullet on epirubicin has been added. Data on UGT2B7 and pharmacogenomics (463,464) is exploratory molecular data that does not meet our inclusion criteria. The difference in the EBCTG meta-analysis was not statistically significant, although became greater with longer follow-up as indicated in the studies in Table 3. Benefit of adding a taxane was shown in individual studies such as PACS 01 which

The 2012 meta-analysis shows no significant benefit to adding taxanes if you reduce the number of anthracyline cycles. PACS 01 trial was stratified by age (cutpoint 50 years) and the superiority of FEC $\rightarrow$ T was observed only in older patients, and that the treatment interaction test by age was statistically significant. Consequently, FEC $\rightarrow$ T may well be undertreatment for i) female patients age <50 years, and ii) those female patients with UGT2B7 "fast metabolizer" genotypes.	had more patients and longer follow-up. This has been clarified. The PACS 01 authors (27) indicate subgroup analysis should be considered exploratory and underpowered. The difference between the two age groups was not statistically significant.
It would be great to address the use of AC $\rightarrow$ T every 3 w as there is evidence against this.	A sentence has been added to the qualifying statements.
Hormone Receptor Positive	
R18. Should be updated with the results of 10 years of tamoxifen and there should be more than an asterix for use of extended tamoxifen. I would suggest wording of R18 be reconsidered. Tamoxifen for 5 years has been standard in premen pts, but tamoxifen for 10 is reasonable option to consider given recent evidence.	The recommendation and key evidence sections have been updated to include the new evidence.
R20. ASCO will update the oophorectomy and tamoxifen and this maybe should be reconsidered if the results there are positive.	Section 1 (qualifying statements) and Section 2 were revised to note the TEXT and SOFT trials. Data on the tamoxifen alone arm is not yet reported.
R22/R23. I would say my personal preference would be for recommendation 22 and 23 to be reveresed.	These have been switched.
One of the areas of clinical conundrum is the use of tamoxifen for >5 years — in terms of the longevity of this guideline I think the recommendations/discussion may need to highlight this issue further.	The recommendations and discussion have been revised to include the aTTOM and ATLAS trial results and note that 10 years tamoxifen is recommended.
<u>HER2 (R 26–34)</u>	
R 31. It is concerning that the concurrent trastuzumab regimens are not more strongly favoured over the sequential trastuzumab regimens, given that the only randomized head to head comparison of concurrent vs sequence shows a clinically meaningful difference (4% DFS) in favour of concurrent administration.	This is a different interpretation of the strenth of evidence from NCCTG N9831. The differences are not statistically significant. We indicate that concurrent is generally preferred.
R29/32. The BETH study (SABCS 2013) did support TCH chemotherapy as highly effective systemic therapy with minimal cardiotoxicity. Furthermore, patients receiving TCH had a numerically higher	BETH is an abstract, and patients were randomized to bevacuzimab, not the chemotherapy administered. While TCH was effective it cannot be directly compared with the

DFS rate than those who received the anthracycline-taxane trastuzumab regimen.	anthryacycline. It appears similar to BCIRG 006 evidence (ie suggestive but not sufficient to make a strong recommendation in favour of TCH). No changes are required.
R29. The guideline implies TCH should be reserved for patients with cardiac risk factors – it is not included in the third bullet of R34. Why is neither BCIRG 006 regimen (TCH or AC $\rightarrow$ TH) mentioned here? Other guidelines administer TCH as a first tier regimen; e.g., NCCN gives two Preferred Options – AC-paclitaxelH and TCH. Sequential regimens (HERA) are given as "other options"	R29 indicates trastuzumab can be used with any accepted chemotherapy. BCIRG 006 does not mention radiotherapy so is not relevant to the R34 statement on radiotherapy. A sentence has been added to R31 and R32 deals with TCH.
<u>Other</u>	
Needs more discussion about what we know about biology and responsiveness	The authors felt this is outside the scope.
One consideration might be a qualifying statement somewhere about the applicability of the guideline recommendations to male breast cancer — although rare.	This is outside the scope.

#### 9.2.2 Professional Consultation

#### a) Questionnaire

Twenty responses were received. Key results of the feedback survey are summarized in Table 18.

Table 18.	Responses to	o items on	the professional	consultation survey.
-----------	--------------	------------	------------------	----------------------

		Nu	mber o	f respon	ses (%)	
General questions: Overall guideline asse	ssmern	owest uality (1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	Highest Quality (5)
1. Rate the overall quality of the guideline r	eport. 0	(0%) 0	0 (0%)	1 (5%)	7 (37%)	11 (58%)
		rongly agree (1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	Strongly agree (5)
2. I would make use of this guideline in my professional decisions.	1	(5%) (	0 (0%)	2 (10%)	4 (20%)	13 (65%)
3. I would recommend this guideline for use practice.	in 0	(0%) (	D (0%)	3 (15%)	4 (20%	13 (65%)

4. What are the barriers or enablers to the implementation of this guideline report? Ease of navigation, structure, and table of contents make the document easy to use. Wide circulation is a strength. Barriers may be funding issues when patients vary from standard therapy, oncologists' personal biases, and keeping the document current.

b) Summary of Written Comments The main points contained in the written comments and the guideline authors' responses are provided in Table 19.

Comments	Authors' Response
Patient/Disease Characteristics	
R1. Suggest adding perineural invasion and tumour histology (certain subtypes are less likely to metastasize e.g. papillary, colloid, acinar, tubular - if small and node -ve - and certain subtypes benefit less, if at all, from chemotherapy e.g. metaplastic cancers)	The list includes those factors for which consensus was reached. Other factors may be useful.
R1. (ER-/PR+ is more common than "1% of cases", likely 2–5%. There is a need to expand on the association between LVI and outcome.	Removed "1%". Decided the LVI discussion is okay as is.
R2. Adjuvant! Online can be adjusted for LVI and HER2 over expression/amplification using the "prognostic" function. Although the Adjuvant! Online mortality estimate is robust, the recurrence estimate over-estimates risk and morality should be used.	Users can enter prognostic factors and decide whether to use mortality or recurrence. Users need to be aware of how to use this tool fully and the website is provided in Recommendation 2. The authors decided further details are not required.
R2. Mammaprint should be included as it is a validated measure of prognosis. A comparison of Oncotype DX (assesses chemotherapy 'utility') and Adjuvant! Online (estimate absolute benefit) would be useful.	A reference to the MOAC guideline which compares molecular tests was added.
R3. Should include patient preference (quality of life, adverse effects) as a further factor.	This applies overall, and a statement has been added at the start of the recommendations.
R4. We really have no idea for whom chemotherapy "would be tolerated".	Changed to "likely to be tolerated".
R4. Where does T size >5mm come from? It seems inconsistent to use death data for Adjuvant! Online when we use distant relapse risk of $\geq$ 15% for Oncotype DX. Should there also be consideration of risk of relapse >x?	These factors were based on consensus.
R6. Should state 'likely would not benefit from'.	The wording "may not" is okay as is.
R7. The cut-off of ">90%" to define strong ER expression is without basis. The cut-off for Oncotype DX estimated 10-year risk of distant relapse <15% is without basis.	This is a reasonable estimate based on available data.
Chemotherapy (Rec 8-14)	
R8. There seems to be contradictory statements in Bullets 2 and 3 comparing adding taxane vs additional cycles of anthracycline. R8. I don't agree with the second bullet. In the PACS 01 study, $FEC \times 3 \rightarrow$ docetaxel×3 showed	The difference was not statistically significant in the EBCTG meta-analysis, although became greater with longer follow-up as indicated in the studies in Table 3. Benefit of adding a taxane was shown in individual studies such as PACS 01 which had more

superior survival to FEC×6 alone - It is important to note that the incremental benefit of using an anthracycline and/or adding a taxane depends on the absolute overall benefit of chemo in that particular patient. R13. This list is not complete. AC×4, TC×4 and CMF are all reasonable regimens to use depending on the particular situation. MF (a very old regimen) is definitely better than no chemo for patients who insist they not develop alopecia.	patients and longer follow-up. This has been clarified. A link to R14 has been added. Rationale is already provided in R14. CMF is listed in R12. The authors do not support routine use of MF.
Endocrine Therapy/HR+ (Rec 15-25)	
R16. There should be some guidance in regard to low risk endocrine sensitive breast cancer. With the increasing numbers of female patients of all ages being diagnosed with tiny, grade 1, ER/PR disease, it should be stated that some patients at low risk do not require adjuvant endocrine therapy and that the option of surgery alone is reasonable.	R16 indicates endocrine therapy "should be considered" and notes overall disease risk and adverse effects are factors to be taken into account.
R18. For ATLAS should also include the higher incidence of pulmonary embolus with extended tamoxifen, without an increase in PE-associated mortality.	This has been added.
R20. There is as yet no definitive data that ovarian suppression added to tamoxifen is beneficial. In postmenopausal patients (naturally or artificially) an adjuvant bisphosphonate (clodronate or zoledronic acid) improves survival. This is an argument for considering adding ovarian suppression, especially for patients at high risk of recurrence.	The TEXT and SOFT trials results have been added the qualifying statements and the results/discussion in Section 2. More definitive conclusions may be possible once the results for the tamoxifen alone arm are reported.
Adjuvant bisphosphonates are also a glaring omission from this guideline and, although I recognize that the definitive information didn't come out until after the "closing date" of the guideline, omission of this data renders this guideline outdated from the outset.	A list of trials on adjuvant treatment with bisphosphonates is included in Appendix D. This was not included in the consensus panel discussion and will be covered in a separate document. This is noted in Subsection 4.2.3c of Section 2.
R20, R21. The EBCTCG does provide a subgroup analysis for ovarian suppression and ablation which suggests benefit in premenopausal patients who have not had chemotherapy.	This is discussed in the qualifying statement and Section 2.
R20, R21. Has the data from the ABCSG been taken into account here?	ABCSG-12 compares tamoxifen vs anastrozole (both $\pm$ zoledronic acid) in premenopausal patients receiving goserelin, and found improved outcome for patients older than 40 y (but not age $\leq$ 40 y) when zoledronic acid was included (see Section 2). Because all groups received goserelin, no conclusion about whether it should be added is possible.

R22 & R23 are confusing, suggest reversing the order	This was done.
R23. I would add "unless contraindicated" to the end of the recommendation.	This is assumed for all recommendations, and does not need to be added explicitly.
R23. The working of the second bullet could be misinterpreted as it sounds like that tamoxifen and AI should be administered concurrently	Wording has been revised to clarify this is consecutive (not concurrent).
R24. As stated in the key evidence, upfront AI for 2 to 3 years followed by tamoxifen to complete 5 years is an equally valid option	The overall evidence supports superiority of AI over tamoxifen, and switching from tamoxifen to AI. Although the BIG 1–98 trial found no significant difference between letrozole $\rightarrow$ tamoxifen and tamoxifen $\rightarrow$ letrozole, this does not mean there is sufficient evidence to routinely switch patients to tamoxifen. However it is could be considered for patients for which tamoxifen adverse effects are preferred or specific subgroups (see last qualifying statement).
R24. I think there needs to be more nuance about extended adjuvant therapy with AI. In MA.17, differences in DFS rate only translated to OS difference in patients with node-positive cancer. Similar findings were also observed in the extended tamoxifen studies. There needs to be more discussion about patient selection for extended adjuvant therapy.	This is discussed in Section 2. In NSABP B-33 and MA.17, subgroups of patients with N+ cancer seem to benefit more from AIs than N0, but both studies were unblinded and allowed cross-over and this confounds the OS analysis. Qualifying statements were added to R22 and R24.
Some latest data on ATLAS/aTTOM were added after the preliminary data reported as key evidence, so needs to replace preliminary data so that people reading the key evidence will only see one interpretation of these studies re: 10 years tamoxifen.	The recommendation and key evidence were revised.
Targeted Therapy/HER2+ (Rec 26-34)	
R26. Guidelines for HER2 testing been changed. This needs to be updated R28. The BCIRG006 included some patients with	This was revised to include the criteria from the updated guideline The qualifying statement is modified to refer to
node negative tumours <1.0cm. The Qualifying statements should be updated with this in mind.	BCIRG 006 and HERA in R27.
R31. Trastuzumab should be administered concurrently with taxane whenever possible. There was a clear and significant DFS rate difference in favour of this.	The qualifying statement indicates concurrent use is generally preferred, although this is for practical reasons. The evidence is insufficient to make a recommendation on order based on survival. N9831 indicated the DFS rate difference was not significant and this has been clarified in Section 2.
R31. Is it worth specifying baseline MUGA requirements prior to initiation?	It was decided not to include this.
R33. It is difficult to understand this recommendation. If TCH is recommended as an anthracycline-free regimen with good clinical data to support it, why should TCycloH be recommended for the same setting with no supporting data?	It is indicated that it "may be used" and the rationale is provided, whereas TCH is "recommended" in R32.

<u>Other</u>	
Didn't notice any information regarding timing of	There were no RCTs found that compared timing.
adjuvant systemic therapy (optimal time from	
surgery to therapy).	

#### 9.3 CONSENSUS PANEL

As a result of external review and the updated literature search, Recommendations 18 and 23 were revised to indicate the evidence supported use of tamoxifen up to ten years (instead of five years). The panel members approved this change.

#### 9.4 CONCLUSION

This EBS report reflects the integration of feedback obtained through the external review process with final approval given by the authors and the Report Approval Panel of the PEBC. Updates of the report will be conducted in accordance with the PEBC Document Assessment and Review Protocol.

#### **10. CONFLICT OF INTEREST**

In accordance with the PEBC Conflict of Interest (COI) Policy, the guideline authors, Early Breast Cancer Systemic Therapy Consensus Panel members, and internal and external reviewers were asked to disclose potential conflicts of interest.

MT had responsibility as Head of Medical Oncology for donations from Roche and Amgen to the cancer program and fellowship funding from Eisai, Roche, Novartis, and Amgen. MT received grants or research support from Astellas, Medivation, and Novartis. SD is an principal investigator for the Aphinity trial; has received a speaking honorarium from Hoffman La Roche, Amgen, and Novartis; travel support from Celgene and Roche; and unrestricted educational grants from Roche, Pfizer, GSK, and Amgen. AE received a grant from Genomic Health and was an NCIC principal investigator for the OlympiA trial. SG received consulting fees as an advisory board participant and speaker at education rounds for Novartis. The other guideline authors declared they had no potential conflicts.

For the Consensus Panel, 10 members declared they had no conflicts of interest, and 4 (YM, VG, PB, BD) declared conflicts as indicated in Appendix A. The RAP reviewers declared they had no conflicts. Two of the targeted external reviewers declared no potential conflicts of interest. The third declared having been a principle investigator on four clinical trials and having managerial responsibility for an organization that received >\$5000 funding from a company/corporation with a vested interest in an object of the study.

The COIs declared did not disqualify any individuals from performing their designated role in the development of this guideline, in accordance with the PEBC COI Policy. To obtain a copy of the policy, please contact the PEBC office by email at <u>ccopgi@mcmaster.ca</u>

## REFERENCES

- 1. Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group, Peto R, Davies C, Godwin J, Gray R, Pan HC, et al. Comparisons between different polychemotherapy regimens for early breast cancer: meta-analyses of long-term outcome among 100,000 women in 123 randomised trials. Lancet. 2012;379(9814):432-44. Epub 2011 Dec 6.
- 2. Senkus E, Kyriakides S, Penault-Llorca F, Poortmans P, Thompson A, Zackrisson S, et al. Primary breast cancer: ESMO clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2013;24(Suppl 6):vi7-vi23.
- Theriault RL, Carlson RW, Allred AJ, Anderson BO, Burnstein HJ, Edge SB, et al. NCCN clinical practice guidelines in oncology (NCCN guidelines)® Breast cancer version 2.2013 [Internet]. Fort Washington (PA): National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN); 2013 Mar 11 [cited 2013 Apr 8]. Available from: www.nccn.org/professionals/physician\_gls/pdf/breast.pdf
- 4. Gnant M, Harbeck N, Thomssen C. St. Gallen 2011: Summary of the Consensus Discussion. Breast Care (Basel). 2011;6(2):136-41.
- 5. Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group, Davies C, Godwin J, Gray R, Clarke M, Cutter D, et al. Relevance of breast cancer hormone receptors and other factors to the efficacy of adjuvant tamoxifen: Patient-level meta-analysis of randomised trials. Lancet. 2011;378(9793):771-84, plus supplementary material online.
- 6. Hammond MEH, Hayes DF, Dowsett M, Allred DC, Hagerty KL, Badve S, et al. American Society of Clinical Oncology/College of American Pathologists guideline recommendations for immunohistochemical testing of estrogen and progesterone receptors in breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(16):2784-95.
- 7. Hammond MEH, Hayes DF, Dowsett M, Allred DC, Hagerty KL, Badve S, et al. American Society of Clinical Oncology/College of American Pathologists guideline recommendations for immunohistochemical testing of estrogen and progesterone receptors in breast cancer. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2010;134(6):907-22. Erratum in: Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2010 Aug;134(8):1101.
- 8. Hammond MEH, Hayes DF, Dowsett M, Allred DC, Hagerty KL, Badve S, et al. American Society of Clinical Oncology/College of American Pathologists guideline recommendations for immunohistochemical testing of estrogen and progesterone receptors in breast cancer (unabridged version). Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2010;134(7):e48-72.
- 9. Hammond MEH, Hayes DF, Wolff AC, Mangu PB, Temin S. American Society of Clinical Oncology/College of American Pathologists guideline recommendations for immunohistochemical testing of estrogen and progesterone receptors in breast cancer. J Oncol Pract. 2010;6(4):195-7.
- 10. Trudeau ME, Pritchard KI, Chapman JA, Hanna WM, Kahn HJ, Murray D, et al. Prognostic factors affecting the natural history of node-negative breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2005;89(1):35-45.
- 11. Song YJ, Shin SH, Cho JS, Park MH, Yoon JH, Jegal YJ. The role of lymphovascular invasion as a prognostic factor in patients with lymph node-positive operable invasive breast cancer. J Breast Cancer. 2011;14(3):198-203.
- 12. Goldhirsch A, Wood WC, Coates AS, Gelber RD, Thurlimann B, Senn HJ. Strategies for subtypes-dealing with the diversity of breast cancer: Highlights of the St Gallen

international expert consensus on the primary therapy of early breast cancer 2011. Ann Oncol. 2011;22(8):1736-47.

- 13. Chang M, Ismaila N, Kamel-Reid S, Rutherford M, Hart J, Bedard P, et al. Comparison of Oncotype DX with multi-gene profiling assays (e.g., MammaPrint, PAM50) and other tests (e.g., Adjuvant! Online, Ki-67 and IHC4) in early-stage breast cancer [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Cancer Care Ontario; 2013 Nov 20 [cited 2014 May 22]. Recommendation report MOAC-2. Available from: https://https://www.cancercareontario.ca/en/guidelines-advice/types-of-cancer/31766
- 14. Paik S, Tang G, Shak S, Kim C, Baker J, Kim W, et al. Gene expression and benefit of chemotherapy in women with node-negative, estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(23):3726-34.
- 15. Dowsett M, Cuzick J, Wale C, Forbes J, Mallon EA, Salter J, et al. Prediction of risk of distant recurrence using the 21-gene recurrence score in node-negative and node-positive postmenopausal patients with breast cancer treated with anastrozole or tamoxifen: a TransATAC study. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(11):1829-34.
- 16. Albain KS, Barlow WE, Shak S, Hortobagyi GN, Livingston RB, Yeh IT, et al. Prognostic and predictive value of the 21-gene recurrence score assay in postmenopausal women with node-positive, oestrogen-receptor-positive breast cancer on chemotherapy: a retrospective analysis of a randomised trial. Lancet Oncol. 2010;11(1):55-65.
- 17. Olivotto IA, Bajdik CD, Ravdin PM, Speers CH, Coldman AJ, Norris BD, et al. Population-based validation of the prognostic model ADJUVANT! for early breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(12):2716-25.
- 18. Campbell HE, Taylor MA, Harris AL, Gray AM. An investigation into the performance of the Adjuvant! Online prognostic programme in early breast cancer for a cohort of patients in the United Kingdom. Br J Cancer. 2009;101(7):1074-84.
- 19. Galimberti V, Cole BF, Zurrida S, Viale G, Luini A, Veronesi P, et al. Axillary dissection versus no axillary dissection in patients with sentinel-node micrometastases (IBCSG 23-01): a phase 3 randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol. 2013;14(4):297-305. Epub: 2013 Mar 16.
- 20. Jafferbhoy S, McWilliams B. Clinical significance and management of sentinel node micrometastasis in invasive breast cancer. Clin Breast Cancer. 2012;12(5):308-12.
- 21. Coudert B, Campone M, Spielmann M, Symann M, Eichler F, Serin D, et al. Benefit of the sequential administration of docetaxel after standard FEC regimen for node-positive breast cancer: Long-term follow-up results of the FNCLCC-PACS 01 trial [abstract]. Cancer Res. 2009;69(24 Suppl 3):Abstract no. 603.
- 22. Coudert B, Asselain B, Campone M, Spielmann M, Machiels JP, Penault-Llorca F, et al. Extended benefit from sequential administration of docetaxel after standard fluorouracil, epirubicin, and cyclophosphamide regimen for node-positive breast cancer: the 8-year follow-up results of the UNICANCER-PACS01 trial. Oncologist. 2012;17(7):900-9. Epub: 2012 May 23.
- 23. Trudeau M, Charbonneau F, Gelmon K, Laing K, Latreille J, Mackey J, et al. Selection of adjuvant chemotherapy for treatment of node-positive breast cancer. Lancet Oncol. 2005;6(11):886-98.
- 24. Petrelli F, Borgonovo K, Cabiddu M, Lonati V, Barni S. Mortality, leukemic risk, and cardiovascular toxicity of adjuvant anthracycline and taxane chemotherapy in breast

cancer: a meta-analysis. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2012;135(2):335-46. Epub: 2012 Jun 13.

- 25. Ladoire S, Mignot G, Dalban C, Chevriaux A, Arnould L, Rebe C, et al. FOXP3 expression in cancer cells and anthracyclines efficacy in patients with primary breast cancer treated with adjuvant chemotherapy in the phase III UNICANCER-PACS 01 trial. Ann Oncol. 2012;23(10):2552-6. Epub: 2012 Mar 21.
- 26. Jacquemier J, Boher JM, Roche H, Esterni B, Serin D, Kerbrat P, et al. Protein expression, survival and docetaxel benefit in node-positive breast cancer treated with adjuvant chemotherapy in the FNCLCC PACS 01 randomized trial. Breast Cancer Res [serial on the Internet]. 13(6: R109 [14 p]) Available from: <u>http://breast-cancer-research.com/content/13/6/R109</u>
- 27. Roche H, Fumoleau P, Spielmann M, Canon J-L, Delozier T, Serin D, et al. Sequential adjuvant epirubicin-based and docetaxel chemotherapy for node-positive breast cancer patients: the FNCLCC PACS 01 Trial. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(36):5664-71.
- 28. Rastogi P, Anderson SJ, Bear HD, Geyer CE, Kahlenberg MS, Robidoux A, et al. Preoperative chemotherapy: updates of National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project Protocols B-18 and B-27. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(5):778-85. [Erratum in: J Clin Oncol. 2008 Jun 1;26(16):793].
- 29. Dumontet C, Krajewska M, Treilleux I, Mackey JR, Martin M, Rupin M, et al. BCIRG 001 molecular analysis: prognostic factors in node-positive breast cancer patients receiving adjuvant chemotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16(15):3988-97.
- 30. Hugh J, Hanson J, Cheang MCU, Nielsen TO, Perou CM, Dumontet C, et al. Breast cancer subtypes and response to docetaxel in node-positive breast cancer: Use of an immunohistochemical definition in the BCIRG 001 trial. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(8):1168-76.
- 31. Martin M, Pienkowski T, Mackey J, Pawlicki M, Guastalla JP, Weaver C, et al. Adjuvant docetaxel for node-positive breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2005;352(22):2302-13.
- 32. Sparano JA, Wang M, Martino S, Jones V, Perez EA, Saphner T, et al. Weekly paclitaxel in the adjuvant treatment of breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2008;358(16):1663-71. [Erratum in: N Engl J Med. 2008 Jul 3;359(1):106; N Engl J Med. 9 Apr 16;360(16):1685].
- 33. Burnell M, Levine MN, Chapman J-AW, Bramwell V, Gelmon K, Walley B, et al. Cyclophosphamide, epirubicin, and fluorouracil versus dose-dense epirubicin and cyclophosphamide followed by paclitaxel versus doxorubicin and cyclophosphamide followed by paclitaxel in node-positive or high-risk node-negative breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(1):77-82.
- 34. Fisher B, Brown AM, Dimitrov NV, Poisson R, Redmond C, Margolese RG, et al. Two months of doxorubicin-cyclophosphamide with and without interval reinduction therapy compared with 6 months of cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, and fluorouracil in positive-node breast cancer patients with tamoxifen-nonresponsive tumors: results from the National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project B-15. J Clin Oncol. 1990;8(9):1483-96.
- 35. Fisher B, Anderson S, Tan-Chiu E, Wolmark N, Wickerham DL, Fisher ER, et al. Tamoxifen and chemotherapy for axillary node-negative, estrogen receptor-negative breast cancer: Findings from national surgical adjuvant breast and bowel project B-23. J Clin Oncol. 2001;19(4):931-42.

- 36. Kimura M, Tominaga T, Takatsuka Y, Toi M, Abe R, Koyama H, et al. Randomized trial of cyclophosphamide, epirubicin, and fluorouracil chemotherapy compared with cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, and fluorouracil with node-positive breast cancer in Japan. Breast Cancer. 2010;17(3):190-8.
- 37. Bonneterre J, Roche H, Kerbrat P, Bremond A, Fumoleau P, Namer M, et al. Epirubicin increases long-term survival in adjuvant chemotherapy of patients with poor-prognosis, node-positive, early breast cancer: 10-year follow-up results of the French Adjuvant Study Group 05 randomized trial. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(12):2686-93.
- 38. Swain SM, Tang G, Geyer CE, Rastogi P, Atkins JN, Donnellan PP, et al. NSABP B-38: Definitive analysis of a randomized adjuvant trial comparing dose-dense (DD) AC->paclitaxel (P) plus gemcitabine (G) with DD AC->P and with docetaxel, doxorubicin, and cyclophosphamide (TAC) in women with operable, node-positive breast cancer [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(18 Suppl June 20):Abstract no. LBA1000.
- 39. Joensuu H, Kellokumpu-Lehtinen P-L, Huovinen R, Jukkola-Vuorinen A, Tanner M, Kokko R, et al. Adjuvant capecitabine, docetaxel, cyclophosphamide, and epirubicin for early breast cancer: final analysis of the randomized FinXX trial. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(1):11-8.
- 40. Muss HB, Berry DA, Cirrincione CT, Theodoulou M, Mauer AM, Kornblith AB, et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy in older women with early-stage breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2009;360(20):2055-65. [Erratum in: N Engl J Med. 09 Oct 22;361(17):1714].
- 41. International Breast Cancer Study Group. Adjuvant chemotherapy followed by goserelin versus either modality alone for premenopausal lymph node-negative breast cancer: A randomized trial. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2003;95(24):1833-46.
- 42. Torres S, Trudeau ME, Eisen A, Earle C, Chan KK. Adjuvant taxane therapy for earlystage breast cancer: A real-world comparison of chemotherapy regimens in Ontario J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. 1081.
- 43. Citron ML, Berry DA, Cirrincione C, Hudis C, Winer EP, Gradishar WJ, et al. Randomized trial of dose-dense versus conventionally scheduled and sequential versus concurrent combination chemotherapy as postoperative adjuvant treatment of nodepositive primary breast cancer: first report of Intergroup Trial C9741/Cancer and Leukemia Group B Trial 9741. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21(8):1431-9. [Erratum appears in J Clin Oncol. 2003 Jun 1;21(11):226].
- 44. Ganz PA, Land SR, Geyer CE, Jr., Cecchini RS, Costantino JP, Pajon ER, et al. Menstrual history and quality-of-life outcomes in women with node-positive breast cancer treated with adjuvant therapy on the NSABP B-30 trial. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(9):1110-6.
- 45. Swain SM, Jeong J-H, Geyer CE, Jr., Costantino JP, Pajon ER, Fehrenbacher L, et al. Longer therapy, iatrogenic amenorrhea, and survival in early breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2010;362(22):2053-65.
- 46. Swain SM, Jeong J-H, Wolmark N. Amenorrhea from breast cancer therapy--not a matter of dose. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(23):2268-70.
- 47. Eiermann W, Pienkowski T, Crown J, Sadeghi S, Martin M, Chan A, et al. Phase III study of doxorubicin/cyclophosphamide with concomitant versus sequential docetaxel as adjuvant treatment in patients with human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-normal, node-positive breast cancer: BCIRG-005 trial. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(29):3877-84.

- 48. Swain SM, Tang G, Geyer CE, Jr., Rastogi P, Atkins JN, Donnellan PP, et al. Definitive results of a phase III adjuvant trial comparing three chemotherapy regimens in women with operable, node-positive breast cancer: the NSABP B-38 trial. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(26):3197-204. Epub: 2013 Aug 14.
- 49. Jones S, Holmes FA, O'Shaughnessy J, Blum JL, Vukelja SJ, McIntyre KJ, et al. Docetaxel with cyclophosphamide is associated with an overall survival benefit compared with doxorubicin and cyclophosphamide: 7-year follow-up of US Oncology Research Trial 9735. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(8):1177-83.
- 50. Smith IE, Dowsett M, Yap YS, Walsh G, Lonning PE, Santen RJ, et al. Adjuvant aromatase inhibitors for early breast cancer after chemotherapy-induced amenorrhoea: caution and suggested guidelines. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(16):2444-7.
- 51. Minton SE, Munster PN. Chemotherapy-induced amenorrhea and fertility in women undergoing adjuvant treatment for breast cancer. Cancer Control. 2002;9(6):466-72.
- 52. Goodwin PJ, Ennis M, Pritchard KI, Trudeau M, Hood N. Risk of menopause during the first year after breast cancer diagnosis. J Clin Oncol. 1999;17(8):2365-70.
- 53. Braverman SA, Sawhney H, Tendler A, Patel N, Rao S, El-Tamer M, et al. Serum estradiol above the postmenopausal level after chemotherapy-induced amenorrhea in breast cancer patients. Therapy. 2006;3(5):609-12.
- 54. Groom GV, Griffiths K. Effect of the anti-oestrogen tamoxifen on plasma levels of luteinizing hormone, follicle-stimulating hormone, prolactin, oestradiol and progesterone in normal pre-menopausal women. J Endocrinol. 1976;70(3):421-8.
- 55. Davies C, Pan H, Godwin J, Gray R, Arriagada R, Raina V, et al. Long-term effects of continuing adjuvant tamoxifen to 10 years versus stopping at 5 years after diagnosis of oestrogen receptor-positive breast cancer: ATLAS, a randomised trial. Lancet. 2013;381(9869):805-16.
- 56. Gray RG, Rea D, Handley K, Bowden SJ, Perry P, Earl HM, et al. aTTom: Long-term effects of continuing adjuvant tamoxifen to 10 years versus stopping at 5 years in 6,953 women with early breast cancer [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(18 Suppl Jun 20):Abstract no. 5.
- 57. Delozier T, Switsers O, Genot JY, Ollivier JM, Hery M, Namer M, et al. Delayed adjuvant tamoxifen: Ten-year results of a collaborative randomized controlled trial in early breast cancer (TAM-02 trial). Ann Oncol. 2000;11(5):515-9.
- 58. Veronesi A, Miolo G, Magri MD, Crivellari D, Scalone S, Bidoli E, et al. Late tamoxifen in patients previously operated for breast cancer without postoperative tamoxifen: 5-year results of a single institution randomised study. BMC Cancer. 2010;10:205.
- 59. Francis PA, Regan MM, Fleming GF, Lang I, Ciruelos E, Bellet M, et al. Adjuvant Ovarian Suppression in Premenopausal Breast Cancer. N Engl J Med. 2014. Epub: 2014 Dec 11. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1412379.
- 60. Christinat A, Di Lascio S, Pagani O. Hormonal therapies in young breast cancer patients: when, what and for how long? J Thorac Dis. 2013;5(Suppl 1):S36-46.
- 61. LHRH-agonists in Early Breast Cancer Overview Group, Cuzick J, Ambroisine L, Davidson N, Jakesz R, Kaufmann M, et al. Use of luteinising-hormone-releasing hormone agonists as adjuvant treatment in premenopausal patients with hormone-receptor-positive breast cancer: a meta-analysis of individual patient data from randomised adjuvant trials. Lancet. 2007;369(9574):1711-23.
- 62. Ribi K, Luo W, Bernhard J, Francis PA, Bellet M, Burstein HJ, et al. Patient-reported endocrine symptoms, sexual functioning and quality of life (QoL) in the IBCSG SOFT

trial: Adjuvant treatment with tamoxifen (T) alone versus T plus ovarian function suppression (OFS) in premenopausal women with hormone receptor-positive (HR+) early breast cancer (BC). 2014 San Antonio Breast Cancer Symposium, San Antonio, Texas, December 9-13, 2014. Abstract S3-09 and accompanying presentation. [cited 2015 January 14]; Available from: http://www.abstracts2view.com/sabcs14/view.php?nu=SABCS13L\_182 http://www.sabcs.org/PastSymposia/index.asp

- 63. Pagani O, Regan MM, Walley BA, Fleming GF, Colleoni M, Lang I, et al. Adjuvant exemestane with ovarian suppression in premenopausal breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(2):107-18. Epub: 2014 Jun 3 (updated 2014 Jun 12).
- 64. Bernhard J, Luo W, Ribi K, Colleoni M, Burstein HJ, Tondini C, et al. Patient-reported endocrine symptoms, sexual functioning, and quality of life (QoL) in the IBCSG TEXT and SOFT trials: Adjuvant treatment with exemestane (E) plus ovarian function suppression (OFS) versus tamoxifen (T) plus OFS in premenopausal women with hormone receptor-positive (HR+) early breast cancer (BC) [abstract 557]. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(15 Suppl May 20).
- 65. Tevaarwerk AJ, Wang M, Zhao F, Fetting JH, Cella D, Wagner LI, et al. Phase III Comparison of Tamoxifen Versus Tamoxifen Plus Ovarian Function Suppression in Premenopausal Women With Node-Negative, Hormone Receptor-Positive Breast Cancer (E-3193, INT-0142): A Trial of the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(35):3948-58.
- 66. Mulcahy N. Two major trials: Als work in premenopausal breast cancer too. New option for treatment of hormone-sensitive disease. Medscape Medical News from the 2014 Annual Meeting of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. Medscape [serial on the Internet]. [cited 2014 Jun 5]; 2014 Jun 1 Available from: <a href="http://www.medscape.com/viewarticle/826021">http://www.medscape.com/viewarticle/826021</a>
- 67. Dowsett M, Cuzick J, Ingle J, Coates A, Forbes J, Bliss J, et al. Meta-analysis of breast cancer outcomes in adjuvant trials of aromatase inhibitors versus tamoxifen. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(3):509-18.
- 68. van de Velde CJH, Rea D, Seynaeve C, Putter H, Hasenburg A, Vannetzel J-M, et al. Adjuvant tamoxifen and exemestane in early breast cancer (TEAM): a randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2011;377(9762):321-31.
- 69. Perez EA, Romond EH, Suman VJ, Jeong J-H, Davidson NE, Geyer CE, Jr., et al. Fouryear follow-up of trastuzumab plus adjuvant chemotherapy for operable human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-positive breast cancer: joint analysis of data from NCCTG N9831 and NSABP B-31. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(25):3366-73.
- 70. Romond EH, Perez EA, Bryant J, Suman VJ, Geyer CE, Jr., Davidson NE, et al. Trastuzumab plus adjuvant chemotherapy for operable HER2-positive breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2005;353(16):1673-84.
- 71. Slamon D, Crown J, Pienkowski T. BCIRG 006. 2nd analysis presented at SABCS 2006 [Internet]. 2006 [cited 2011 Oct 27]. Available from: <u>http://www.bcirg.org/Internet/Studies/In+Breast+Cancer/BCIRG+006.htm</u>; <u>http://www.cirg.org/html/images/BCIRG006+2nd+Interim+Analysis.pdf</u>
- 72. Slamon D, Eiermann W, Robert N, Pienkowski T, Martin M, Press M, et al. Adjuvant trastuzumab in HER2-positive breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2011;365(14):1273-83.
- 73. Goldhirsch A, Piccart M, Procter M, De Azambuja E, Weber H, Untch M, et al. HERA TRIAL: 2 years versus 1 year of trastuzumab after adjuvant chemotherapy in women with HER2-positive early breast cancer at 8 years of median follow up [abstract]. Ann

Oncol. 2012;23(Suppl 9. Abstract Book of the 37th ESMO Congress Vienna, Austria, 28 September - 2 October 2012):ixe2. Abstract no. LBA6\_PR; http://annonc.oxfordjournals.org/content/23/suppl\_9.toc.

- 74. Baselga J, Cortes J, Kim S-B, Im S-A, Hegg R, Im Y-H, et al. Pertuzumab plus trastuzumab plus docetaxel for metastatic breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366(2):109-19.
- 75. Geyer CE, Forster J, Lindquist D, Chan S, Romieu CG, Pienkowski T, et al. Lapatinib plus capecitabine for HER2-positive advanced breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2006;355(26):2733-43. [Erratum in: N Engl J Med. 007 Apr 5;356(14):1487].
- 76. Wolff AC, Hammond ME, Hicks DG, Dowsett M, McShane LM, Allison KH, et al. Recommendations for human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 testing in breast cancer: American Society of Clinical Oncology/College of American Pathologists clinical practice guideline update. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2014;138(2):241-56. Epub: 2013 Oct 9.
- 77. Wolff AC, Hammond ME, Hicks DG, Dowsett M, McShane LM, Allison KH, et al. Recommendations for human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 testing in breast cancer: American Society of Clinical Oncology/College of American Pathologists clinical practice guideline update. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(31):3997-4013.
- 78. Petrelli F, Barni S. Should adjuvant trastuzumab be offered in very early-stage (pT1a/bN0M0) HER2-neu-positive breast cancer? A current debate. Med Oncol. 2011;28(2):401-8.
- 79. Moja L, Tagliabue L, Balduzzi S, Parmelli E, Pistotti V, Guarneri V, et al. Trastuzumab containing regimens for early breast cancer. 2012 Apr 18 [cited 2012 May 22]. Cochrane Database Syst Rev [serial on the Internet]. (Issue 4) Available from: <u>http://www.mrw.interscience.wiley.com/cochrane/clsysrev/articles/CD006243/frame</u>. <u>html</u>
- 80. Sawaki M, Tokudome N, Mizuno T, Nakayama T, Taira N, Bando H, et al. Evaluation of trastuzumab without chemotherapy as a post-operative adjuvant therapy in HER2-positive elderly breast cancer patients: randomized controlled trial [RESPECT (N-SAS BC07)]. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 2011;41(5):709-12.
- 81. Untch M, Gelber RD, Jackisch C, Procter M, Baselga J, Bell R, et al. Estimating the magnitude of trastuzumab effects within patient subgroups in the HERA trial. Ann Oncol. 2008;19(6):1090-6.
- 82. Perez EA, Jenkins RB, Dueck AC, Wiktor AE, Bedroske PP, Anderson SK, et al. C-MYC alterations and association with patient outcome in early-stage HER2-positive breast cancer from the north central cancer treatment group N9831 adjuvant trastuzumab trial. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(6):651-9.
- 83. Perez EA, Dueck AC, McCullough AE, Reinholz MM, Tenner KS, Davidson NE, et al. Predictability of adjuvant trastuzumab benefit in N9831 patients using the ASCO/CAP HER2-positivity criteria. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2012;104(2):159-62.
- 84. Perez EA, Reinholz MM, Hillman DW, Tenner KS, Schroeder MJ, Davidson NE, et al. HER2 and chromosome 17 effect on patient outcome in the N9831 adjuvant trastuzumab trial. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(28):4307-15.
- 85. Perez EA, Suman VJ, Davidson NE, Sledge GW, Kaufman PA, Hudis CA, et al. Cardiac safety analysis of doxorubicin and cyclophosphamide followed by paclitaxel with or without trastuzumab in the North Central Cancer Treatment Group N9831 adjuvant breast cancer trial. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(8):1231-8.

86. Dhesy-Thind B, Pritchard K, Messersmith H, O'Malley F, Elavathil L, Trudeau M, et al. The role of HER2/neu in systemic and radiation therapy for women with breast cancer [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Cancer Care Ontario; 2011 [2006 Nov 10; archived 2011 Apr; cited 2012 Oct 6]. Program in Evidence-Based Care Evidence-Based Series No.: 1-17. Available from:

https://www.cancercare.on.ca/common/pages/UserFile.aspx?fileId=13878

- 87. Perez EA, Suman VJ, Davidson NE, Gralow JR, Kaufman PA, Visscher DW, et al. Sequential versus concurrent trastuzumab in adjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(34):4491-7.
- 88. Procter M, Suter TM, de Azambuja E, Dafni U, van Dooren V, Muehlbauer S, et al. Longer-term assessment of trastuzumab-related cardiac adverse events in the Herceptin Adjuvant (HERA) trial. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(21):3422-8.
- 89. Dowsett M, Procter M, McCaskill-Stevens W, de Azambuja E, Dafni U, Rueschoff J, et al. Disease-free survival according to degree of HER2 amplification for patients treated with adjuvant chemotherapy with or without 1 year of trastuzumab: the HERA Trial. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(18):2962-9.
- 90. Halyard MY, Pisansky TM, Dueck AC, Suman V, Pierce L, Solin L, et al. Radiotherapy and adjuvant trastuzumab in operable breast cancer: tolerability and adverse event data from the NCCTG Phase III Trial N9831. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(16):2638-44.
- European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO). PHARE trial results comparing 6 to 12 91. months of adjuvant trastuzumab in early breast cancer. 2012 Oct 1 [cited 2012 Oct ESMO 2012 News [serial on the Internet]. Available from: 11]. http://www.esmo.org/Conferences/Past-Conferences/ESMO-2012-Congress/News-Press-Releases/Congress-News/PHARE-trial-results-comparing-6-to-12-months-ofadjuvant-trastuzumab-in-early-breast-cancer
- 92. Pivot X, Romieu G, Bonnefoi H, Pierga J-Y, Kerbrat P, Gaustalla J-P, et al. PHARE trial results comparing 6 to 12 months of trastuzumab in adjuvant early breast cancer. Ann Oncol. 2012;23(Suppl 9. Abstract Book of the 37th ESMO Congress Vienna, Austria, 28 September - 2 October 2012):ixe2. Abstract no. LBA5\_PR. Available from: http://annonc.oxfordjournals.org/content/23/suppl 9.toc.
- Pivot X, Romieu G, Debled M, Pierga JY, Kerbrat P, Bachelot T, et al. 6 months versus 93. 12 months of adjuvant trastuzumab for patients with HER2-positive early breast cancer (PHARE): a randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2013;14(8):741-8. Epub: 2013 Jun 15.
- 94. Joensuu H, Bono P, Kataja V, Alanko T, Kokko R, Asola R, et al. Fluorouracil, epirubicin, and cyclophosphamide with either docetaxel or vinorelbine, with or without trastuzumab, as adjuvant treatments of breast cancer: final results of the FinHer Trial. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(34):5685-92.
- 95. Joensuu H, Sperinde J, Leinonen M, Huang W, Weidler J, Bono P, et al. Very high quantitative tumor HER2 content and outcome in early breast cancer. Ann Oncol. 2011;22(9):2007-13.
- 96. Sledge GW, O'Neill A, Thor A, Kahanic S, Zander P, Davidson N, et al. Adjuvant trastuzumab: long-term results of E2198 [abstract]. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2006;100(Suppl 1):S106. Abstract no. 2075.
- 97. National Collaborating Centre for Cancer (developed for NICE). Early and locally advanced breast cancer: diagnosis and treatment. This guideline updates and replaces NICE technology appraisal guidance 109 (docetaxel), 108 (paclitaxel) and 107 (trastuzumab) [Internet]. Cardiff (Wales): National Collaborating Centre for Cancer;

2009 Feb [cited 2012 May 24]. Available from: www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg80/resources/guidance-early-and-locally-advancedbreast-cancer-pdf

- 98. Anderson BO. Context-relevant guidelines in cancer care: Breast cancer early detection, diagnosis and treatment in low- and middle-income countries. 2013 [cited 214 Aug 18]. Cancer Control: Cancer Care in Emerging Health Systems [serial on the Internet]. Available from: cancercontrol.info/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/cc2013\_36-40-Benjamin-O-Anderson\_2013.pdf
- 99. Yip CH, Cazap E, Anderson BO, Bright KL, Caleffi M, Cardoso F, et al. Breast cancer management in middle-resource countries (MRCs): consensus statement from the Breast Health Global Initiative. Breast (Edinburgh, Scotland). 2011;20 Suppl 2:S12-9.
- 100. El Saghir NS, Adebamowo CA, Anderson BO, Carlson RW, Bird PA, Corbex M, et al. Breast cancer management in low resource countries (LRCs): consensus statement from the Breast Health Global Initiative. Breast (Edinburgh, Scotland). 2011;20 Suppl 2:S3-11.
- 101. Eisen A, Messersmith H, Franek J, Trudeau M, the Breast Cancer Disease Site Group. Adjuvant ovarian ablation in the treatment of premenopausal women with early stage invasive breast cancer [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Cancer Care Ontario; 2010 Jul 6. [cited 2012 May 23] Program in Evidence-Based Care (PEBC) Evidence-Based Series No:.1-9. Available from: <u>https://www.cancercareontario.ca/en/guidelines-advice/types-of-cancer/1031</u>
- 102. Eisen A, Trudeau M, Shelley W, Messersmith H, Pritchard KI. Aromatase inhibitors in adjuvant therapy for hormone receptor positive breast cancer: a systematic review. Cancer Treat Rev. 2008;34(2):157-74.
- 103. Trudeau M, Eisen A, Messersmith H, Pritchard KI, and the Breast Cancer Disease Site Group. Adjuvant taxane therapy for women with early-stage, invasive breast cancer [Internet]. Version 2. Toronto (ON): Cancer Care Ontario; 2011 Sept 30 [2006; reviewed by Y Madarnas, M Mates, C Abgassi 2011; endosed 2011 Sep 16; cited 2012 May 24] Program in Evidence-Based Care Evidence-Based Series No.: 1-7. Available from: <u>https://www.cancercareontario.ca/en/guidelines-advice/types-of-cancer/1021</u>
- 104. Trudeau M, Madarnas Y, McCready D, Pritchard KI, Messersmith H, and the Breast Cancer Disease Site Group. The role of trastuzumab in adjuvant and neoadjuvant therapy in women with HER2/neu-overexpressing breast cancer [Internet]. Version 2. Toronto (ON): Cancer Care Ontario; 2011 Sep 15 [reviewed by Madarnas Y, Tey R 2009; endorsed 2010 Jun 11]; cited 2012 May 24]. Program in Evidence-Based Care Evidence-Based Series No.: 1-24. Available from: https://www.cancercareontario.ca/en/guidelines-advice/types-ofcancer/696?redirect=true
- 105. Trudeau M, Sinclair S, Clemons M, Shelley W, the Breast Cancer Disease Site Group. The role of taxanes in neoadjuvant chemotherapy for women with non-metastatic breast cancer [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Cancer Care Ontario; 2011 [Madarnas Y, Mates M, Agbassi C, reviewers; 2004 document endorsed Sept 2011; cited 2012 May 23] Program in Evidence-Based Care Evidence-Based Series No.: 1-20 Version 2.; Available from: <u>https://www.cancercareontario.ca/en/guidelines-advice/types-ofcancer/691?redirect=true</u>
- 106. Warr D, Johnston MF, and members of the Breast Cancer Disease Site Group. Use of bisphosphonates in women with breast cancer [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Cancer Care Ontario; 2012 May 15 [2004 document assessed as to be updated 2012 Feb, reviewed

by Clemmons M, Agbassi C; cited 2012 Oct 15]. Program in Evidence-Based Care Evidence-Based Series No.: 1-11 TO BE UPDATED.

- 107. Eisen A, Trudeau M, Shelley W, Messersmith H, Pritchard KI. The role of aromatase inhibitors in adjuvant therapy for postmenopausal women with hormone receptorpositive breast cancer [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Cancer Care Ontario, 2011 [updated 2008; archived 2011 Sep; cited 2012 Oct 18]. Program in Evidence-Based Care Evidence-Based Series no.:1-18. Available from: https://www.cancercareontario.ca/en/guidelines-advice/types-of-cancer/681
- 108. Browman GP, Levine MN, Mohide EA, Hayward RS, Pritchard KI, Gafni A, et al. The practice guidelines development cycle: a conceptual tool for practice guidelines development and implementation. J Clin Oncol. 1995;13(2):502-12. Comment in: Ann Oncol. 2002 Sep;13(9):1507-9; author reply: 9.
- 109. Browman GP, Newman TE, Mohide EA, Graham ID, Levine MN, Pritchard KI, et al. Progress of clinical oncology guidelines development using the Practice Guidelines Development Cycle: the role of practitioner feedback. J Clin Oncol. 1998;16(3):1226-31.
- 110. Singletary SE, Allred C, Ashley P, Bassett L, Berry D, Bland KI, et al. Part VII Breast. In Greene FL, Page DL, Fleming ID, Fritz AG, Balch CM, Haller DG, Morrow M (eds): American Joint Committee on Cancer Staging Manual, 6th ed., New York: Springer-Verlag. 2002. p. 221-40.
- 111. Singletary SE, Allred C, Ashley P, Bassett LW, Berry D, Bland KI, et al. Revision of the American Joint Committee on Cancer staging system for breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2002;20(17):3628-36.
- 112. Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group. Effects of chemotherapy and hormonal therapy for early breast cancer on recurrence and 15-year survival: an overview of the randomised trials. Lancet. 2005;365(9472):1687-717 plus supplementary material online.
- 113. Simmonds MC, Higgins JP, Stewart LA, Tierney JF, Clarke MJ, Thompson SG. Metaanalysis of individual patient data from randomized trials: a review of methods used in practice. Clin Trials. 2005;2(3):209-17.
- 114. Stewart LA, Parmar MK. Meta-analysis of the literature or of individual patient data: is there a difference? Lancet. 1993;341(8842):418-22.
- 115. Clarke MJ. WITHDRAWN: Ovarian ablation for early breast cancer (review). The Cochrane Collaboration. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2008(4):CD000485.
- 116. Clarke MJ. WITHDRAWN: Multi-agent chemotherapy for early breast cancer (review): The Cochrane Collaboration. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2008(4):CD000487.
- 117. Clarke MJ. WITHDRAWN: Tamoxifen for early breast cancer (review): The Cochrane Collaboration. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2008(4):CD000486.
- 118. Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group, Clarke M, Coates AS, Darby SC, Davies C, Gelber RD, et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy in oestrogen-receptor-poor breast cancer: patient-level meta-analysis of randomised trials. Lancet. 2008;371(9606):29-40 plus supplementary material online.
- 119. Clarke M, Collins R, Davies C, Godwin J, Gray R, Peto R. Ovarian ablation in early breast cancer: Overview of the randomised trials. Lancet. 1996;348(9036):1189-96.
- 120. Shea BJ, Grimshaw JM, Wells GA, Boers M, Andersson N, Hamel C, et al. Development of AMSTAR: a measurement tool to assess the methodological quality of systematic reviews; 2007 Feb 15 [cited 2013 Dec 7]. BMC Med Res Methodol [serial on the

Internet]. 7: 10 pages Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1810543/pdf/1471-2288-7-10.pdf

- 121. Amadori D, Nanni O, Volpi A, Casadei Giunchi D, Marangolo M, Livi L, et al. Phase III randomized multicenter study on the effects of adjuvant CMF in patients with node-negative, rapidly proliferating breast cancer: twelve-year results and retrospective subgroup analysis. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2008;108(2):259-64.
- 122. Amadori D, Nanni O, Marangolo M, Pacini P, Ravaioli A, Rossi A, et al. Disease-free survival advantage of adjuvant cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, and fluorouracil in patients with node-negative, rapidly proliferating breast cancer: a randomized multicenter study. J Clin Oncol. 2000;18(17):3125-34.
- 123. Taucher S, Steger GG, Jakesz R, Tausch C, Wette V, Schippinger W, et al. The potential risk of neoadjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer patients--results from a prospective randomized trial of the Austrian Breast and Colorectal Cancer Study Group (ABCSG-07). Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2008;112(2):309-16.
- 124. Kornblith AB, Lan L, Archer L, Partridge A, Kimmick G, Hudis C, et al. Quality of life of older patients with early-stage breast cancer receiving adjuvant chemotherapy: a companion study to Cancer and Leukemia Group B 49907. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(8):1022-8.
- 125. Ejlertsen B, Mouridsen HT, Jensen M-B, Andersen J, Andersson M, Kamby C, et al. Cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, and fluorouracil; oral cyclophosphamide; levamisole; or no adjuvant therapy for patients with high-risk, premenopausal breast cancer. Cancer. 2010;116(9):2081-9.
- 126. Ejlertsen B, Mouridsen HT, Jensen M-B. Adjuvant cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, and fluorouracil in premonopausal patients with node-positive breast cancer: indirect comparison of dose and schedule in DBCG trials 77, 82, and 89. Acta Oncol. 2008;47(4):662-71.
- 127. Ejlertsen B, Mouridsen HT, Jensen M-B, Andersen J, Cold S, Edlund P, et al. Improved outcome from substituting methotrexate with epirubicin: results from a randomised comparison of CMF versus CEF in patients with primary breast cancer. Eur J Cancer. 2007;43(5):877-84.
- 128. Canney P, Coleman R, Morden J, Barrett-Lee P, Banerji J, Wardley A, et al. TACT2 trial in early breast cancer (EBC): Differential rates of amenorrhoea in premenopausal women following adjuvant epirubicin (E) or accelerated epirubicin (AE) followed by capecitabine (X) or CMF (CRUK/05/019) [abstract]. Eur J Cancer. 2012;48:S102. Abstract no. 200.
- 129. Canney P, Barrett-Lee P, Bartlett J, Bertelli G, Coleman R, Earl H, et al. The UK TACT2 Trial: Non-inferiority of capecitabine compared with CMF after epirubicin in patients requiring chemotherapy for early breast cancer (EBC) (CRUK/05/019) [abstract]. Eur J Cancer. 2014;50:S99-S100. Abstract no. 94.
- 130. Helwick C. Dose-dense chemotherapy in breast cancer: Epirubicin-based regimens studied in German and UK trials. 2013 Mar 1 [cited 2014 Jun 18]. The ASCO Post [serial on the Internet]. 4(4) Available from: <u>http://www.ascopost.com/issues/march-1,-2013/dose-dense-chemotherapy-in-breast-cancer-epirubicin-based-regimens-studied-in-german-and-uk-trials.aspx</u>
- 131. Velikova G, Barrett-Lee P, Bloomfield D, Brunt M, Canney P, Coleman R, et al. Quality of life results of the UK TACT2 Trial: More intensive chemotherapy for early breast cancer has a measurable impact on patient-reported symptoms and functioning (CRUK/05/019) [abstract]. Eur J Cancer. 2014;50(Suppl 2):S109. Abstract no. 227.

- 132. Ohno S, Chow LWC, Sato N, Masuda N, Sasano H, Takahashi F, et al. Randomized trial of preoperative docetaxel with or without capecitabine after 4 cycles of 5-fluorouracil-epirubicin-cyclophosphamide (FEC) in early-stage breast cancer: Exploratory analyses identify Ki67 as a predictive biomarker for response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2013;142(1):69-80.
- 133. Pippen JE, Paul D, Stokoe CT, Blum JL, Krekow L, Holmes FA, et al. Randomized, phase III study of adjuvant doxorubicin plus cyclophosphamide (AC) -> docetaxel (T) with or without capecitabine (X) in high-risk early breast cancer: Exploratory Ki-67 analyses [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. 500.
- 134. O'Shaughnessy J, Paul D, Stokoe C, Pippen Jr J, Blum J, Krekow L, et al. First efficacy results of a randomized, open-label, phase III study of adjuvant doxorubicin plus cyclophosphamide, followed by docetaxel with or without capecitabine, in high-risk early breast cancer [abstract]. Cancer Res. 2010;70(24 Suppl 2):Abstract no. S4-2.
- 135. O'Shaughnessy J, Pippen JE, Paul D, Stokoe CT, Blum JL, Krekow L, et al. Adjuvant capecitabine for invasive lobular/mixed early breast cancer (EBC): USON 01062 exploratory analyses [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. 547.
- 136. Bermejo B, Ruiz A, Borrego MR, Ribelles N, Rodriguez-Lescure A, Munoz-Mateu M, et al. Randomized phase III study of adjuvant chemotherapy for node-positive early breast cancer (BC) patients (pts) comparing epirubicin plus cyclophosphamide followed by docetaxel (EC-T) versus epirubicin plus docetaxel followed by capecitabine (ET-X): Efficacy analysis of the GEICAM/2003-10 trial [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(15 Suppl).
- 137. Watanabe T, Sano M, Takashima S, Kitaya T, Tokuda Y, Yoshimoto M, et al. Oral uracil and tegafur compared with classic cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, fluorouracil as postoperative chemotherapy in patients with node-negative, high-risk breast cancer: National Surgical Adjuvant Study for Breast Cancer 01 Trial. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(9):1368-74.
- 138. Hara F, Watanabe T, Shimozuma K, Ohashi Y. Efficacy, toxicity and quality of life in older patients with early-stage breast cancer treated with oral Tegafur-uracil or classical CMF (cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, and fluorouracil): An exploratory analysis of national surgical adjuvant study for breast cancer (N-SAS BC) 01 Trial [abstract]. Cancer Res. 2012;72(24 Suppl 3):Abstract no. P1-13-0.
- 139. Ejlertsen B, Jensen MB, Elversang J, Rasmussen BB, Andersson M, Andersen J, et al. One year of adjuvant tamoxifen compared with chemotherapy and tamoxifen in postmenopausal patients with stage II breast cancer. Eur J Cancer. 2013;49(14):2986-94.
- 140. Colleoni M. International Breast Cancer Study Group (IBCSG) trial 22-00: Low-dose cytotoxics as maintenance "anti-angiogenesis treatment" following adjuvant induction chemotherapy for patients with ER-negative and PgR-negative breast cancer [abstract]. Cancer Res. 2011;71(24 Suppl 3. Abstract No. OT2-01-01).
- 141. Wardley AM, Hiller L, Howard HC, Dunn JA, Bowman A, Coleman RE, et al. tAnGo: a randomised phase III trial of gemcitabine in paclitaxel-containing, epirubicin/cyclophosphamide-based, adjuvant chemotherapy for early breast cancer: a prospective pulmonary, cardiac and hepatic function evaluation. Br J Cancer. 2008;99(4):597-603.
- 142. Earl HM, Vallier AL, Hiller L, Fenwick N, Young J, Iddawela M, et al. Effects of the addition of gemcitabine, and paclitaxel-first sequencing, in neoadjuvant sequential

epirubicin, cyclophosphamide, and paclitaxel for women with high-risk early breast cancer (Neo-tAnGo): An open-label, 2x2 factorial randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15(2):201-12.

- 143. Toi M, Ohno S, Sato N, Masuda N, Sasano H, Takahashi F, et al. Preoperative docetaxel (T) with or without capecitabine (X) following epirubicin, 5-fluorouracil and cyclophosphamide (FEC) in patients with operable breast cancer (OOTR N003): Results of comparative study and predictive marker analysis [abstract]. Cancer Res. 2012;72(24 Suppl 3):Abstract no. P1-14-02.
- 144. Schneeweiss A, Marme F, Ruiz A, Manikhas AG, Bottini A, Wolf M, et al. A randomized phase II trial of doxorubicin plus pemetrexed followed by docetaxel versus doxorubicin plus cyclophosphamide followed by docetaxel as neoadjuvant treatment of early breast cancer. Ann Oncol. 2011;22(3):609-17.
- 145. de Azambuja E, Paesmans M, Beauduin M, Vindevoghel A, Cornez N, Finet C, et al. Long-term benefit of high-dose epirubicin in adjuvant chemotherapy for node-positive breast cancer: 15-year efficacy results of the Belgian multicentre study. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(5):720-5.
- 146. Amadori D, Silvestrini R, De Lena M, Boccardo F, Rocca A, Scarpi E, et al. Randomized phase III trial of adjuvant epirubicin followed by cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, and 5-fluorouracil (CMF) versus CMF followed by epirubicin in patients with node-negative or 1-3 node-positive rapidly proliferating breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2011;125(3):775-84.
- 147. Rocca A, Bravaccini S, Scarpi E, Mangia A, Petroni S, Puccetti M, et al. Benefit from anthracyclines in relation to biological profiles in early breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2014;144(2):307-18.
- 148. Cheang MCU, Voduc KD, Tu D, Jiang S, Leung S, Chia SK, et al. Responsiveness of intrinsic subtypes to adjuvant anthracycline substitution in the NCIC.CTG MA.5 randomized trial. Clin Cancer Res. 2012;18(8):2402-12.
- 149. Bartlett JM, Munro AF, Dunn JA, McConkey C, Jordan S, Twelves CJ, et al. Predictive markers of anthracycline benefit: a prospectively planned analysis of the UK National Epirubicin Adjuvant Trial (NEAT/BR9601). Lancet Oncol. 2010;11(3):266-74.
- 150. Poole CJ, Earl HM, Hiller L, Dunn JA, Bathers S, Grieve RJ, et al. Epirubicin and cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, and fluorouracil as adjuvant therapy for early breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2006;355(18):1851-62.
- 151. Earl HM, Hiller L, Dunn JA, Vallier AL, Bowden SJ, Jordan SD, et al. Adjuvant epirubicin followed by cyclophosphamide, methotrexate and fluorouracil (CMF) vs CMF in early breast cancer: Results with over 7 years median follow-up from the randomised phase III NEAT/BR9601 trials. Br J Cancer. 2012;107(8):1257-67.
- 152. Earl HM, Hiller L, Dunn JA, Bathers S, Harvey P, Stanley A, et al. NEAT: National Epirubicin Adjuvant Trial--toxicity, delivered dose intensity and quality of life. Br J Cancer. 2008;99(8):1226-31.
- 153. van Nes JGH, Putter H, Julien J-P, Tubiana-Hulin M, van de Vijver M, Bogaerts J, et al. Preoperative chemotherapy is safe in early breast cancer, even after 10 years of follow-up; clinical and translational results from the EORTC trial 10902. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2009;115(1):101-13.
- 154. Budd GT, Barlow WE, Moore HCF, Hobday TJ, Stewart JA, Isaacs C, et al. S0221: Comparison of two schedules of paclitaxel as adjuvant therapy for breast cancer [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(18 Suppl June 20):Abstract no. CRA1008.

- 155. Budd GT, Barlow WE, Moore HCF, Hobday TJ, Stewart JA, Isaacs C, et al. First analysis of SWOG S0221: A phase III trial comparing chemotherapy schedules in high-risk early breast cancer [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. 1004.
- 156. Lee KS, Ro J, Nam B-H, Lee ES, Kwon Y, Kwon HS, et al. A randomized phase-III trial of docetaxel/capecitabine versus doxorubicin/cyclophosphamide as primary chemotherapy for patients with stage II/III breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2008;109(3):481-9.
- 157. Janni W, Harbeck N, Sommer HL, Rack BK, Augustin D, Simon W, et al. Sequential treatment with epirubicin/cyclophosphamide, followed by docetaxel versus FEC120 in the adjuvant treatment of node-positive breast cancer patients: Final survival analysis of the German ADEBAR phase III study [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. 1081.
- 158. Schoenherr A, Kiechle M, Harbeck N, Sommer H, Rack B, Augustin D, et al. Toxicity analysis of the ADEBAR-trial: Sequential anthracycline-taxane compared to FEC120 in adjuvant treatment of high risk breast cancer patients [abstract]. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2010;282(Suppl 1):S47. Abstract no. FV-Onko 03.15.
- 159. Kerbrat P, Coudert B, Asselain B, Levy C, Lortholary A, Marre A, et al. Optimal duration of adjuvant chemotherapy for high risk node negative breast cancer patients: 6-year results of the prospective randomized phase III trial PACS 05 [abstract]. Cancer Res. 2012;72(24 Suppl 3):Abstract no. P1-13-04
- 160. Mamounas EP, Bryant J, Lembersky B, Fehrenbacher L, Sedlacek SM, Fisher B, et al. Paclitaxel after doxorubicin plus cyclophosphamide as adjuvant chemotherapy for node-positive breast cancer: Results from NSABP B-28. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(16):3686-96.
- 161. Pusztai L, Jeong J-H, Gong Y, Ross JS, Kim C, Paik S, et al. Evaluation of microtubuleassociated protein-Tau expression as a prognostic and predictive marker in the NSABP-B 28 randomized clinical trial. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(26):4287-92.
- 162. Vici P, Brandi M, Giotta F, Foggi P, Schittulli F, Di Lauro L, et al. A multicenter phase III prospective randomized trial of high-dose epirubicin in combination with cyclophosphamide (EC) versus docetaxel followed by EC in node-positive breast cancer. GOIM (Gruppo Oncologico Italia Meridionale) 9902 study. Ann Oncol. 2012;23(5):1121-9.
- 163. Henderson IC, Berry DA, Demetri GD, Cirrincione CT, Goldstein LJ, Martino S, et al. Improved outcomes from adding sequential paclitaxel but not from escalating doxorubicin dose in an adjuvant chemotherapy regimen for patients with node-positive primary breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21(6):976-83.
- 164. Sartor CI, Peterson BL, Woolf S, Fitzgerald TJ, Laurie F, Turrisi AJ, et al. Effect of addition of adjuvant paclitaxel on radiotherapy delivery and locoregional control of node-positive breast cancer: Cancer and Leukemia group B 9344. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(1):30-40.
- 165. Hayes DF, Thor AD, Dressler LG, Weaver D, Edgerton S, Cowan D, et al. HER2 and response to paclitaxel in node-positive breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2007;357(15):1496-506.
- 166. Berry D, Thor A, Jewell SD, Broadwater G, Edgerton S, Hayes D, et al. Benefits of adding paclitaxel to adjuvant doxorubicin/cyclophosphamide depending on HER2 & ER status: analysis of tumor tissue microarrays and immunohistochemistry in CALGB 9344 (Intergroup 0148) [abstract]. Cancer Res. 2009;69(24 Suppl 3):Abstract no.606.

- 167. Lara JF, Thor AD, Dressler LG, Broadwater G, Bleiweiss IJ, Edgerton S, et al. p53 Expression in node-positive breast cancer patients: results from the Cancer and Leukemia Group B 9344 Trial (159905). Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(15):5170-8.
- 168. Cognetti F, De Laurentiis M, De Matteis A, Manzione L, Boni C, Palazzo S, et al. Sequential epirubicin-docetaxel-CMF as adjuvant therapy for node-positive early stage breast cancer: Updated results of the taxit216 randomized trial [abstract]. Ann Oncol. 2008;19(S8):viii77. Abstract no. 1820.
- 169. Francis P, Crown J, Di Leo A, Buyse M, Balil A, Andersson M, et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy with sequential or concurrent anthracycline and docetaxel: Breast International Group 02-98 randomized trial. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2008;100(2):121-33. [Erratum in: J Natl Cancer Inst. 2008 Nov 19;100(22):1655].
- 170. Oakman C, Francis PA, Crown J, Quinaux E, Buyse M, De Azambuja E, et al. Overall survival benefit for sequential doxorubicin-docetaxel compared with concurrent doxorubicin and docetaxel in node-positive breast cancer--8-year results of the Breast International Group 02-98 phase III trial. Ann Oncol. 2013;24(5):1203-11. Epub: 2013 Jan 4.
- 171. Fernandez-Cuesta L, Oakman C, Falagan-Lotsch P, Smoth KS, Quinaux E, Buyse M, et al. Prognostic and predictive value of TP53 mutations in node-positive breast cancer patients treated with anthracycline- or anthracycline/taxane-based adjuvant therapy: results from the BIG 02-98 phase III trial. 2012 [cited 2012 Jul 6]. Breast Cancer Res [serial on the Internet]. 14(3:R70 [13 p]) Available from: <a href="http://breast-cancer-research.com/content/pdf/bcr3179.pdf">http://breast-cancer-research.com/content/pdf/bcr3179.pdf</a>
- 172. Martin M, Ruiz A, Ruiz Borrego M, Barnadas A, Gonzalez S, Calvo L, et al. Fluorouracil, doxorubicin, and cyclophosphamide (FAC) versus FAC followed by weekly paclitaxel as adjuvant therapy for high-risk, node-negative breast cancer: results from the GEICAM/2003-02 study. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(20):2593-9.
- 173. Delbaldo C, Serin D, Mousseau M, Greget S, Audhuy B, Priou F, et al. A phase III adjuvant randomised trial of 6 cycles of 5-fluorouracil- epirubicine-cyclophosphamide (FEC100) versus 4 FEC 100 followed by 4 Taxol (FEC-T) in node positive breast cancer patients (Trial B2000). Eur J Cancer. 2014;50(1):23-30.
- 174. Martin M, Rodriguez-Lescure A, Ruiz A, Alba E, Calvo L, Ruiz-Borrego M, et al. Randomized phase 3 trial of fluorouracil, epirubicin, and cyclophosphamide alone or followed by Paclitaxel for early breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2008;100(11):805-14.
- 175. Martin M, Rodriguez-Lescure A, Ruiz A, Alba E, Calvo L, Ruiz-Borrego M, et al. Molecular predictors of efficacy of adjuvant weekly paclitaxel in early breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2010;123(1):149-57.
- 176. Fountzilas G, Dafni U, Gogas H, Linardou H, Kalofonos HP, Briasoulis E, et al. Postoperative dose-dense sequential chemotherapy with epirubicin, paclitaxel and CMF in patients with high-risk breast cancer: safety analysis of the Hellenic Cooperative Oncology Group randomized phase III trial HE 10/00. Ann Oncol. 2008;19(5):853-60.
- 177. Gogas H, Dafni U, Karina M, Papadimitriou C, Batistatou A, Bobos M, et al. Postoperative dose-dense sequential versus concomitant administration of epirubicin and paclitaxel in patients with node-positive breast cancer: 5-Year results of the Hellenic Cooperative Oncology Group HE 10/00 phase III Trial. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2012;132(2):609-19.

- 178. Polyzos A, Malamos N, Boukovinas I, Adamou A, Ziras N, Kalbakis K, et al. FEC versus sequential docetaxel followed by epirubicin/cyclophosphamide as adjuvant chemotherapy in women with axillary node-positive early breast cancer: a randomized study of the Hellenic Oncology Research Group (HORG). Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2010;119(1):95-104.
- 179. Nitz U, Huober J, Lisboa B, Harbeck N, Fischer H, Moebus V, et al. Superiority of sequential docetaxel over standard FE100C in patients with intermediate risk breast cancer: Survival results of the randomized intergroup phase III trial EC-Doc [abstract]. Cancer Res. 2009;69(2 Suppl 1):Abstract no. 78.
- 180. Huober J, Gluz O, Hartmann A, Kates R, Kreipe H, Pelz E, et al. Evidence for predictive and prognostic impact of molecular classification in taxane-based chemotherapy in intermediate risk breast cancer an analysis of the WSG EC-Doc trial [abstract]. Cancer Res. 2010;70(24 Suppl 2):Abstract no. P2-09-14.
- 181. Nitz U, Gluz O, Liedtke C, Huober JB, Hartmann A, Kates RE, et al. Comparison of predictive and prognostic impact of molecular subtypes and central grade regarding taxane-based therapy in intermediate-risk breast cancer: Results from the EC-Doc trial [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. 10625.
- 182. Gluz O, Erber R, Kates R, Kreipe H, Bartels A, Liedtke C, et al. Predictive value of HER2, topoisomerase-II (Topo-II) and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases (TIMP-1) for efficacy of taxane-based chemotherapy in intermediate risk breast cancer - results from the EC-Doc trial [abstract]. Abstracts from the 34th annual SABCS Dec 6-10, 2011 [Internet] 2011 Dec 6-10 [cited 2012 Jul 16]. Abstract P1-06-03 Available from: http://www.abstracts2view.com/sabcs11/view.php?nu=SABCS11L\_1495&terms=
- 183. Ellis P, Barrett-Lee P, Johnson L, Cameron D, Wardley A, O'Reilly S, et al. Sequential docetaxel as adjuvant chemotherapy for early breast cancer (TACT): an open-label, phase III, randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2009;373(9676):1681-92.
- 184. Penault-Llorca F, Andre F, Sagan C, Lacroix-Triki M, Denoux Y, Verriele V, et al. Ki67 expression and docetaxel efficacy in patients with estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(17):2809-15.
- 185. Sakr H, Hamed RH, Anter AH, Yossef T. Sequential docetaxel as adjuvant chemotherapy for node-positive or/and T3 or T4 breast cancer: clinical outcome (Mansoura University). Med Oncol. 2013;30(1):457.
- 186. Coombes RC, Bliss JM, Espie M, Erdkamp F, Wals J, Tres A, et al. Randomized, phase III trial of sequential epirubicin and docetaxel versus epirubicin alone in postmenopausal patients with node-positive breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(24):3247-54.
- 187. Albert JM, Buzdar AU, Guzman R, Allen PK, Strom EA, Perkins GH, et al. Prospective randomized trial of 5-fluorouracil, doxorubicin, and cyclophosphamide (FAC) versus paclitaxel and FAC (TFAC) in patients with operable breast cancer: impact of taxane chemotherapy on locoregional control. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2011;128(2):421-7.
- 188. Mackey JR, Martin M, Pienkowski T, Rolski J, Guastalla JP, Sami A, et al. Adjuvant docetaxel, doxorubicin, and cyclophosphamide in node-positive breast cancer: 10-year follow-up of the phase 3 randomised BCIRG 001 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2013;14(1):72-80.
- 189. Martin M, Segui MA, Anton A, Ruiz A, Ramos M, Adrover E, et al. Adjuvant docetaxel for high-risk, node-negative breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(23):2200-10.
- 190. Goldstein LJ, O'Neill A, Sparano JA, Perez EA, Shulman LN, Martino S, et al. Concurrent doxorubicin plus docetaxel is not more effective than concurrent doxorubicin plus cyclophosphamide in operable breast cancer with 0 to 3 positive

axillary nodes: North American Breast Cancer Intergroup Trial E 2197. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(25):4092-9.

- 191. Sparano JA, O'Neill A, Gray RJ, Perez EA, Shulman LN, Martino S, et al. 10-year update of E2197: Phase III doxorubicin/docetaxel (AT) versus doxorubicin/cyclophosphamide (AC) adjuvant treatment of LN+ and high-risk LN-breast cancer and the comparison of the prognostic utility of the 21-gene recurrence score (RS) with clinicopathologic features [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. 1021.
- 192. Brain E, Debled M, Eymard J, Bachelot T, Extra J, Serin D, et al. Final results of the RAPP-01 phase III trial comparing doxorubicin and docetaxel with doxorubicin and cyclophosphamide in the adjuvant treatment of high-risk node negative and limited node positive (≤3) breast cancer patients [abstract]. Cancer Res. 2009;69(2 Suppl):Abstract no. 4101.
- 193. Del Mastro L, Costantini M, Durando A, Michelotti A, Danese S, Aitini E, et al. Cyclophosphamide, epirubicin, and 5-fluorouracil versus epirubicin plus paclitaxel in node-positive early breast cancer patients: A randomized, phase III study of Gruppo Oncologico Nord Ovest-Mammella Intergruppo Group [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(15 suppl May 20):Abstract no. 516.
- 194. Roché H, Allouache D, Romieu G, Bourgeois H, Canon J, Serin D, et al. Five-year analysis of the FNCLCC-PACS04 trial: FEC100 vs ED75 for the adjuvant treatment of node positive breast cancer [abstract]. Cancer Res. 2009;69(24 Suppl 3):Abstract no. 602.
- 195. Gianni L, Baselga J, Eiermann W, Porta VG, Semiglazov V, Lluch A, et al. Phase III trial evaluating the addition of paclitaxel to doxorubicin followed by cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, and fluorouracil, as adjuvant or primary systemic therapy: European Cooperative Trial in Operable Breast Cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(15):2474-81.
- 196. Zambetti M, Baselga J, Eiermann W, Guillem V, Semiglazov V, Lluch A, et al. Freedom from progression (FFP) by adding paclitaxel (T) to doxorubicin (A) followed by CMF as adjuvant or primary systemic therapy: 10-yr results of a randomized phase III European Cooperative Trial in Operable Breast Cancer (ECTO) [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. 537.
- 197. Shulman LN, Berry DA, Cirrincione CT, Becker HP, Perez EA, O'Regan R, et al. Comparison of doxorubicin and cyclophosphamide versus single-agent paclitaxel as adjuvant therapy for breast cancer in women with 0 to 3 positive axillary nodes: CALGB 40101 (Alliance). J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(22):2311-7. Epub: 2014 Jun 18.
- 198. Shulman LN, Cirrincione CT, Berry DA, Becker HP, Perez EA, O'Regan R, et al. Six cycles of doxorubicin and cyclophosphamide or paclitaxel are not superior to four cycles as adjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer in women with zero to three positive axillary nodes: Cancer and Leukemia Group B 40101. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(33):4071-6.
- 199. Nitz U, Gluz O, Krepe H, Liedtke B, Aktas B, Henschen S, et al. First interim toxicity analysis of the randomized phase III WSG plan B trial comparing 4xEC-4xDoc versus 6xTC in breast cancer patients with HER2 negative breast cancer (BC) [abstract]. Cancer Res. 2011;71(24 Suppl 3):Abstract no. P5-18-03.
- 200. Ortmann U, Salmen J, Hepp PGM, Beckmann MW, Fehm TN, Hindenburg H, et al. The SUCCESS-C trial: Interim analysis of toxicity evaluating the role of an anthracycline-free chemotherapy regimen in the adjuvant treatment of HER2/neu-negative breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(15 Suppl):Abstract no. 1070.

- 201. Mansi JL, Yellowlees A, Lipscombe J, Earl HM, Cameron DA, Coleman RE, et al. Fiveyear outcome for women randomised in a phase III trial comparing doxorubicin and cyclophosphamide with doxorubicin and docetaxel as primary medical therapy in early breast cancer: an Anglo-Celtic Cooperative Oncology Group study. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2010;122(3):787-94.
- 202. Loesch D, Greco FA, Senzer NN, Burris HA, Hainsworth JD, Jones S, et al. Phase III multicenter trial of doxorubicin plus cyclophosphamide followed by paclitaxel compared with doxorubicin plus paclitaxel followed by weekly paclitaxel as adjuvant therapy for women with high-risk breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(18):2958-65.
- 203. Poole CJ, Hiller L, Howard HC, Dunn JA, Canney P, Wardley AM, et al. tAnGo: A randomized phase III trial of gemcitabine (gem) in paclitaxel-containing, epirubicin/cyclophosphamide-based, adjuvant chemotherapy (CT) for women with early-stage breast cancer (EBC) [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. 506.
- 204. Schneider BP, Zhao F, Wang M, Stearns V, Martino S, Jones V, et al. Neuropathy is not associated with clinical outcomes in patients receiving adjuvant taxane-containing therapy for operable breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(25):3051-7.
- 205. Watanabe T, Kuranami M, Inoue K, Masuda N, Aogi K, Oono S, et al. Phase III two by two factorial comparison of doxorubicin and cyclophosphamide followed by a taxane vs. a taxane alone, and paclitaxel vs. docetaxel in operable node positive breast cancer results of the first interim analysis of NSASBC02 trial [abstract] Cancer Res. 2009;69(2 Suppl 1):Abstract no. 4103. Poster available at <a href="http://www.csp.or.jp/cspor/company/results/N-SAS%20BC02poster%2020081206.pdf">http://www.csp.or.jp/cspor/company/results/N-SAS%20BC02poster%2020081206.pdf</a> (2009 Jan 6, cited 2012 Aug).
- 206. Shiroiwa T, Fukuda T, Shimozuma K, Kuranami M, Suemasu K, Ohashi Y, et al. Comparison of EQ-5D scores among anthracycline-containing regimens followed by taxane and taxane-only regimens for node-positive breast cancer patients after surgery: the N-SAS BC 02 trial. Value Health. 2011;14(5):746-51.
- 207. Shimozuma K, Ohashi Y, Takeuchi A, Aranishi T, Morita S, Kuroi K, et al. Taxaneinduced peripheral neuropathy and health-related quality of life in postoperative breast cancer patients undergoing adjuvant chemotherapy: N-SAS BC 02, a randomized clinical trial. Support Care Cancer. 2012;20(12):3355-64.
- 208. Moebus V, Jackisch C, Lueck H-J, du Bois A, Thomssen C, Kurbacher C, et al. Intense dose-dense sequential chemotherapy with epirubicin, paclitaxel, and cyclophosphamide compared with conventionally scheduled chemotherapy in high-risk primary breast cancer: mature results of an AGO phase III study. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(17):2874-80.
- 209. Moebus V, Thomssen C, Lueck H, Kuhn W, Junker-Stein A, Kurbacher CM, et al. Intense dose-dense (IDD) sequential chemotherapy with epirubicin (E), paclitaxel (T), and cyclophosphamide (C) (ETC) compared with conventionally scheduled chemotherapy in high-risk breast cancer patients (> 3+LN): Eight-year follow-up analysis [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. 1018.
- 210. Kelly CM, Green MC, Broglio K, Thomas ES, Brewster AM, Valero V, et al. Phase III trial evaluating weekly paclitaxel versus docetaxel in combination with capecitabine in operable breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(9):930-5. Epub: 2012 Feb 15.
- 211. Hofmann D, Nitz U, Gluz O, Kates RE, Schinkoethe T, Staib P, et al. WSG ADAPT adjuvant dynamic marker-adjusted personalized therapy trial optimizing risk assessment and therapy response prediction in early breast cancer: Study protocol for

a prospective, multi-center, controlled, non-blinded, randomized, investigator initiated phase II/III trial. 2013 [cited 2014 Jul 16]. Trials [serial on the Internet]. 14(1) Available from: <u>http://www.trialsjournal.com/content/14/1/261</u>

- 212. Untch M, von Minckwitz G, Konecny GE, Conrad U, Fett W, Kurzeder C, et al. PREPARE trial: a randomized phase III trial comparing preoperative, dose-dense, dose-intensified chemotherapy with epirubicin, paclitaxel, and CMF versus a standard-dosed epirubicin-cyclophosphamide followed by paclitaxel with or without darbepoetin alfa in primary breast cancer-outcome on prognosis. Ann Oncol. 2011;22(9):1999-2006.
- 213. Untch M, Fasching PA, Konecny GE, von Koch F, Conrad U, Fett W, et al. PREPARE trial: a randomized phase III trial comparing preoperative, dose-dense, dose-intensified chemotherapy with epirubicin, paclitaxel and CMF versus a standard-dosed epirubicin/cyclophosphamide followed by paclitaxel +/- darbepoetin alfa in primary breast cancer--results at the time of surgery. Ann Oncol. 2011;22(9):1988-98.
- 214. Kaufmann M, Eiermann W, Schuette M, Hilfrich J, Blohmer JU, Gerber B, et al. Long-term results from the neoadjuvant GeparDuo trial: A randomized, multicenter, open phase III study comparing a dose-intensified 8-week schedule of doxorubicin hydrochloride and docetaxel (ADoc) with a sequential 24-week schedule of doxorubicin hydrochloride/cyclophosphamide followed by docetaxel (AC-Doc) regimen as preoperative therapy (NACT) in patients (pts) with operable breast cancer (BC) [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. 537. Poster also available at <a href="http://www.germanbreastgroup.de/en/publications.html">http://www.germanbreastgroup.de/en/publications.html</a> [cited 2012 Jul 6].
- 215. Darb-Esfahani S, Loibl S, Muller BM, Roller M, Denkert C, Komor M, et al. Identification of biology-based breast cancer types with distinct predictive and prognostic features: role of steroid hormone and HER2 receptor expression in patients treated with neoadjuvant anthracycline/taxane-based chemotherapy. Breast Cancer Res. 2009;11(5):R69.
- 216. Untch M, Mobus V, Kuhn W, Muck BR, Thomssen C, Bauerfeind I, et al. Intensive dosedense compared with conventionally scheduled preoperative chemotherapy for highrisk primary breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(18):2938-45.
- 217. Evans TRJ, Yellowlees A, Foster E, Earl H, Cameron DA, Hutcheon AW, et al. Phase III randomized trial of doxorubicin and docetaxel versus doxorubicin and cyclophosphamide as primary medical therapy in women with breast cancer: an anglo-celtic cooperative oncology group study. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(13):2988-95.
- 218. von Minckwitz G, Blohmer JU, Costa SD, Denkert C, Eidtmann H, Eiermann W, et al. Response-guided neoadjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(29):3623-30.
- 219. Von Minckwitz G, Schmitt WD, Loibl S, Muller BM, Blohmer JU, Sinn BV, et al. Ki67 measured after neoadjuvant chemotherapy for primary breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19(16):4521-31.
- 220. von Minckwitz G, Kummel S, Vogel P, Hanusch C, Eidtmann H, Hilfrich J, et al. Neoadjuvant vinorelbine-capecitabine versus docetaxel-doxorubicin-cyclophosphamide in early nonresponsive breast cancer: phase III randomized GeparTrio trial. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2008;100(8):542-51.
- 221. von Minckwitz G, Kummel S, Vogel P, Hanusch C, Eidtmann H, Hilfrich J, et al. Intensified neoadjuvant chemotherapy in early-responding breast cancer: phase III randomized GeparTrio study. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2008;100(8):552-62.

- 222. Bedard PL, Di Leo A, Piccart-Gebhart MJ. Taxanes: optimizing adjuvant chemotherapy for early-stage breast cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2010;7(1):22-36.
- 223. Araque Arroyo P, Ubago Perez R, Cancela Diez B, Fernandez Feijoo MA, Hernandez Magdalena J, Calleja Hernandez MA. Controversies in the management of adjuvant breast cancer with taxanes: review of the current literature. Cancer Treat Rev. 2011;37(2):105-10.
- 224. Gines J, Sabater E, Martorell C, Grau M, Monroy M, Casado MA. Efficacy of taxanes as adjuvant treatment of breast cancer: a review and meta-analysis of randomised clinical trials. Clin Trans Oncol. 2011;13(7):485-98.
- 225. Qin Y-Y, Li H, Guo X-J, Ye X-F, Wei X, Zhou Y-H, et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy, with or without taxanes, in early or operable breast cancer: a meta-analysis of 19 randomized trials with 30698 patients. PLoS ONE. 2011;6(11):e26946.
- 226. Cuppone F, Bria E, Carlini P, Milella M, Felici A, Sperduti I, et al. Taxanes as primary chemotherapy for early breast cancer: meta-analysis of randomized trials. Cancer. 2008;113(2):238-46.
- 227. Cameron D, Brown J, Dent R, Jackisch C, Mackey J, Pivot X, et al. Adjuvant bevacizumab-containing therapy in triple-negative breast cancer (BEATRICE): Primary results of a randomised, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2013;14(10):933-42.
- 228. Earl HM, Blenkinsop C, Grybowicz L, Vallier AL, Cameron DA, Bartlett JMS, et al. ARTemis: Randomized trial with neoadjuvant chemotherapy for patients with early breast cancer [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. TPS1144.
- 229. Earl HM, Hiller L, Blenkinsop C, Grybowicz L, Vallier A-L, Abraham J, et al. ARTemis: A randomised trial of bevacizumab with neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NACT) for patients with HER2-negative early breast cancer--Primary endpoint, pathological complete response (pCR) [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. 1014.
- 230. Parulekar W, Chen BE, Elliott C, Shepherd LE, Gelmon KA, Pritchard KI, et al. A phase III randomized trial of metformin versus placebo on recurrence and survival in earlystage breast cancer (BC) (NCIC Clinical Trials Group MA.32) [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(15 Suppl):Abstract no. TPS103.
- 231. Coleman R, Gnant M, Paterson A, Powles T, von Minckwitz G, Pritchard K, et al. Abstract S4-07: Effects of bisphosphonate treatment on recurrence and cause-specific mortality in women with early breast cancer: A meta-analysis of individual patient data from randomised trials [abstract]. Cancer Res. 2013;73(24 Supplement):Abstract S4-07.
- 232. Pavlakis N, Barry P, Bassanelli D, Boyle S, Drummond R, Kiely B, et al. Recommendations for use of bisphosphonates in early breast cancer [Internet]. Strawberry Hills (NSW): Cancer Australia; 2011 Nov [cited 2012 May 24]. Available from: guidelines.canceraustralia.gov.au/guidelines/guideline\_11.pdf
- 233. Wong MH, Stockler MR, Pavlakis N. Bisphosphonates and other bone agents for breast cancer (Review). The Cochrane Collaboration. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;2:CD003474.
- 234. Mauri D, Valachis A, Polyzos NP, Tsali L, Mavroudis D, Georgoulias V, et al. Does adjuvant bisphosphonate in early breast cancer modify the natural course of the disease? A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2010;8(3):279-86.

- 235. Valachis A, Polyzos NP, Georgoulias V, Mavroudis D, Mauri D. Lack of evidence for fracture prevention in early breast cancer bisphosphonate trials: a meta-analysis. Gynecol Oncol. 2010;117(1):139-45.
- 236. Valachis A, Nearchou A, Polyzos NP, Mauri D, Lind PA. Adjuvant therapy with zoledronic acid in primary breast cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis [abstract]. Eur J Cancer. 2011;47:S377. Abstract no. 5157.
- 237. Valachis A, Polyzos NP, Coleman RE, Gnant M, Eidtmann H, Brufsky AM, et al. Adjuvant therapy with zoledronic acid in patients with breast cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Oncologist. 2013;18(4):353-61.
- 238. Diel IJ, Solomayer EF, Costa SD, Gollan C, Goerner R, Wallwiener D, et al. Reduction in new metastases in breast cancer with adjuvant clodronate treatment. N Engl J Med. 1998;339(6):357-63.
- 239. Diel IJ, Jaschke A, Solomayer EF, Gollan C, Bastert G, Sohn C, et al. Adjuvant oral clodronate improves the overall survival of primary breast cancer patients with micrometastases to the bone marrow: a long-term follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2008;19(12):2007-11.
- 240. Saarto T, Blomqvist C, Virkkunen P, Elomaa I. Adjuvant clodronate treatment does not reduce the frequency of skeletal metastases in node-positive breast cancer patients: 5-year results of a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol. 2001;19(1):10-7.
- 241. Saarto T, Vehmanen L, Virkkunen P, Blomqvist C. Ten-year follow-up of a randomized controlled trial of adjuvant clodronate treatment in node-positive breast cancer patients. Acta Oncol. 2004;43(7):650-6.
- 242. Saarto T, Vehmanen L, Blomqvist C, Elomaa I. Ten-year follow-up of 3 years of oral adjuvant clodronate therapy shows significant prevention of osteoporosis in early-stage breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(26):4289-95.
- 243. Powles T, Paterson S, Kanis JA, McCloskey E, Ashley S, Tidy A, et al. Randomized, placebo-controlled trial of clodronate in patients with primary operable breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2002;20(15):3219-24.
- 244. Powles T, Paterson A, McCloskey E, Schein P, Scheffler B, Tidy A, et al. Reduction in bone relapse and improved survival with oral clodronate for adjuvant treatment of operable breast cancer [ISRCTN83688026]. Breast Cancer Res. 2006;8(2):R13 [7 p]. Epub: 2006 Mar 15.
- 245. McCloskey E, Paterson A, Kanis J, Tahtela R, Powles T. Effect of oral clodronate on bone mass, bone turnover and subsequent metastases in women with primary breast cancer. Eur J Cancer. 2010;46(3):558-65.
- 246. Paterson AH, Anderson SJ, Lembersky BC, Fehrenbacher L, Falkson CI, King KM, et al. Oral clodronate for adjuvant treatment of operable breast cancer (National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project protocol B-34): a multicentre, placebo-controlled, randomised trial. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13(7):734-42. Epub: 2012 Jun 19.
- 247. Kristensen B, Ejlertsen B, Mouridsen HT, Jensen M-B, Andersen J, Bjerregaard B, et al. Bisphosphonate treatment in primary breast cancer: results from a randomised comparison of oral pamidronate versus no pamidronate in patients with primary breast cancer. Acta Oncol. 2008;47(4):740-6.
- 248. Coleman R, Woodward E, Brown J, Cameron D, Bell R, Dodwell D, et al. Safety of zoledronic acid and incidence of osteonecrosis of the jaw (ONJ) during adjuvant therapy in a randomised phase III trial (AZURE: BIG 01-04) for women with stage II/III breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2011;127(2):429-38.

- 249. Coleman RE, Winter MC, Cameron D, Bell R, Dodwell D, Keane MM, et al. The effects of adding zoledronic acid to neoadjuvant chemotherapy on tumour response: exploratory evidence for direct anti-tumour activity in breast cancer. Br J Cancer. 2010;102(7):1099-105.
- 250. Coleman RE, Giordano SH. Adjuvant treatment with zoledronic acid in stage II/III breast cancer: The AZURE trial. P T. 2011;36(3):156.
- 251. Coleman RE, Marshall H, Cameron D, Dodwell D, Burkinshaw R, Keane M, et al. Breastcancer adjuvant therapy with zoledronic acid. N Engl J Med. 2011;365(15):1396-405.
- 252. Rathbone EJ, Brown JE, Marshall HC, Collinson M, Liversedge V, Murden GA, et al. Osteonecrosis of the jaw and oral health-related quality of life after adjuvant zoledronic acid: an adjuvant zoledronic acid to reduce recurrence trial subprotocol (BIG01/04). J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(21):2685-91.
- 253. Coleman R, Hinsley S, Bell R, Cameron D, Dodwell D, Liversedge V, et al. Adjuvant therapy in early breast cancer with zoledronic acid (AZURE BIG 01/04): Final efficacy analysis [abstract]. Eur J Cancer. 2013;49(Suppl 3):S5. Abstract no. LBA9.
- 254. Llombarto A, Frassoldati A, Paija O, Sleeboom H, Jerusalem G, Mebis J, et al. Effect of zoledronic acid on aromatase inhibitor-associated bone loss in postmenopausal women with early breast cancer receiving adjuvant letrozole: E-ZO-FAST 36-month follow up [Internet]. ASCO University. 2009 Breast Cancer Symposium. Abstract 213. Available from: <u>http://meetinglibrary.asco.org/content/40178-70</u>
- 255. Coleman R, Bundred N, DeBoer R, Llombarto A, Campbell I, Neven P, et al. Impact of zoledronic acid in postmenopausal women with early breast cancer receiving adjuvant letrozole: Z-FAST, ZO-FAST, and E-ZO-FAST [abstract]. Cancer Res. 2009;69(24 Suppl 3):Abstract no. 4082.
- 256. Llombart A, Frassoldati A, Paija O, Sleeboom HP, Jerusalem G, Mebis J, et al. Immediate administration of zoledronic acid reduces aromatase inhibitor-associated bone loss in postmenopausal women with early breast cancer: 12-month analysis of the E-ZO-FAST trial. Clin Breast Cancer. 2012;12(1):40-8.
- 257. Brufsky AM, Bosserman LD, Caradonna RR, Haley BB, Jones CM, Moore HCF, et al. Zoledronic acid effectively prevents aromatase inhibitor-associated bone loss in postmenopausal women with early breast cancer receiving adjuvant letrozole: Z-FAST study 36-month follow-up results. Clin Breast Cancer. 2009;9(2):77-85.
- 258. Brufsky A, Bundred N, Coleman R, Lambert-Falls R, Mena R, Hadji P, et al. Integrated analysis of zoledronic acid for prevention of aromatase inhibitor-associated bone loss in postmenopausal women with early breast cancer receiving adjuvant letrozole. Oncologist. 2008;13(5):503-14.
- 259. Brufsky AM, Harker WG, Beck JT, Bosserman L, Vogel C, Seidler C, et al. Final 5-year results of Z-FAST trial: Adjuvant zoledronic acid maintains bone mass in postmenopausal breast cancer patients receiving letrozole. Cancer. 2012;118(5):1192-201.
- 260. Eidtmann H, de Boer R, Bundred N, Llombart-Cussac A, Davidson N, Neven P, et al. Efficacy of zoledronic acid in postmenopausal women with early breast cancer receiving adjuvant letrozole: 36-month results of the ZO-FAST Study. Ann Oncol. 2010;21(11):2188-94.
- 261. Coleman R, De Boer R, Eidtmann H, Llombart A, Davidson N, Neven P, et al. Zoledronic acid (zoledronate) for postmenopausal women with early breast cancer receiving

adjuvant letrozole (ZO-FAST study): Final 60-month results. Ann Oncol. 2013;24(2):398-405.

- 262. Bundred NJ, Campbell ID, Davidson N, DeBoer RH, Eidtmann H, Monnier A, et al. Effective inhibition of aromatase inhibitor-associated bone loss by zoledronic acid in postmenopausal women with early breast cancer receiving adjuvant letrozole: ZO-FAST Study results. Cancer. 2008;112(5):1001-10.
- 263. Hershman DL, McMahon DJ, Crew KD, Cremers S, Irani D, Cucchiara G, et al. Zoledronic acid prevents bone loss in premenopausal women undergoing adjuvant chemotherapy for early-stage breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(29):4739-45.
- 264. Hershman DL, McMahon DJ, Crew KD, Shao T, Cremers S, Brafman L, et al. Prevention of bone loss by zoledronic acid in premenopausal women undergoing adjuvant chemotherapy persist up to one year following discontinuing treatment. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2010;95(2):559-66.
- 265. Gnant M, Mlineritsch B, Schippinger W, Luschin-Ebengreuth G, Postlberger S, Menzel C, et al. Endocrine therapy plus zoledronic acid in premenopausal breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2009;360(7):679-91. [Erratum appears in N Engl J Med. 2009 May 28;360(22):379].
- 266. von Minckwitz G, Mobus V, Schneeweiss A, Huober J, Thomssen C, Untch M, et al. German adjuvant intergroup node-positive study: a phase III trial to compare oral ibandronate versus observation in patients with high-risk early breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(28):3531-9.
- 267. Goss PE, Barrios CH, Chan A, Finkelstein DM, Iwata H, Martin M, et al. Denosumab versus placebo as adjuvant treatment for women with early-stage breast cancer at high risk of disease recurrence (D-CARE): An international, placebo-controlled, randomized, double-blind phase III clinical trial [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. TP S662.
- 268. Nuzzo F, Gallo C, Lastoria S, Di Maio M, Piccirillo MC, Gravina A, et al. Bone effect of adjuvant tamoxifen, letrozole or letrozole plus zoledronic acid in early-stage breast cancer: The randomized phase 3 HOBOE study. Ann Oncol. 2012;23(8):2027-33.
- 269. Aft R, Naughton M, Trinkaus K, Watson M, Ylagan L, Chavez-MacGregor M, et al. Effect of zoledronic acid on disseminated tumour cells in women with locally advanced breast cancer: an open label, randomised, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2010;11(5):421-8.
- 270. Aft RL, Naughton M, Trinkaus K, Weilbaecher K. Effect of (Neo)adjuvant zoledronic acid on disease-free and overall survival in clinical stage II/III breast cancer. Br J Cancer. 2012;107(1):7-11.
- 271. Leal T, Tevaarwerk A, Love R, Stewart J, Binkley N, Eickhoff J, et al. Randomized trial of adjuvant zoledronic acid in postmenopausal women with high-risk breast cancer. Clin Breast Cancer. 2010;10(6):471-6.
- 272. Tevaarwerk A, Stewart JA, Love R, Binkley NC, Black S, Eickhoff J, et al. Randomized trial to assess bone mineral density (BMD) effects of zoledronic acid (ZA) in postmenopausal women (PmW) with breast cancer [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2007;Vol 25(18 Suppl June 20):Abstract no. 19558.
- 273. Greenspan SL, Brufsky A, Lembersky BC, Bhattacharya R, Vujevich KT, Perera S, et al. Risedronate prevents bone loss in breast cancer survivors: a 2-year, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(16):2644-52.

- 274. Moore HCF, Unger JM, Phillips K-A, Boyle FM, Hitre E, Porter DJ, et al. Phase III trial (Prevention of Early Menopause Study [POEMS]-SWOG S0230) of LHRH analog during chemotherapy (CT) to reduce ovarian failure in early-stage, hormone receptor-negative breast cancer: An international Intergroup trial of SWOG, IBCSG, ECOG, and CALGB (Alliance) [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(18 Suppl June 20):Abstract no. LBA505.
- 275. Mulcahy N. Practice changing: Drug preserves fertility during chemo. 2014 May 30 [cited 2014 Jul 21]. Medscape [serial on the Internet]. Available from: http://www.medscape.com/viewarticle/825989
- 276. Warshaw R. Medicine given with chemotherapy may protect fertility. Benefit of goserelin seen in early hormone receptor-negative breast cancer. Haverford (PA): LBBC; 2014 Jul 14 [cited 2014 Jul 21]. Living Beyond Breast Cancer Blog [serial on the Internet]. [cited 2014 Jul 21]; Available from: <u>http://www.lbbc.org/Understanding-Breast-Cancer/Breast-Cancer-News/Medicine-Given-with-Chemotherapy-May-Protect-Fertility</u>
- 277. Mittendorf EA, Schneble EJ, Perez SA, Symanowski JT, Patil R, Vreeland TJ, et al. Primary analysis of the prospective, randomized, single-blinded phase II trial of AE37 vaccine versus GM-CSF alone administered in the adjuvant setting to high-risk breast cancer patients [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. 638.
- 278. Vreeland TJ, Clifton GT, Hale DF, Sears AK, Patil R, Holmes JP, et al. Final results of the phase I/II trials of the e75 adjuvant breast cancer vaccine [abstract]. Cancer Res. 2012;72(24 Suppl 3):Abstract no. P5-16-02.
- 279. Mittendorf EA, Clifton GT, Holmes JP, Schneble E, van Echo D, Ponniah S, et al. Final report of the phase I/II clinical trial of the E75 (nelipepimut-S) vaccine with booster inoculations to prevent disease recurrence in high-risk breast cancer patients. Ann Oncol. 2014;25(9):1735-42. Epub: 2014 Jun 6.
- 280. De Vos FYFL, van Laarhoven HWM, Laven JSE, Themmen APN, Beex LVAM, Sweep CGJ, et al. Menopausal status and adjuvant hormonal therapy for breast cancer patients: A practical guideline. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2012;84(2):252-60.
- 281. ClinicalTrials.gov. Suppression of ovarian function plus either tamoxifen or exemestane compared with tamoxifen alone in treating premenopausal women with hormone-responsive breast cancer (SOFT) [Internet]. Bethesda (MD): US National Institues of Health; 2012 Jul 26 (last update) [cited 2012 Oct 6]. Available from: <a href="http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00066690">http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00066690</a>
- 282. Regan MM, Pagani O, Fleming GF, Walley BA, Price KN, Rabaglio M, et al. Adjuvant treatment of premenopausal women with endocrine-responsive early breast cancer: Design of the TEXT and SOFT trials. Breast (Edinburgh, Scotland). 2013;22(6):1094-100.
- 283. ClinicalTrials.gov. Triptorelin with either exemestane or tamoxifen in treating premenopausal women with hormone-responsive breast cancer (TEXT) [Internet]. Bethesda (MD): US National Institues of Health; 2012 Jul 26 (last update) [cited 2012 Oct 6]. Available from: <u>http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00066703</u>
- 284. Rea DW, Gray RG, Bowden SJ, Handley K, Earl HM, Poole CJ, et al. Overall and subgroup findings of the aTTom trial: A randomised comparison of continuing adjuvant tamoxifen to 10 years compared to stopping after 5 years in 6953 women with ER positive or ER untested early breast cancer [abstract]. Eur J Cancer. 2013;49(Suppl 2):S402. Abstract no. 1860.
- 285. Fisher B, Dignam J, Bryant J, Wolmark N. Five versus more than five years of tamoxifen for lymph node-negative breast cancer: updated findings from the National

Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project B-14 randomized trial. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2001;93(9):684-90.

- 286. Bartlett K, Eremin O, Hutcheon A, Preece P, Scott J, Forrest P, et al. Adjuvant tamoxifen in the management of operable breast cancer: The Scottish trial. Lancet. 1987;2(8552):171-5.
- 287. Stewart HJ, Prescott RJ, Forrest AP. Scottish adjuvant tamoxifen trial: a randomized study updated to 15 years. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2001;93(6):456-62.
- 288. Dignam JJ, Bryant J, Wieand HS, Fisher B, Wolmark N. Early stopping of a clinical trial when there is evidence of no treatment benefit: Protocol B-14 of the national surgical adjuvant breast and bowel project. Control Clin Trials. 1998;19(6):575-88.
- 289. Burstein HJ, Temin S, Anderson H, Buchholz TA, Davidson NE, Gelmon KE, et al. Adjuvant endocrine therapy for women with hormone receptor-positive breast cancer: American Society of Clinical Oncology clinical practice guideline focused update. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(21):2255-69. Epub: 2014 May 27.
- 290. Committee on Gynecologic Practice of The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. Tamoxifen and uterine cancer. Committee opinion 601, June 2014 (replaces committee opinion number 336, June 2006). Obstet Gynecol. 2014;123(6):1394-7.
- 291. Goss PE, Ingle JN, Martino S, Robert NJ, Muss HB, Piccart MJ, et al. A randomized trial of letrozole in postmenopausal women after five years of tamoxifen therapy for early-stage breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2003;349(19):1793-802.
- 292. Goss PE, Ingle JN, Martino S, Robert NJ, Muss HB, Piccart MJ, et al. Randomized trial of letrozole following tamoxifen as extended adjuvant therapy in receptor-positive breast cancer: updated findings from NCIC CTG MA.17. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2005;97(17):1262-71.
- 293. Ingle JN, Tu D, Pater JL, Muss HB, Martino S, Robert NJ, et al. Intent-to-treat analysis of the placebo-controlled trial of letrozole for extended adjuvant therapy in early breast cancer: NCIC CTG MA.17. Ann Oncol. 2008;19(5):877-82.
- 294. Jin H, Tu D, Zhao N, Shepherd LE, Goss PE. Longer-term outcomes of letrozole versus placebo after 5 years of tamoxifen in the NCIC CTG MA.17 trial: Analyses adjusting for treatment crossover. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(7):718-21.
- 295. Goss PE, Ingle JN, Martino S, Robert NJ, Muss HB, Piccart MJ, et al. Efficacy of letrozole extended adjuvant therapy according to estrogen receptor and progesterone receptor status of the primary tumor: National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group MA.17. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25(15):2006-11.
- 296. Goss PE, Ingle JN, Martino S, Robert NJ, Muss HB, Livingston RB, et al. Impact of premenopausal status at breast cancer diagnosis in women entered on the placebocontrolled NCIC CTG MA17 trial of extended adjuvant letrozole. Ann Oncol. 2013;24(2):355-61.
- 297. Muss HB, Tu D, Ingle JN, Martino S, Robert NJ, Pater JL, et al. Efficacy, toxicity, and quality of life in older women with early-stage breast cancer treated with letrozole or placebo after 5 years of tamoxifen: NCIC CTG intergroup trial MA.17. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(12):1956-64.
- 298. Goss PE, Ingle JN, Pater JL, Martino S, Robert NJ, Muss HB, et al. Late extended adjuvant treatment with letrozole improves outcome in women with early-stage breast cancer who complete 5 years of tamoxifen. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(12):1948-55. [Erratum in: J Clin Oncol. 2008 Jul 20;26(21):3659].

- 299. Goss P, Mamounas E, Jakesz R, Markopoulos C, Dowsett M, Peto R, et al. Aromatase inhibitors (Als) versus not (placebo/observation) as late extended adjuvant therapy for postmenopausal women with early stage breast cancer (BC): Overviews of randomized trials of Als after 5 years of tamoxifen [abstract]. Cancer Res. 2009;69(24 Suppl 3):Abstract no. 4081.
- 300. Pritchard KI, Shepherd LE, Chapman JA, Norris BD, Cantin J, Goss PE, et al. Randomized trial of tamoxifen versus combined tamoxifen and octreotide LAR Therapy in the adjuvant treatment of early-stage breast cancer in postmenopausal women: NCIC CTG MA.14. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(29):3869-76.
- 301. Chapman JAW, Costantino JP, Dong B, Margolese RG, Pritchard KI, Shepherd LE, et al. Randomized trials of adjuvant tamoxifen versus tamoxifen and octreotide LAR in earlystage breast cancer: NCIC CTG MA.14 and NSABP B-29 [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. 538.
- 302. Blamey RW, Bates T, Chetty U, Duffy SW, Ellis IO, George D, et al. Radiotherapy or tamoxifen after conserving surgery for breast cancers of excellent prognosis: British Association of Surgical Oncology (BASO) II trial. Eur J Cancer. 2013;49(10):2294-302.
- 303. Forbes JF, Dowsett M, Bradley R, Ingle JN, Aihara T, Bliss JM, et al. Patient-level meta-analysis of randomized trials of aromatase inhibitors (AI) versus tamoxifen (Tam) [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. 529.
- 304. Gnant M, Mlineritsch B, Stoeger H, Luschin-Ebengreuth G, Heck D, Menzel C, et al. Adjuvant endocrine therapy plus zoledronic acid in premenopausal women with earlystage breast cancer: 62-month follow-up from the ABCSG-12 randomised trial. Lancet Oncol. 2011;12(7):631-41.
- 305. Alexander W. Meeting highlights: San Antonio Breast Cancer Symposium. P T. 2011Mar;36(3):157. [Report of presentation by M Gnant, "Carry-over effect of adjuvant zoledronic acid after 48 and 62 months: The ABCSG-12 trial"].
- 306. Bankhead C. SABCS: Bone drug gives DFS boost in breat cancer MedPage Today [serial on the Internet]. 2011 Dec 10 [cited 2012 Sep 7]. [Report of presentation by M Gnant et al, "Long-Term Follow-Up in ABCSG-12: Significantly Improved Overall Survival with Adjuvant Zoledronic Acid in Premenopausal Patients with Endocrine-Receptor-Positive Early Breast Cancer. Abstract S1-2, San Antonio Breast Cancer Symposium, San Antonio Texas, USA, 2011 Dec 6-10] Available from: http://www.medpagetoday.com/MeetingCoverage/SABCS/30136
- 307. Hadji P, Coleman R, Gnant M, Green J. The impact of menopause on bone, zoledronic acid, and implications for breast cancer growth and metastasis. Ann Oncol. 2012;23(11):2782-90. Epub: 2012 Jun 26.
- 308. Gnant M. Zoledronic acid in the treatment of early-stage breast cancer: is there a final verdict? Curr Oncol Rep. 2012;14(1):35-43.
- 309. Gnant M, Mlineritsch B, Luschin-Ebengreuth G, Kainberger F, Kassmann H, Piswanger-Solkner JC, et al. Adjuvant endocrine therapy plus zoledronic acid in premenopausal women with early-stage breast cancer: 5-year follow-up of the ABCSG-12 bone-mineral density substudy. Lancet Oncol. 2008;9(9):840-9.
- 310. Rossi E, Morabito A, De Maio E, Di Rella F, Esposito G, Gravina A, et al. Endocrine effects of adjuvant letrozole + triptorelin compared with tamoxifen + triptorelin in premenopausal patients with early breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(2):264-70.
- 311. Rossi E, Morabito A, Di Rella F, Esposito G, Gravina A, Labonia V, et al. Endocrine effects of adjuvant letrozole compared with tamoxifen in hormone-responsive

postmenopausal patients with early breast cancer: the HOBOE trial. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(19):3192-7.

- 312. ClinicalTrials.gov. HOBOE: A phase 3 Study of adjuvant triptorelin and tamoxifen, letrozole, or letrozole and zoledronic acid in premenopausal patients with breast cancer [Internet]. Bethesda (MD): US National Institues of Health; 2013 Jan 15 (last update) [cited 2013 Jul 17]. Available from: http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/study/NCT00412022?view=results
- 313. Cuzick J, Sestak I, Baum M, Buzdar A, Howell A, Dowsett M, et al. Effect of anastrozole and tamoxifen as adjuvant treatment for early-stage breast cancer: 10-year analysis of the ATAC trial. Lancet Oncol. 2010;11(12):1135-41.
- 314. Arimidex, Tamoxifen Alone or in Combination Trialists' Group, Forbes JF, Cuzick J, Buzdar A, Howell A, Tobias JS, et al. Effect of anastrozole and tamoxifen as adjuvant treatment for early-stage breast cancer: 100-month analysis of the ATAC trial. Lancet Oncol. 2008;9(1):45-53.
- 315. Duffy S, Jackson TL, Lansdown M, Philips K, Wells M, Clack G, et al. The ATAC adjuvant breast-cancer trial: six-year results of the endometrial subprotocol. J Obstet Gynaecol. 2010;30(6):596-604.
- 316. Regan MM, Neven P, Giobbie-Hurder A, Goldhirsch A, Ejlertsen B, Mauriac L, et al. Assessment of letrozole and tamoxifen alone and in sequence for postmenopausal women with steroid hormone receptor-positive breast cancer: the BIG 1-98 randomised clinical trial at 8.1 years median follow-up. Lancet Oncol. 2011;12(12):1101-8.
- 317. Colleoni M, Giobbie-Hurder A, Regan MM, Thurlimann B, Mouridsen H, Mauriac L, et al. Analyses adjusting for selective crossover show improved overall survival with adjuvant letrozole compared with tamoxifen in the BIG 1-98 study. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(9):1117-24.
- 318. Crivellari D, Sun Z, Coates AS, Price KN, Thurlimann B, Mouridsen H, et al. Letrozole compared with tamoxifen for elderly patients with endocrine-responsive early breast cancer: the BIG 1-98 trial. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(12):1972-9.
- 319. Viale G, Regan MM, Dell'Orto P, Mastropasqua MG, Maiorano E, Rasmussen BB, et al. Which patients benefit most from adjuvant aromatase inhibitors? Results using a composite measure of prognostic risk in the BIG 1-98 randomized trial. Ann Oncol. 2011;22(10):2201-7.
- 320. Metzger O, Giobbie-Hurder A, Mallon E, Viale G, Winer E, Thurlimann B, et al. Relative effectiveness of letrozole compared with tamoxifen for patients with lobular carcinoma in the BIG 1-98 trial [abstract]. Cancer Res. 2012;72(24 Suppl 3. Abstract no. S1-1).
- 321. Filho OM, Giobbie-Hurder A, Mallon EA, Viale G, Winer EP, Thurlimann BJK, et al. Relative effectiveness of letrozole alone or in sequence with tamoxifen for patients diagnosed with invasive lobular carcinoma [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. 529.
- 322. Pfeiler G, Stoger H, Dubsky P, Mlineritsch B, Singer C, Balic M, et al. Efficacy of tamoxifen+aminoglutethimide in normal weight and overweight postmenopausal patients with hormone receptor-positive breast cancer: An analysis of 1509 patients of the ABCSG-06 trial. Br J Cancer. 2013;108(7):1408-14.
- 323. Schmid M, Jakesz R, Samonigg H, Kubista E, Gnant M, Menzel C, et al. Randomized trial of tamoxifen versus tamoxifen plus aminoglutethimide as adjuvant treatment in postmenopausal breast cancer patients with hormone receptor-positive disease:

Austrian breast and colorectal cancer study group trial 6. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21(6):984-90.

- 324. Dubsky PC, Jakesz R, Mlineritsch B, Postlberger S, Samonigg H, Kwasny W, et al. Tamoxifen and anastrozole as a sequencing strategy: a randomized controlled trial in postmenopausal patients with endocrine-responsive early breast cancer from the austrian breast and colorectal cancer study group. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(7):722-8.
- 325. Dubsky PC, Jakesz R, Greil R, Heck D, Stoeger H, Kwasny W, et al. Two years of tamoxifen followed by 3 years of anastrozole versus 5 years of tamoxifen alone in postmenopausal women with hormone-responsive early breast cancer: Efficacy results from 3,714 patients from the Austrian Breast and Colorectal Cancer Study Group (ABCSG) trial 8 [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. 534.
- 326. Bago-Horvath Z, Rudas M, Dubsky P, Jakesz R, Singer CF, Kemmerling R, et al. Adjuvant sequencing of tamoxifen and anastrozole is superior to tamoxifen alone in postmenopausal women with low proliferating breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(24):7828-34.
- 327. Bartlett JMS, Brookes CL, Robson T, van de Velde CJH, Billingham LJ, Campbell FM, et al. Estrogen receptor and progesterone receptor as predictive biomarkers of response to endocrine therapy: a prospectively powered pathology study in the Tamoxifen and Exemestane Adjuvant Multinational trial. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(12):1531-8.
- 328. Van De Water W, Fontein DBY, Van Nes JGH, Bartlett JMS, Hille ETM, Putter H, et al. Influence of semi-quantitative oestrogen receptor expression on adjuvant endocrine therapy efficacy in ductal and lobular breast cancer-A TEAM study analysis. Eur J Cancer. 2013;49(2):297-304.
- 329. Hozumi Y, Suemasu K, Takei H, Aihara T, Takehara M, Saito T, et al. The effect of exemestane, anastrozole, and tamoxifen on lipid profiles in Japanese postmenopausal early breast cancer patients: final results of National Surgical Adjuvant Study BC 04, the TEAM Japan sub-study. Ann Oncol. 2011;22(8):1777-82.
- 330. Van Nes JGH, Fontein DBY, Hille ETM, Voskuil DW, Van Leeuwen FE, De Haes JCJM, et al. Quality of life in relation to tamoxifen or exemestane treatment in postmenopausal breast cancer patients: A Tamoxifen Exemestane Adjuvant Multinational (TEAM) Trial side study. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2012;134(1):267-76.
- 331. Takei H, Ohsumi S, Shimozuma K, Takehara M, Suemasu K, Ohashi Y, et al. Healthrelated quality of life, psychological distress, and adverse events in postmenopausal women with breast cancer who receive tamoxifen, exemestane, or anastrozole as adjuvant endocrine therapy: National Surgical Adjuvant Study of Breast Cancer 04 (N-SAS BC 04). Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2012;133(1):227-36.
- 332. Aihara T, Suemasu K, Takei H, Hozumi Y, Takehara M, Saito T, et al. Effects of exemestane, anastrozole and tamoxifen on bone mineral density and bone turnover markers in postmenopausal early breast cancer patients: results of N-SAS BC 04, the TEAM Japan substudy. Oncology. 2010;79(5-6):376-81.
- 333. Hadji P, Asmar L, van Nes JGH, Menschik T, Hasenburg A, Kuck J, et al. The effect of exemestane and tamoxifen on bone health within the Tamoxifen Exemestane Adjuvant Multinational (TEAM) trial: a meta-analysis of the US, German, Netherlands, and Belgium sub-studies. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2011;137(6):1015-25.
- 334. Kieback DG, Harbeck N, Bauer W, Hadji P, Weyer G, Menschik T, et al. Endometrial effects of exemestane compared to tamoxifen within the Tamoxifen Exemestane Adjuvant Multicenter (TEAM) trial: results of a prospective gynecological ultrasound substudy. Gynecol Oncol. 2010;119(3):500-5.

- 335. Andersen J, Kamby C, Ejlertsen B, Cold S, Ewertz M, Jacobsen EH, et al. Tamoxifen for one year versus two years versus 6 months of Tamoxifen and 6 months of megestrol acetate: a randomized comparison in postmenopausal patients with high-risk breast cancer (DBCG 89C). Acta Oncol. 2008;47(4):718-24.
- 336. Boccardo F, Rubagotti A, Guglielmini P, Fini A, Paladini G, Mesiti M, et al. Switching to anastrozole versus continued tamoxifen treatment of early breast cancer. Updated results of the Italian tamoxifen anastrozole (ITA) trial. Ann Oncol. 2006;17 Suppl 7:vii10-4.
- 337. Boccardo F, Rubagotti A, Puntoni M, Guglielmini P, Amoroso D, Fini A, et al. Switching to anastrozole versus continued tamoxifen treatment of early breast cancer: preliminary results of the Italian Tamoxifen Anastrozole Trial. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(22):5138-47.
- 338. Boccardo F, Guglielmini P, Bordonaro R, Fini A, Massidda B, Porpiglia M, et al. Switching to anastrozole versus continued tamoxifen treatment of early breast cancer: long term results of the Italian Tamoxifen Anastrozole trial. Eur J Cancer. 2013;49(7):1546-54.
- 339. Kaufmann M, Jonat W, Hilfrich J, Eidtmann H, Gademann G, Zuna I, et al. Improved overall survival in postmenopausal women with early breast cancer after anastrozole initiated after treatment with tamoxifen compared with continued tamoxifen: the ARNO 95 Study. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25(19):2664-70.
- 340. Bliss JM, Kilburn LS, Coleman RE, Forbes JF, Coates AS, Jones SE, et al. Diseaserelated outcomes with long-term follow-up: an updated analysis of the intergroup exemestane study. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(7):709-17.
- 341. Jassem J, International Exemestane Study G. Intergroup Exemestane Study mature analysis: overall survival data. Anticancer Drugs. 2008;19 Suppl 1:S3-7.
- 342. Mieog JSD, Morden JP, Bliss JM, Coombes RC, van de Velde CJH, Committee IESS. Carpal tunnel syndrome and musculoskeletal symptoms in postmenopausal women with early breast cancer treated with exemestane or tamoxifen after 2-3 years of tamoxifen: a retrospective analysis of the Intergroup Exemestane Study. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13(4):420-32.
- 343. Coleman RE, Banks LM, Girgis SI, Vrdoljak E, Fox J, Cawthorn SJ, et al. Reversal of skeletal effects of endocrine treatments in the Intergroup Exemestane Study. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2010;124(1):153-61.
- 344. Bertelli G, Hall E, Ireland E, Snowdon CF, Jassem J, Drosik K, et al. Long-term endometrial effects in postmenopausal women with early breast cancer participating in the Intergroup Exemestane Study (IES) a randomised controlled trial of exemestane versus continued tamoxifen after 2-3 years tamoxifen. Ann Oncol. 2010;21(3):498-505.
- 345. Fallowfield LJ, Kilburn LS, Langridge C, Snowdon CF, Bliss JM, Coombes RC, et al. Long-term assessment of quality of life in the Intergroup Exemestane Study: 5 years post-randomisation. Br J Cancer. 2012;106(6):1062-7.
- 346. Aihara T, Takatsuka Y, Ohsumi S, Aogi K, Hozumi Y, Imoto S, et al. Phase III randomized adjuvant study of tamoxifen alone versus sequential tamoxifen and anastrozole in Japanese postmenopausal women with hormone-responsive breast cancer: N-SAS BC03 study. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2010;121(2):379-87.
- 347. Ohsumi S, Shimozuma K, Ohashi Y, Shinji M, Hozumi Y, Mukai H, et al. Health-related quality of life and psychological distress of breast cancer patients after surgery during

a phase III randomized trial comparing continuation of tamoxifen with switching to anastrozole after adjuvant tamoxifen for 1-4 years: N-SAS BC 03. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2011;127(1):143-52.

- 348. Iwata H, Ohsumi S, Aogi K, Hozumi Y, Imoto S, Mukai H, et al. Long-term follow-up data of the side effect profile of anastrozole compared with tamoxifen in Japanese women: Findings from N-SAS BC03 trial [abstract]. Cancer Res. 2012;72(24 Suppl 3):Abstract no. P2-13-07
- 349. Markopoulos C, Dafni U, Misitzis J, Zobolas V, Tzoracoleftherakis E, Koukouras D, et al. Extended adjuvant hormonal therapy with exemestane has no detrimental effect on the lipid profile of postmenopausal breast cancer patients: final results of the ATENA lipid substudy. Breast Cancer Res. 2009;11(3):R35.
- 350. Markopoulos C, Chrissochou M, Michailidou A, Tzoracoleftherakis E, Xepapadakis G, Papadiamantis J, et al. Effect of exemestane on the lipidemic profile of postmenopausal operable breast cancer patients following 5-7 years of adjuvant tamoxifen: preliminary results of the ATENA substudy. Anticancer Drugs. 2005;16(8):879-83.
- 351. Jakesz R, Greil R, Gnant M, Schmid M, Kwasny W, Kubista E, et al. Extended adjuvant therapy with anastrozole among postmenopausal breast cancer patients: results from the randomized Austrian Breast and Colorectal Cancer Study Group Trial 6a. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2007;99(24):1845-53.
- 352. Mamounas EP, Jeong J-H, Wickerham DL, Smith RE, Ganz PA, Land SR, et al. Benefit from exemestane as extended adjuvant therapy after 5 years of adjuvant tamoxifen: intention-to-treat analysis of the National Surgical Adjuvant Breast And Bowel Project B-33 trial. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(12):1965-71.
- 353. Burstein HJ, Prestrud AA, Seidenfeld J, Anderson H, Buchholz TA, Davidson NE, et al. American Society of Clinical Oncology clinical practice guideline: update on adjuvant endocrine therapy for women with hormone receptor-positive breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(23):3784-96.
- 354. Alberta Provincial Breast Tumour Team. Aromatase inhibitors as adjuvant therapy in postmenopausal women with early-stage hormone receptor positive breast cancer [Internet]. Calgary (AB): Alberta Health Services; 2011 [issued 2006 Aug; revised 2011 Jun; cited 2012 May 24]. Clinical Practice Guideline BR-003.;
- 355. Ortmann O, Pagani O, Jones A, Maass N, Noss D, Rugo H, et al. Which factors should be taken into account in perimenopausal women with early breast cancer who may become eligible for an aromatase inhibitor? Recommendations of an expert panel. Cancer Treat Rev. 2011;37(2):97-104.
- 356. Helwick C. Exemestane and anastrozole comparable in MA.27 final analysis. 2011 Jan 15 [cited 2012 May 28]. The ASCO Post. 2011;2(2):[Conference report of abstract "Final analysis of NCIC CTG MA.27: A randomized phase III trial of exemestane versus anastrozole in postmenopausal women with hormone receptor positive primary breast cancer" presented at 33rd Annual San Antonio Breast Cancer Symposium San Antonio, Texas, 2010 Dec 9].
- 357. MEDNET, Medical Education Network. Aromatase inhibitors as upfront endocrine therapy in early breast cancer. 2010 Dec (or early 2011) [cited 2012 May 28] [Report of presentation by P Goss at the 33rd Annual San Antonio Breast Cancer Symposium, San Antonio, Texas, December 9-12, 2010]. Available from: <a href="http://www.mednet.ca/en/report/aromatase-inhibitors-as-upfront-endocrine-therap.html">http://www.mednet.ca/en/report/aromatase-inhibitors as upfront endocrine-therap.html</a>

- 358. Hershman DL, Cheung AM, Chapman JW, Ingle JN, Ahmed F, Hu H, et al. Effects of adjuvant exemestane versus anastrozole on bone mineral density: Two-year results of the NCIC CTG MA.27 bone companion study [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(15 May 20):Abstract no. 518.
- 359. Goss PE, Ingle JN, Pritchard KI, Ellis MJ, Sledge GW, Budd GT, et al. Exemestane versus anastrozole in postmenopausal women with early breast cancer: NCIC CTG MA.27--a randomized controlled phase III trial. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(11):1398-404. Epub: 2013 Jan 30.
- 360. Goss PE, Hershman DL, Cheung AM, Ingle JN, Khosla S, Stearns V, et al. Effects of adjuvant exemestane versus anastrozole on bone mineral density for women with early breast cancer (MA.27B): A companion analysis of a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15(4):474-82.
- 361. Monnier A. FACE: the barefaced facts of Al potency. Cancer Manag Res. 2010;2:267-76.
- 362. Kaura S, Dranitsaris G. Letrozole or anastrozole for the treatment of hormone positive breast cancer: A clinical comparison using indirect statistical techniques [abstract]. Ann Oncol. 2010;21(Suppl 8):viii81. Abstract no. 224P.
- 363. Rugo H, Kaura S, Dranitsaris G. Application of number needed to treat (NNT) to compare benefit: Letrozole or anastrozole for the prevention of early recurrences in post menopausal women with early stage breast cancer [abstract]. Ann Oncol. 2008;19 (Suppl 8):viii81. Abstract no. 195P.
- 364. Tjan-Heijnen VC, Smorenburg CH, De Graaf H, Erdkamp F, Honkoop A, Wals J, et al. Recovery of ovarian function in breast cancer patients with chemotherapy-induced amenorrhea receiving anastrozole in the Dutch DATA study [abstract]. Cancer Res. 2011;71(24 Suppl 3):Abstract no. PD04-2.
- 365. Colleoni M. The SOLE trial: International Breast Cancer Study Group (IBCSG 35-07) and Breast International Group (BIG 1-07) study of letrozole extension [abstract]. Cancer Res. 2011;71(24 Suppl 3):Abstract no. OT2-02-1.
- 366. Iwata H, Ohtani S, Fujisawa T, Taira N, Masuda N, Kashiwaba M, et al. N-SAS BC06: A phase III study of adjuvant endocrine therapy with or without chemotherapy for postmenopausal breast cancer patients who responded to neoadjuvant letrozole (LET): The New Primary Endocrine-Therapy Origination Study (NEOS) [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. TPS654.
- 367. Taira N, Iwata H, Hasegawa Y, Sakai T, Higaki K, Kihara K, et al. Health-related quality of life and psychological distress during neoadjuvant endocrine therapy with letrozole to determine endocrine responsiveness in postmenopausal breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2014;145(1):155-64.
- 368. Beatson G. On the treatment of inoperable cases of carcinoma of the mamma: Suggestions for a new method of treatment, with illustrative cases. Lancet. 1896;148(3803):162-5.
- 369. Beatson GT. Classics in oncology: On the treatment of inoperable cases of carcinoma of the mamma: suggestions for a new method of treatment, with illustrative cases. CA Cancer J Clin. 1983;33(2):108-21.
- 370. Walshe JM, Denduluri N, Swain SM. Amenorrhea in premenopausal women after adjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(36):5769-79.
- 371. Goel S, Sharma R, Hamilton A, Beith J. LHRH agonists for adjuvant therapy of early breast cancer in premenopausal women (Review). The Cochrane Collaboration. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2009(4):CD004562.

- 372. Baum M, Hackshaw A, Houghton J, Rutqvist, Fornander T, Nordenskjold B, et al. Adjuvant goserelin in pre-menopausal patients with early breast cancer: Results from the ZIPP study. Eur J Cancer. 2006;42(7):895-904.
- 373. Hackshaw A, Baum M, Fornander T, Nordenskjold B, Nicolucci A, Monson K, et al. Long-term effectiveness of adjuvant goserelin in premenopausal women with early breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2009;101(5):341-9 and supplementary data online.
- 374. Sverrisdottir A, Johansson H, Johansson U, Bergh J, Rotstein S, Rutqvist L, et al. Interaction between goserelin and tamoxifen in a prospective randomised clinical trial of adjuvant endocrine therapy in premenopausal breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2011;128(3):755-63.
- 375. Ejlertsen B, Mouridsen HT, Jensen MB, Bengtsson NO, Bergh J, Cold S, et al. Similar efficacy for ovarian ablation compared with cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, and fluorouracil: from a randomized comparison of premenopausal patients with node-positive, hormone receptor-positive breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(31):4956-62.
- 376. Ejlertsen B, Jensen M-B, Mouridsen HT, Andersen J, Cold S, Jakobsen E, et al. DBCG trial 89B comparing adjuvant CMF and ovarian ablation: similar outcome for eligible but non-enrolled and randomized breast cancer patients. Acta Oncol. 2008;47(4):709-17.
- 377. Scottish Cancer Trials Breast Group and ICRF Breast Unit. Adjuvant ovarian ablation versus CMF chemotherapy in premenopausal women with pathological stage II breast carcinoma: the Scottish trial. Scottish Cancer Trials Breast Group and ICRF Breast Unit, Guy's Hospital, London. Lancet. 1993;341(8856):1293-8.
- 378. Thomson CS, Twelves CJ, Mallon EA, Leake RE, Scottish Cancer Trials Breast G, Scottish Cancer Therapy N. Adjuvant ovarian ablation vs CMF chemotherapy in premenopausal breast cancer patients: trial update and impact of immunohistochemical assessment of ER status. Breast (Edinburgh, Scotland). 2002;11(5):419-29.
- 379. Salvadori B, Celio L, Oriana R, Bajetta E. Adjuvant oophorectomy versus CMF in premenopausal node-positive breast cancer: long-term results of an experience at the Milan Cancer Institute. Tumori. 2000;86(3):258-9.
- 380. Kaufmann M, Jonat W, Blamey R, Cuzick J, Namer M, Fogelman I, et al. Survival analyses from the ZEBRA study. goserelin (Zoladex) versus CMF in premenopausal women with node-positive breast cancer. Eur J Cancer. 2003;39(12):1711-7.
- 381. von Minckwitz G, Graf E, Geberth M, Eiermann W, Jonat W, Conrad B, et al. CMF versus goserelin as adjuvant therapy for node-negative, hormone-receptor-positive breast cancer in premenopausal patients: a randomised trial (GABG trial IV-A-93). Eur J Cancer. 2006;42(12):1780-8.
- 382. Schmid P, Untch M, Wallwiener D, Kosse V, Bondar G, Vassiljev L, et al. Cyclophosphamide, methotrexate and fluorouracil (CMF) versus hormonal ablation with leuprorelin acetate as adjuvant treatment of node-positive, premenopausal breast cancer patients: preliminary results of the TABLE-study (Takeda Adjuvant Breast cancer study with Leuprorelin Acetate). Anticancer Res. 2002;22(4):2325-32.
- 383. Schmid P, Untch M, Kosse V, Bondar G, Vassiljev L, Tarutinov V, et al. Leuprorelin acetate every-3-months depot versus cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, and fluorouracil as adjuvant treatment in premenopausal patients with node-positive breast cancer: the TABLE study. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25(18):2509-15.

- 384. Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group. Effects of radiotherapy and of differences in the extent of surgery for early breast cancer on local recurrence and 15-year survival: an overview of the randomised trials. Lancet. 2005;366(9503):2087-106.
- 385. Falkson CI, Jooste R, Falkson HC, Falkson G, Rens D, van Aarde R, et al. Cyclophosphamide, methotrexate and fluorouracil (CMF) plus or minus depo-buserelin in premenopausal women with lymph node positive breast cancer [abstract]. Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol 2001;20:Abstract no. 1777.
- 386. Arriagada R, Le MG, Spielmann M, Mauriac L, Bonneterre J, Namer M, et al. Randomized trial of adjuvant ovarian suppression in 926 premenopausal patients with early breast cancer treated with adjuvant chemotherapy. Ann Oncol. 2005;16(3):389-96.
- 387. Davidson NE, O'Neill AM, Vukov AM, Osborne CK, Martino S, White DR, et al. Chemoendocrine therapy for premenopausal women with axillary lymph node-positive, steroid hormone receptor-positive breast cancer: results from INT 0101 (E5188). J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(25):5973-82.
- 388. Kaufmann M, Graf E, Jonat W, Eiermann W, Vescia S, Geberth M, et al. A randomised trial of goserelin versus control after adjuvant, risk-adapted chemotherapy in premenopausal patients with primary breast cancer GABG-IV B-93. Eur J Cancer. 2007;43(16):2351-8.
- 389. Mitsuyama S, Nomura Y, Ohno S, Miyauchi M, Yamamoto N, Kimura T, et al. [Assessment of goserelin treatment in adjuvant therapy for premenopausal patients with breast cancer in Japan-zoladex breast cancer study group trial-B]. Gan to Kagaku Ryoho. 2005;32(13):2071-7.
- 390. Soreide JA, Varhaug JE, Fjosne HE, Erikstein B, Jacobsen AB, Skovlund E, et al. Adjuvant endocrine treatment (goserelin vs tamoxifen) in pre-menopausal patients with operable node positive stage II breast cancer. A prospective randomized national multicenter study. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2002;28(5):505-10.
- 391. Love RR, Duc NB, Allred DC, Binh NC, Dinh NV, Kha NN, et al. Oophorectomy and tamoxifen adjuvant therapy in premenopausal Vietnamese and Chinese women with operable breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2002;20(10):2559-66.
- 392. Love RR, Van Dinh N, Quy TT, Linh ND, Tung ND, Shen T-Z, et al. Survival after adjuvant oophorectomy and tamoxifen in operable breast cancer in premenopausal women. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(2):253-7.
- 393. Robert N, Wang D, Cella S, Martino D, Tripathy D, Ingle J, et al. Phase III comparison of tamoxifen versus tamoxifen with ovarian ablation in premenopausal women with axillary node-negative receptor-positive breast cancer [abstract]. Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2003;22(5):A16.
- 394. Robert N, Wang D, Cella S, Martino D, Tripathy D, Ingle J, et al. Phase III comparison of tamoxifen vs tamoxifen with ovarian ablation in premenopausal women with axillary node negative, hormone receptor positive, breast cancer ≤3 cm (INT 0142) [abstract 16]. 39th ASCO Annual Meeting, Chicago (IL), 2003 May 31-Jun 3; [cited 2012 Oct 1].
- 395. Adjuvant Breast Cancer Trials Collaborative Group. Ovarian ablation or suppression in premenopausal early breast cancer: Results from the International Adjuvant Breast Cancer Ovarian Ablation or Suppression Randomized Trial. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2007;99(7):516-25.
- 396. Gnant M, Greil R, Kubista E, Menzel C, Schippinger W, Seifert M, et al. The impact of treatment-induced amenorrhea on survival of premenopausal patients with endocrine-

responsive breast cancer: 10-year results of ABCSG-05 (CMF vs. goserelin+tamoxifen) [abstract]. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2006;100(Suppl 1 Dec 2006):S10 Abstract 7.

- 397. Jakesz R, Hausmaninger H, Kubista E, Gnant M, Menzel C, Bauernhofer T, et al. Randomized adjuvant trial of tamoxifen and goserelin versus cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, and fluorouracil: evidence for the superiority of treatment with endocrine blockade in premenopausal patients with hormone-responsive breast cancer--Austrian Breast and Colorectal Cancer Study Group Trial 5. J Clin Oncol. 2002;20(24):4621-7.
- 398. Roche H, Kerbrat P, Bonneterre J, Fargeot P, Fumoleau P, Monnier A, et al. Complete hormonal blockade versus epirubicin-based chemotherapy in premenopausal, one to three node-positive, and hormone-receptor positive, early breast cancer patients: 7-year follow-up results of French Adjuvant Study Group 06 randomised trial. Ann Oncol. 2006;17(8):1221-7.
- 399. Boccardo F, Rubagotti A, Amoroso D, Mesiti M, Romeo D, Sismondi P, et al. Cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, and fluorouracil versus tamoxifen plus ovarian suppression as adjuvant treatment of estrogen receptor-positive pre-/perimenopausal breast cancer patients: Results of the Italian Breast Cancer Adjuvant Study Group 02 randomized trial. J Clin Oncol. 2000;18(14):2718-27.
- 400. Nomura Y, Tashiro H, Hisamatsu K, Shinozuka K. A randomized trial of adjuvant endocrine therapy, chemotherapy, and chemoendocrine therapy for operable breast cancer stratified by estrogen receptors. Cancer. 1988;61(11):2168-75.
- 401. Nomura Y, Shirouzu M, Takayama T. Direct comparisons of adjuvant endocrine therapy, chemotherapy, and chemoendocrine therapy for operable breast cancer patients stratified by estrogen receptor and menopausal status. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 1998;49(1):51-60.
- 402. Roche H, Mihura J, de Lafontan B, Reme-Saumon M, Martel P, Dubois J, et al. Castration and tamoxifen vs chemotherapy (FAC) for premenopausal, node and receptors positive breast cancer patients: a randomized trial with a 7 years follow-up [abstract]. Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol. 1996;15(117):A134.
- 403. De Placido S, De Laurentiis M, De Lena M, Lorusso V, Paradiso A, D'Aprile M, et al. A randomised factorial trial of sequential doxorubicin and CMF vs CMF and chemotherapy alone vs chemotherapy followed by goserelin plus tamoxifen as adjuvant treatment of node-positive breast cancer. Br J Cancer. 2005;92(3):467-74.
- 404. Thurlimann B, Price KN, Gelber RD, Holmberg SB, Crivellari D, Colleoni M, et al. Is chemotherapy necessary for premenopausal women with lower-risk node-positive, endocrine responsive breast cancer? 10-year update of International Breast Cancer Study Group Trial 11-93. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2009;113(1):137-44.
- 405. Gnant M, Mlineritsch B, Luschin-Ebengreuth G, Stoeger H, Dubsky P, Jakesz R, et al. Long-term follow-up in ABCSG-12: Significantly improved overall survival with adjuvant zoledronic acid in premenopausal patients with endocrine-receptor-positive early breast cancer [abstract]. Cancer Res. 2011;71(24 Suppl):95s-6s. Abstract no. S1-2.
- 406. Gnant M, Mlineritsch B, Luschin-Ebengreuth G, Stoeger H, Dubsky P, Jakesz R, et al. Overall survival with adjuvant zoledronic acid in premenopausal breast cancer patients with complete endocrine blockade: Long-term results from ABCSG-12. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. 520.
- 407. Kaufman M. SABCS: Mixed findings fail to clarify role of bisphosphonates. 2011 Dec 12 [cited 2012 Sep 7]. CancerNetwork: Home of the Journal Oncology [serial on the

Internet]. Available http://www.cancernetwork.com/print/article/10165/2004594

- 408. Masuda N, Iwata H, Rai Y, Anan K, Takeuchi T, Kohno N, et al. Monthly versus 3monthly goserelin acetate treatment in pre-menopausal patients with estrogen receptor-positive early breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2011;126(2):443-51.
- 409. Paridaens RJ, Gelber S, Cole BF, Gelber RD, Thurlimann B, Price KN, et al. Adjuvant! Online estimation of chemotherapy effectiveness when added to ovarian function suppression plus tamoxifen for premenopausal women with estrogen-receptor-positive breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2010;123(1):303-10.
- 410. Gonzalez-Angulo AM, Barlow WE, Gralow J, Meric-Bernstam F, Hayes DF, Moinpour C, et al. SWOG S1007: A phase III, randomized clinical trial of standard adjuvant endocrine therapy with or without chemotherapy in patients with one to three positive nodes, hormone receptor (HR)-positive, and HER2-negative breast cancer with recurrence score (RS) of 25 or less [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(15 Suppl):Abstract no. TPS104.
- 411. Bartlett J, Canney P, Campbell A, Cameron D, Donovan J, Dunn J, et al. Selecting breast cancer patients for chemotherapy: the opening of the UK OPTIMA trial. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 2013;25(2):109-16.
- 412. Bachelot TD, Chabaud S, Martin AL, Lemonnier J, Campone M, Andre F. UNIRAD: Multicenter, double-blind, phase III study of everolimus plus ongoing adjuvant therapy in ER+, HER2-breast cancer [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. TP S653.
- 413. Chavez-Mac GM, Barlow WE, Gonzalez-Angulo AM, Rastogi P, Mamounas EP, Ganz PA, et al. A phase III randomized, placebo-controlled clinical trial evaluating the use of adjuvant endocrine therapy +/-one year of everolimus in patients with high-risk, hormone receptor-(HR) positive and HER2-negative breast cancer: SWOG/NSABP s1207 [abstract]. Cancer Res. 2012;72(24 Suppl 3):Abstract no. OT2--04.
- 414. Chavez-MacGregor M, Barlow WE, Gonzalez-Angulo AM, Rastogi P, Mamounas EP, Ganz PA, et al. Phase III randomized, placebo-controlled clinical trial evaluating the use of adjuvant endocrine therapy with or without one year of everolimus in patients with high-risk, hormone receptor-(HR) positive and HER2-neu-negative breast cancer: SWOG/NSABP S1207 [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract TP S657.
- 415. Nofech-Mozes S, Vella E, Dhesy-Thind S, Hanna W. Guideline on hormone receptor testing in breast cancer [Internet]. Toronto (ON): Cancer Care Ontario; 2011 Apr 8. [cited 2012 Oct 5]. Program in Evidence-Based Care Evidence-Based Series No.: 22-1. Available from: <u>https://www.cancercareontario.ca/en/guidelines-advice/types-of-cancer/541</u>
- 416. Nofech-Mozes S, Vella ET, Dhesy-Thind S, Hagerty KL, Mangu PB, Temin S, et al. Systematic review on hormone receptor testing in breast cancer. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol. 2012;20(3):214-63. Epub: 2012 Apr 17.
- 417. Nofech-Mozes S, Vella ET, Dhesy-Thind S, Hanna WM. Cancer Care Ontario guideline recommendations for hormone receptor testing in breast cancer. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) [serial on the Internet]. 2012 Vol 24: 684-96. Epub 2012 May 23. Available from: <a href="http://ac.els-cdn.com/S0936655512001276/1-s2.0-S0936655512001276-main.pdf?\_tid=f352e116-0efc-11e2-a2ff-00000aacb35d&acdnat=1349449215\_1d2d014ed38ac303986f2339d04a3b49">http://ac.els-cdn.com/S0936655512001276/1-s2.0-S0936655512001276-main.pdf?\_tid=f352e116-0efc-11e2-a2ff-00000aacb35d&acdnat=1349449215\_1d2d014ed38ac303986f2339d04a3b49</a>

from:

- 418. Zhang N, Moran MS, Huo Q, Haffty BG, Yang Q. The hormonal receptor status in breast cancer can be altered by neoadjuvant chemotherapy: a meta-analysis. Cancer Invest. 2011;29(9):594-8.
- 419. Van de Ven S, Smit VTHBM, Dekker TJA, Nortier JWR, Kroep JR. Discordances in ER, PR and HER2 receptors after neoadjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer. Cancer Treat Rev. 2011;37(6):422-30.
- 420. Lindstrom LS, Karlsson E, Wilking UM, Johansson U, Hartman J, Lidbrink EK, et al. Clinically used breast cancer markers such as estrogen receptor, progesterone receptor, and human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 are unstable throughout tumor progression. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(21):2601-8. Epub: 2012 Jun 20.
- 421. National Breast Cancer Centre, Olver I, Chirgwin J, Nowak A, Pendelebury S, Spillane A, et al. Recommendations for use of trastuzumab (Herceptin) for the treatment of HER2-positive breast cancer. Incorporates published evidence to November 2006 [Internet]. Camperdown (NSW, Australia): National Breast Cancer Centre (NBCC; now part Cancer Australia); 2007 Mar [cited 2012 May 24].
- 422. Yin W, Jiang Y, Shen Z, Shao Z, Lu J. Trastuzumab in the adjuvant treatment of HER2positive early breast cancer patients: a meta-analysis of published randomized controlled trials. PLoS ONE. 2011;6(6):e21030.
- 423. Valachis A, Mauri D, Polyzos NP, Chlouverakis G, Mavroudis D, Georgoulias V. Trastuzumab combined to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in patients with HER2-positive breast cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Breast (Edinburgh, Scotland). 2011;20(6):485-90.
- 424. Petrelli F, Borgonovo K, Cabiddu M, Ghilardi M, Barni S. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy and concomitant trastuzumab in breast cancer: a pooled analysis of two randomized trials. Anticancer Drugs. 2011;22(2):128-35.
- 425. Chang HR. Trastuzumab-based neoadjuvant therapy in patients with HER2-positive breast cancer. Cancer. 2010;116(12):2856-67.
- 426. Madarnas Y, Trudeau M, Franek JA, McCready D, Pritchard KI, Messersmith H. Adjuvant/neoadjuvant trastuzumab therapy in women with HER-2/neu-overexpressing breast cancer: a systematic review. Cancer Treat Rev. 2008;34(6):539-57.
- 427. Dent S, Oyan B, Honig A, Mano M, Howell S. HER2-targeted therapy in breast cancer: a systematic review of neoadjuvant trials. Cancer Treat Rev. 2013;39(6):622-31. Epub: 2013/02/26.
- 428. Buzdar AU, Valero V, Ibrahim NK, Francis D, Broglio KR, Theriault RL, et al. Neoadjuvant therapy with paclitaxel followed by 5-fluorouracil, epirubicin, and cyclophosphamide chemotherapy and concurrent trastuzumab in human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-positive operable breast cancer: an update of the initial randomized study population and data of additional patients treated with the same regimen. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13(1):228-33.
- 429. Chen T, Xu T, Li Y, Liang C, Chen J, Lu Y, et al. Risk of cardiac dysfunction with trastuzumab in breast cancer patients: a meta-analysis. Cancer Treat Rev. 2011;37(4):312-20.
- 430. Costa RB, Kurra G, Greenberg L, Geyer CE. Efficacy and cardiac safety of adjuvant trastuzumab-based chemotherapy regimens for HER2-positive early breast cancer. Ann Oncol. 2010;21(11):2153-60.
- 431. Baselga J, Bradbury I, Eidtmann H, Di Cosimo S, de Azambuja E, Aura C, et al. Lapatinib with trastuzumab for HER2-positive early breast cancer (NeoALTTO): a

randomised, open-label, multicentre, phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2012;379(9816):633-40. [Erratum in: Lancet. 2012 Feb 18;379(9816):616].

- 432. Azim Jr HA, Agbor-Tarh D, Bradbury I, Dinh P, Baselga J, Di Cosimo S, et al. Pattern of rash, diarrhea, and hepatic toxicities secondary to lapatinib and their association with age and response to neoadjuvant therapy: analysis from the NeoALTTO trial. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(36):4504-11.
- 433. Buzdar AU, Suman VJ, Meric-Bernstam F, Leitch AM, Ellis MJ, Boughey JC, et al. Fluorouracil, epirubicin, and cyclophosphamide (FEC-75) followed by paclitaxel plus trastuzumab versus paclitaxel plus trastuzumab followed by FEC-75 plus trastuzumab as neoadjuvant treatment for patients with HER2-positive breast cancer (Z1041): a randomised, controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2013;14(13):1317-25. Epub: 2013 Nov 19.
- 434. Buzdar A, Suman V, Meric-Bernstam F, Boughey JC, Leitch AM, Unzeitig GW, et al. Preliminary safety data of a randomized phase III trial comparing a preoperative regimen of FEC-75 alone followed by paclitaxel plus trastuzumab with a regimen of paclitaxel plus trastuzumab followed by FEC-75 plus trastuzumab in patients with HER2-positive operable breast cancer (ACOSOG Z1041) [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. 594.
- 435. Untch M, Loibl S, Bischoff J, Eidtmann H, Kaufmann M, Blohmer JU, et al. Lapatinib versus trastuzumab in combination with neoadjuvant anthracycline-taxane-based chemotherapy (GeparQuinto, GBG 44): A randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13(2):135-44.
- 436. von Minckwitz G, Eidtmann H, Loibl S, Blohmer JU, Costa SD, Fasching PA, et al. Integrating bevacizumab, everolimus, and lapatinib into current neoadjuvant chemotherapy regimen for primary breast cancer. Safety results of the GeparQuinto trial. Ann Oncol. 2011;22(2):301-6.
- 437. Gianni L, Pienkowski T, Im Y-H, Roman L, Tseng L-M, Liu M-C, et al. Efficacy and safety of neoadjuvant pertuzumab and trastuzumab in women with locally advanced, inflammatory, or early HER2-positive breast cancer (NeoSphere): a randomised multicentre, open-label, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13(1):25-32.
- 438. Masuda N, Toi M, Ueno T, Aogi K, Iwata H, Ohno S, et al. A multicenter, randomized phase II study of neoadjuvant chemotherapy including trastuzumab with cyclophosphamide with docetaxel in patients with operable HER2-positive breast cancer (JBCRG-10 study) [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. TPS105.
- 439. Masuda N, Sato N, Higaki K, Kashiwaba M, Matsunami N, Takano T, et al. A prospective multicenter randomized phase II neo-adjuvant study of 5-fluorouracil, epirubicin and cyclophosphamide (FEC) followed by docetaxel, cyclophosphamide and trastuzumab (TCH) versus TCH followed by FEC versus TCH alone, in patients (pts) with operable HER2 positive breast cancer: JBCRG-10 study. [abstract]. Cancer Res. 2012;72(24 Suppl 3):Abstract no. P1-14-08.
- 440. Pauporte I, Faure C, Pivot X. How to strengthen the French breast cancer clinical research: The example of the PHARE trial. [French]. Impulser la recherche clinique francaise dans le cancer du sein: l'exemple de l'essai PHARE. Oncologie. 2009;11(6):348-52.
- 441. Earl H, Cameron D, Miles D, Wardley A, Ogburn E, Vallier AL, et al. PERSEPHONE is a randomised phase III controlled trial comparing six months of trastuzumab to the

standard 12 months in patients with HER2 positive early breast cancer [abstract]. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2014;40(5):619. Abstract no. P033.

- 442. Gianni L, Dafni U, Gelber RD, Azambuja E, Muehlbauer S, Goldhirsch A, et al. Treatment with trastuzumab for 1 year after adjuvant chemotherapy in patients with HER2-positive early breast cancer: a 4-year follow-up of a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol. 2011;12(3):236-44.
- 443. Smith I, Procter M, Gelber RD, Guillaume S, Feyereislova A, Dowsett M, et al. 2-year follow-up of trastuzumab after adjuvant chemotherapy in HER2-positive breast cancer: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2007;369(9555):29-36.
- 444. Goldhirsch A, Gelber RD, Piccart-Gebhart MJ, De Azambuja E, Procter M, Suter TM, et al. 2 years versus 1 year of adjuvant trastuzumab for HER2-positive breast cancer (HERA): An open-label, randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2013;382(9897):1021-8.
- 445. de Azambuja E, Procter MJ, van Veldhuisen DJ, Agbor-Tarh D, Metzger-Filho O, Steinseifer J, et al. Trastuzumab-associated cardiac events at 8 years of median follow-up in the Herceptin Adjuvant Trial (BIG 1-01). J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(20):2159-65. Epub: 2014 Jun 9.
- 446. Pestalozzi BC, Holmes E, de Azambuja E, Metzger-Filho O, Hogge L, Scullion M, et al. CNS relapses in patients with HER2-positive early breast cancer who have and have not received adjuvant trastuzumab: A retrospective substudy of the HERA trial (BIG 1-01). Lancet Oncol. 2013;14(3):244-8.
- 447. Goss PE, Smith IE, O'Shaughnessy J, Ejlertsen B, Kaufmann M, Boyle F, et al. Adjuvant lapatinib for women with early-stage HER2-positive breast cancer: A randomised, controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2013;14(1):88-96.
- 448. Guerra YC, Chan A, Finkelstein DM, Chan VF, Harvey VJ, Lee KS, et al. Lack of efficacy of adjuvant lapatinib in HER2-negative breast cancer (HER2-ve BC): Analysis of patients in the TEACH trial [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. 628.
- 449. Smith IE, Finkelstein DM, O'Shaughnessy J, Moy B, Ejlertsen B, Kaufmann M, et al. Adjuvant lapatinib in women with early-stage HER2-positive breast cancer (HER2+ BC): Analysis of the hormone receptor-negative subgroup of the intent-to-treat (ITT) population of the TEACH trial [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. 596.
- 450. Piccart-Gebhart MJ, Holmes AP, Baselga J, De Azambuja E, Dueck AC, Viale G, et al. First results from the phase III ALTTO trial (BIG 2-06; NCCTG [Alliance] N063D) comparing one year of anti-HER2 therapy with lapatinib alone (L), trastuzumab alone (T), their sequence (T->L), or their combination (T+L) in the adjuvant treatment of HER2-positive early breast cancer (EBC) [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(18 Suppl Jun 20):Abstract no. LBA4.
- 451. Dueck AC, Hillman DW, Kottschade LA, Halyard MY, Sloan JA, Flickinger LM, et al. Quality of life (QOL) among patients (pts) with HER2+ breast cancer (bc) treated with adjuvant lapatinib and/or trastuzumab in the ALTTO study (BIG 2-06, Alliance N063D) [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. 647.
- 452. Romond EH, Jeong JH, Rastogi P, Swain SM, Geyer Jr CE, Ewer MS, et al. Seven-year follow-up assessment of cardiac function in NSABP B-31, a randomized trial comparing doxorubicin and cyclophosphamide followed by paclitaxel (ACP) with ACP plus trastuzumab as adjuvant therapy for patients with node-positive, human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-positive breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(31):3792-9.

- 453. Au HJ, Eiermann W, Robert NJ, Pienkowski T, Crown J, Martin M, et al. Health-related quality of life with adjuvant docetaxel- and trastuzumab-based regimens in patients with node-positive and high-risk node-negative, her2-positive early breast cancer: Results from the BCIRG 006 study. Oncologist. 2013;18(7):812-8.
- 454. Spielmann M, Roche H, Delozier T, Canon J-L, Romieu G, Bourgeois H, et al. Trastuzumab for patients with axillary-node-positive breast cancer: results of the FNCLCC-PACS 04 trial. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(36):6129-34.
- 455. Fehrenbacher L, Jeong JH, Rastogi P, Geyer CE, Paik S, Ganz PA, et al. NSABP B-47: A randomized phase III trial of adjuvant therapy comparing chemotherapy alone to chemotherapy plus trastuzumab in women with node-positive or high-risk node-negative HER2-low invasive breast cancer [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. TPS1139.
- 456. Goss PE, Barrios CH, Chan A, Chia SKL, Delaloge S, Ejlertsen B, et al. A phase III trial of adjuvant neratinib (NER) after trastuzumab (TRAS) in women with early-stage HER2+ breast cancer (BC) [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(15 Suppl):Abstract no. TPS137.
- 457. Von Minckwitz G, Baselga J, Bradbury I, Del Azambuja E, Scullion MJ, Ross G, et al. Adjuvant pertuzumab and herceptin in initial therapy of breast cancer: APHINITY (BIG 4-11/B025126/T0C4939g) [abstract]. Cancer Res. 2011;71(24 Suppl 3):Abstract no. OT1-02-4.
- 458. Breast International Group (BIG). The APHINITY trial has reached its recruitment target ahead of schedule! [Internet]. Brussels (Belgium): Breast International Group; 2014 [cited 2014 Jul 16]. Available from: http://www.bigagainstbreastcancer.org/news/aphinity-trial-has-reached-its-recruitment-target-ahead-schedule/
- 459. De Laurentiis M, Criscitiello C, Giordano A, Giuliano M, Lauria R, Forestieri V, et al. HER2 status and efficay of taxane-based adjuvant therapy of early breast cancer (EBC): A metanalysis of randomized trials involving 7,831 patients [abstract]. Cancer Res. 2009;69(2 Suppl 1):Abstract no. 707.
- 460. The ADAPTE Collaboration. The ADAPTE process: Resource toolkit for guideline adaptation. Version 2.0 [cited 2013 Apr 9]. Available from: <u>www.g-i-n.net/</u>
- 461. Mook S, Schmidt MK, Rutgers EJ, van de Velde AO, Visser O, Rutgers SM, et al. Calibration and discriminatory accuracy of prognosis calculation for breast cancer with the online Adjuvant! program: a hospital-based retrospective cohort study. Lancet Oncol. 2009;10(11):1070-6.
- 462. Giuliano AE, McCall LM, Beitsch PD, Whitworth PW, Morrow M, Blumencranz PW, et al. ACOSOG Z0011: A randomized trial of axillary node dissection in women with clinical T1-2 N0 M0 breast cancer who have a positive sentinel node [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(18 Suppl June 20):Abstract no. CRA506.
- 463. Sawyer MB, Damaraju S, Pituskin E, Damaraju V, Scarfe AG, Bies RB, et al. Uridine glucuronosyltransferase 2B7 pharmacogenetics predicts epirubicin clearance and myelosuppression [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. 2504.
- 464. Parmar S, Stingl JC, Huber-Wechselberger A, Kainz A, Renner W, Langsenlehner U, et al. Impact of UGT2B7 His268Tyr polymorphism on the outcome of adjuvant epirubicin treatment in breast cancer. 2011 Jun 9 [cited 2014 May 27]. Breast Cancer Res [serial on the Internet]. 13(R57), 8 pages. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3218946/pdf/bcr2894.pdf

- 465. Cancer Australia, Pavlakis N, Barry P, Bassanelli D, Boyle S, Drummond R, et al. Bisphosphonates in early breast cancer: A systematic literature review [Internet]. Surry Hills (NSW): Cancer Australia; 2011 [cited 2012 Nov 1]. Available from: www.canceraustralia.gov.au http://canceraustralia.gov.au/sites/all/modules/contrib/pubdlcnt/pubdlcnt.php?file= http://canceraustralia.gov.au/sites/default/files/publications/biselrbisphosphonates-in-early-breat-cancer-a-systematic-literaturereview\_504af02ce6cca.pdf&nid=2902
- 466. Davies C, Godwin J, Peto R, Arriagada R. ATLAS (Adjuvant Tamoxifen, Longer Against Shorter): 10 Versus 5 years of adjuvant tamoxifen Initial results from an international randomised trial among 11,607 women with early breast cancer [abstract]. Radiother Oncol. 2010;96:S102. Abstract no. 268.
- 467. CTSU. ATLAS: Adjuvant Tamoxifen Longer Against Shorter [Internet]. Oxford (UK): Clinical Trial Service Unit (CTSU) Newsletter 13, November 2010. [cited 2012 Sep 25]. Available from: <u>http://www.ctsu.ox.ac.uk/research/mega-trials/atlas/atlas/website</u>
- 468. Gray RG, Rea DW, Handley K, Marshall A, Pritchard MG, Perry P, et al. aTTom (Adjuvant Tamoxifen--To Offer More?): Randomized trial of 10 versus 5 years of adjuvant tamoxifen among 6,934 women with estrogen receptor-positive (ER+) or ER untested breast cancer--Preliminary results [abstract]. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(15 Suppl May 20):Abstract no. 513.
- 469. Holli K, Valavaara R, Blanco G, Kataja V, Hietanen P, Flander M, et al. Safety and efficacy results of a randomized trial comparing adjuvant toremifene and tamoxifen in postmenopausal patients with node-positive breast cancer. Finnish Breast Cancer Group. J Clin Oncol. 2000;18(20):3487-94.
- 470. International Breast Cancer Study Group, Pagani O, Gelber S, Price K, Zahrieh D, Gelber R, et al. Toremifene and tamoxifen are equally effective for early-stage breast cancer: first results of International Breast Cancer Study Group Trials 12-93 and 14-93. Ann Oncol. 2004;15(12):1749-59.
- 471. Gianni L, Gelber S, Ravaioli A, Price KN, Panzini I, Fantini M, et al. Second non-breast primary cancer following adjuvant therapy for early breast cancer: a report from the International Breast Cancer Study Group. Eur J Cancer. 2009;45(4):561-71.
- 472. Hale DF, Perez S, Sears AK, Clifton GT, Vreeland TJ, Holmes JP, et al. An update of a phase II trial of the HER2 peptide AE37 vaccine in breast cancer patients to prevent recurrence. Poster available at <a href="http://www.abstracts2view.com/sabcs11/viewp.php?nu=P1-13-01">http://www.abstracts2view.com/sabcs11/viewp.php?nu=P1-13-01</a> [viewed July 14, 2014]. Cancer Res. 2011;71(24 Suppl).
- 473. Hale DF, Vreeland TJ, Dabney RS, Clifton GT, Sears AK, Pappou E, et al. Immune response assessment in a phase II trial of AE37 HER2 peptide vaccine. Cancer Res. 2012;72(8 Suppl).

<u>Participant</u>	Hospital/region	Conflicts declared
Working Group, Conter	nt Experts (Medical Oncologists)	
Maureen Trudeau	Odette Cancer Centre (Sunnybrook), Toronto	Responsibility as Head of Medical Oncology for donations from Roche and Amgen to the cancer program and fellowship funding from Eisai, Roche, Novartis, and Amgen; grants or research support from Astellas, Medivation, and Novartis.
Andrea Eisen	Odette Cancer Centre (Sunnybrook), Toronto	Grant from Genomic Health for a pending research study; NCIC principal investigator for the OlympiA trial
Sonal Gandhi	Odette Cancer Centre (Sunnybrook), Toronto	Consulting fees as an advisory board participant and speaker at education rounds for Novartis
Susan Dent	The Ottawa Hospital Cancer Centre, Ottawa	Principal investigator for the Aphinity trial; speaking honorarium from Hoffman La Roche, Amgen, and Novartis; travel support from Celgene and Roche; and unrestricted educational grants from Roche, Pfizer, GSK, Amgen
Mihaela Mates*	Cancer Centre of South-Eastern Ontario, Kinston General, Kingston	None
Orit Freedman	Durham Regional Cancer Centre, Oshawa	None
Working Group, Resea	rch Coordinator/Methodologist [did not	vote on consensus statements]
Glenn Fletcher	PEBC, McMaster University	none
Early Breast Cancer Sys	stemic Therapy Consensus Panel (Medica	al Oncologists)
Phil Bedard *	Princess Margaret Hospital, Toronto	Grants from GSK, Roche, Novartis, Bristol Myers Squibb (clinical trials, site PI)
Nadia Califaretti	Grand River Regional Cancer Centre, Kitchener	none
Bindi Dhesy	Juravinski Hospital and Cancer Centre, Hamilton	Local PI of foretinib, NCIC co-chair for MAC.15 study of Oncotype DX; travel grant from Novartis
Dorie-Anna Dueck*	Northwestern Ontario Regional Cancer Centre, Thunder Bay	none
Katherine Enright	Peel Regional Cancer Centre, Mississauga	none
Vivian Glenns	North York	PI/grants for Marianne trials (MA17R)
Caroline Hamm	Windsor Regional Cancer Centre	none

## Appendix A: Members of the Working Group and Early Breast Cancer Systemic Therapy Consensus Panel.

Yolanda Madarnas	Cancer Centre of Southeastern Ontario/Kingston General Hospital; Department of Oncology, Queen's University, Kingston, ON.	Consulting (Roche) for case-based educational module development; PI at her institution for several multicentre trials
Yasmin Rahim	Southlake Regional Cancer Centre, Newmarket	none
Sara Rask	Royal Victoria Hospital, Barrie	none
Andrew Robinson	Kingston General Hospital (Health Sciences North, Sudbury at date of meeting)	none
Silvana Spadafora	Algoma District Cancer Program, Sault Ste Marie	none
Shailendra Verma *	The Ottawa Hospital Regional Cancer Centre, Ottawa	none
Jawaid Younus	London Regional Cancer Centre	none

\*Unable to attend the consensus meeting. Dr Bedard attended part of the meeting but did not participate in the second vote following the discussion of the consensus statements.

## Additional Attendees at the Consensus Meeting (Nonvoting)

George Browman	Chair, Cancer Guidelines Action Group
Louise Zitzelsberger	Program Director, Cancer Guidelines Action Group
Hans Messersmith	Assistant Director, PEBC
Sofia Torres	Medical Oncology Fellow, Sunnybrook
Shikha Thakral	Pharmacy Student, Sunnybrook
Jenna Fong	Project Coordinator, Disease Pathway Management, Cancer Care Ontario
Yvonne Rohlehr	Administrative Assistant, Medical Oncology, Sunnybrook

# Appendix B: Statements/recommendations voted on by the Consensus Panel and results of the votes.

The initial vote was online and included 19 people. Except where indicated, the results refer to this vote. Revote refers to the second vote after discussion at the consensus conference and included 16 people. Wording was the same as for the initial vote except as noted (highlighted).

#### Patient Stratification

R1.	The following disease characteristics (histopathologic parameters) are considered relevant
when	making a decision regarding adjuvant systemic therapies for breast cancer:

	1 Strongly	2	3	4	5 Strongly	Consensus before to	Consensus
	Strongly disagree	2	L J	4	Strongly agree	meeting	at meeting
Lymph node status	0	0	0	1	18	Yes	
Revote	e 0	0	0	2	14		Yes
T stage	0	0	1	6	12	Yes	
Revote	e 0	0	0	5	11		Yes
Estrogen receptor (ER) status	0	0	0	3	16	Yes	
Revote	e 0	0	0	4	12		Yes
Progesterone receptor (PR) status	1	1	4	6	7	No	
Revot	e 0	0	2	11	2		Yes
HER2 receptor status	0	0	0	2	17	Yes	
Revot	e 0	0	0	2	14		Yes
Tumour grade	0	0	0	8	11	Yes	
Revote	e 0	0	0	7	9		Yes
Presence of tumour lymphovascular	0	0	2	11	6	Yes	
invasion (LVI) Revote	0	0	0	14	2		Yes
Ki-67 (where available)	0	3	9	6	1	No	
Revote	e 1	6	9	2	1		No
Molecular subtype (luminal A, B, basaloid,	0	1	10	7	1	No	
HER2 enriched, etc.) (where available)							
Revote	e 0	3	7	5	1		No

## R2. The following risk stratification tools may be used in determining patient candidacy for certain systemic therapies:

1 Strongly disagree	2	3	4	5 Strongly agree	Consensus before meeting	Consensus at meeting
0	0	1	10	8	Yes	
0	0	2	13	1		Yes
1	1	1	11	5	No	
0	0	2	13	1		Yes
0	0	7	2	0	No	N/A
	disagree 0 0 1 0 0 0	disagree           0         0           0         0           1         1           0         0           0         0	disagree         0         0         1           0         0         2         1         1         1           1         1         1         1         2         2           0         0         2         2         2         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         0         0         2         2         0         0         7         1<	disagree         0         0         1         10           0         0         0         2         13           1         1         1         11         11           0         0         2         13         13           0         0         7         2         13	disagree     agree       0     0     1     10     8       0     0     2     13     1       1     1     1     11     5       0     0     2     13     1       1     1     1     11     5       0     0     2     13     1       0     0     7     2     0	Strongly disagree         2         3         4         Strongly agree         before meeting           0         0         1         10         8         Yes           0         0         2         13         1            1         1         1         5         No           0         0         2         13         1           1         1         1         5         No           0         0         7         2         0         No

**Other:** treatment guidelines (1), Mammaprint (1), uPA/PAI-1 (1)

R3. The following patient factors should be considered in making adjuvant systemic therapy decisions:

	1 Strongly disagree	2	3	4	5 Strongly agree	Consensus before meeting
Age	0	1	0	11	7	Yes
Menopausal status	0	0	1	8	10	Yes
Medical comorbidities (including validated	0	0	0	10	9	Yes
tools used to measure health status)						
Other (please specify below	0	0	4	2	3	No

Other: Patient preference/wishes/values (4), Functional Status (1), patient safety (1)

#### Adjuvant Chemotherapy

R4. In those patients in whom chemotherapy would be tolerated and is accepted to the patient, adjuvant chemotherapy should be considered for patients with the following tumour characteristics:

	1				5	Consensus	Consensus
	Strongly	2	3	4	Strongly	before	at
	disagree			· · ·	agree	meeting	meeting
Lymph node positive: one or more lymph	0	0	0	7	12	Yes	
nodes with a macro-metastatic deposit (>2							
mm) Revote	0	0	0	9	7		Yes
ER negative tumours with T size >5mm	0	0	3	10	6	Yes	
Revote	0	0	0	10	5		Yes
HER2 positive tumours	0	0	0	4	14	Yes	
Revote	0	0	0	4	11		Yes
High-risk lymph node negative tumours	0	0	2	10	7	Yes	
with T size >5 mm and another high-risk							
feature (please see next question). Revote	0	0	0	9	5		Yes
Adjuvant Online 10-year risk of death from	1	1	2	9	6	No	
breast cancer >10% Revote	0	1	0	14	1		Yes
Adjuvant Online 10-year risk of death from	0	0	0	9	5	N/A	Yes
breast cancer >15%							
[statement added at consensus meeting]							

considered <u>ingi-risk reactives</u> (and thus considered candidates for chemotherapy).									
	1				5	Consensus	Consensus		
	Strongly	2	3	4	Strongly	before	at		
	disagree				agree	meeting	meeting		
Grade 3	0	2	0	10	7	Yes			
Revote	0	0	0	8	4		Yes		
Triple receptor negative	0	0	1	6	12	Yes			
Revote	0	0	0	4	11		Yes		
Lymphovascular invasion positive (LVI)	0	2	3	11	3	No			
Revote	0	0	0	14	2		Yes		
Intermediate or High Recurrence Score in	1	0	1	14	3	No			
the Oncotype DX tool, with an estimated									
distant relapse risk of 15% or more at 10									
years Revote	0	0	1	10	5		Yes		
HER2+	0	0	0	4	12	N/A	Yes		
[statement added at consensus meeting]									
Other (please specify below)	0	0	2	5	2	No	N/A		

## R5. When considering lymph node negative tumours with T>5mm, the following should be considered <u>High-risk features</u> (and thus considered candidates for chemotherapy):

Other: HER2 + (4), lymph node micromet (1), high recurrence score (1)

#### R6. Patients with the following disease characteristics may <u>NOT</u> need adjuvant chemotherapy:

	1 Strongly disagree	2	3	4	5 Strongly agree	Consensus before meeting	Consensus at meeting
T <5mm, lymph node negative and no	0	0	0	7	12	Yes	
other high-risk features as above. Revote	0	0	0	6	10		Yes
Lymph node positive with micromets only	0	_1	6	3	9	No	
(<2 mm), and no other high-risk feature as							
above. Revote	0	2	2	11	1		No

Comment: unless large primary, <40 year

## R7. In considering HER2 negative, strongly ER and PR (e.g., >90%) positive breast cancer with the following additional characteristics, adjuvant chemotherapy may NOT be required:

	1 Strongly disagree	2	3	4	5 Strongly agree	Consensus before meeting	Consensus at meeting
Lymph node positive with micromets (<2	0	1	5	9	4	No	
mm) only. Revote	0	2	0	12	2		Yes
Lymph node positive with macromets (>2	0	9	4	5	1	No	
mm), but only 1-3 nodes involved.							
Revote	1	2	3	9	1		No
T <5mm	0	0	1	9	9	Yes	
Revote	0	0	0	10	6		Yes
Lymphovascular invasion positive (LVI)	0	2	4	10	0	N/A	No
[statement added at consensus meeting]							
Low recurrence score <18 on Oncotype DX	0	0	1	7	6	N/A	Yes
[statement added at consensus meeting]							
Other (please specify below	0	0	2	0	1	No	N/A
Others grade 1 (1) low rick Onceture (1)				6 (1)			

Other: grade 1 (1), low risk Oncotype (1), recurrence score <16 (1)

R8. Aggregate data from several phase 3 clinical studies, as well as meta-analyses, have established the superiority of many anthracycline-taxane-based regimens compared to other chemotherapy (please see Table 2 and 3 in Evidence Summary). Therefore, in patients who can tolerate it, using an anthracycline-taxane containing regimen is considered the optimal strategy for adjuvant chemotherapy.

R9. Anthracyclines have been established to be superior to some non-anthracycline chemotherapy regimens (please see Table 2 in Evidence Summary.) Therefore, in patients in whom a taxane is contraindicated, an optimal dose anthracycline regimen (with more than doxorubicin 240 mg/m<sup>2</sup> or epirubicin 360 mg/m<sup>2</sup>) is recommended.

R10. The addition of gemcitabine or capecitabine to an anthracycline-taxane regimen does not improve DFS or OS and is more toxic (please see Table 3 in Evidence summary). As such, these combinations are not recommended for adjuvant chemotherapy.

R11. In patients over the age of 65, adjuvant capecitabine was found to be inferior to CMF (oral cyclophosphamide) and AC×4 (please see Table 1 in Evidence Summary). As such, capecitabine is not recommended as an adjuvant chemotherapy option.

R12. CMF chemotherapy has been found to be better than no chemotherapy in the adjuvant setting (please see Table 1 in Evidence Summary). In addition, CMF (oral cyclophosphamide) has been found to be equivalent to  $AC \times 4$  (please see Table 2). Therefore, CMF (oral cyclophosphamide) is an acceptable chemotherapy regimen for patients in whom an anthracycline and taxane is contraindicated.

	Question	1 Strongly disagree	2	3	4	5 Strongly agree	Consensus before meeting
R8		0	1	0	10	8	Yes
R9		0	0	0	10	8	Yes
R10		0	0	0	3	16	Yes
R11		0	0	0	2	17	Yes
R12		0	0	1	13	5	Yes

R13. Phase 3 clinical studies have shown improved outcomes from the adjuvant anthracycline and anthracycline-taxane-based regimens listed below (please see Table 2 and 3 In the Evidence Summary). As such, the following adjuvant chemotherapy regimens can be used for early breast cancer patients:

	1						
	1 Strongly disagree	2	3	4	5 Strongly agree	Consensus before meeting	Consensus at meeting
FEC X 3ocetaxel×3 (superior to FEC×6)	0	0	0	5	14	Yes	
Revote	0	0	0	6	10		Yes
$AC \times 4 \rightarrow Docetaxel \times 4$ (superior to $AC \times 4$ )	0	1	1	5	12	Yes	
Revote	0	0	1	9	6		Yes
TAC×6 (superior to FAC×6)	0	0	0	10	9	Yes	
Revote	0	0	0	13	3		Yes
$AC \times 4 \rightarrow Paclitaxel given weekly$	0	0	0	7	12	Yes	
Revote	0	0	0	11	5		Yes
CEF	0	2	4	10	3	No	
Revote	0	2	3	11	0		No
Dose-dense, dose-intense $EC \rightarrow Paclitaxel$	0	2	1	9	7	Yes	
Revote	0	0	3	11	0		Yes
Dose-dense AC $\rightarrow$ Paclitaxel (q 2 weeks)	0	0	0	7	9	N/A	Yes
[added at consensus meeting]							
$FEC \rightarrow$ weekly Paclitaxel	0	0	1	9	2	N/A	(No)*
[added at consensus meeting]							
*consensus not met as 1 people did not ans	wor the au	oction					

\*consensus not met as 4 people did not answer the question

R14. TC×4 has been found to be superior to AC×4 (please see Table 3 in Evidence summary). How it compares to an anthracycline-taxane regimen is currently unknown. Nonetheless, TC is an adjuvant regimen that can be used when an anthracycline is not preferred.

	1 Strongly disagree	2	3	4	5 Strongly agree	Consensus before meeting
R14	0	0	0	14	5	Yes

#### Adjuvant Endocrine Therapy

## R15. For the purpose of selecting adjuvant endocrine therapy, the most reliable definitions of menopause are:

	1 Strongly disagree	2	3	4	5 Strongly agree	Consensus before meeting
Bilateral oophorectomy	0	0	0	2	17	Yes
At least 12 months of amenorrhea prior to initiation of chemotherapy or tamoxifen	0	1	0	9	9	Yes
In female patients 60 years of age or younger, who experience amenorrhea secondary to chemotherapy or tamoxifen, defining menopause is difficult and care must be taken when initiating an aromatase inhibitor	0	0	0	4	15	Yes

R16. In considering all the compiled evidence (please see Section 4.3 in Evidence Summary), adjuvant endocrine therapy should be considered in all estrogen receptor positive patients, taking into consideration patient preference and potential toxicities.

#### R16, reworded at consensus meeting

Adjuvant endocrine therapy should be considered in all ER positive patients, defined by the ASCO/CAP guidelines as ER IHC staining >/=1%, taking into <u>consideration overall disease risk</u>, patient preference and potential toxicities (please see Section 4.3 in Evidence Summary).

R17. Evidence suggests that estrogen receptor negative (ER) with progesterone receptor positive (PR+) tumours may not benefit from tamoxifen, as compared to ER + tumours (please see Table 4 in Evidence Summary). Nonetheless, adjuvant endocrine therapy should be offered to all estrogen receptor negative (ER), but progesterone receptor positive (PR+) patients.

#### R17, reworded at consensus meeting

Evidence suggests that patients with estrogen receptor negative (ER-), but progesterone receptor positive (PR+) tumours may not benefit from tamoxifen, as compared to patients with ER+ tumours (please see Table 4 in Evidence Summary). Nonetheless, adjuvant endocrine therapy <u>should be</u> <u>considered</u> in patients with estrogen receptor negative (ER-), but progesterone receptor positive (PR+) tumours

	1 Strongly disagree	2	3	4	5 Strongly agree	Consensus before meeting	Consensus at meeting
R16		0	0	6	12	No	
R16, reworded at consensus meeting	0	1	0	5	10		Yes
R17	0	2	5	11	1	No	
R17, reworded at consensus meeting	0	2	3	10	1		No

R18. Tamoxifen for 5 years in premenopausal patients with estrogen receptor positive tumours, regardless of chemotherapy use, has been found to improve outcomes (please see Section 4.3.1 in Evidence Summary). As such, 5 years of tamoxifen is the standard of care in these patients.

R19. Based on compiled data, [please see Table 12 in Evidence Summary], premenopausal patients with estrogen receptor positive tumours, who <u>ARE NOT</u> candidates for any other systemic therapy (e.g., because they refuse), ovarian ablation or suppression is a reasonable treatment option.

	1 Strongly disagree	2	3	4	5 Strongly agree	Consensus before meeting
R18	0	1	0	5	13	Yes
R19	0	0	0	11	8	Yes

R20. In premenopausal patients with estrogen receptor positive tumours, treated with or without chemotherapy, data suggests that the addition of ovarian ablation or suppression to 5 years of tamoxifen, offers no additional benefit over 5 years of tamoxifen [please see Tables 12 and 13 (Tables 11 and 12 in final version) in Evidence Summary]. Therefore, the addition of ovarian ablation or suppression to tamoxifen in premenopausal patients is NOT the standard of care.

R21. In premenopausal patients with estrogen receptor positive tumours, treated with or without chemotherapy, ovarian ablation or suppression plus 5 years of an aromatase inhibitor is <u>NOT</u> yet supported by any convincing data, and as such is <u>NOT</u> the standard of care.

R22. In considering the evidence [please see Tables 7–10 (Tables 6–9 in final version) in the Evidence Summary], the optimal adjuvant endocrine therapy for postmenopausal patients with estrogen receptor positive tumours should include an aromatase inhibitor.

R23. Based on clinical studies (please see Section 4.3 in Evidence Summary), postmenopausal patients with estrogen receptor positive tumours, treated with or without chemotherapy, 5 years of tamoxifen is an acceptable treatment.

	1 Strongly disagree	2	3	4	5 Strongly agree	Consensus before meeting
R20	0	2	1	8	8	Yes
R21	0	0	1	9	9	Yes
R22	0	1	0	8	10	Yes
R23	0	0	0	13	6	Yes

R24. Several phase 3 clinical studies have evaluated the role of aromatase inhibitors in postmenopausal patients with estrogen receptor positive breast cancer [please see Tables 7–9 (Tables 6–8 in final version)]. Based on this evidence, in these patients, treated with or without chemotherapy, the use of aromatase inhibitors upfront for five years (instead of tamoxifen), or as a switch from tamoxifen after 2–3 years (for a total of 5 years of endocrine therapy), or as extended adjuvant therapy for at least 5 years (after 5 years of tamoxifen) are all acceptable strategies:

	1 Strongly disagree	2	3	4	5 Strongly agree	Consensus before meeting	Consensus at meeting
Upfront for five years (instead of	0	0	0	6	13	Yes	
tamoxifen) Revote	0	0	0	7	9		Yes
As a switch after 2-3 years of tamoxifen	0	0	0	4	15	Yes	
(for a total of 5 years of endocrine							
therapy) Revote	0	0	0	7	9		Yes
As extended adjuvant therapy for 5 years,	0	0	0	7	11	Yes	
after completing 5 years of tamoxifen							
Revote	0	0	0	7	9		Yes
As extended adjuvant therapy for MORE	3	9	5	1	1	No	
than 5 years, after completing 5 years of							
tamoxifen Revote	4	8	4	0	0		No

R25. Evidence exists for the delayed initiation of both tamoxifen and aromatase inhibitors (please see Section 4.3 in Evidence Summary). Therefore, in patients with estrogen receptor positive tumours, who do not receive adjuvant endocrine therapy immediately after surgery or chemotherapy, delayed endocrine therapy (initiated at a mean of 2 years from diagnosis) is still clinically beneficial.

	1 Strongly disagree	2	3	4	5 Strongly agree	Consensus before meeting
R25	0	0	2	13	4	Yes

#### Adjuvant Targeted Therapy (HER2 positive)

R26. HER2 positive breast cancer is defined as either IHC 3+, ISH ratio  $\geq 2$ , or HER2 gene copies 6 or more per cell nucleus. Only patients with HER2 positive breast cancer should be offered adjuvant trastuzumab.

R27. Phase 3 clinical studies have demonstrated improved DFS and OS with the addition of trastuzumab to chemotherapy compared to chemotherapy alone in HER2 positive early breast cancer [please see Table 15 (Table 14 in final version) in Evidence Summary]. Therefore, trastuzumab plus chemotherapy is recommended for HER2+ patients with node positive breast cancer or node negative breast cancer >1 cm.

R28. There is little evidence for the benefit of trastuzumab in tumours <1cm (please see Section 4.4 in Evidence Summary). However, trastuzumab therapy can still be considered in these tumours as part of clinical studies, or evidence-building programs (such as the EBP currently available in Ontario).

R29. Trastuzumab can be given with any adjuvant chemotherapy regimen; most of the evidence exists for anthracycline-taxane-based regimens (for instance, ACT) [please see Table 15 (Table 14 in final version) in Evidence Summary].

R30. The administration of trastuzumab concurrently with the anthracycline component of a chemotherapy regimen is generally not recommended due to the potential of increased cardiotoxicity.

R31. Adjuvant trastuzumab can be initiated either concurrently or sequentially with the taxane portion of a chemotherapy regimen; there appears to be no significant differences between these approaches in survival outcomes (please see Section 4.4.2 of Evidence Summary). However, initiating the trastuzumab concurrently with the taxane is still generally preferred.

	1 Strongly disagree	2	3	4	5 Strongly agree	Consensus before meeting
R26	0	0	0	3	16	Yes
R27	0	0	0	3	16	Yes
R28	0	0	0	14	5	Yes
R29	0	0	0	12	7	Yes
R30	0	0	0	6	13	Yes
R31	0	1	1	11	6	Yes

R32. Evidence exists for trastuzumab in combination with taxotere and carboplatin (TCH), and this regimen was found to be equivalent to ACTH [please see Table 15 (Table 14 in final version) in Evidence Summary]. In addition, TCH is less cardiotoxic than ACTH, and as such is recommended for patients at higher risk for cardiotoxicity.

R33. Phase 3 evidence for the addition of trastuzumab to some chemotherapy regimens (such as TC-taxotere, cyclophosphamide) does not exist. However, these regimens may be in use and are reasonable options, particularly to mitigate cardiotoxicity in certain patients.

R34. Current evidence suggests that the optimal duration of adjuvant trastuzumab is one year (please see Section 4.4.2 in Evidence Summary); data for shorter durations of trastuzumab is evolving. Therefore, patients should be given one year total of adjuvant trastuzumab, with regular cardiac functional assessments during this period.

	1 Strongly disagree	2	3	4	5 Strongly agree	Consensus before meeting
R32	0	2	1	9	7	Yes
R33	0	0	2	12	5	Yes
R34	0	0	0	4	14	Yes

### Appendix C: Literature search strategy, March 6, 2012.

Database: EMBASE <1996 to 2012 Week 09>, Ovid MEDLINE(R) without Revisions <1996 to February Week 4 2012>, Ovid MEDLINE(R) Daily Update <March 05, 2012>, Ovid MEDLINE(R) In-Process & Other Non-Indexed Citations <March 05, 2012>

- 1. (exp Breast Neoplasms/ or exp breast tumour/ or exp breast cancer/ or breast cancer.mp. or breast neoplasm:.mp. or ((cancer: or neoplasm: or tumo?r: or carcinom:) and (breast or mammar:)).mp)
- 2. exp chemoradiotherapy/ or exp chemotherapy, adjuvant/ or exp neoadjuvant therapy/ or exp adjuvant therapy/ or exp cancer hormone therapy/ or exp cancer adjuvant therapy/ or exp cancer combination chemotherapy/ or exp aromatase inhibitors/ or exp antineoplastic agents/ or (adjuvant or neoadjuvant or chemotherapy).mp.
- 3. (Anthracycline# or doxorubicin or Adriamycin or epirubicin or Ellence or Alkylating agent# or cyclophosphamide or Cytoxan or Neosar or Fluorouracil or 5-fluorouracil or 5-FU or Adrucil or methotrexate or amethopterin or Mexate or Folex or Rheumatrex or gemcitabine or Gemzar or Taxane# or docetaxel or Taxotere or paclitaxel or Taxol or Abraxane or carboplatin or Paraplatin or cisplatin or Platinol or TAC, ACMF, ACT, ATC, CAF, FAC, CEF, CMF or Anti-estrogens or Selective Estrogen Receptor Modulator: or SERM: or Endocrine Therapy or tamoxifen or Nolvadex or Apo-Tamox or Tamone or Aromatase Inhibitor# or anastrozole or Arimidex or exemestane or Aromasin or letrozole or Femara or fulvestrant or Faslodex or HER2 inhibitor: or trastuzumab or Herceptin or lapatinib or Tykerb or Antiangiogenesis: or bevacizumab or Avastin or Granulocyte colony stimulating factor or GCSF or Pegfilgrastim or Neulasta or filgrastim or Neupogen or Bisphosphonate: or Pamidronate or Aredia or zoledronic acid or Zometa).mp
- 4. Ovariectomy/ or exp gonadotropin-releasing hormone/ or exp gonadorelin derivative/ or exp luteinizing hormone/ or (ovariectomy or (ovar: adj3 ablation) or (ovar: adj3 suppression) or (ovar: adj3 irradiation)).mp or (gnrh or gonadorelin or lhrh agonist or lhrn analog or leuprolide or buserelin or triptorelin or Lupron or goserelin or Zoladex or Trelstar).mp
- 5. exp randomized controlled trial/ or exp "randomized controlled trial (topic)"/ or exp randomized controlled trials as topic/ or exp phase 2 clinical trial/ or exp phase 3 clinical trial/ or exp phase 4 clinical trial/ or exp clinical trials, phase III/ or exp clinical trials, phase III/ or exp clinical trials, phase III/ or exp clinical trial, phase III or clinical trial, phase III. or (random\$\$ control\$\$ trial? or rct or phase II or phase III or phase IV or phase 2 or phase 3 or phase 4).tw. or ((exp clinical trial/ or exp "clinical trial (topic)"/ or exp controlled study/ or clinical trial\$, mp. or clinicaltrial\$, mp.) and (random\$, tw. or randomization/)) or (random\$\$ adj3 trial\$).mp. or randomization/ or "clinicaltrials.gov".mp
- 6. (meta-analysis.mp. or meta-analysis/ or meta-analysis.pt. or (meta-analy: or metaanaly: or meta analy:).tw. or (systematic review or systematic overview).mp. or (cochrane or medline or embase or cancerlit).ti. or (hand search or hand-search or manual search).ti. or practice guideline\$.mp. or Practice Guideline/ or practice guideline.pt. or practice parameter:.tw)

1 and (2 or 3 or 4) and (5 or 6), limit to yr="2008 -Current", and duplicates removed Result: 7380 publications after removing duplicates (6085 RCTs, 1295 systematic reviews and guidelines)

### Appendix D: Bisphosphonates and other bone agents.

Bisphosphonates as chemotherapeutic agents were within the scope of the literature search but due to timing of the consensus meeting were not included in the documents circulated and approved by the consensus panel. Table A1 compares the studies included in the guidelines located, as well as the current literature search. A brief summary of the guidelines and systematic reviews/meta-analyses is provided.

Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborating Group (EBCTCG). Effects of Bisphosphonate Treatment on Recurrence and Cause-Specific Mortality in Women with Early Breast Cancer: A Meta-Analysis of Individual Patient Data from Randomised Trials. (231)

- This was presented as an abstract at the San Antonio conference in December 2013
- Individual patient meta-analysis of 17,751 female patients from 41 randomized trials comparing bisphosphonates to placebo/control
- Primary outcomes of time to recurrence, time to first distant recurrence, breast cancer mortality rate
- Subgroup comparisons by type of bisphosphonate, duration and schedule of treatment, menopausal status, age, ER status, concomitant chemotherapy, site of distant recurrence. Most comparisons not yet reported.
- No improvement on bone or other recurrence rates or premenopausal patients
- The largest effect was on bone recurrence rate (overall: rate ratio 0.79, p=0.002; postmenopausal: rate ratio 0.65, p=0.00001; premenopausal: no improvement, RR=1.00, p=0.97)
- Postmenopausal: improvement in breast cancer mortality (RR=0.83, p=0.004), breast cancer recurrence (RR=0.86, p=0.002), bone recurrence rates (RR=0.65, p=0.00001),
- Postmenopausal: other distant recurrence (not bone) (RR=0.93, p=0.26)

Cancer Australia. Recommendations for Use of Bisphosphonates in Early Breast Cancer. (232)

- Search January 2007-August 2010 + Cochrane review 2005 and 2007 update; included 13 RCTs
- Concluded that bisphosphonates (clodronate, risedronate, zoledronic acid) do not significantly affect OS or recurrence rates (based on systematic review by Cancer Australia (465), plus AZURE trial) or bone or visceral metastases (based on Cochrane review, Diel, Kristensen, ABCSG-12 studies)
- Based on ABCSG-12, zoledronic acid is associated with longer DFS and RFS in female patients undergoing ovarian suppression in combination with endocrine therapy
- In postmenopausal patients, upfront addition of intravenous zoledronic acid to Als compared with delayed treatment improved DFS rate and reduced bone mineral density loss, but may have increased adverse effects

PEBC. Use of Bisphosphonates in Women with Breast Cancer. (106)

• Search 2002, updated to 2004, new search to March 2011 but guideline not updated

• Guideline with systematic review/meta-analyses

The Cochrane Collaboration. Bisphosphonates and Other Bone Agents for Breast Cancer (Review). (233)

- Search to 2011 Apr 30.
- 34 RCTs (early, advanced, metastatic)
- 12 studies in 10,124 pts with early breast cancer
- Bone metastases, bisphosphonate vs none: RR=0.94 (95% CI 0.82-1.07), p=0.36
- Bone metastases, early bisphosphonates vs delayed treatment, RR=0.73 (95% CI 0.40-1.33), p=0.31
- Insufficient evidence, although several large studies have completed accrual and are awaiting results

Mauri et al. Does Adjuvant Bisphosphonate in Early Breast Cancer Modify the Natural Course of the Disease? A Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. (234)

- Search until January 2009
- 13 trials, 6886 pts
- Any bisphosphonate vs none
  - OS: OR=0.71 (95% CI 0.48-1.04), p=0.08
  - Bone metastasis: OR=0.92 (95% CI 0.77-1.11), p=0.41
  - Overall recurrence: OR=0.84, (95% CI 0.60-1.18), p=0.32
  - Distant relapse OR=0.90 (95% CI 0.67-1.19), p=0.45
- Zoledronic acid subgroup:
  - Recurrence OR=0.68 (95% CI 0.48-0.95), p=0.03
  - Death OR=0.64 (95% CI 0.39-1.06)
  - Bone metastasis OR=0.66 (95% CI 0.38-1.15)
  - Nonsignificant trend toward better outcome

Valachis et al. Lack of Evidence for Fracture Prevention in Early Breast Cancer Bisphosphonate Trials: A Meta-Analysis. (235)

- Search until January 2009
- 21 trials, 14 trials with fracture data, 7461 pts
- Fracture rate OR=0.99, p=0.92

Valachis et al. Adjuvant Therapy with Zoledronic Acid in Primary Breast Cancer: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. [Abstract (236), full publication after date of literature search (237)]

- Search until December 2011
- 15 studies
- OS: HR=0.81 (95% CI 0.70-0.94), p=0.007
- DFS: HR=0.86 (95% CI 0.70-1.06), p=0.15

- Locoregional recurrence: OR=0.81 (95% CI 0.50-1.30), p=0.38
- Bone metastasis, OR=0.94 (95% CI 0.64-1.37), p=0.74
- Fracture rate: OR=0.78 (95% CI 0.63-0.96), p=0.02
- Osteonecrosis of the jaw: 0.52% with zoledronic acid vs none in control arms

#### Assessment

Based on the summary of guidelines and reviews and the comparison of included studies in Table A1, the Cochrane Collaboration review, and Cancer Australia review, and the review by Valachis et al are most complete. The NSABP-34 trial and updates of ABCSG-12, AZURE, and E-ZO-FAST trials would need to be included. The EBCTCG meta-analysis is the most important summary to consider and preparation of a guideline on this topic will await the EBCTCG meta-analysis publication.

Study	# pts	Bisphosphona te	Design	PEBC (106)	Cochrane (233)	Australia (232)	1-21 search	Notes
Diel ,1998, 2008 (238,239)	302	Oral clodronate	vs control	Y (1998, 2000) [2008 in DART]	Y	Y	Y	T1-4, N0-2 with positive immunocytochemical detection of tumour cells in bone marrow; systemic according to guidelines
Saarto, 2001,2004 (240,241)	299	Oral clodronate	vs control	Y (2001)	У	Y	Y (242) (bone effects)	Operable, N+, T1-3, N1-2, MO
Powles, 2002, 2006 (243,244)	1069	Oral clodronate	vs control	Y (2002)	Y	Y	Y (245) (bone effects)	Operable, pre + postmenopausal,
NSABP-34 (246) NCT00009945	3323	Oral clodronate	vs control	N	No results yet	N	Y (246)	Stage I-III (246)
Kristensen, 2008 (247)	953	Oral pamidronate	vs control	[DART]	Y	Y	Y	Premenopausal, N0, T1-2; Premenopausal, HR-,N+ or T3+; Postmenopausal, HR-, N+ or T3+
AZURE, BIG 01-04 (250) abstract, (248)	3360	zoledronate	vs control	N	Y	Y	Y (248-253)	Resected Stage II or III, systemic therapy $\pm$ ZOL
E-ZO-FAST (254,255)	527	zoledronate	vs delayed	N	abstract	abstract	2012 (256)	Early, resectable, Stage I,II,IIIA, HR+, adjuvant letrozole for 5 y
Z-FAST (257,258)	602	zoledronate	vs delayed	[DART 2007]	Y	Y	Y (259)	Postmenopausal, early resectable Stage I,II,IIIA, HR+, on letrozole for 5 y
ZO-FAST (255,260)	1064	zoledronate	vs delayed	[DART]	Y	Y	Y (261,262)	Postmenopausal, early resectable Stage I,II or IIIA, HR+, letrozole for 5 y
Hershman, 2008, 2010 (263,264)	103	zoledronate	vs control	N	Y	Y	Y	Premenopausal, early, adjuvant chemo
ABCSG-12 (265)	1803	zoledronate	vs control	[DART, 2008]	Y	Y	Y, (265,304)	Premenopausal, Stage I or II, ≤10 nodes; 75% T1, 66% N0 Monthly goserelin + either TAM or ANA with or without ZOL
GAIN	2640	ibandronate for 2 y	vs control	N	N	N	(266)	ETC ± ibandronate; EC-TX ± ibandronate
D-CARE	4509	denosumab	vs placebo	Ν	N	N	(267)	Stage II or III, ongoing trial
HOBOE	Ongoing	zoledronic acid	See note	N	N	N	(268)	Tamoxifen vs letrozole vs letrozole + zoledronic acid
Aft, 2010 (269)	120	zoledronate		[DART]	Y	N	Excluded: LABC (269,270)	Stage II-III (>T2 and/or N1)
Tevaarwerk, 2007 (271,272)	68	zoledronate		N	Y	N	Excluded: <100 pts	Postmenopausal, Stage II/III
REBBeCa (273)		Risedronate	vs control	N	N	У	Excluded: <100 pts	Newly postmenopausal (<8 y); weekly for 2 y

Table A1. RCTs in literature search and recent guidelines evaluating survival or recurrence rate effects of bisphosphonates.

## Appendix E: Guidelines evaluated by AGREE II<sup>4</sup>.

Guideline	Domain 1, Scope and Purpose	Domain 2, Stakeholder Involvement	Domain 3, Rigor	Domain 4, Clarity Presentation	Domain 5, Applicability	Domain 6, Editorial Independence
Burstein et al (ASCO) (353). Update on adjuvant endocrine therapy for female patients with hormone receptor-positive breast cancer	66.7%	50.0%	54.2%	66.7%	39.6%	54.2%
Alberta ( <b>354</b> ). Aromatase inhibitors as adjuvant therapy in postmenopausal patients with early-stage hormone receptor positive breast cancer	72.2%	19.4%	44.8%	69.4%	10.4%	33.3%
NICE (97). Early and locally advanced breast cancer: diagnosis and treatment	83.3%	88.9%	85.4%	91.7%	70.8%	87.5%
National Breast Cancer Centre (Cancer Australia) (421). Recommendations for use of Trastuzumab (Herceptin) for the treatment of HER2 positive breast cancer	55.6%	52.8%	46.9%	91.7%	6.3%	8.3%

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Assessment was performed by SAGE and is reproduced from the Guidelines Resource Centre at <u>www.cancerview.ca</u>

### Appendix F: Literature reviews evaluated by AMSTAR (120)

Review	A priori design	Duplicate selection/	Comprehensive literature search	Used grey literature	List of excluded	Characteristics of include	Assessed quality of	Used quality appropriately	Pooled or combined	Publication bias	Conflict of interest,
		extraction			studies	studies	studies	app.op.iaco.j	results	assessed	funding sources*
Gines (224)	?	No	MEDLINE only	Yes	No	Yes	No	NA	Yes	No	No RCTs, Yes overall
Goel (371)	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No RCTs, Yes overall
Moja (79)	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	?	No RCTs, Yes overall
Yin (422)	?	Yes	MEDLINE + supplementary	Yes	No	Yes	No	NA	Yes	Yes	No RCTs, Yes overall
Chen (429)	?	2 for data	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No	NA	Yes	Yes	No RCTs, Yes overall
Costa (430)	Not systematic review	?	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes	No	NA	Yes	No	No RCTs, Yes overall
EBCTCG (1,5,112,118, 119)	Yes	? verification with RCT authors	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Used published + non- published data	No RCTs, None or ? overall
LHRH-agonists (Cuzick) (61)	?	? verification with RCT authors	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No RCTs, Yes overall

Note: Choices for each question are: Yes, No, ?=cannot answer, N/A=not applicable

\*Conflict of interest: none of the reviews commented on conflicts within individual RCTs, all the reviews indicated a statement about conflicts of interest for the review authors (other than EBCTCG which included a statement in some of the EBCTCG publications)

## Appendix G: Quality assessment of new studies (studies not reported in previous guidelines or metaanalyses)

Study or author	Reported allocation sequence	Blinding	Balanced baseline characteristics	Industry funding	Statistical power and target sample size	ITT analysis	Withdrawals described	Reported loss to follow-up	Terminated early
ABCSG-07 (123)	Randomized	NA	Yes	NR	NR	NA	NR	NR	No
CALGB 49907 (40,124)	Randomized	No	Yes (except tumour size)	Partial	Non-inferiority study, HR>0.8046 required; futility and non-inferiority bounds	NR	Yes	NR	Yes, unlikely to be inferior
DBCG 89D (127)	Minimization method	NR	Yes	Partial	80% power to detect a 1.20 hazard ratio for CMF vs CEF, preplanned sample size 1500	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes due to EBCTCG results
FinXX, NCT00114816 (39)	Permuted blocks	Open- labelled	Yes	Partial	Assumed RFS would improve from 83.0% to 88.5% (HR= 0.65). 1,500 pts and 210 events were required to achieve 80% power assuming a3%annual dropout rate, α=028 (two-sided)	Yes	Yes	NR	No
N-SAS BC 01 (137)	Minimization method	NR	Yes	Partial	HR=0.77-1.30 for recurrence UFT vs CMF acceptable for non-inferiority. To maintain an $a$ error of 0.05 and a $B$ error of 0.20, the required size was 1300 pts (370 events). Interim results (not enough events yet)	No	Yes	NR	Yes, slow enrolment as AC introduced; longer follow- up needed
tAnGo (141,203)	Randomized	NR	Yes	NR	Anticipated 550 DFS events at the preplanned primary endpoint efficacy analysis at 30 minimum follow-up	NR	NR	NR	Interim analysis, follow-up ongoing
Schneeweiss (144)	Randomized	Open label	Yes	Yes	Primary endpoint of pCR Not powered for statistical comparisons between treatment groups.	NR	Yes	NR	Median DFS currently not mature
Kimura (36)	Dynamic allocation, minimization	NR	Yes	partial	Expected and clinically significant 5-y DFS rate of CEF was set to 72.5-75%, estimated necessary number of events (recurrence or death) after a mean 6-y follow-up was 140 for CMF pts and 100-110 for CEF pts, which required 350 pts for each treatment group (total of 700 pts)	Yes	Yes	NR	Yes, 294 pts
Lee (156)	Stratified block randomization	NR	Most	Partial	Primary objective to compare pCR; sample size of 209 pts was required to detect a 15% difference in pCR rate (from 15% to 30%) with 80% power at the 5% significance level, allowing for a withdrawal rate of up to 10%	Yes	Yes	NR	No

Study or author	Reported allocation sequence	Blinding	Balanced baseline characteristics	Industry funding	Statistical power and target sample size	ITT analysis	Withdrawals described	Reported loss to follow-up	Terminated early
POCOB, EORTC 10902; (153)	Central randomization stratified	NA	Yes	No	The trial was designed to detect a 10% survival rate difference at 5 y (from 75% to 85%) with 80% power, for which 102 events were needed.	Yes	NR	NR	No
PREPARE (212,213)	Randomized	Open label	NR	Yes	The sample size of 720 pts chosen to provide 80% power to detect an improvement in DFS at 3 y from the standard therapy with a DFS of 70% to a DFS of 80% in pts receiving dose- dense chemotherapy. This equals a hazard ratio of 1.4 with a type I error of alpha 5% using a one-sided test	Yes	Yes	NR	No
GeparDuo, NCT00793377 (214,215)	Randomized	Open	Yes	No	Sample size calculation was based on pCR as primary endpoint	NR	NR	NR	No
HE 10/00 (176,177)	Stratified randomization balanced by centre	NR	Yes	NR	For a two-sided test at the 5% level of significance and power of 80%, the number of pts required to detect a difference between the two treatment arms within 5% (62.5%) to the baseline rate of 80% in DFS at the 3-y time point was 1040 pts. Taking into consideration a 5% withdrawal, 1100 pts (550 per group) needed to enter the study.	Yes	Yes	NR	No, Interim analysis, follow-up is ongoing
Anglo-Celtic (ACCOG) (201)	Randomized	NR	Yes	Yes	The sample size was determined as 350 pts to provide 90% power at the (one sided) 5% significance level of detecting an improvement in the clinical overall response rate from 70 to 84% (a relative improvement of 20%) with the combination of AD. The study has 80% power for detecting a 15% difference in DFS and a 14% difference in OS.	Yes	Yes	NR	No
Loesch (202)	Randomized, stratified	Open label	Yes	Yes	Assumed DFS duration followed exponential distribution, 25% decrease of annual hazard rate from9%per year, accrual time estimated to be18 mo, with 3 y as follow-up time. With a two-sided significance level of p=0.05, and with a desired power of 90% to detect such 25% difference, the accrual rate was evaluated to be approximately 100 pts per month. Therefore, the total sample size was calculated to be 1,810	Yes	Yes	Yes	Νο

Study or author	Reported allocation sequence	Blinding	Balanced baseline characteristics	Industry funding	Statistical power and target sample size	ITT analysis	Withdrawals described	Reported loss to follow-up	Terminated early
NSABP B30, NCT00003782 (44-46)	Randomized, stratified	NR	Yes	Partial (drugs)	Designed to detect a 25% reduction in OS rate between the concurrent-ACT group and the sequential-ACT group (two-sided superiority test, 80% power), and to test equivalence between doxorubicin-docetaxel vs concurrent ACT and doxorubicin-docetaxel vs sequential ACT (non-inferiority analysis, 90% power). 3 planned interim analyses.	Yes	Yes	Yes	Νο
tAnGo (141,203)	Randomized	NR	Yes	NR	Anticipated 550 DFS events at the preplanned primary endpoint efficacy analysis at 30m minimum follow-up	NR	NR	NR	Interim analysis, follow-up ongoing
FinXX, NCT 0114816 (39)	Permuted blocks	Open- labelled	Yes	Partial	Assumed RFS would improve from 83.0% to 88.5% (hazard ratio [HR], 0.65. 1,500 pts and 210 events required to achieve 80% power assuming a3% annual dropout rate, when $\alpha$ =0.028 (two-sided)	Yes	Yes	NR	No
N-SAS-BC02 (205,206)	Randomized centrally, minimization method	NR	Yes, except age	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	Interim analysis
NSABP B-38 (38,48)	Stratified then randomized, biased- coin minimization algorithm	NR	Yes	Partial	Designed to detect a 25% reduction in the DFS event rate with dd AC $\rightarrow$ PG compared with both TAC and dd AC $\rightarrow$ P (90% power at a one-sided level of 0.025), final analysis when the minimum number of DFS events in both pairs of the groups reached 613.	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
US Oncology 1062, USON 01062 (133,134)	Randomized	NR	Yes	NR	Failed to meet its primary endpoint of DFS, 304 events at 5 y vs 518 expected	NR	NR	NR	No, but lower than expected event rate at 5 y
Moebus (208,209)	Randomized, stratified	NR	Yes	Yes	1,154 evaluable pts had to be recruited and observed for a median period of 5 y to achieve 80% power to identify an improvement from60%to67%in EFS after 5 y at 5% significance (one sided).	Yes	Yes	NR	No
NCT00050167 (210)	Randomized centrally, moving block scheme	NR	Yes	Partial	77 RFS events were necessary to have 80% power to detect an increase in RFS from85% to92%. Annual safety and efficacy reviews at	Yes	Yes	NR	No, accrual stopped as unlikely to find

Study or author	Reported allocation sequence	Blinding	Balanced baseline characteristics	Industry funding	Statistical power and target sample size	ITT analysis	Withdrawals described	Reported loss to follow-up	Terminated early
					35 events indicated the probability the trial would conclude in favour of neither treatment was 99.3%.				difference
NSABP B-14 (285,288)	Stratified then randomized	Yes	Yes	No	Assumed an annual DFS failure rate of 5.0% for pts discontinuing tamoxifen. To detect a 40% reduction in this rate for those pts continuing on tamoxifen with power of at least 0.85 and allowing for a 5% probability of falsely concluding that continued tamoxifen is superior, needed 115 events. Projected this analysis to occur approximately 8 y after the start of the second randomization, which began in April 1987. The early stopping criterion ( $2\alpha \le 0.00346$ ) was not satisfied (observed p=0.015). It was apparent; however, that the study could not conclude in favour of 10 y of tamoxifen	Yes	Yes	NR	Terminated based on interim findings indicating that a benefit for continuing tamoxifen would not be realized
Scottish trials (286,287)	Central randomization, stratified	NR	Yes	NR	NR	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
ATLAS (55,466,467)	Central computer using minimization	NR	Yes	Partial	The protocol stated that 20,000 pts would need to be randomized in ATLAS and the other trials of tamoxifen duration to detect reliably an absolute difference of 2%-3% in mortality rate. Entry to ATLAS was halted in 2005 (with 12,894 pts, including 6846 with ER+ disease) because the MA.17 trial found benefit from continued endocrine treatment after 5 y of tamoxifen	Yes, No (varies for sub- groups)	Yes	Yes	Yes
aTTom (56,468)	Randomized	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	Yes	NR	No
TAM-02 (57)	Central randomized by phone, stratified	NR	Yes (except less ER+ in TAM group; 87% vs 95%)	NR	NR ER status known only in 55% of pts	Yes	Yes	Yes (no loss)	No
Italian (Veronesi) (58)	Randomized; stratified by time from local treatment	NR	Yes	NR	The sample size (197 pts per arm, plus 10% allowance) was based on the assumption of a 30% decrease in the number of events occurring at a rate of 5% annually in the 10 y following randomization. 433pts randomized	Yes	Yes	NR	No

Study or author	Reported allocation sequence	Blinding	Balanced baseline characteristics	Industry funding	Statistical power and target sample size	ITT analysis	Withdrawals described	Reported loss to follow-up	Terminated early
					(TAM 217, follow-up 216)				
Finnish Breast Cancer Group (469)	Central randomized by phone; random digits method	Open	Yes	NR	The trial was powered based on an assumption of an equivalent efficacy between the two treatment arms, reached planned accrual	Yes	NR	NR	No, follow-up continuing
IBCSG 12-93 & IBCSG 14-93 (470,471)	Randomized, stratified by ER status and local therapy	NR	Yes	No	Target 760 pts for Trial 14–93 and 1140 for Trial 12–93, which provided a 90% power to detect a 25% increased risk of failure with toremifene compared with tamoxifen using a one-sided $a$ =0.05 statistical test. Because toremifene was not available in all IBCSG countries and recruitment to Trial 12–93 was lower than expected, a total of 1035 pts were actually recruited for the toremifene vs tamoxifen comparison in both trials. With the consequent decrease in statistical power, 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for the risk ratios (RRs) (toremifene vs tamoxifen) rather than p-values were used to provide interpretation of the results.	Yes	Yes	NR	14–93 No 12–93 ? (interim analysis before all events reached)
HOBOE, NCT00412022 (268,310-312)	Central randomization using minimization	NR	Yes (NR but stratified in randomization)	Partial (drugs)	NR Survival data not reported	Yes (for bone effects)	Yes	NR	Ongoing
DBCG 89C (335)	Central randomization	Open label	Yes	NR	The preplanned sample size was 1 500 pts in 5 y, with an additional 5-y follow-up. Assuming a 5-y DFS rate in the control group of 50%, the study was designed to detect a 20% improvement in DFS with a power of 90%. Recruited 1 615 pts nationwide. An interim analysis at that time found that TAM/MA could not gain superiority compared with TAM1, and in addition more adverse effects were reported on megestrol acetate than on Tamoxifen. Pts already on treatment in the sequential arm were continued on or changed to Tamoxifen for a total treatment time of 1 y. This caused a relatively larger number of protocol violations in the TAM/MA arm. The	Some (see other column)	Yes	Reported there was no loss for OS	No (see other columns)

Study or author	Reported allocation sequence	Blinding	Balanced baseline characteristics	Industry funding	Statistical power and target sample size	ITT analysis	Withdrawals described	Reported loss to follow-up	Terminated early
					study was extended and continued to randomize between TAM1 and TAM2 until December 31, 1996 when the results of the Swedish 2 y vs 5 y Tamoxifen trial was published. Pts on treatment were advised to continue Tamoxifen for 5 y. This means that the intention to treat analysis of the study extension was highly biased and the primary analysis of efficacy in this part of the study was therefore performed on both an ITT (N=1 795) and a per-protocol population (N=1 304).				
ATENA (349,350)	Randomized	Open label	Yes	Yes (partial)	NR Survival data not yet available	NR	NR	NR	Yes, poor recruitment due to MA.17 results
MA.27 (356-359)	Randomized, dynamic minimization	Open label	Yes	Partial	Originally looked for an improvement in 5-y EFS from 78.2% on anastrozole to 81.8% on exemestane, with a planned accrual of 6,830 pts and a factorial design with or without celecoxib. Accrual was reduced to 5,800 pts when celecoxib was removed. In both instances, the trial had 90% power. The sample size was revised again when 68-m outcomes in the ATAC trial18 found an estimated 5-y EFS rate on anastrozole of 86.5%. 6,840 pts and 630 events were needed for final analysis.	Yes	Yes	Yes	Νο
FACE (361)	Randomized	NR	NR	NR	NR Accrual complete, survival rate data not yet available	NR	NR	NR	No, ongoing
NCT00303524 Masuda (408)	Randomized	Open label	Yes	Yes	Calculated for estradiol suppression (not for secondary endpoint including survival). With 76 pts per group, this study had 80% power to establish non-inferiority at the 2.5% (one- sided) significance level, with the limit of non-inferiority defined as 1.25	Yes	Yes	NR	No
IBCSG 11-93 (404,409)	Randomized	NR	Yes	No	The planned sample size was 760 pts to provide an 80% power to detect a 10% difference in 5-y DFS. Included 174 pts.	NR	Yes	NR	Yes, due to low accrual rate

Study or author	Reported allocation sequence	Blinding	Balanced baseline characteristics	Industry funding	Statistical power and target sample size	ITT analysis	Withdrawals described	Reported loss to follow-up	Terminated early
NeoSphere, NCT00545688 (437)	Central randomization using adaptive randomization method, stratified	Open label	Yes	Yes	Planned sample size of 400 pts to provide $\approx$ 80% power to detect an absolute difference in pCR of 15% between groups. <i>a</i> level set at a 20% level as was phase 2 proof of concept study. Survival not reported.	Yes	Yes	NR	No
NeoALTTO, BIG 01-06, EGF 106903, NCT00553358 (431)	stratified, permuted blocks randomization	Open label but assessor masked	Yes, except tumour size	Yes	We planned to enrol 450 pts to detect a difference in pCR rate from 25% in the trastuzumab group to 42% in either of the experimental groups, with 80% power and $p=0.025$ two-sided significance level. Survival was secondary endpoint, not reported.	Yes	Yes	NR	No
GeparQuinto, GBG 44 (435,436)	Central randomization, dynamic allocation with minimization, stratified	Pathol- ogists only	Yes	Yes	NR Survival not reported yet.	Yes	Yes	NR	No
PHARE, NCT00381901 (92,93,440)	Central randomization, stratification minimization,	Open label	Yes	No	The non-inferiority hazard ratio margin of 1.15 was derived from an estimated absolute difference in 2-y DFS rate of 2%, 1040 events, 7000 pts. Originally planned for 2-y accrual and analysis at 4 y. Based on HERA, changed to 4-y accrual and analysis at 8 y, with a reduced sample size of 3400. In May, 2010, the independent data monitoring committee recommended interruption of recruitment (4 y, N=3384) without cross-over and to analyze the data when a 2-y minimum follow-up was attained for all pts	Yew	Yes	NR	Yes (see other column)
ACOSOG Z1041 (434) (433)	Central randomization, biased coin minimization algorithm, stratified	No	Yes	No	256 female pts needed for a 90% chance to detect a difference of more than 20% for pCR assuming that the proportion of pts who would achieve a pCR in the sequential group was no more than 25% and with a two-sided $a$ of 0.05. Survival data ongoing; will be reported later.	Yes	Yes	NR	No, survival rate monitoring ongoing
JBCRG-10 (438) (439) [abstracts]	Randomized	NR	Yes	NR	NR After unplanned interim analysis,	NR	NR	NR	Yes, see other column

Study or author	Reported allocation sequence	Blinding	Balanced baseline characteristics	Industry funding	Statistical power and target sample size	ITT analysis	Withdrawals described	Reported loss to follow-up	Terminated early
					anthracycline (FEC) arms discontinued as no additional pCR benefit and one death, continued TCH only				
N-SAS BC 07, RESPECT (80)	Central randomization, stratified	NR	NA (recruitment ongoing)	Νο	The primary endpoint (DFS) will require 120 events in total, given a power of 80% and a threshold hazard ratio of 1.69. Giving that the 3-y DFS probability in the study population is 68% and assuming that the survival time follows the exponential distribution, a total of 260 pts will be necessary for 3 y of follow-up after 4 y of registration to assess the 120 events. Therefore, the target number of registration was determined to be 300	NA	NA	NA	Study ongoing
TACT2 (129,131) [abstract]	Randomized	NR	NR	NR	X can be declared non-inferior to CMF is the upper 95.78% CI for TTR hazard ratio is less than 1.24 based on excluding a reduction in 5 year TTR from 86% to 83%	Per protoco l populati on	No	No	No
Ohno (132)	Randomized	NR	Yes	Yes	434 assessable patients required to achieve 80% power for detection an increase in pCR rate. No calculation for survival outcomes. Enrolment was 504 patients.	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
OOTR N003 (143) [abstract]	Randomized	NR	NR	NR	NR; likely underpowered for survival as pCR was primary outcome	NR	Yes	No	NR
Neo-tAnGo (142)	Randomized, central, stratified by minimization for age (≤50, > 50), ER status, size (≤5 cm, > 5 cm), nodal status, inflammatory or LABC	NR	Yes	Partial	Power calculations assumed pCR would be 20%; allowed absolute difference in pCR in excess of 10% to be detected at the 5% significance level with 85% power. Aimed for 200 patients in each group (800 total). Actual accrual 831. No mention of calculations for survival outcomes.	Yes	Yes	No loss	No
PACS (159) [abstract]	Randomized	NR	Yes		Powered to detect a 6% difference in favour of 6 cycles.	Yes	No	No	No
GEICAM/2003-02 (172)	Randomized, central, stratified by institution, menopausal status,	NR	Yes	Yes	Designed to have overall statistical power of 80% to detect a 5% an increase in DFS at 5 years from an estimated 80% to 85%. Required 1812 evaluable patients; 1925	Yes	Yes	Yes	No

Study or author	Reported allocation sequence	Blinding	Balanced baseline characteristics	Industry funding	Statistical power and target sample size	ITT analysis	Withdrawals described	Reported loss to follow-up	Terminated early
	nodal status diagnostic method (SLN or ALND), HR status				enrolled.				
SWOG S0221 (154)	Randomized	NR	Yes`	NR	Powered to find DFS HR≤0.82 for weekly vs every 2 weeks; AC randomization halted for futility and continued paclitaxel arm. Accrual halted at 3294, analyzed at 487 events, which crossed the futility boundary	NR	NR	NR	See statistical power.
Monsoura University (185)	Randomized, permuted block design, stratified by age, HR, stage of disease	NR	Yes	NR		NR	Yes	NR	No
CALGB 40101 (197,198)	Randomized, permuted block design, stratified by menopausal status, HR status, (HER2 status after Oct 2005)	NR	Yes	No	Designed with 89% power to test non- inferiority of T with AC (RFS HR=1.3) with target accrual of 4646 and 567 RFS events. With enrollment of 3171 patients the 6-cycle arm was closed and randomization was restricted to other arms (4 cycles AC or T). Permanently closed due to slow accrual with 3871 patients, which was short of 4646 planned. 437 RFS events observed.	Yes	No	No	See statistical power.
GeparTrio (218- 221)	Randomized	NR	Yes	Yes	NR	Yes	Yes	No	No
BEATRICE (227)	Randomized with block randomization, stratified by nodal status, chemotherapy type, HR status, type of surgery	NR	Yes	Yes	Sample size calculated to detect HR of 0.75 at 80% power for IDFS, required 388 events and 1140 patients in each group; OS pre- specified at 340 deaths or 5 years median follow-up a with 75% power to detect HR=0.75. Actual accrual 2591 patients, 393 IDFS events, 200 deaths (needs longer follow- up for OS)	Yes	Yes		No
AE37 vaccine (472,473)	Randomized	Single- blinded	Yes	NR	NR, but was Phase II trial	Yes	NR	NR	NR
POEMS-SWOG S0230 (274)	Randomized	NR	NR	No	Less than targeted patient accrual; 38% had missing data, results considered exploratory		Yes	Incomplet e follow- up (missing data)	Yes

Study or author	Reported allocation sequence	Blinding	Balanced baseline characteristics	Industry funding	Statistical power and target sample size	ITT analysis	Withdrawals described	Reported loss to follow-up	Terminated early
MA.14 and NSABP B-29; (301) [results in table for MA.14]	Randomized, using minimization, stratified by adjuvant chemo, nodal status, ER/PR status	NR	Yes	Partial	Needed 248 events to detect Tam/Tam-Oct hazard ratio of 1.5 with improvement of 8.2% in EFS with 90% power; modified to detect same effect with 80% power and 191 events; planned enrollment 650; actual 667 enrolled and 220 events	Yes	Yes	Yes	Octreotide reduced to 2 years due to gallbladder toxicity
TEXT and SOFT (63,64,282)	Randomized, internet-based system using permuted blocks, stratified by nodal status and intended use of adjuvant chemo; also by intended method of ovarian suppression in SOFT if in suppression group	NR	Yes	Partial	Both trials met enrolment goals; original plan was to compare DFS in each trial separately; patients had lower-risk characteristics than expected so trials were combined and protocol amended. Estimated with 436 events would be 84% power to detect HR=0.75; was 514 events at analysis.	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
TEACH (447-449)	Randomized, computer-generated sequence and stratified (HR status, nodal status, time since diagnosis and chemo)	Yes, investiga tors, clinicians , patients	Yes	Yes	Need 3000 women and 463 DFS events for 80- % power to detect 23% reduction in DFS (HR=0.769); 3161 enrolled, 474 events	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
ALTTO / BIG 2- 06 / NCCTG N063D (450,451) Abstract only	Randomized	NR	Yes	NR	850 DFS events in L+T vs T comparison would provide 80% power to detect HR of 0.80; 555 DFS events observed and follow-up is ongoing	NR	NR	NR	Lapatinib arm closed for futility, follow- up for rest continues

NR=not reported; NA=not applicable